
MEETING: CABINET

DATE: Thursday, 10th March, 2022

TIME: 10.00 a.m.

VENUE: Ballroom, Town Hall, Bootle

DECISION MAKER: CABINET

Councillor Ian Maher (Chair)
Councillor Atkinson
Councillor Cummins
Councillor Doyle
Councillor Fairclough
Councillor Hardy
Councillor Lappin
Councillor Roscoe
Councillor Moncur
Councillor Veidman

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Debbie Campbell
Senior Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2254
E-mail: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk

The Cabinet is responsible for making what are known as Key Decisions, 
which will be notified on the Forward Plan.  Items marked with an * on the 
agenda involve Key Decisions
A key decision, as defined in the Council’s Constitution, is: -
● any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross 
budget expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more 
than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the greater

● any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact 
on a significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance.
If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time. We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s) to which their interests relate.

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to 

debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk  by no later than 12:00 (noon) the day 
before the day of the meeting.
 

Please include in your email –

 Your name;

 Your email address;

 Your Contact telephone number; and

 The details of the report in which you are interested.

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited.

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 
the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 
meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 
classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 
both your nose and mouth.

mailto:xxxxx.xxxxx@sefton.gov.uk


A G E N D A
Items marked with an * involve key decisions

Item 
No.

Subject/Author(s) Wards Affected

 
1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or personal 
interest arises, which is not already included in 
their Register of Members' Interests, to declare 
any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, he/she must withdraw from 
the meeting room, including from the public 
gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to 
remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest 
he/she must seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or staff member representing the 
Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting 
room, including from the public gallery, during 
the whole consideration of any item of business 
in which he/she has an interest or whether the 
Member can remain in the meeting or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 
10)

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 
2022.

* 4 Green Sefton – Southport Golf Links 
Investment Opportunities

All Wards (Pages 11 - 
38)

Report of the Head of In-House Operational 
Services.

* 5 Housing Tenancy Strategy 2021-26 All Wards (Pages 39 - 
94)

Report of the Head of Economic Growth and 
Housing.



* 6 Social Housing Allocations Scheme All Wards (Pages 95 - 
224)

Report of the Head of Economic Growth and 
Housing.

* 7 Town Deal: The Enterprise Arcade Dukes (Pages 225 - 
240)

Report of the Executive Director (Place).

* 8 Customer Experience Training - Business 
Case

All Wards (Pages 241 - 
292)

Report of the Executive Director (Place).

* 9 Transformations de Southport - Business 
Case

Cambridge; Dukes (Pages 293 - 
314)

Report of the Executive Director (Place).

10 Local Government Association Peer Review 
Revisit

All Wards (Pages 315 - 
320)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services.

* 11 Annual Health and Safety Report All Wards (Pages 321 - 
336)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services.

* 12 Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 
and Framework for Change 2020 - Revenue 
and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 
including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 
on the 2021/22 Budget - March Update

All Wards (Pages 337 - 
354)

Report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services.



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO CALL-IN.

105

CABINET

MEETING HELD AT THE BALLROOM, TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON THURSDAY 10TH FEBRUARY, 2022

PRESENT: Councillor Ian Maher (in the Chair)
Councillors Atkinson, Cummins, Doyle, Fairclough, 
Hardy, Lappin, Roscoe, Moncur and Veidman

101. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

No apologies for absence were received. 

102. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

103. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Decision Made:

That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 February 2022 be approved as 
a correct record.

104. ANNUAL REVIEW OF ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND ASSET 
DISPOSAL POLICY 

Further to Minute No. 29 of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8 February 2022 the Cabinet considered the report of 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
advising that the Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy 
set out the vision and aspirations for the effective management of the 
Council’s corporate asset portfolio and the role it played in supporting and 
shaping the Council’s agenda for the 2030 vision; that aside from its staff 
the Council's next biggest resource was its land and property and 
therefore, it was vital that this resource was managed and used effectively 
and efficiently to ensure that the Council derived maximum benefit from its 
assets in support of its strategic aims and priorities; that the Asset 
Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy would provide a 
framework for the planning, prioritisation, management and funding of the 
Councils asset base and that this was a statutory document that the 
Council was required to have in place and would be reviewed on an 
annual basis. 

The Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy were attached 
as appendices to the report.

Decision Made:

That the Council be recommended to approve the updated:

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 10TH FEBRUARY, 2022

106

(1) Asset Management Strategy; and 

(2) Asset Disposal Policy

Reasons for the Decisions:

The Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy are key 
documents for Sefton Council which set out key parameters in respect of 
the delivery of an efficient and effective property portfolio.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.

105. PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2022/23 

Further to Minute No. 30 of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8 February 2022 the Cabinet considered the report of 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
which explained that the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities was introduced following the Local Government Act 
2003; and detailed measures / limits / parameters (Prudential Indicators) 
that were required to be set each financial year; and that the approval of 
these limits would provide a benchmark to measure actual performance 
against, to help ensure that the Council complied with relevant legislation, 
was acting prudently and that its capital expenditure proposals were 
affordable.  

Decision Made:

That Council be recommended to:

(1) approve that the Prudential Indicators, as detailed in the report, are 
set as the basis for compliance with The Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities;

(2) notte that the relevant Prudential Indicators will be revised as 
required and that any changes will be brought to Cabinet and then 
to Council for approval; 

(3) note that the estimates of capital expenditure may change as grant 
allocations are received; and

(4) approve that authority is delegated to the Executive Director for 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services in conjunction with 
the Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services to manage the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary 
for external debt as detailed in Section 5 of the report.

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 10TH FEBRUARY, 2022

107

Reasons for the Decisions:

To enable the Council to effectively manage its Capital Financing activities 
and comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities. The prudential indicators for the forthcoming and following 
years must be set before the beginning of the forthcoming year.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.

106. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND STRATEGY 2022/23 

Further to Minute No. 31 of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8 February 2022 the Cabinet considered the report of 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
that set out the following proposed policy and strategy documents: 

a) Treasury Management Policy (Annex A);
b) Treasury Management Strategy (Annex B); and
c) Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement (Annex C)

Decision Made:

That Council be recommended to approve the:

(1) Treasury Management Policy Document for 2022/23; 

(2) Treasury Management Strategy Document for 2022/23; and 

(3) Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2022/23

Reasons for the Decisions:

The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management in the Public Services. The Code requires that the Council 
sets a policy and strategy for the effective operation of the Council’s 
Treasury Management function during the financial year.  This will ensure 
that cash flow is adequately planned, surplus monies are invested 
commensurate with the Council’s risk appetite whilst providing adequate 
portfolio liquidity, and that the borrowing needs of the Council are properly 
managed to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending 
obligations.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 10TH FEBRUARY, 2022

108

107. CAPITAL STRATEGY 2022/23 TO 2026/27 

Further to Minute No. 32 of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8 February 2022 the Cabinet considered the report of 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
that advised that the Capital Strategy set out the long-term context in 
which capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions were made 
and considered the impact of these decisions on the priorities within the 
Council’s Core Purpose and Framework for Change Programme and the 
promises made in the 2030 Vision for Sefton; that at the heart of the 
Capital Strategy was the Council’s core objective to continue to deliver 
financial sustainability; and that as such a flexible capital investment 
programme was more important than ever as a method to stimulate and 
enable economic growth and strategic investment, ensuring best use of 
existing assets and of generating future income streams to pay for and 
deliver day to day services.     

Attached as Appendix 1 to the report was the Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 
2026/27

Decision Made:

That Council be recommended to approve the Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 
2026/27.

Reasons for the Decision:

The Capital Strategy is a key policy document for Sefton Council and 
follows guidance issued in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities (2017 Edition).  

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.

108. ROBUSTNESS OF THE 2022/23 BUDGET ESTIMATES AND THE 
ADEQUACY OF RESERVES – LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 - 
SECTION 25 

Further to Minute No. 33 of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8 February 2022 the Cabinet considered the report of 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services  
that advised that to comply with statute, the Chief Financial Officer wass 
required to report to Council prior to the approval of the budget and the 
setting of the Council Tax, to give assurance that the budget was robust 
and that there were adequate reserves and balances.  

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 10TH FEBRUARY, 2022

109

Decision Made:

That:

(1) it be noted that the Local Government Act 2003, (section 25 as 
amended) requires the Chief Financial Officer to report formally the 
issues of an opinion as to the robustness of the estimates made and 
the tax setting calculations; and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves; and

(2) the Council be recommended to have regard to the matters raised 
in this report during the final stages of determining the budget for 
2022/23.

Reasons for the Decisions:

The Local Government Act 2003, (section 25 as amended) requires the 
Chief Financial Officer to report formally on the issues contained within this 
report.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.

109. REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET PLAN 2022/23 – 2024/25 AND 
COUNCIL TAX 2022/23 

Further to Minute No. 34 of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 8 February 2022 the Cabinet considered the report of 
the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
that provided: 

 An assessment of the Council’s current financial position and 
approach to the 2022/23 Budget Plan and preparation for the 
additional two-year budget period 2023/24 to 2024/25.

 An update on the Government’s announcement of resources that 
are available to the Council for 2022/23.

 The Council’s current financial position and the assumptions built 
into the Medium-Term Financial Plan.

 The proposed Budget for 2022/23; and
 The proposed Capital Programme for 2022/23.

The report set out the financial strategy of the Council and the national and 
local financial context within which it is operating; indicated that the 
Council had a statutory requirement to remain financially sustainable and 
to balance its budget every year; and that the Council’s Framework for 
Change Programme was a comprehensive and ambitious programme that 
sought to support the delivery of the Council’s core purpose.  As would be 
expected with a programme of this size and complexity that spanned a 
number of financial years, the detailed proposals had been and would 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 10TH FEBRUARY, 2022

110

continue to be the subject of change as they were developed and 
ultimately implemented.  

The following appendices were attached to the report:

Appendix A Individual School Budgets 2022/23
Appendix B Draft Council Budget Summary 2022/23
Appendix C Capital Programme 2022/23 – 2024/25
    
Decision Made:

That:

(1) the update of the Medium-Term Financial Plan for the period 
2022/23 to 2024/25 be noted; 

(2) the Budget Plan for 2022/23, including the Revenue Budget, 
allocation of specific grants (section 12), and Capital Programme 
(Appendix C), be recommended to Council and that officers be 
authorised to undertake the necessary actions to implement the 
recommendations; 

(3) the Schools’ Forum decisions on the Dedicated Schools Grant and 
Individual School Budgets (Section 11) be noted; and

(4) the commencement / continuation of all appropriate activity within 
Framework for Change 2020, as detailed in the report, including, for 
example, consultation with employees and engagement with 
partners about contractual and policy changes be approved.

Reasons for the Decisions:

The recommendations in this report provide the basis on which the Budget 
Plan will be balanced for the financial year 2022/23 and will ensure that 
the Council’s statutory obligations are met. In addition, it begins the 
planning for the financial strategy for the following two years to give the 
Council sufficient time to identify specific proposals to deliver financial 
sustainability over that period.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

The Council is legally required to set a balanced budget each year and this 
report has taken due consideration of all financial issues in its 
development.  No additional options are available for inclusion.  

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 10th March 2022

Subject: Green Sefton – Southport Golf Links Investment 
Opportunities

Report of: Head of 
Operational In-
House Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Health and Wellbeing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report updates Cabinet on the outcome of recent consultation and market 
testing exercises relating to the current condition, and potential improvements, to 
Southport Golf Links. It has been established there is much potential and 
opportunities to develop the user experience, and income generated from both the 
course and its build facilities for players and non-golfers alike.

Further, the report seeks Cabinet approval to tender for partner/s to develop the 
proposals and provide investment models to enact these for the improvements to 
both the course and/or the Whitehouse Café. 

Recommendation(s):

That 

(1) the outcome of the public consultation and soft market testing exercises 
to date be noted;

(2) the outline Vision for the site as set out in this report be agreed;

(3) the concept of attracting investment in facilities at Southport Golf Links 
be supported as a means of delivering the above vision; 

(4) officers be authorised to formally tender for potential partner/investment 
in Southport Golf Links course itself, as a capital scheme, but for the 
Council to retain full ongoing management and operational control;

(5) officers be authorised to formally tender for potential partner/investment 
in the White House café, for a medium-term lease where they would be 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



expected to invest in the building, and then operate it fully for the agreed 
term and for an agreed rent;

(6)  regular updates be submitted to the Cabinet Member (Health and Well 
Being) on progress as the process develops; and

(7) a further report to be presented to Cabinet on the investments proposed 
for consideration.  

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Southport Golf Links is a popular municipal course in the area however, participation 
is variable. The course operates at a surplus (generating more income than it costs to 
provide) but does not currently meet its income targets, including those additional 
targets set in 19/20 associated with the development of a potential new driving range 
and other practice facilities. 

The previous approach of reinvestment of income surplus to the target in the 2000’s 
came to an end some time ago, and now the infrastructure of the course is coming to 
the end of its useful life – capital investment is needed to improve the course and its 
facilities. The course investment would also include helping to resolve drainage issues 
and reduce the number of days when the course is closed due to waterlogging. 

The concession for the Whitehouse Café came to an end in 2013/14, and the vacant 
building presents an opportunity to provide a new hospitality facility for both golfers 
and non-golfers alike. 

Recent consultation has shown both golfers and non-players alike would like to see 
investment in both the Whitehouse Café and on the course itself. 

A soft market testing exercise undertaken in 2021 confirmed the private sector interest 
in working with the council to develop the course and its facilities, and as outlined in 
the report, suggests significant opportunity to now tender formally to explore and 
understand the offers for investment in either, and/or the course and its buildings.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

If no investment in the course is undertaken, the quality of the course and facilities will 
continue to decline over coming years which will reduce the participation in golf 
(thereby not reaping the many health and well-being benefits for players), and 
inevitably therefore, the income generated by the course will reduce further too. 

The options considered for the investment route have been explained within the report, 
and the recommendations are based on considering the risk assessment against 
these approaches.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



There are no direct revenue costs associated with the recommendations in this report. 
A further report will be presented to Cabinet on any investment proposals identified 
following the tender exercise and this will include details of the associated financial 
implications.

(B) Capital Costs

There are no direct capital costs associated with the recommendations in this report. 
A further report will be presented to Cabinet on any investment proposals identified 
following the tender exercise and this will include details of the associated financial 
implications.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

The tender process will be resourced from within the budget for Operational In 
House Services with support from Corporate Resources as required,

Legal Implications:

The tender process for partners/investors will be through the Councils policies and 
procedures.

The contracts needed for the partner arrangements will not be known until 
articulated from the tenders.

Equality Implications:

The scheme in its development will include consultation with the Access Forum 
and other partner groups to ensure the course and its facilities are open and 
accessible to all members of our communities in the future.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
Have a neutral impact N
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The funding will allow environmental improvements to the course including habitat 
improvements and additional tree planting around the edge of the course and for 
sustainable drainage and flood control. 

Designs on the course should also allow irrigation water to be recaptured and 
filtered back on to the course. It must also be noted that the site is a Site of Local 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



Biological Interest, and adjacent to the Sefton Coast SSSI, both of which will 
demand certain actions and approvals from statutory agencies.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
N/A
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
Golf Courses in Sefton are valuable community assets for residents and visitors to 
the Borough.  Well presented facilities improve confidence amongst communities 
and participation improves health and wellbeing.

Commission, broker and provide core services:
The project includes exploring alternative ways to improve facilities and provide 
valued services.

Place – leadership and influencer:
Southport Golf Links is seen as an integral part of the local ‘place’ infrastructure.  
This project will support this view in a positive manner.

Drivers of change and reform:
N/A
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Support local jobs by supporting the local tourism economy. Should the project re-
open the Whitehouse café, deliver the driving range and other improvements as 
outlined, this will provide additional employment opportunities on site. 

Greater income for social investment: 
Support the potential expansion of the golf club’s involvement, and volunteering.

Cleaner Greener
The improved facilities will aim to support and develop the existing habitats on site 
and deliver services in a sustainable way. 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6732/22) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4732/22) have been consulted and 
any comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

A community consultation was undertaken in winter 2020 to ascertain the views golfers 
and non-golfers alike. The consultation responses indicated that respondents felt that 
the course and the associated facilities require significant investment. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



Officers have also met with a local golf professional and golf course designers to 
investigate options that will not only improve the course but could also reduce the 
maintenance needed on site.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting.

Contact Officer: Mark Shaw
Telephone Number: 0151 934 2421
Email Address: mark.shaw@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Appendices A – Map of Southport Golf Links
Appendices B – Consultation Results Briefing Paper
Appendices C – Soft Market Test Results Briefing Paper

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



1.0 Background:

1.1 Golf is a great sport for people’s health and wellbeing – it both involves a 
prolonged period of moderate exercise, focus and attention, and includes social 
contact and comradeship that benefits people of all ages and abilities. 

1.2 Southport Golf Links is one of Sefton’s two municipal golf courses and is located 
on England’s golf coast. It is one of a chain of ‘links’ courses in the region, and 
is notable within the golfing community as it was designed by the celebrated 
golf architect HS Colt and opened in 1912.  

1.3 This paper outlines the current situation with Southport Golf Links, identifies 
opportunities for a major scheme of investment and improvement on the course 
and its facilities, and seeks approval to tender for new works.

2.0 The current situation

2.1 Southport Golf Links is a 44ha municipal golf course located north of Southport 
town centre, see Appendix A with an aerial view of the site. Currently the golf 
course is open to ‘pay and play’ golfers, who pay a green fee for each round, 
as well as those customers who prefer ‘contracted’ play based on a fixed sum. 

2.2 The course operates at approximately 50% capacity and there are over 150 
contract holders, who play over several days of the week.  Annually there is a 
month where Juniors can sign up for a yearly contract at no cost, a scheme 
which could be extended to enable U16’s members free golf all year round. This 
could increase Junior use on the course and provide long term members in the 
future.

2.3 The course has four resident clubs on site, one of whom has an independent 
clubhouse building for their members only. Two clubs utilise the Whitehouse 
building with one of these having a club room inside.

2.4 There is a small on-site golf shop, managed by Green Sefton staff that 
welcomes players and administers green fees as well as having a limited range 
of refreshments and golfing paraphernalia for sale. 

2.5 The popularity of the course is founded on the fact that it offers a beginner 
course/golfing experience as well as a challenging test to more experienced 
golfers – often a difficult balance to achieve in both the fundamental design and 
provision of the course layout and its daily maintenance and management. The 
course itself reaches a good standard for play and the cost of a contract greatly 
outprices/outcompetes the cost of local private golf clubs. It therefore attracts 
golfers of a wide range of abilities. 

2.6 The course previously benefited from a 10 year reinvestment programme, 
based on surplus income being achieved, during the 2000’s, which saw 
drainage improvements, new bunkers and redesign of several holes, 
improvements to the hard infrastructure (such as footpaths, steps, bridges and 
other features, site furniture and much more) and whilst the course has 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



maintained basic grounds maintenance standards in recent years, the 
infrastructure is now beginning to come to the end of its useful life again.

2.7 Further, over the years there has been a notable decline in on-site catering and 
hospitality services.  The former occupier of the Whitehouse Café vacated the 
site in 2014. The distinct road-fronted building has remained closed since that 
time, with the exception of access to toilets and changing accommodation. The 
premises is looking increasingly rundown, although internally the Council 
continues to meet its statutory obligations for health and safety. 

2.8 The loss of the Whitehouse Café as a facility has hindered the ability of 
customers to “dine and play” (a key part of the golfing offer for touring societies 
etc) and has therefore limited the footfall which might otherwise have been 
obtained. The premises is in a prime location and an iconic feature of the 
Southport waterfront. It is considered that, with refurbishment, and a wider on 
course provision, the course would attract a wider customer base and greater 
increase the potential of the site for participation, and therefore income 
generation.

2.9 Practice facilities are key to any golfer, and a business case has been approved 
to develop a 10 bay driving range on site. However, while the Southport Golf 
Links site is suitable for the driving range, the location of this facility is proving 
difficult to agree within the current course layout, and the decision was made to 
hold off on that project whilst awaiting the outcome of this wider and more 
fundamental project. 

2.10 The course itself sits lower than the surrounding road and areas, and so the 
current drainage system on site is struggling to cope with wetter conditions 
resulting in the course being closed more often during the winter – similar to 
conditions experienced prior to investment in the early 2000’s. 

2.11 Although suffering from poor drainage, the course is in reasonable condition 
with a fairly basic level of maintenance. 

3.0 The Vision

3.1 The concept for a long-term Vision for Southport Golf Links is to return it into 
an excellent golfing attraction for Southport and beyond; to retain it as a 
‘municipal’ offering, with a course managed by the Council and designed (and 
priced) to attract both beginners and more advanced players, and to cater for 
players of all ages and abilities. 

4.0 Consultation

4.1 Public consultation took place during October-November 2020 and asked 
residents, businesses, golfers and non-golfers about their perceptions of the 
course and its facilities together with where they felt priorities for improvements 
should be. 175 responses were received which have been summarised in the 
attached report (appendix B). 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



4.2 From the questionnaire responses it is fair to say that the respondents enjoy 
the course, even though they feel the off-course facilities are inadequate. The 
condition of the course is felt to be of an acceptable standard and respondents 
appreciate that it stays open most of the year compared to other local courses. 
Despite the poor condition of built facilities off the course, golfers do continue 
to use the course itself. Golfers would, however, like to see improvements in all 
elements of the course, from the playing course itself, practice facilities and the 
built facilities too, while non-golfers would like improvements to the Whitehouse 
Café especially.

4.3 There is support for a driving range to be developed to complement the putting 
green already on site, and to upgrade the teaching and practice facilities 
available to users. 

4.4 There is an overwhelming response to improve the off-course facilities; 
especially the re-opening of the Whitehouse Café to provide a bar and clubroom 
with an associated hospitality offer – somewhere for golfers to get hot food and 
drink before, during and after a round of golf. Interestingly a few non-golfers 
responded with the need for a bar as a social place for local residents; bringing 
back a facility that was lost to the area a number of years ago. 

4.5 On the course itself, people would like to see improvements in and around the 
course including playing surfaces, hard infrastructure and improving the 
drainage. 

4.6 There was overwhelming support for a possible redesign of the course to 
improve it.

4.7 Overall, the consultation has identified the need for significant investment in 
both the practice and built facilities at the course and has also identified where 
investment is needed on the course too. 

4.8 Discussions with golf architects and specialists have also been undertaken, and 
there is opportunity to think more about the ‘psychology’ of the course too, in 
line with responding to the consultation and the modern approach to the game 
– for example, that many people struggle for time to play a slow, long round of 
golf and don’t like to spend much of a round looking for balls in long rough, that 
there may be too many ‘blind shots’ on the course right now, and that people 
are more likely to linger after a game if they feel great about their round (maybe 
having par’d the 18th), have got around in under four hours, and have a lovely 
clubhouse to spend time (and money) in afterwards. A course redesign could 
address these points.

4.9 Officers hold regular meetings with the on-site clubs and this relationship would 
provide a fundamental forum for ongoing consultation and discussion about the 
future proposals.

5.0 Soft Market Test

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



5.1 Following on from the consultation, a Soft Market Test was undertaken in early 
2021 to explore potential investment in the site, see a summary report attached 
as appendix C.

5.2 The Soft Market Test was advertised using The Chest and direct approaches 
were made to those who expressed an interest in the previous soft market test 
in 2013.

5.3 The Soft Market Test was available as three options:

1. Investment in the Whitehouse Café

2. Investment in the course

3. Investment in both 

5.4 There were a number of interesting options offered including both course and 
Whitehouse specific options. 

5.5 All those looking at the course are suggesting importation of soil to help fund 
the projects discussed and this should be considered. 

5.6 A soil importation scheme would involve importing approved soil/material to add 
mounds and features to the sides of fairways etc, and/or even raise the level of 
some fairways themselves. The model would then include using the capital 
created from this importation to invest in the redesign and improvement of the 
course overall. Discussions with experienced golf architects have identified that 
this could be an excellent option for Southport Golf Links, where the whole 
course is lower than the surrounding area, and the original ‘links’ design of the 
course has been partly lost over the years. 

5.7 Historically, it should be noted, soil importation projects have seen variable 
success, and officers are aware of schemes that have failed both locally and 
nationally. Lessons learned from local schemes must be considered before any 
soil importation scheme is agreed to ensure it is effective and does indeed 
realise the benefits that this approach can bring; with seeking recent and 
relevant references from proposed partners, the use of a performance bond to 
ensure deliverability, and close monitoring with an on-site project manager/ 
clerk of works to be employed by the Council (funded from the scheme) 
together with tighter Environment Agency regulations, risks of such a scheme 
have been reduced significantly in recent years, making this route an attractive 
option which has seen successful investment projects in many golf courses 
across the country. 

5.8 Several of the responses identified the opportunity of re-opening the 
Whitehouse Café for food and drink to players and non-golfers alike. This is in 
addition to the many unsolicited expressions of interest received in recent 
years. Opportunities vary from simple refurbishment and reopening, through to 
more significant investment and reimagining of the whole built facility. It should 
be noted that a number of the clubs on site have access to the Whitehouse 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Café building with leases allowing use for lockers and club rooms. Any 
development of the Whitehouse Café would have to consider how these clubs 
can continue to be accommodated.

5.9 Officers believe a combination of proposals could be the way forward with the 
Council continuing to run the course (following initial external investment and 
consultants design assistance improving the playing offer) together with an 
independent operator in the Whitehouse Café who can provide a Food and 
Beverage offer in the medium term. Professional Services, coaching and other 
enhanced visitor experience offerings can also be explored.

6.0 Future Investment

6.1 Whichever option route is developed, it is clear that significant capital 
investment is needed into the facilities (both course and café). Funding, Skills 
and capacity that the Council do not have are needed to undertake any such 
development and minimise any future financial risk to the council and so a 
private sector/public partnership approach is proposed, for which there is 
clearly much interest. Although a fully operational partner would be sought for 
the investment and operational running of the Whitehouse Café, it is not 
proposed that a long term partner be sought for the course as a whole – the 
council will retain full management and operational control of the course moving 
forwards and the input of a partner would only be expected as part of the initial 
capital scheme/investment (with a shared profit agreement for the initial course 
improvement only).

6.2 Any capital investment in both the course and the buildings (including the 
Whitehouse Café) will need to provide a long-term revenue stream to maintain 
the new facilities and to improve the ongoing day to day maintenance on the 
course. This will maintain any improvements in the facilities via capital 
investment and ensure ongoing viability.

7.0 Tender process

7.1 The opportunity to tender will be given in line with Contract Procedure Rules 
and in conjunction with the procurement team. This will have three options:

1 – Whitehouse Café Only
The Council is offering the opportunity for a private investor to 
provide the plans and proposals together with finance to improve 
and reopen the food and drink facility for both golfers and non-
golfers alike. The Council would not anticipate contributing towards 
this but would offer a medium term lease in return, with terms and 
conditions yet to be agreed.

2 – Southport Golf Links Course Only 
For the course improvements, the Council is offering the 
opportunity for a private investor to provide the plands and 
proposals together with finance to improve the course as a short 
term capital scheme, whilst the Council retains long term 
operational management.

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



3 – Both Café and Course

7.2 This will be an open exercise, offered via The Chest. 

7.3 Officers will assess each bid received against a cost and quality matrix. 
Representatives from the resident clubs will be involved throughout and will be 
given the opportunity to comment on proposals to some degree, although the 
final recommendation will be made by Officers and for Cabinet to agree. This 
will have to be weighed up together with the investment value and potential 
returns to the authority to ensure the successful bid(s) provide the service and 
improvements that are desired. It should be noted that no tender process is fully 
committal, and the Council may decide not to pursue any of the bids received

8.0 Timescales

8.1 Once approved, it is anticipated to go to tender in Spring/Summer 2022 with a 
6 week timeframe for submission of documents.  

8.2 Because of the possible nature of the improvements, this could take a number 
of phases over a period of time. This would be explored and articulated with the 
successful partner and in conjunction with the resident clubs.

9.0 Conclusions

9.1 This report is intended to update Cabinet on the proposed development at 
Southport Golf Links, outline options for attracting external investment and seek 
formal approval to tender for such investment and works. A further report will 
be presented to cabinet upon completion of evaluation of tenders received. This 
will detail the outcome of the process, assess financial implications with risk 
analysis, sensitivity analysis and present a business case approach. At that 
time Cabinet will be asked to approve the way forward including any award of 
contracts.

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



APPENDIX A – Aerial View of Southport Golf Links

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



Appendix B – Consultation Results

Southport Golf Links Consultation 
Results
Context
Consultation was undertaken in October-November 2020 to seek the views of both golfers and non-
players about the current management of the golf course, and its potential development in the future. 
This was promoted on site and online, with targeted efforts to the resident club, existing players, local 
schools, colleges and businesses. Around 175 responses were received.
This consultation was undertaken as part of a wider plan to develop both the course and existing 
facilities including the development of a driving range on site. The plan was to see the views of golfers, 
residents, business and visitors and use the information to develop a way forward for the course. 

Summary
From the questionnaire responses it is fair to say that the respondents enjoy the course, even though 
they feel the off-course facilities are inadequate. The condition of the course is felt to be acceptable 
and respondents appreciate that it stays open most of the year compared to other local courses. 
Despite the poor condition of facilities off the course, golfers do continue to use the course. Golfers 
would like to see improvements in all elements of the course, from the course itself, practice facilities 
and the built facilities too, while non-golfers would like improvements to the Whitehouse Café.

There is support for a Driving Range to be developed alongside improving the putting green already 
on site to upgrade the practice facilities available to users. There is an overwhelming response to 
improve the off-course facilities with re-opening the Whitehouse Café to provide a bar and clubroom 
with an associated food offer – somewhere for golfers to get hot food and drink before, during and 
after a round of golf. Interestingly a few non-golfers responded with the need for a bar as a social 
place for local residents bringing back a facility that was lost to the area a number of years ago. On 
the course itself, people would like to see improvements in and around the course including improving 
the drainage. There was overwhelming support for a possible redesign on the course to improve it.

Overall the consultation has identified the need for significant investment in both the practice and 
built facilities at the course and has also identified where smaller investment is needed on the course. 
Investment is being sought to develop the practice facilities through a prudential loan and there is a 
long term ambition to develop the Whitehouse Café to improve the built facilities / food and drink 
offer through a concession.

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



Question 1 – Who are You?
This question showed that the majority of respondents were residents of the borough (93%) and 6% 
were from outside the borough.

Question 2 – Are you a golfer

Contract

Pay and Play

Non Golfer Not answered

Overwhelmingly, 93% of responses were from golfers, either pay and play (P&P) or contract holders. 
7% were from non-golfers. One issue is we didn’t ask if the contracts were from the course or other 
courses.

Question 3 – How often do you use Southport Golf Links?
This gave a good indication of how popular Southport Golf Links actually is among golfers. Over half 
of those who responded play the course at least once a month.

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Daily

More than once a week

Once a week

Once a month

Twice a month

Occassionally

Never

How Often Payed

How Often Played

Page 24

Agenda Item 4



In response to asking why people don’t play the course mostly the response was around 
improvements needed. A number of responses did however indicate better value for money 
elsewhere and a lack of refreshment facilities was an issue.

What other courses do you play?
This was a simple question to show where else customers play (and find out who we are competing 
with). There was a wide variety of results but the most popular was Southport Golf Academy. Bootle 
Golf Course was popular as were local private courses including Hesketh Golf Club, Southport Old 
Links, Hurleston Hall and Formby Hall.

Ai
nt

re
e 

Go
lf 

Ce
nt

re
Al

le
rt

on
 M

an
or

Ba
rr

in
gt

on
 H

al
l

Be
ac

on
 G

ol
f C

ou
rs

e
Bl

ac
kp

oo
l N

or
th

 S
ho

re
Bl

un
de

ll 
Pa

rk
Bo

ot
le

 G
ol

f
Bo

w
rin

g 
Pa

rk
Ch

ar
no

ck
 R

ic
ha

rd
Du

xb
ur

y
Fo

rm
by

 G
ol

f C
en

tr
e

Fo
rm

by
 G

ol
f C

lu
b

Fo
rm

by
 H

al
l

Ga
th

ur
st

Ha
rt

 C
om

m
on

He
sk

et
h 

GC
Hi

lls
id

e
Ho

ug
hw

oo
d

Hu
rls

to
n 

Ha
ll

hu
yt

on
 &

 p
re

sc
ot

t
Ki

rk
by

le
as

ow
el

l
M

os
so

ck
 H

al
l

Ro
ya

l B
irk

da
le

Sh
er

dl
ey

 P
ar

k
So

ut
hp

or
t A

nd
 A

in
sd

al
e

So
ut

hp
or

t G
ol

f A
ca

de
m

y
So

ut
hp

or
t O

ld
 L

in
ks

W
es

t D
er

by
W

es
t L

an
cs

W
oo

lto
n

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Number of Responses

Number of Responses

How Do You Rate the facilities?
The next set of questions looked at how people rated the current conditions of facilities on the site. 
Overall this was not a great response in terms of how people rated the facilities however the condition 
of the course itself was seen as more favourable. 

The Grounds maintenance was seen as adequate or better for the majority (including tees, greens and 
fairways) as was the access and car parking. In terms of the green keeping, some ad-hoc comments 
felt they did the best they can with what they have but others felt they need to do more and more 
staff are required.

The built facilities views are much worse with poor responses across the board on this. The course 
currently has limited changing rooms and dated but functional toilets. The food provision is mostly 
snacks and drinks from the shop and this shown in the rating for this area.

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200

Shop/reception
Food Provision

Changing rooms
Toilets

Parking
Access

Signage
Tees

Greens
Fairways

Ground Maintenance
Course Furniture

very poor poor adequate good very good not answered

Facility Condition

Rank the Built Facility Improvements
This question asked people to rank the improvements suggested on the built facilities in order to 
determine what people felt was the highest priority. The results indicate the majority of people would 
like to see improvements across all facilities but the highest priority is the Whitehouse Café and toilets 
followed by improvements to the shop and changing rooms. 

White House Café
 31%

Toilets
 25%

Shop
 24%

Changing Rooms
 20%

White House Café Toilets Shop Changing Rooms

Building Facility Improvements

Rank the Practice Facility Improvements
This tried to determine preferences for improvements in practice facilities at the course. Presently 
there is only a small putting green available for use prior to a game of golf. Results indicate strong 
support for improving the existing green as well as developing a driving range and chipping area.

Page 26

Agenda Item 4



25%

24%
20%

16%

15%

Driving Range Putting Green Chipping Area Floodlights Bunker Area

PRACTICE FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS

Rank the Course Improvements 
This question tried to rank the improvements suggested on the course to try and raise the experience 
when playing the course. Once ranked, the highest supported element could be identified and 
developed. One thing not asked was drainage and add hoc comments through the consultation 
highlighted this as a major area of work including maintaining existing ditches.

Irrigation
 37%

Signage
 24%

Litter Bins
 23%

Buggies
 16%

Irrigation Signage Litter Bins Buggies

Course Improvements

Course Redesign
This suggests people would be happy if the course was redesigned to help. The overwhelming 
response was they would be but that it would have to be in sympathy with the current design and 
staggered to prevent loss of golfers to other courses.

Page 27

Agenda Item 4



Yes, 63%No, 11%

Maybe, 25%

No Answer, 1%

COURSE REDESIGN

Climate Change
We looked at how the course could help combat climate change, with a question around ideas that 
could contribute to this agenda. The ideas backed up thoughts elsewhere in the consultation with 
sustainable irrigation systems and raising the course to combat flooding being the most popular 
thoughts.

4.8

3.54
3.27

3.01
2.75 2.72

SUSTAINABLE 
IRRIGATION

REDESIGN TO 
COMBAT 

FLOODING

IMPROVE 
WILDLIFE 
HABITATS

RENEWABLE 
ENERGY

RECYCLE REDUCE THE USE 
OF PLASTICS

Ideas

Ideas

Price Increases?
We asked if customers would be willing to pay more if facilities were better. Here the obvious response 
of ‘it depends on the improvements’ was the most popular. In other ad-hoc comments people felt the 
price at the moment was a little high for the offer.

Page 28

Agenda Item 4



Yes
 32%

No
 9%

Maybe
 59%

Yes No Maybe

Price Increase

Coaching
We also asked if people would be more likely to play if there were specific sessions for beginners and 
juniors. As expected for a questionnaire mostly answered by existing users, the response was no 
(52%), but there was still some support for coaching sessions at the course and this was further 
highlighted with a number of ad-hoc comments for a Golf Professional on site (27%).

Any other ideas to improve Southport Golf Links?
Finally, a somewhat open-ended question was asked to determine if respondents had any other ideas 
for improving the visitor experience at Southport Golf Links. The overwhelming response to this was 
to open the Whitehouse again as a café/bar/restaurant with changing rooms and toilets which would 
not only attract customers but could also double as an event venue for the area including weddings, 
birthdays etc. This could help in improving the off-course facilities which have been identified by 
respondents as below adequate and the reason some do not play the course. 

As the question was open ended, it has been difficult to analyse effectively but key themes have been 
drawn out and identified in the table.

Page 29

Agenda Item 4



ad
d 

tr
ee

s
ad

d 
w

al
k 

ar
ou

nd
 p

er
im

et
er

al
te

r t
ee

 p
os

iti
on

s m
or

e
at

tr
ac

t c
hi

ld
re

n
ba

r f
ac

ili
ty

be
tt

er
 si

gn
ag

e
ca

r p
ar

ki
ng

cl
ea

ni
ng

 fa
ci

lit
y 

fo
r s

ho
es

 a
nd

 
tr

ol
lie

s
Co

m
m

un
ity

 h
ub

co
ns

id
er

 n
ei

gh
bo

ur
s

di
sc

ou
nt

s f
or

 u
ne

m
pl

oy
ed

dr
iv

in
g 

ra
ng

e
en

su
re

 p
ro

pe
r g

ol
f a

tt
ire

 a
nd

 
et

iq
ue

tt
e

fe
ed

 a
nd

 d
re

ss
 g

re
en

s
flo

od
lig

ht
 w

ho
le

 c
ou

rs
e

fo
od

 o
ffe

r
Fr

ie
nd

s o
f G

ro
up

Go
lf 

Pr
of

es
sio

na
l

im
pr

ov
e 

bu
nk

er
s

im
pr

ov
e 

dr
ai

na
ge

in
do

or
 fa

ci
lit

y 
on

 P
&

R
in

ve
st

m
en

t
m

an
ag

e 
ro

ug
h 

be
tt

er
m

on
th

ly
 m

em
be

rs
hi

ps
M

or
e 

gr
ee

nk
ee

pe
rs

m
or

e 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
m

or
e 

pa
th

s t
o 

al
lo

w
 b

ug
gi

es
 

th
ro

ug
h 

w
in

te
r

m
or

e 
tr

ee
s

no
t p

rio
rit

y 
- s

m
al

l b
en

ef
it 

to
 

a 
sm

al
l c

om
m

un
ity

op
en

 w
hi

te
ho

us
e

ov
er

pr
ic

ed
pr

ac
tic

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s

pr
ic

e 
no

t c
om

pe
tit

iv
e

pr
om

ot
e 

vi
a 

so
ci

al
 m

ed
ia

pr
ot

ec
t c

ar
 p

ar
k 

fr
om

 b
al

ls
re

m
ov

e 
cl

ub
s a

nd
 c

re
at

e 
1

re
m

ov
e 

m
ou

nd
s

re
no

va
te

 e
xi

st
in

g 
de

sig
n

ru
n 

9 
an

d 
18

 h
ol

e 
co

m
ps

sa
nd

 fa
irw

ay
s a

nd
 ro

ug
h

se
ll 

la
nd

 fo
r h

ou
sin

g 
an

d 
bu

ild
 

ne
w

 m
un

i e
lse

w
he

re
sh

ar
e 

eq
ui

pm
en

t w
ith

 o
th

er
 

co
ur

se
s

sh
op

so
ci

al
 m

ed
ia

 p
re

se
nc

e

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Improvement Ideas

Improvement Ideas

Page 30

Agenda Item 4



APPENDIX C – Soft Market Test Result

Southport Golf Links Soft Market Test Summary
Overview
Following a recent Soft Market Test exercise looking at potential partners for 
investment in either the Whitehouse Café, the Course or both, 8 submissions were 
received. One company expressed an interest in the Whitehouse only, 3 in the course 
only and the other four were interested in both aspects on offer.

This document summarises each submission but doesn’t rank them. For ease, it 
summarises the submission for the Whitehouse only first, then the Course only 
submissions and then look at the other submissions which are joint for the course and 
Whitehouse. The appendix visually summarises the submissions.

Whitehouse only Expression of Interest
Submission One
This company is a high-end Food and Beverage Firm who submitted a hospitality 
brochure as their expression of interest. It contained generic information about the 
service their company supplies ranging from high end dining to food festivals. The 
Expression of interest contained no information about Southport Golf Links or their 
plans for the building. It would seem that this company are just looking to tender for 
the café trading rights as there is a lack of detail in the submission. 

Course Only Expression of Interest
Submission Two
This company have previously expressed an interest in the course, and have heard 
about plans to introduce a driving range on site. They are soil importation specialists 
and have teamed up with a renowned Course Architect, Environmentalist and local 
PGA professional in their submission. This proposal is actually two separate options 
for the whole site but would both include a 280yd driving range and a putting facility:
Option 1 – 9 Hole Par 3 course plus a high standard full 9 hole course. The 9 hole full 
course would return the course to HS Colt original designs and to a more ‘links’ feel. 
The Par 3 would be a training ground for new and learning golfers
Option 2 – Reconfiguration of the existing 18 hole course. This would create space for 
the driving range and putting facility.
Both options would include raising levels on site to alleviate flooding and drainage 
issues. Also there would be footpaths through the site to enable access from the 
Promenade to the RSPB reserve for runners, walkers and bird enthusiasts.
The putting facility would be an attraction in its own right similar to the ‘Himalayas’ at 
St Andrews which has a full membership and a closed waiting list. The driving range 
would be 12 – 20 bays and allow practise and a new income stream for the Authority.
Both projects would be delivered through funding from the operations of the company 
there may be some remaining funds for the Council. At least 9 holes would always 
remain open to golfers throughout the improvements and the Council would retain all 
operation of the facilities once complete.

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



Submisson Three
This company operate some local courses locally. They have submitted a very simple 
document that outlines that they will work with existing staff to improve the course 
quality as well as increasing revenue with improved marketing of the course. This 
partnership would see the course remain with the Authority and the company would 
take a share of the increased profits. They would work with schools and community 
groups to increase user numbers, particularly with Juniors.

Submission Four
This company would relocate their business to this site which currently delivers tennis 
and has experience in running golf courses. This Expression of Interest looks at an 
investment on site of £200k in a three staged process.
Stage One would look at improving issues that affect the playing conditions of the 
course and could cover:

 course condition and drainage, 
 car parking, 
 facility upgrades such as toilets and changing rooms, 
 repurposing and upgrading of secondary spend opportunities and,
 online marketing and promotions.

All this would be designed to increase revenue from people playing the course 
including Junior golfers.
Stage Two would improve the course to improve its reputation and create social media 
interest. At the same time improved coaching facilities and an academy would be 
developed subject to planning permission. The final stage would be to develop a 
driving range on site. 

The offer to Sefton in return for a 25yr lease would be a share of profits from 5yr and 
Sefton to employ staff for the first 6months of the lease and sign over all maintenance 
equipment to them.

Whole Site Expression of Interest

Submission Five
This company currently operate one golf courses in the North West and have 30 years 
experience of golf operations. This proposal would seek to gain a long term lease in 
return for circa £5m investment (some of which will be through inert soil importation) 
via a partner to develop the course and driving range – 20 bay. 
This proposal seeks to improve the course and bring in a range of 20 bays, improve 
the club shop and have a professional shop created. There would also be a short 
game academy on site and improvements to the entrance and car park on site. Final 
improvements would see improved maintenance area and budgets as well as a buggy 
path around all 18 holes.
They seek to remove any loses the Council makes on the course and return it to a 
large profit making facility. Sefton would retain operations of the course while 
improvements were undertaken and once complete, the course would transfer over to 
the company to operate.

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



Priorities would be the driving range and the shop improvements with soil importation 
staged to reduce impacts elsewhere.

Submission Six
This is a team of management specialists who have some golf experience and will 
bring in consultants to assist them with their proposals. The company have submitted 
a vision of their plans which include course and Whitehouse improvements. This 
strategic document looks at improving the entrance to the site, the car park, add a 
driving range a play area to attract families and run evening golf as well as the pro 
shop.
The Whitehouse improvements would see an extension at the rear to improve the café 
and add events space. Plenty of glass will give views of the course too. There is the 
potential to add the pro shop to this building as well as upgrade the changing/toilet 
facilities. One area of their proposal is that they would look to develop the Park Golf 
Clubs private facilities and incorporate the club within the main Whitehouse building.
They would create a driving range by shortening the 3rd hole to a par 3 and creating 
the range there. At the same time they would improve the current putting green.
They have considered their marketing options and the wider benefits for the area of 
the development of the course.
In return for investment during the first 5 years (during which the council will cover any 
loses), they would like a 35yr lease. They would create a CIC with a Limited Company 
Trading arm to access funding. 

Submission Seven
This company have experience in managing a number of golf courses and leisure 
contracts. They would seek to add a 20 bay range on the 3rd hole and move the tee to 
the Fleetwood Road open space to create the space. They would increase car parking 
on site. Soil importation would generate income for capital improvements on site to 
both the course and the Whitehouse Café. Improvements to course could see an 
increase in the price to play, while still offering affordable golf.
A programme of maintenance to improve drainage, green, tees and fairways as well 
as deal with the Knotweed issues on site.
They would like a minimum 15 year lease and would take on a full repair and 
maintenance lease for the course and building. If the soil importation didn’t provide 
enough funds, they expect the council to provide a prudential loan for works which 
would be paid back via rental agreement.
Food and drink offer would be simple but customer focussed and booking for golf 
would be digitised to make it easier for golfers.

Submission Eight
This is from a local family business running a nearby site with knowledge of sports 
marketing as well as coaching golf. Their proposal is to inject £1.1m investment to:

 Re-create the attraction to the region that the original “Muni” did
 provide relatively inexpensive golf to all players without restriction
 provide facilities that match the best value possible
 provide coaching and teaching at all levels - in particular, introduction to the 

game and working with the community
 provide a golfing venue with modern state of the art coaching and entertainment 

options as well as catering to attract visitors and groups from a wider area

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



They would invest in a modern covered driving range of two-tiers at the rear of the 
Whitehouse, with state of the art facilities and conventional bays, a fully stocked 
professional shop providing advice and fitting. From a mezzanine level in the 
Whitehouse.
They would target coaching to schools including Special Educational Needs schools 
in the area
They would also create a golf café/bistro in the Whitehouse and potentially add an 
outdoor crazy golf attractions for families.
Funding could be sourced from grants and income generated from soil importation to 
help with poorly draining areas of the course.

They suggest funds already secured for the Driving Range be diverted towards this 
project and that they oversee all aspects of the course and are awarded a 25yr lease. 
Rental for the Whitehouse would be minimal in the first phase to allow investment on 
site and then stepped over the lease tenure. Overall they see the project as the next 
phase from their starter course (9 holes) to the full 18 on site.

Page 34

Agenda Item 4



Cabinet Member Report template

Appendix
Summary of Bids

Whitehouse Course Only Course and Whitehouse
Submission 

One
Submission Two Submission 

Three
Submission 

Four
Submission 

Five
Submission 

Six
Submission 

Seven
Submission 

Eight
Food and 
Drink Offer  - - - In time    

Golf 
Professional 
on site

- - -  -  -  

Standard 
Driving 
Range

-      
 

up to 20 bay


12 – 16 bay

Virtual Driving 
Range - - - - -  -  

Improved 
Putting Green -    -    

Crazy Golf 
Course - - - - - - - - 

Soil 
Importation -   - -  -  

Grants - - -  - -  -
Course 
improvements -        

18 Hole 
Course -  -      

9 Hole 
Course - -  - - - - - -

Par 3 Course - -  - - - - - -
Lease term - - - Unknown 25yr Unknown 35yr 15yr 25yr
Rental fee - - - Unknown - Unknown Unknown Unknown Unknown

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 4



Cabinet Member Report template

Previous golf 
experience -    -  -  

Community 
Outreach - - -  - -  - 

Investment 
amount - Unknown Unknown Unknown £200k £5m unknown unknown £1.1m

Improve Car 
parking -   - -    

Sefton Retain 
Course    - - - - - -

Site 
Outsourced - - -      

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 4



Page 37

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: Thursday 10 March 
2022

Subject: Housing Tenancy Strategy

Report of: Head of Economic 
Growth and 
Housing

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Communities and Housing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The Council has a legal duty under the Localism Act 2011 to have in place a Tenancy 
Strategy setting out a number of requirements of registered providers of social housing 
must consider when formulating their policies:

• the kinds of tenancy they grant
• the circumstances in which they will grant a tenancy of a particular kind
• where they grant tenancies for a certain term [a fixed term tenancy], the length of 

the terms
• the circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the coming to an 

end of an existing tenancy.

Each Local Authority within the Liverpool City Region (LCR) published their first Tenancy 
Strategy during 2012. These strategies were reviewed again in 2016 and it was agreed 
to conduct a single review on a partnership basis, with LCR Local Authorities working 
together to produce a shared Tenancy Strategy. Cabinet approved the adoption of this 
strategy on the 6th October 2016. 

Over the last three months the LCR authorities have been working together to refresh 
this document which has been developed in accordance with each individual local 
authorities housing needs and the paper before Cabinet today seeks approval to a 
finalised Liverpool City Region Tenancy Strategy 2022, which will replace the previous 
version.

Recommendation(s):

(1) to adopt the Liverpool City Region Tenancy Strategy 2022 

(2) to note that 
i) A report will be taken to a future meeting of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority for endorsement, and
ii) Each of the Liverpool City Region authorities will seek approval through their 
individual formal decision-making processes prior to the adoption of the finalised 
strategy

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Section 150 of the Localism Act 2011 places a statutory duty on local housing authorities 
to prepare and publish a tenancy strategy, and to have undertaken formal consultations 
in advance.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

The Council has a duty to prepare a Tenancy Strategy. The Council could produce a 
Tenancy Strategy independently of the other LCR authorities; however, this would be 
contrary to any joined-up or strategic housing plan making of the LCR. As the Tenancy 
Strategy seeks to influence Registered Housing Providers (RP) own approaches to 
tenancy management, and most RPs operate across multiple Liverpool City Region 
council areas, a common strategy was seen as the most advantageous approach.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
There are no additional costs arising out of the recommendations of this report

(B) Capital Costs
There are no additional costs arising out of the recommendations of this report

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None
Legal Implications:
Section 150 of the Localism Act 2011 places a statutory duty on local housing 
authorities to prepare and publish a tenancy strategy

Equality Implications:
An EIA has been prepared and is attached to this Report in Appendix B
Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. Any climate 
emergency implications arising from matters referred to will be contained in reports 
when they are presented to Members at the appropriate time.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



Protect the most vulnerable:
Many vulnerable people rely on accessing social housing for a home to live in.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
Providing a stable home is a primary way of creating sustainable and resilient 
communities and lifestyles
Commission, broker and provide core services:
A social housing allocations scheme is a core service
Place – leadership and influencer:
Not applicable
Drivers of change and reform:
The current Allocations Policy and Procedures for Property Pool Plus require 
amendments, to bring it up-to-date with the latest legislation.
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Not applicable
Greater income for social investment: 
Not applicable
Cleaner Greener
Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services (FD.6692/22) notes 
there are no financial implication in the report and the Chief Legal & Democratic Officer 
(LD.4892/22) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report.

(B) External Consultations 

The results of the 5-week formal consultation with all Registered Providers who operate 
within the Liverpool City Region are contained in the report.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Graham Parry
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3446
Email Address: graham.parry@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 
A. (proposed new) Tenancy Strategy 
B. Consultation results

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Localism Act sets out provisions for Housing Tenure reform. Section 150 of 
the Localism Act places a statutory duty on local housing authorities to prepare 
and publish a tenancy strategy. 

1.2 Each Local Housing Authority in England had to prepare and publish its first 
tenancy strategy by 15 January 2013. It must then keep it under review, and it can 
periodically modify or replace it.

1.3 Sefton’s original Tenancy Strategy was approved by Cabinet on 13/12/2012. The 
current LCR Tenancy Strategy which was approved by Cabinet on 06/10/2016. 
This Tenancy Strategy 2022 seeks to replace the current document.   

2. Requirements of a Tenancy Strategy

2.1 A local authority in England must prepare and publish a strategy (a ‘tenancy 
strategy’) setting out the matters to which the registered providers of social 
housing in its district are to have regard in formulating policies relating to:  

 the kinds of tenancy they grant
 the circumstances in which they will grant a tenancy of a particular kind
 where they grant tenancies for a certain term [a fixed term tenancy], the 

length of the terms
 the circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the coming 

to an end of an existing tenancy.

2.2 Section 151 of the Localism Act requires that;
(1) Before adopting a tenancy strategy, or making a modification to it reflecting a 
major change of policy, the authority must:
(a) send a copy of the draft strategy, or proposed modification, to every private 
registered provider of social housing for its district, and 
(b) give the private registered provider a reasonable opportunity to comment on 
those proposals. 
(2) Before adopting a tenancy strategy, or making a modification to it reflecting a 
major change of policy, the authority must also— 
(a) consult such other persons as the Secretary of State may by regulations 
prescribe.

3. Consultations

3.1   A 5-week period with a small extension to cover the Christmas 2021 period was 
given to all the Registered Providers operating within the Liverpool City Region to 
answer a questionnaire regarding the draft Tenancy Strategy.

3.2 Only 19 RPs responded to Halton Council, who led on the process, with 8 of the 
19 being RPs that operate within Sefton borough.

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



3.3 Of the 1090 fixed-term tenancies issued over the previous three years, 8.9% were 
in Sefton, 7.1% in Wirral, 29.1% in Liverpool, 27.7% in Knowsley, 15.6% in St. 
Helens and 11.1% in Halton. 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in 
2018/19, 2019/20 & 2020/21: 

 No. % of 
total

Halton 122 11.1%
Knowsley 303 27.7%
Liverpool 318 29.1%
St Helens 171 15.6%
Sefton 98 8.9%
Wirral 78 7.1%

3.4 The majority of RPs operating in Sefton, who have responded to the consultation, 
do not offer fixed tenancies and are in favour of lifetime tenancies because of 
the security and rest of mind it offers to their customers. Lifetime tenancies also 
reduce the costs associated with advertising and letting properties and avoid 
creating artificial tenancy churn. 

3.5 Of the few that do offer fixed term tenancies, they comment that ‘Starter 
Tenancies’ in Social and Affordable Rent properties to be an effective tool for 
dealing with any tenancy management issues that occur in the first twelve months 
and as a deterrent for anti-social behaviours.  This is particularly effective when 
combined with the use of Section 21 possession proceedings which allows 
tenancies to be ended during this initial twelve-month period should issues occur.

3.6 The government has indicated its intention to abolish Section 21 possessions, or 
so called ‘no fault’ evictions. A consultation on this proposal was carried out in 
2019, with a White Paper expected this year outlining the details of any changes. 
The Tenancy Strategy will be reviewed following clarification of any changes to 
Section 21 possession powers.

4. Conclusion

4.1 The Council has a legal duty to have an adopted Tenancy Strategy. As many of 
the registered providers that operate in Sefton also operate across the LCR, as 
with the previous iteration of the strategy, a joint strategy is again proposed 
to ensure that a consistent approach is taken. Sefton Council could choose to 
produce a Tenancy Strategy independently of the other LCR authorities; however, 
this would be contrary to any joined-up or strategic housing plan making of 
the LCR and a common strategy was seen as the most advantageous 
approach.

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



Appendix A

Liverpool City Region          
Tenancy Strategy 

2022 - 2025

     

Page 44

Agenda Item 5



Contents
POLICY ...........................................................................................................................................................3

1. INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................................3

2. NATIONAL CONTEXT ..............................................................................................................................4

3. NATIONAL HOUSING STRATEGY .............................................................................................................4

4. WELFARE BENEFIT REFORM ...................................................................................................................5

5. VOLUNTARY RIGHT TO BUY....................................................................................................................6

6. OBJECTIVES............................................................................................................................................9

7. CITY REGION CONTEXT.........................................................................................................................10

8. THE STRATEGY .....................................................................................................................................12

9. TENANCY TYPES ...................................................................................................................................12

10. THE KIND OF TENANCIES TO BE GRANTED IN THE CITY REGION........................................................13

11. CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN DIFFERENT TYPES OF TENANCIES WILL BE GRANTED..................................15

12. THE LENGTH OF TERM IF FIXED-TERM TENANCIES ARE USED............................................................16

13. CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN REGISTERED MANAGERS WILL GRANT TENANCY .......................................17

14. FLEXIBLE TENANCIES IN LINE WITH HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGIES .................19

15. THE TENANCY STANDARD ................................................................................................................20

16. GUIDANCE FOR REGISTERED PROVIDERS IN FORMULATING TENANCY POLICIES...............................20

17. AFFORDABLE RENT...........................................................................................................................21

18. COMPLAINTS ...................................................................................................................................21

19.  REVIEWS OF FIXED TERM TENANCIES...............................................................................................22

20. MONITORING...................................................................................................................................22

21. EQUALITIES ......................................................................................................................................23

22. CONSULTATION ...............................................................................................................................23

APPENDICES .................................................................................................................................................24

APPENDIX A:  VOLUNTARY RIGHT TO BUY ESTIMATES PER REGION .................................................................................24
APPENDIX B:  LIVERPOOL CITY REGION TENURE ..........................................................................................................25
APPENDIX C:  LIVERPOOL CITY REGION AGREED ACTIONS .............................................................................................30
APPENDIX D:  THE FLEXIBILITIES ANNOUNCED UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 2011................................................................31
APPENDIX E:  CHANGES TO THE NATIONAL POLICY POSITION AND LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK...............................................32
APPENDIX F:  GLOSSARY OF TERMS ..........................................................................................................................33
APPENDIX G:  HOMELESSNESS SERVICE CONTACT DETAILS ............................................................................................35
APPENDIX H:  REGISTERED PROVIDER CONSULTATION..................................................................................................36
APPENDIX I    REGISTERED PROVIDER RESPONSES ........................................................................................................37
APPENDIX H:  EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT............................................................................................................40

Page 45

Agenda Item 5



Policy

1. Introduction
The Localism Act of 2011 introduced a requirement for Local Housing Authorities across 
England to prepare and publish a Tenancy Strategy.  The legal purpose of a Tenancy 
Strategy is to help shape the tenancy policies of Registered Providers of affordable 
housing who operate within a Local Authority’s district.
The Localism Act included new flexibilities and powers to Registered Providers of Social 
Housing and the option to use Flexible Tenancies.  In accordance with the legal 
requirements, the Tenancy Strategy sets out the flexibilities, for which Registered 
Providers of Social Housing will have regard to when formulating Tenancy Policies in 
relation to:

 The kind of tenancies they grant
 The circumstances in which they grant different kinds of tenancies
 Where they grant Flexible Tenancies and the length of terms, and
 The circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the termination of 

the existing tenancy

Each Local Authority within the City Region individually published their first Tenancy 
Strategy during 2012.  As part of a strategic approach, it was agreed to conduct a single 
review on a partnership basis, with the City Region Local Authorities, working together 
and produced a shared Tenancy Strategy for 2016-2019.
The revised 2022 Tenancy Strategy updated the context for using flexible tenancies.  
However, the guidance setting out how they should be used within the City Region 
remained the same, and it was agreed that a full strategic review would be completed in 
2021.
There are currently over 100 Registered Providers managing more than 150,000 
properties across the Liverpool City Region, with many having a presence in multiple 
Local Authority areas.  A shared Tenancy Strategy provides a consistent approach that 
will guide Registered Providers in preparing their Tenancy Policies.  Registered 
Providers are expected to have due regard to the principles set out in this Tenancy 
Strategy when formulating the policies that will govern how they will implement and 
utilise fixed-term tenancies.
This updated strategy sets out the City Region’s position for 2022 onwards.  It provides 
the basis for action, also, giving a steer to Registered Providers who are legally required 
to ‘have regard to’ the Tenancy Strategy but are not bound by it when drawing up their 
own policies.
The City Region’s Tenancy Strategy should be considered alongside each Local 
Authority`

 The Housing Investment Strategy
 Housing Strategy
 The Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
 Property Pool Plus and Under one Roof Allocation Scheme rules

All of which can be found on each of the individual City Region Local Authority websites.  
They provide greater detail in relation to the housing priorities of the City Region and the 
portfolio of its Registered Provider Partners, the housing need requirements and 
allocation/nomination arrangements.

2. National Context

There have been many changes in the national housing Landscape since the City 
Region joint Tenancy Strategy was published in 2016.  The regulatory framework for 
social housing in England is made up of:

Regulatory Requirements  What Registered Providers of Social Housing 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5



need to comply with.

Codes of Practice                A code of practice can amplify and economic 
standard to assist Registered Providers in 
understanding how compliance might be 
achieved.

Regulatory Guidance         This provides further explanatory information on 
the Regulatory requirements and included how 
the Regulator will carry out its role of regulating 
the requirements.

All legal requirements have been included within the Tenancy Strategy Review and will 
influence future procedural practice. 

3. National Housing Strategy 

The last National Housing Strategy published by the Government was laying the 
Foundations: A Housing Strategy for England (2011).  It set out a range of objectives for 
housing, including the Government’s view on the role and future direction of the social 
housing sector

Social housing can improve people’s life chances, providing support at a 
time when they need it, for as long as they need it.  It also supports mixed 
sustainable communities and local economies.  But the system is not 
working: waiting lists have grown excessively; social housing is used 
inefficiently; and many tenants are not provided with the right incentives to 
take up work.

The Government introduced a programme of reform through the Localism Act 2011, 
which made changes to the way people accessed social housing, the types of tenancies 
that are provided and the way homeless duty is discharged.
Registered Providers were given the option to grant different kinds of tenancies to 
respond to the needs of their communities, in order to:
Increased Mobility By encouraging tenants to move 

between properties and sectors as their 
housing needs change

Ensure that social housing only used 
for those in Genuine Need

By moving people earning a higher 
wage into other forms of tenure

Target Social Housing so it meets the 
needs of the Community

For example, by addressing the under-
occupation of larger family 
accommodation; and

Promote Localism Through local decision making at a 
Community Level

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



4. Welfare Benefit Reform

Further reforms were introduced by the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016, including 
the reduction in Social Housing rents by 1% per annum for four years from April 2016.  
These measures affected Registered Provider budgets and impacted on the overall 
number and level of investment in homes available for social and affordable rent.  Since 
April 2020, social housing rents have been allowed to increase again by up to CPI+1%, 
which will hopefully improve the ability for Registered Providers to invest in new and 
existing stock.
Universal Credit is widely accepted as the most important social security reform for thirty 
years. It brings together most of the means-tested benefits and tax credits for people of 
working age and has dominated policy-making for five years. Universal Credit has been 
rolled across the whole of the United Kingdom and is now the primary state benefit.
There have also been a number of Universal Credit administrative issues for Social 
Landlords and their tenants to adapt, which include;

 Housing Benefit reductions for tenants of working age who are under-occupying 
their property.

 Extension of the shared room rate, applied to most single people under the age of 
35

 Introduction of a benefit cap of £26,000per year.
  Reduction in benefits when someone claiming benefit has another adult living 

with them, who is not their spouse or partner.
 A default position that tenants are responsible for paying their own rent from their 

monthly UC payment, differing from housing benefit which was usually paid 
directly to their landlord.

 Tenants now have an individual responsibility for reporting all changes directly to 
the Department of Working Pensions (DWP), including rent increases.  

The impact of these requirements regarding affordability, rent arrears, or on social 
landlords’ income collection, particularly following yearly rent increases, will be 
monitored.
In 2012 there was an overriding government view that social housing tenants should not 
benefit from greater tenancy security than tenants in the private sector, thereby, 
introducing the use of discretionary fixed-term tenancies for Social Housing Landlords.
In the summer 2015 Budget, the Government announced an extension of the Right to 
Buy scheme to Registered Provider tenants. The National Housing Federation advocated 
for and subsequently agreed a voluntary arrangement with Registered Providers to 
receive compensation for the discount offered to the tenant.
The overall future impact of the introduction of the Right to Buy scheme for Registered 
Providers is not fully known at this stage, particularly on one of the main critical pillars of 
the original agreement: guaranteeing that there will be no overall loss of affordable 
housing, by ensuring that for every home sold another affordable home is built.

5. Voluntary Right to Buy

The Housing and Planning Act 2016, underpins this voluntary agreement with the 
NHF.  An initial pilot was carried out in 2016, and a second pilot launched in the Midlands 
in summer 2018.

The Voluntary Right to Buy (VRTB) Midlands’s pilot was launched across the East and 
West Midlands – giving Housing Association tenants the opportunity to apply to buy their 
home at a discount. There were 44 Housing Associations involved in the pilot, resulting 
in a total of 1,892 homes being sold or sales in the final stages of completion by 30 April 
2020. The analysis suggests;

Page 48

Agenda Item 5



 87% of replacement homes would be rented homes
 13% being shared ownership homes
 It is unclear whether the housing associations surveyed were planning to replace only 

75% of homes sold (which might happen if the sales receipts are insufficient to fund 
the costs of building new homes,

 Rented housing being 58% Affordable Rent and 42% social rented
 RTB discounts increase annually in line with CPI, the maximum discount for the pilot 

was in line with the maximum for 2018/19. 
 The current maximums (from April 2020) are £112,300 in London and £84,200 in the 

rest of England. 

Additionality 

It is the government's intention that homes built to replace those sold under the VRTB 
should be additional to those that would have been built anyway. However, it is unclear 
on what is permitted or how to prove Additionality, with further work needed to consider;

 The extent to which Housing Associations are putting in their own resources in order 
to fund one for one replacement 

 The extent to which S106 planning obligations are being used to provide effective 
cross-subsidy for replacement homes, which is allowable in exceptional 
circumstances if additionality can be demonstrated. 

 Whether Housing Associations build new homes, buy new homes or buy second-
hand homes to replace those sold – buying homes is effective in replacing the 
number of social homes sold, but does not add to the total housing stock. 

Replacement homes 

 The receipts from sales may be insufficient to fully fund replacement stock, and most 
Housing Associations are likely to use some of their own resources on the 
replacement housing. 

 While most Housing Associations in the pilot would prefer like for like replacement, 
the mix of homes is likely to include a mix of tenures (shared ownership, affordable 
rent and social rent). 

 Most Housing Associations are looking to develop replacement properties themselves 
and planning to develop them in the pilot area, although land availability for sites is 
limited, and smaller associations who mostly cover urban or expensive areas may 
struggle to replace homes in their operational area. 

 Out of 305,718 properties included in the VRTB pilot, there were 188,989 eligible 
tenants. 

 Had demand not been constrained, an estimated 2,884 would have purchased their 
home as part of the pilot. These purchasers would have represented:
o 1.5% of eligible tenants 
o 0.9% of all Housing Association tenants in the Midlands 

Overall, the VRTB pilot cost Housing Associations an average of £20,685 per 
organisation in setup costs and costs a total of £2,151 per sale.  After 
deducting the £2,000 administration fee reimbursed by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (now the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities), this administrative cost falls to 
£151 per sale.

Challenges

Operationally, portability has been one of the most challenging aspects of the VRTB for 
Housing Associations. The scale at which most Housing Associations operate, means 
that it is often very hard to identify many (if any) suitable properties for applicants to 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



move to. Fundamentally, the majority of tenants applying for the VRTB want to buy their 
current home and are not willing to take the discount to another property. This suggests 
that motivation for many to apply for the VRTB comes most of all from a desire to own 
their current home, rather than a desire for a discount, or a more affordable route to 
homeownership.

One for one replacement homes sold is also a challenging aspect of the VRTB. Homes 
sold in the pilot had an average market value of £137,271. Even if the build costs of new 
homes are lower than the market price, the total costs of building replacement homes is 
likely to be close to the market value of these homes. The expected market price will be 
reflected in the price that Housing Associations will have to pay for land with (or likely to 
obtain) planning permission for housing. The gap between these prices highlights the 
extent of the challenge in obtaining one for one replacement overall.
The analysis of the value for money of the VRTB shows that the main financial costs of 
the VRTB are costs covered by Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government, 
in reimbursing Housing Associations the value of the discount. The main financial 
beneficiaries are the buyers, and those who inherit from them. In economic terms, the 
discounts are a transfer, so the Net Profit Social Value of the pilot over 10 years is 
positive, with a Benefit Costs Ratio of 1.28%.  Economic benefits from land value uplift 
arising from the replacement homes that are built, form a major part of this, and the value 
of the additional homes.
Benefits to People Moving into Social Housing

Turnover rates in social housing are around 7.3% a year, which, means that existing 
tenants remain, on average for more than 10 years in their home. There is the potential 
for the VRTB to increase the number of available lettings available in the medium term. If 
the replacement home is built and available for letting after only 3 years, whereas,  on 
average,  the home sold would only have become available for letting after a longer 
period of time, then there will be an increase in available lettings.

Non-public sector benefits: £212.5m
Minus Non-public sector costs: £42.4m

Divided by Net public sector costs: £120.0m
Equals £1.42m

This suggests that the VRTB gives a positive economic return of £1.42 for every £1 of 
public money spent, over a 10-year period of taking part. The VRTB pilot has operated 
successfully throughout the Midlands, resulting in all 44 large Housing Associations with 
stock having at least one sale. 
Housing Associations overall felt well-supported by the government and the NHF in 
taking part in the pilot and felt that a lot of useful operational lessons were learned from 
the process
The report on the second pilot gives a clearer indication, with the propensity to buy 
calculated for each region, enabling estimates to be made to outline demand for a similar 
time limited VRTB scheme, where demand is not constrained. (See Appendix 1).
The Homes England Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme 2016-
2021, made £4.74 billion of grant available nationally to deliver shared ownership homes 
via the Help to Buy scheme and rental homes through the Rent to Buy scheme which 
enables working households to rent a home at Intermediate Rent, providing an 
opportunity to save for a deposit to buy their first home.
It also focused on the provision of specialist homes for older, disabled and vulnerable 
people.  Homes developed through this programme are now nearing completion and 
replaced by Homes England’s Affordable Homes Programme 2021-2026, worth £7.39 
billion over the five years, covering more of the same tenure types as under the 2016-
2021 Programme.  It is important to note the new Right to Shared Ownership, which will 
give the vast majority of tenants living in new rented homes funded and delivered 
through the Affordable Homes Programme 2021-26, the opportunity to purchase a stake 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5



in their home and then purchase further shares when they can afford to do so, potentially 
leading to a further reduction in supply of RP housing for rent.
The Housing and Planning Act 2016, was enacted with the intention of phasing out the 
award of lifetime tenancies.  Social Landlords were only to be offered fixed-term 
tenancies, with the proviso that landlords could offer tenancies up to the 19th birthday of 
the youngest occupant.  This would have affected new and existing tenants who moved 
home (with a few exceptions) however, these provisions were not implemented and the 
National climate regarding Social Housing changed dramatically following the fire at 
Grenfell Tower in 2017.
In the Social Housing Green Paper – A New Deal for Social Housing 2018, the 
Government stated it would not implement compulsory fixed-term tenancies; however, 
within the Private Rented sector there have been moves to require landlords to offer 
longer tenancies and to remove “no fault” evictions.
The Social Housing White Paper – The Charter for Social Housing Residents 2020, 
sets out what every Social Housing resident should be able to expect in relation to 
safety, landlord performance, complaints, being treated with respect, having their voice 
heard, the quality of their home and neighbourhood, and access to home ownership.
The Secure Tenancies (Victims of Domestic Abuse) Act 2018, recognised that where 
a secure (lifetime) tenant was offered a new tenancy, when moving due to domestic 
abuse, they should retain their existing security of tenure and not be offered a fixed-term 
tenancy.

6. Objectives

This strategy will contribute towards the overarching objectives defined within the 
Liverpool City Region Housing Investment Strategy 2020.  The Strategic Investment 
Priorities are:

Improve The condition and energy efficiency of our existing 
housing stock through retrofit programmes with the 
priority being neighbourhoods with poorest quality 
housing stock or deprived as measured by indices 
of multiple deprivation

Diversify Improve and redesign existing housing stock in 
areas of low demand

Make The best use of empty homes or stock that is in 
low demand

Improve The quality of neighbourhoods where data 
suggests market vulnerability through improving 
housing quality and choice

The Tenancy Strategy will place emphasis upon:
 Provide smarter housing services
 Highly valued by our communities
 Delivered by people inspired to achieve

All of these reforms and those that have recently been subject to consultation, will 
continue to be monitored to fully understand their impact on local housing markets and 
residents across the City Region.  This will inform future changes to the Tenancy 
Strategy and enable service responses to remain appropriate and relevant to changing 
circumstances.
In addition to Government policy changes, the Covid-19 pandemic has placed additional 
pressures on demand for social housing, particularly as a result of the “Everyone In” 
campaign aimed at ensuring all rough sleepers had an offer of accommodation during 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



the pandemic and also the lack of movement within both the private and rented housing 
sector.

The housing market has seen many changes, however, demand for accommodation 
remains high.  Increased House prices are contributable to a substantial rise in private 
landlords selling their properties, which resulted in a rise in possession notices being 
served, placing additional pressure upon all housing providers

Buyer demand has increased at significant levels. At the same time, supply hit an all-time 
low. This has caused house prices to increase substantially throughout the past 12 
months. The housing market is on course to have its busiest year since the financial 
crisis.

UK average house prices Increased by 8.0% over the year to July 
2021, down from 13.1% in June 2021.

The average UK house price Was £256,000 in July 2021, 
which is £19,000 higher than this time 
last year. Following the record high of 
£265,000 in June 2021.

Average house prices Increased over the year in England to 
£271,000 (7%), in Wales to £188,000 
(11.6%), in Scotland to £177,000 
(14.6%) and in Northern Ireland to 
£153,000 (9.0%).

(UK House Price Index July 2021)

It will also become apparent whether the pandemic will continue to have an impact upon 
demand for social housing, due to rising levels of unemployment and the negative impact 
upon businesses.  If it continues to rise, there will undoubtedly be increases in the 
number of households seeking social housing and support services.

The objective aim of the Tenancy Strategy is to contribute to the 
continuation of mixed and balanced communities and prevent unnecessary 
upheaval.

7. City Region Context

The City Region has a population of 1.5million people and an economy worth over £20 
billion.  It benefits from an internationally recognised city, major employment sites and 
significant global companies, as well as leading Universities and research institutions.  
The City Region Combined Authority was established in April 2014 to lead on strategic 
decision making, with a vision for the City Region to be:

A globally connected City Region delivering sustainable growth, 
opportunities and prosperity for people and businesses

A devolution Agreement between the Government and Leaders of the City Region was 
approved in November 2015, to devolve powers and responsibilities to the City Region 
Combined Authority and for a new directly elected mayor for the Liverpool City Region.

Page 52

Agenda Item 5



The directly elected mayor acts as a Chair to the City Region Combined Authority and 
exercises powers and functions devolved from Central Government, including powers 
over strategic planning to help accelerate economic growth and new housing 
developments.  Further devolution was agreed in March 2016, which included a 
commitment for the City Region to continue to work with Government or examine how 
national policies and finds can be best utilised to promote home ownership and housing 
supply in the context of the City Region’s Housing Market.  Projects to utilise devolved 
funds to take these aims forward are currently being developed and include the 
Brownfield Land Fund and Strategic Housing Infrastructure Land Fund. 
The City Region Housing Strategy was first completed in 2007, and the current iteration 
is the Housing Investment Strategy 2020.  The Strategic aim is to provide a framework 
for future housing investment to support regeneration and economic growth across the 
City Region.
Providing the right mix of affordable private and social rented homes is integral to 
attracting people to the City Region, retaining those residents who already live here and 
meeting the housing needs of older and vulnerable residents.  The City Region Housing 
Investment Strategy is clear that having the right housing offer is key to the development 
of sustainable communities and crucial for the long-term growth of the City Region.
Rebalancing our housing offer also needs to include widening the range and quality of 
social housing provision to meet increasing need.  Evidence shows that the City Region 
has need to social housing across all sizes but with a particular emphasis on 1-bed and 
larger 4-bed social rent homes.  This supply and demand imbalance reflect several 
issues, not least the impact of welfare reform (and how this has influenced affordable 
housing programmes) and demographic change.  Addressing this imbalance is a key 
priority for us and will help meet wider objectives.
The City Region Local Authorities are keen to ensure that social housing continues to 
play a positive role in contributing to the social and economic position of the City Region 
as a whole. With the City Region Tenancy Strategy playing an important part in this, 
along with other key joint housing policies including the City Region Housing Allocation 
Policy which builds upon individual Local Authorities’ strategies such as Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeper Strategies, Corporate Plans, Housing Strategies, all of which are 
informed by Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) which establishes the future 
need for different types of housing within their area.  The City Region Tenancy Strategy 
has been developed within the context of these documents.

8. The Strategy

The City Region expects all Social Housing Providers to produce a Tenancy Policy, 
which addresses the strategic requirements detailed within the Liverpool City Region 
Tenancy Strategy.  

The City Region Local Authorities welcome the flexibility for Registered Providers to 
determine the length of tenancy they will offer to new tenants.  This provides the 
opportunity to encourage the best use of limited affordable housing stock.  However, the 
City Region Local Authorities are keen to ensure that these flexibilities are applied in a 
manner that does not undermine social investment in communities and ensures that the 
most vulnerable tenants are provided with the level of stability they require.

9. Tenancy Types

Security of Tenure and “Lifetime Tenancies”
Long-term security was introduced for most social housing tenants by the Housing Act 
1980.  The Housing Act 1988 subsequently introduced the assured tenancy regime for 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



Housing Associations.  This regime has applied to most new housing association 
tenancies created since 15th January 1989.

Many residents spoke about the benefits of security in their tenancies, 
saying that they created strong, supportive comments and particularly 

enabled people with vulnerabilities to thrive.  Some felt that residents were 
more likely to look after their property, their neighbours, and the community 
if they had a lifetime tenancy.  While some people thought it was right that 

residents should move out of social housing if they no longer needed it 
given the pressures on housing, many also had concerns about the 

uncertainty when fixed term tenancies came to an end and the impact this 
could have on their families and communities.

The City Region’s position on secure/assured tenancies, echoes that stated by the 
Government in ‘A New Deal for Social Housing 2018’ in the following extract:
The City Region Local Authorities recognise the immense and security that lifetime 
tenancies provide for residents and communities.  Consultation when developing our first 
Tenancy Strategy in 2012 also found potential problems with implementing flexible 
tenancies in areas such as:
 Registered providers confirmed that the use of fixed term tenancies was not cost 

effective and resource intensive.
 The risk of challenge to decisions to end a tenancy
 Greater risk of voids in between lets
 Residualisation of estates, - Services to the area are underutilised and economically 

inefficient


The City Region position is therefore that secure or assured, lifetime 
tenancies are preferred in the majority of cases.  We consider that these are 

most supportive of our vision for housing and supporting communities.

10. The kind of Tenancies to be granted in the City Region

The tenancies that will be granted by Registered Providers within the City Region are:

Introductory Tenancies:  Also known as “probationary” or “starter” tenancies.  These 
are usually assured shorthold tenancies which can be offered to new tenants irrespective 
of whether the property is let at a social, affordable or intermediate rent.  
Introductory/Starter tenancies can only be used for new tenants.  They cannot be used 
for tenants transferring from a secure Council tenancy or an assured Housing 
Association tenancy.  Nor can they be used for a mutual exchange – where 2 existing 
tenancies undertake a house swap.

The introductory period normally lasts for twelve months and, provided there has been 
no breach of tenancy that would warrant eviction within that time, can be converted to an 
assured tenancy once the twelve months has elapsed.  However, if the Registered 
Provider has reason to believe that the tenant has breached the tenancy agreement it 
can extend the introductory period beyond twelve months.  Some of these lettings will be 

Page 54

Agenda Item 5



subject to Local Authority nominations in accordance with an agreement with the 
Registered Provider.
Assured (“Lifetime”) Tenancies:  Registered Providers may continue to offer assured 
tenancies to transferring tenants, tenants converting from an introductory tenancy (or 
new tenants where there is no introductory scheme in place) regardless of whether the 
property is let at social, intermediate or affordable rent.  Their aim is to provide quality 
and reliable accommodation to households who are unable to meet their housing needs 
through the market.  They are particularly focused on the more vulnerable members of 
society.  These lettings will be subject to Local Authority nominations in accordance with 
an agreement with the Registered Provider.
Secure Tenancies: Registered Providers will not offer secure tenancies to new tenants 
as they are reserved for Local Authority use.  However, some Providers will have tenants 
with secure tenancies where the tenancies have been assigned to a Registered Provider 
following a stock transfer,
Assured Shorthold Tenancies:  Registered Providers have always been able to use 
assured shorthold tenancies in certain circumstances e.g. provision of temporary 
accommodation or introductory tenancies, as set out above.  This Tenancy Strategy 
does not seek to encroach on this.  Within the context of this strategy, it is anticipated 
that this form of tenure will be used for fixed-term tenancies.
Fixed Term Tenancies:  The Localism Act 2011 introduced changes which allow Local 
Authorities/Registered Providers to grant fixed term or flexible tenancies.  Registered 
Providers may use fixed-term tenancies for new tenants, regardless of whether the 
property is let at social, intermediate or affordable rent.  It is recommended that the term 
of the tenancy will be for a minimum of five years and will be renewable at the discretion 
of the tenant and the landlord at the end of the fixed term.  These lettings will be subject 
to Local Authority nominations in accordance with agreement with the Registered 
Provider.  New homes built under the Government’s Rent to Buy scheme are required to 
have assured shorthold tenancies for a fixed term of less than two years.
Whilst being committed to the use of secure/assured tenancies for the majority of general 
needs properties, we recognise that flexible tenancies, non-secure tenancies and 
licenses may be appropriate in some circumstances.  These include:
 Temporary accommodation under provisions contained within the 1996 Housing Act
 When they allow the use of an additional property for affordable housing.  An 

example would be where a registered provider brings private sector properties into 
use as affordable accommodation as part of a leasing scheme and a lifetime tenancy 
could not be offered due to the length of the lease

 Where the property is offered for a specific purpose, such as to support foster care by 
the occupant, but the foster caring comes to an end

 Property in very short supply where greater control over occupation is necessary to 
ensure it most effectively meets housing need and makes best use of stock.  For 
example, larger family houses of 4 beds or more or properties with substantial 
adaptations suited to a disabled person.

Fixed term tenancies have been utilised by a minority of Registered Providers in tackling 
issues of affordability and supply and demand. Details of the use of fixed term tenancies 
across the City Region are

Total Number of Fixed Term Tenancies used; Numbers
Halton 43

Knowsley 6
Liverpool 318

Sefton 171
St Helens 98

Wirral 78

Consultation with Registered Providers confirmed there has been a shift in the usage of 
fixed term tenancies.  The data confirmed that in 2018/19 all the City Region Local 
Authorities were actively issuing fixed term tenancies, however, during the later years 
there has been a gradual reduction and reluctance to issue fixed term tenancies.

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



The consultation process confirmed that the majority of Registered Providers are unlikely 
to use fixed term tenancies within the City Region in the future. There remains a 
presumption that the majority of the Registered Providers remain in favour of lifetime 
(assured) tenancies.  For Registered Provider consultation responses see Appendix H 
Market Rent Tenancies:  These tenancies will usually have assured shorthold tenancy 
as their legal form.  Their aim is to provide quality and reliable accommodation to 
households who can meet their housing needs through the market and are attractive to 
Registered Providers because of the quality and reliability they can offer.  Such 
tenancies will play an important strategic role in meeting a demand and, particularly 
where introduced into areas undergoing change, in helping foster and sustain mixed 
communities.  It is envisaged that this form of tenure will be an attractive alternative to 
households aspiring to buy for the first time but who are having difficulty securing a 
mortgage.
License Agreement:  It is recognised that some Registered Providers provide 
temporary accommodation, such as hostels and specialist or supported accommodation 
and in certain instances ‘licence agreements’ may be used. A licence agreement is a 
legal contact which is used for temporary and certain types of specialist and/or supported 
accommodation or shared housing, where there is no exclusive possession to any part of 
the dwelling.
In framing Tenancy Policies and determining the circumstances in which fixed term 
tenancies should be granted, extended or ended, the Liverpool City Region Local 
Authorities advocate that Registered Providers make use of the flexibilities as described 
in section 8 below.

11. Circumstances when Different Types of Tenancies will be granted

Where a property becomes available for letting the Registered Provider will determine 
the appropriate form of tenancy and will seek to identify a suitable tenant.  In determining 
the form of tenancy the Registered Provider will take into account:

 The current mix of households in the locality and the aspiration to create and sustain 
a balanced and mixed communities

 Known need and demand for housing in the locality
 Their neighbourhood and asset management plants
 Targets for lettings agreed as part of any nominations agreement or agreed local 

lettings policies
 Its allocation through Choice Based Lettings
 Any other strategic considerations relevant to the Registered Provider

There will be a presumption in favour of lifetime (assured) tenancies so that future 
social housing tenants maintain the security of tenure currently enjoyed by existing 
tenants.  Social housing is often located in some of the more deprived parts of the City 
Region, and reducing security of tenure in these areas is likely to impact on the longer-
term aspiration of creating sustainable communities.  However, the City Region Local 
Authorities recognise that there will be circumstances when the new tenure flexibility will 
provide an opportunity for Registered Providers to make best use of their housing stock.  
The City Region Local Authorities consider that fixed-term tenancies are not suitable in 
any of the following circumstances:
 Where the household is transferring from an existing Registered Provider assured or 

Local Authority secure tenancy which was granted prior to 1st April 2012.  This is to 
ensure that there are no disincentives for existing tenants to move to a more suitable 
or desirable property and there are no barriers to normal “churn” within the sector

 Tenants with a lifelong need for support that would disadvantage them in securing 
alternative accommodation should be offered lifetime tenancies.  This applies to 
tenants in both general needs and specialist and/or supported accommodation

Page 56

Agenda Item 5



 Where the tenant is someone over the prevailing state retirement age or where the 
tenant is residing in older persons accommodation, such as sheltered or “extra care” 
housing

 Where the property is located in an area of very low demand and/or high multiple 
deprivation and where the Local Authority has serious concerns about the long term 
sustainability of the area, unless the Registered Provider can demonstrate that the 
use of fixed-term tenancies would assist with creating and maintaining the balance in 
such areas.  In these circumstances the Local Authority will initiate discussions with 
the relevant Registered Provider(s) to request that they temporarily suspend the use 
of fixed-term tenancies in that area or specify how fixed-term tenancies would assist 
with creating and maintaining balance

 Where a tenant with a secure or assured tenancy is required by a Registered 
Provider to move due to redevelopment e.g. they are being required to move; not 
seeking to do so.

There is a balance to be struck between generating greater availability of social housing 
for those in need, and maintain stable communities.  It would not be desirable to allow a 
high proportion of fixed-term tenancies in any area if this risks creating an excessive 
turnover of properties and hence, community instability.

12. The Length of Term if Fixed-Term Tenancies are used

The expectation is that fixed-term tenancies will be granted for a minimum of five 
years, with discretion to Registered Providers to let for shorter or longer periods where 
this is appropriate to the circumstances of the household or property. 
The reasons for this approach are:
 It is reasonable in terms of managing the resources involved in reviewing tenancies; 

in order to give the tenant a reasonable time of stability to build their life chances for 
themselves and their possible dependents

 To allow a reasonable period for tenants to engage in the local area, which is needed 
for cohesion in communities and

 To allow the Registered Provider to take into account circumstances of the household 
or property which might merit a letting of shorter or longer than five years.

In certain circumstances the granting of a tenancy that exceeds a five- year period may 
be appropriate for some tenants in order to provide an additional degree of stability and 
security and to aid neighbourhood cohesion.  The circumstances of households who 
have dependent school-aged children attending a local school, those living in adapted 
properties, and those with a support need that is long-term but not necessarily lifelong, 
should be considered when deciding on the length of the fixed-term offered by a 
Registered Provider. 
It is envisaged that where properties are designated for specific purposes, or where 
Government grant funding specifies the length of a tenancy, e.g. Rough Sleeper 
Accommodation Programme, to coincide with any additional Government Department 
funding requirements, for example:
 Where a property is part of a leasing arrangement and is not in the ownership of the 

Registered Provider and would need to revert into private ownership

 Supported housing schemes where it is anticipated that the tenant will move on to 
more settled accommodation within a period of less than five years

 Lettings carried out for management reasons such as those for tenants moving into 
properties to allow emergency works to be carried out in their existing home

 Regeneration areas where property demolition or disposal is expected to take place 
within five years

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



 Where properties have been built using Government funding for Rent to Buy. 

13. Circumstances when Registered Managers will grant tenancy

It is expected that tenants’ needs will be sensitively dealt with, and that the criteria for 
renewals may include the following consideration:

Fixed-term tenancies expiring will usually be renewed where:

The household includes dependents of pre-school age or in full-time education, 
unless any points in the paragraph below apply.  We may also need to recognise 
that children stay with their parents well beyond school age for valid reasons, and 
these will be considered on an individual basis

The tenancy was originally offered in response to a particular set of circumstances 
or vulnerabilities (e.g. the household was fleeing harassment or domestic violence, 
is under a witness protection programme, was a person leaving Local Authority 
care or has mental health problems) and the household is still classed as being 
vulnerable

The property has been adapted to meet the needs of a disabled person and that 
person still resides in the property and needs the adaptations

The household receives some form of housing support or is recognised as being 
vulnerable

The household still requires the size of property, based upon housing need

The household is playing an active role in the community

The household has children attending a local school

The tenant would be approaching the prevailing state retirement age within the 
next three years and the property is suitable for a lifetime tenancy

Households where a household member is seriously or terminally ill

In cases where the property is under-occupied but this is not as a result of a 
change in household circumstances (e.g. due to low demand for the property it 
was under-occupied on allocation) it is recommended that the tenancy should be 
renewed if the tenant can still afford to pay the rent (due to the under-occupation 
charge)

The tenant can demonstrate that they carry out caring responsibilities for a 
neighbour or relative who lives nearby and there is no suitable alternative 
accommodation in the same area
Fixed-term tenancies expiring will not usually be renewed where:
There has been a material change in household size and they are now under-
occupying the property by more than one bedroom (an alternative tenancy may be 
offered) subject to alternative accommodation being available.  In determining 
whether or not a property is classed as under occupied Registered Providers 
should have regard to the ‘bedroom standard’.  Registered Providers may also 
wish to wish to consider whether an additional bedroom is needed to allow a carer 
or relative to occasionally stay in the property overnight to undertake caring 
responsibilities for the tenant

Page 58

Agenda Item 5



The household’s circumstances enable them to access market housing AND there 
is not a reason to seek to retain the household in the locality for the purposes of 
community balance.  The Liverpool City Region Local Authorities do not want the 
use of fixed-term tenancies to be a barrier to households seeking employment or 
attempting to improve their income and lifestyle through career progression and, 
therefore, would expect that this criterion would only apply infrequently

A member of the household, or their invited guests, is engaged in anti-social 
activities within the locality of the home and/ or that has a detrimental effect upon 
the community in which the household is placed.  Anti-social behaviour is conduct 
which is causing or likely to cause nuisance or annoyance, harassment, alarm or 
distress, to any other person, and can include criminal acts

The property was adapted before or during the tenancy period for someone with a 
disability only for that person to be no longer resident there or to no longer require 
the adaptations and there are other households needing this type of adapted 
accommodation.  In these cases the City Region Local Authorities expect that the 
Registered Provider will arrange for alternative suitable accommodation to be 
secured either through a transfer or mutual exchange within its own stock or that of 
another Registered Provider

Where a person has been granted a property in order to receive support but then 
refuses to accept that support

Where there is evidence that a breach of tenancy agreement has occurred, for 
example, property neglect or unaddressed arrears

Where it is identified the property is inappropriate for an individual’s needs, i.e. 
they are not coping in the property or they need more support than is currently 
being provided

The City Region Local Authorities are committed to ensuring that the decision to 
terminate a fixed-term tenancy does not lead to increases in levels of homelessness in 
the area.  Therefore, in situations where a decision has been taken by a Registered 
Provider not to renew a tenancy at the end of a fixed term, the Registered Provider 
should seek to engage with the tenant at the earliest possible convenience to make them 
aware of the Provider’s intentions.  Government guidance recommends a review period 
of six months.  However, Registered Providers may want to consider making an initial 
contact with the household before this to ensure that there is sufficient time for the 
Registered Provider to arrange alternative accommodation or for the household to 
purchase a home where this is likely to be deemed necessary. 
Registered Providers should provide households affected by the termination of a tenancy 
with any relevant advice and support that will assist them in successfully relocating to 
alternative accommodation.  This could include:
 Advice on low-cost home ownership options and other alternative 

affordable housing tenures

 Specialist housing and/or welfare related advice and/or signposting to 
appropriate services

 Advice on renting in the private rented sector and assistance in 
identifying and securing a suitable property (this may involve assistance 
with a deposit where necessary)

Each Local Authority across the City Region has a Housing Options/housing Solutions 
Service which will be able to assist tenants with a wide range of advice to help them 
resolve the issues arising out of the termination of their tenancies. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



The City Region Local Authorities do not expect Registered Providers to use fixed-term 
tenancies as a short cut to enforcement procedures for breaches of tenancy conditions 
but accept there may be circumstances where enforcement proceedings are so far 
advanced that it would not be appropriate to renew a tenancy.  It will be for Registered 
Providers to judge these cases on their own merit mindful that they will have to justify 
such action should the tenant seek to exercise their right to appeal.
The City Region Local Authorities expect Registered Providers to have robust and fair 
appeal processes in place to resolve any disputes that may arise. 
When securing alternative accommodation for the household, Registered Providers 
should take into account so far as is possible the household’s area(s) of choice and 
whether they need to live in a particular area to give or receive care or support.

14. Flexible Tenancies in line with Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategies 

The City Region Local Authorities all have Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategies and Housing Pathways which have been developed with residents and 
stakeholders.  These are focused on responding to the needs of individuals and family 
households at the earliest opportunity to prevent, and where this is not possible, relieve 
homelessness, with the ultimate aim of breaking the cycle of repeat homelessness and 
eradicating rough sleeping 

The City Region objective, mirroring that of the Government’s “Everyone In” agenda, is to 
ensure that every rough sleeper has access to accommodation and support appropriate 
to what they need next.  In order to maximise flow through these pathways towards 
greater levels of independence, and it is essential that move on options remain available.  
The use of flexible tenancies will allow for residents to move towards greater levels of 
independence when they are ready and ensures the continued availability of supported 
accommodation for those that need it.

15. The Tenancy Standard
The Regulatory Framework for Social Housing in England from April 2012 sets out the 
specific standards that Registered Providers must meet and takes account of the 
amendments made as a result of the Localism Act 2011.
The Tenant Standard requires Registered Providers to let their homes in a transparent 
and efficient way and to take account of the housing needs and aspirations of tenants 
and potential tenants. They must demonstrate how their lettings:
 Make the best use of available housing
 Are compatible with the purpose of the housing
 Contribute to local authorities’ strategic housing function and sustainable

Communities
 Also expected to co-operate with Local Authorities’ strategic housing function and 

their duty to meet identified Local housing needs. 
 This includes assistance with Local Authorities’ homelessness duties, and through 

meeting obligations in nomination agreements.

16. Guidance for Registered Providers in formulating Tenancy Policies

Where RPs let properties on flexible tenancies, we recommend the following apply:

Page 60

Agenda Item 5



 For general needs housing, any fixed term should be for a minimum of 5 years in 
accordance with Homes England and the Regulator for Social Housing guidance.  
However, in exceptional circumstances, a minimum of two year fixed term can be 
offered.

 All prospective tenants should be made aware of the type and length of tenancy prior 
to sign up

 Tenants should also be informed of the circumstances in which they will be granted a 
further tenancy at the end of the term of their current tenancy. The criteria for not 
renewing a tenancy must be clearly published in the provider’s tenancy policy, in 
accordance with the requirements of the legislation

 Tenancy policies should recognize the benefit of a period of stability for those with 
young families and children in education

 Where flexible tenancies are being used to support the delivery of an Affordable 
Rents programme, consideration should be given to the geographical distribution of 
these properties to ensure that areas with high levels of tenancy turnover are not 
further destabilized as a result

 If a flexible tenancy is not being renewed on the basis of under-occupation, or where 
the property’s major adaptations are no longer needed, it is expected that RPs offer a 
smaller alternative, or in non-adapted property within their own stock, or through 
partnership working with other providers and the Local Authority, thus allow the 
tenant to remain housed until an alternative is found

 The Council expects to be notified of all decisions not to renew a tenancy to enable 
housing advice to be provided for those households affected.

17. Affordable Rent
Affordable rents were introduced by the Localism Act 2011. The policy's primary 
objective was to allow Registered Providers to generate additional rental income to 
support investment in building more affordable homes, despite reductions in government 
grant. This would be achieved by charging a higher rent than social rent but remaining at 
a level that was still affordable to tenants with low to medium incomes (where eligible, 
with support through Housing Benefit).

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities has issued guidance on 
setting rents for social housing.  Registered Providers’ property valuations for initial rent 
setting must be in accordance with a method recognized by the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors. The resulting Affordable Rent (subject to certain exceptions) shall 
not exceed 80% of market rent.  The level of Affordable Rent will be recalculated at any 
subsequent grant of a new tenancy.

The City Region Position on Affordable Rents

We are broadly supportive of the principle of Affordable Rents, as a means of broadening 
housing diversity and choice, and generating additional funds to support the viability of 
new-build programmes. We also recognise that some Registered Providers have entered 
into a contract within the Affordable Homes Programme managed by Homes England 
which requires an Affordable Rent element.

The City Region`s position that Affordable Rents should only be used where it can be 
evidenced that the rent is genuinely affordable to the local population. Local Housing 
Allowance provides a good benchmark against which to assess affordability, and 
Government guidance states that Registered Providers should have regard to it when 
setting affordable rent. Another useful benchmark of affordability is the rent cap for social 
rents. While not strictly applicable to Affordable Rents, the City Region Local Authorities 
would want to discourage Affordable Rents above that level.

It is recommended therefore that Affordable Rents do not exceed the rent cap, except 
where a higher rent is critical to ensure viability; typically, we may expect that exception 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



to apply to the building of larger properties of 4 or more bedrooms, a minority of 3 bed 
properties or to properties with specialist features.

The level of affordable Rent charged for new developments should be considered on a 
case-by-case basis, seeking to balance the need to ensure viability, maximise income, 
and meeting the needs of local people and their community. 

18. Complaints
All social landlords are required to set out the way in which a tenant or prospective 
tenant can escalate a complaint if they are dissatisfied with the response. This should 
include information on:
 Internal complaints’ procedure
 Housing Ombudsman
 Judicial Review
 Where to seek independent legal advice

The Social Housing White paper, The Charter for Social Housing Residents (2020), 
sets out what every Social Housing resident should be able to expect in relation to 
complaints. The expectation is that Social Housing tenants will have their complaints 
dealt with promptly and fairly, with access to a strong ombudsman who will give them 
swift and fair redress when needed. This requirement will be developed further by the 
Regulator of Social Housing.

19.  Reviews of Fixed Term Tenancies

The City Region Local Authorities expect Registered Providers to ensure their Tenancy 
policies contain the following information:

 How and to whom review requests should be made, including timescales for making 
the request

 How any review panel will be comprised
 Give timescales for administering the review
 Be accessible and widely publicised, such as published on websites available in 

Housing Offices, Local Community buildings

Under current legislation there is no right for a tenant to ask for a formal review of the 
decision to award an introductory tenancy. However, where a tenant believes that the 
Registered Provider has incorrectly awarded an introductory tenancy, the tenant should 
write to the designated Housing Provider, details can be located on individual websites. 
Such a request should be made within 14 days of the date of signing the tenancy 
agreement. Such requests will only be considered where the Housing Provider has 
awarded an introductory tenancy in contravention of this Policy.

20. Monitoring

The Strategy is a ‘live’ document that is adaptable over time, informed by partnership 
working with Registered Providers and others as well as being informed by changes to 
the housing market, housing need and demand for properties as a result of shifting 
national policy.
The Strategy is monitored by the City Region Local Authorities to reflect changes in local 
housing priority, legislation and strategic goals. Monitoring considers:
 The effectiveness and extent to which fixed-term tenancies are issued and any 

appeals; 

Page 62

Agenda Item 5



 Number of fixed term tenancies issued and not renewed
 Equality impact monitoring information; 
 Changing housing market conditions and their likely impact on the demand for service 

provision;
 Changes to housing allocation policies;
 The composition of the housing register;
 Allocation and nomination trends;
 Registered Providers’ Tenancy Policies; and
 The impact of welfare reforms.

The monitoring of these areas informs future changes to the Strategy and enables 
service responses to remain appropriate and relevant to changing circumstances.  Upon 
completion of the review, an annual report will be presented to the Liverpool City Region 
Housing and Spatial Planning Board no later than six months after the financial year. 

21. Equalities

A range of stakeholders were consulted during the development of the Tenancy Strategy 
and an Equality Impact Assessment was completed

The City Region Local Authorities expect that all Registered Providers will undertake 
Equality Impact Assessments of their own tenancy policies.

22. Consultation

This strategy was developed in consultation with the Registered Providers operating 
within the City Region.  The consultation period commenced November 2021 and 
ceased January 2022, to ensure a well-informed and inclusive approach was 
undertaken.

Over 100 Providers were consulted to ascertain the usage of flexible tenancies, how 
effective they are and future usage.  The majority of Registered Providers confirmed that 
although they have previously used flexible tenancies, for the above stated reasons, it is 
unlikely that they will continue to use them in the future.   Details of the Registered 
Provider Responses are outlined within Appendix I 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



Appendices
Appendix A:  Voluntary Right to Buy Estimates per Region

Area Estimating the likely 
number of buyers of a 
national VRTB time-

limited scheme Eligible

Proportion 
able to afford

Eligible and 
able to afford

Propensity to 
buy

Estimated 
number of 
purchasers

North West 262,044 24% 67,308 6.1% 4,372 

North East 97,916 24% 25,649 5.9% 1,597 
Yorkshire and 
Humber 

103,110 28% 31,135 6.4% 2,110 

East Midlands 65,937 20% 14,107 5.9% 882 
West Midlands 131,678 24% 33,311 6.2% 2,169 
South East 183,482 9% 18,508 6.3% 1,228 
London 222,939 4% 10,290 7.9% 863 
South West 120,428 13% 16,974 5.8% 1,048 
East 131,616 14% 19,834 6.3% 1,320 
England 1,319,149 17% 246,166 6.3% 15,870 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5



Appendix B:  Liverpool City Region Tenure

Liverpool City Region Tenancy Strategy Data (September 2021)
Table 1: Tenure (total households)

Local 
authority

Owned 
outright

Owned with 
mortgage

Shared 
ownership

Social rented Private 
rented

Other TOTAL

Halton 14, 436 19, 360 322 13, 441 5, 212 541 53, 312
Knowsley 16, 032 21, 864 314 16, 333 5, 980 800 61, 323
Liverpool 43, 803 53, 144 1, 096 57, 485 48, 290 2, 697 206, 515
St Helens 25, 215 25, 737 427 15, 597 7, 736 1, 024 75, 736
Sefton 42, 334 40, 803 664 17, 063 15, 804 1, 262 117, 930
Wirral 46, 806 48, 037 713 21, 329 22, 275 1, 423 140, 583
TOTAL 188, 626 208, 945 3, 536 141, 248 105, 297 7, 747 655, 399

North West 934, 101 1, 007, 463 15, 787 550, 481 462, 899 38, 818 3, 009, 549
England 6, 745, 584 7, 229, 440 173, 760 3, 903, 550 3, 715, 924 295, 110 22, 063, 368

Source: MHCLG ONS 2011 Census
Table 2: Tenure (%)

Local 
authority

Owned 
outright

Owned with 
mortgage

Shared 
ownership

Social rented Private 
rented

Other TOTAL

Halton 27.08% 36.31% 0.60% 25.21% 9.78% 1.01% 100%
Knowsley 26.14% 35.65% 0.51% 26.63% 9.75% 1.30% 100%
Liverpool 21.21% 25.73% 0.53% 27.84% 23.38% 1.31% 100%
St Helens 33.29% 33.98% 0.56% 20.59% 10.21% 1.35% 100%
Sefton 35.90% 34.60% 0.56% 14.47% 13.40% 1.07% 100%
Wirral 33.29% 34.17% 0.51% 15.17% 15.84% 1.01% 100%
TOTAL 28.78% 31.88% 0.54% 21.55% 16.07% 1.18% 100%

North West 31.04% 33.48% 0.52% 18.29% 15.38% 1.29% 100%
England 30.57% 32.77% 0.79% 17.69% 16.84% 1.34% 100%

Source: MHCLG ONS 2011 Census
Table 3: Median gross annual salary (all workers, residence-based)

Local authority 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
(Provisional)

% increase
2016-20

Halton 21,537 21,426 21,958 23,695 24,067 11.75%

Knowsley 21,502 21,956 22,287 22,696 23,700 10.22%

Liverpool 21,754 21,792 22,324 23,312 24,963 14.75%

St Helens 22,850 21,644 22,859 24,650 25,535 11.75%

Sefton 21,701 22,149 22,606 23,637 24,244 11.72%

Wirral 22,167 22,350 22,953 24,136 23,984 8.20%

North West 21,622 21,986 22,683 23,741 24,334 12.54%

England 23,337 23,754 24,283 25,150 26,055 11.65%
Source: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings from MHCLG ONS Housing Statistics Portal

Table 4: Median house prices (with Ratio to Median Salary)
Local 

authority
2016 Ratio 2017 Ratio 2018 Ratio 2019 Ratio 2020 Ratio 2021

(Provisional)
% increase 

2016-20

Halton £125,000 5.8 £128,500 6.0 £130,000 5.9 £135,000 5.7 £135,100 5.6 £140,000 12%

Knowsley £113,500 5.3 £119,995 5.5 £120,000 5.4 £121,998 5.4 £130,000 5.5 £134,000 18%

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



Source: ONS House Price Statistics for Small Areas and Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings from MHCLG ONS Housing Statistics 
Portal.  All figures taken from June of the relevant year: Median price paid (existing dwelling) by local authority.

Table 5: Median monthly private rents
Local 

authority
2016 % of 

median 
salary

2017 % of 
median 
salary

2018 % of 
median 
salary

2019 % of 
median 
salary

2020 % of 
median 
salary

2021
(Provi
sional)

% increase 
2016–21 

(Provisional)
Halton £500 27.86% £525 29.40% £525 28.69% £525 26.59% £550 27.42% £525 5%
Knowsley £544 30.36% £550 30.06% £550 29.61% £550 29.08% £550 27.85% £615 13%
Liverpool £450 24.82% £451 24.83% £450 24.19% £495 25.48% £500 24.04% £525 17%
St Helens £475 24.95% £475 26.34% £495 25.99% £495 24.10% £535 25.14% £550 16%
Sefton £525 29.03% £525 28.44% £540 28.66% £542 27.52% £550 27.22% £575 10%
Wirral £500 27.07% £500 26.85% £500 26.14% £550 27.35% £550 27.52% £575 15%

Source: Valuation Office Agency and Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings from DCLG ONS Housing Statistics Portal
Table 6: Average weekly social housing rent for registered providers

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
(as of 31-Mar-20)

% change 
2016-20

(Provisiona
l)

Local 
authority

Rent % of 
10th 

percenti
le 

salary

Rent % of 10th 
percentil
e salary

Rent % of 10th 
percentil
e salary

Rent % of 10th 
percentil
e salary

Rent % of 10th 
percentil
e salary

Halton £89.97 60.75% £84.05 56.75% £83.30 55.48% £82.38 52.78% £82.00 - -8.86%
Knowsley £87.21 61.25% £85.32 59.92% £84.70 54.05% £83.33 45.18% £82.72 - -5.15%
Liverpool £86.47 62.12% £84.30 60.56% £83.45 - £82.56 50.00% £82.33 - -4.79%
St Helens £88.06 - £89.99 - £88.71 - £87.78 67.61% £87.16 - -1.02%
Sefton £89.02 70.18% £85.02 67.03% £84.20 - £83.38 58.65% £85.58 - -3.86%
Wirral £85.72 62.99% £84.65 62.21% £83.84 52.96% £82.48 59.49% £84.73 - -1.15%

Source: MHCLG and Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings from DCLG ONS Housing Statistics Portal Social rent rate (excluding 
service charge) 

Property Pool Plus/Under One Roof Information
Table 7a: Knowsley affordable housing demand and supply 2019-20

Supply DemandBedrooms/ property type
Number of properties 

advertised
Applicant demand per 

advert
Bedsit 0 0
1 bed 368 43
2 bed 395 62
3 bed 280 44
4+ bed 26 42
Bungalow 16 Included in property size
Adapted property 14 Included in property size

Source: Property Pool Plus
Table 7b: Liverpool affordable housing demand and supply 2019-20

Supply DemandBedrooms/ property type
Number of properties 

advertised
Applicant demand per 

advert
Bedsit 31 31
1 bed 735 79
2 bed 788 97
3 bed 549 93
4+ bed 50 90
Bungalow 133 Included in property size
Adapted property 393 Included in property size

Liverpool £118,750 5.5 £122,000 5.6 £126,000 5.6 £128,000 5.5 £135,000 5.4 £136,000 15%

St Helens £115,000 5.0 £124,950 5.8 £125,000 5.5 £127,000 5.2 £129,950 5.1 £136,000 18%

Sefton £154,000 7.1 £160,000 7.2 £164,500 7.3 £169,000 7.1 £172,500 7.1 £183,500 19%

Wirral £147,000 6.6 £150,000 6.7 £157,000 6.8 £161,475 6.7 £165,000 6.9 £170,000 16%

Page 66

Agenda Item 5



Source: Property Pool Plus 
Table 7c: Sefton affordable housing demand and supply 2019-20

Supply DemandBedrooms/ property type
Number of properties 

advertised
Applicant demand per 

advert
Bedsit 4 27
1 bed 374 57
2 bed 448 69
3 bed 258 104
4+ bed 23 81
Bungalow 31 Included in property size
Adapted property 81 Included in property size

Source: Property Pool Plus 
Table 7d: St Helens  affordable housing demand and supply 2019-20

Supply DemandBedrooms/ property type
Number of properties 

advertised
Applicant demand per 

advert
Bedsit 1 28
1 bed 131 49
2 bed 607 69
3 bed 445 107
4+ bed 26 43
Bungalow 108 Included in property size
Adapted property 170 Included in property size

Source: Under One Roof 

Table 7e: Halton affordable housing demand and supply 2019-20
Supply DemandBedrooms/ property type

Number of properties 
advertised

Applicant demand per 
advert

Bedsit 0 0
1 bed 353 43
2 bed 325 69
3 bed 267 70
4+ bed 29 53
Bungalow 69 Included in property size 
Adapted property 199 Included in property size

Source: Property Pool Plus 
Table 7f: Wirral affordable housing demand and supply 2019-20

Supply DemandBedrooms/ property type
Number of properties 

advertised
Applicant demand per 

advert
Bedsit 5 72
1 bed 486 59
2 bed 380 63
3 bed 186 96
4+ bed 20 100
Bungalow 43 Included in property size
Adapted property 143 Included in property size
Source: Property Pool Plus 
Table 7g: Liverpool City Region TOTAL  affordable housing demand and supply 2019-20

Supply DemandBedrooms/ property type
Number of properties 

advertised
Applicant demand per 

advert
Bedsit 40 36
1 bed 2316 60
2 bed 2336 76
3 bed 1540 82
4+ bed 148 70
Bungalow 292 Included in property size
Adapted property 847 Included in property size
Source: Property Pool Plus, Under One Roof
Table 8: Liverpool City Region Occupancy

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



Local 
authority

Overcrowded by 1 or more 
bedrooms

Overcrowded by 2 or more 
bedrooms 

Under occupying

Halton 333 53 321
Knowsley 194 29 275
Liverpool 1535 209 1835
St Helens 868 77 3300
Sefton 464 64 695
Wirral 258 26 354
Source: Property Pool Plus 

Table 9                                              Homelessness
2018-19

Statistics
2019-20Local 

Authority
Total 

accepted 
applicants

Total 
prevention 
applicants

Prevention 
outcomes: 

Secured 
accommodation 

for 6+mths

Total accepted 
applicants

Total 
prevention 
applicants

Prevention 
outcomes: 

Secured 
accommodation

for 6mths
Halton 38 553 222     38 554 348 (55%0     
Knowsley 12 708 272 (59%) 25 559 370 (62%)
Liverpool 188 1176 516 (62.9%) 40 807 506 (53%)
St Helens 13 454 240 (70.6%) 21 558 348 (65.9%)
Sefton 8 395 188 (62%) 2 374 221 (53.9%)
Wirral 46 428 141 (43.8%) 33 428 507 (51.5%)

Source: Housing Options Service contract data

Page 68

Agenda Item 5



Appendix C:  Liverpool City Region Agreed Actions

ACTION COMMITMENT
Review Legislation & Government 
Guidance

The Liverpool City Region Local 
Authorities will keep under review 
relevant legislation, government 
guidance and local housing conditions.

Strategic Impact Will monitor the impact of this strategy 
and its effectiveness in supporting the 
objectives outlines within the Housing 
Investment Strategy 2020.

Strategy Amendments Amend the Tenancy Strategy (following 
consultation) if a significant change in 
any of the above factors so requires.

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



Appendix D:  The Flexibilities announced under the Localism Act 2011

 Enabled Social landlords, after the expiry of introductory or starter tenancies, to grant 
tenancies for a fixed length of time

 Set the statutory minimum length of tenancy at 2-years (to be used only in 
exceptional circumstances) with a tenancy term of 5-years being considered the norm

 There is no upper limit on the length of the tenancy, as social landlords could still 
offer lifetime tenancies

 That prospective tenants must be given prior written notice that their tenancy is to be 
a flexible tenancy and have the right to request a review of the length of the term

 When a social landlord decides not to reissue a tenancy at the end of the term, they 
must give 6-months’ notice of this decision before the end of the tenancy and must 
provide advice and assistance for tenants to help them to find suitable alternative 
accommodation

Tenants with flexible tenancies have the same protection from eviction as tenants with a 
secure or assured tenancy. Landlords are still required to rely on one of the grounds for 
possession and also prove they acted reasonably when deciding to seek possession.
The Localism Act states tenants with flexible tenancies have the following rights:

 Right to exchange with limited exceptions
 Right to buy / acquire (on the same conditions assured tenants)
 Right to take in lodgers and to sub-let part of the property (with landlord's 

permission).
 Right to have repairs carried out.
 Right to consultation and information.
 Right to one succession to spouse or partner of the deceased tenant.
 Landlords will be able to offer other relatives the opportunity to succeed but will not 

be required to do so

Page 70

Agenda Item 5



Appendix E:  Changes to the National Policy Position and Legislative Framework

Since the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 several other pieces of legislation have 
been enacted that impact on the tenancy offer that can be offered by Local Authorities 
and Registered Providers.

Legislation Overview

Housing and Planning 
Act 2016

Proposals in the Housing and Planning Act 2016 were 
set to end the granting of secure tenancies to all but a 
few ‘nationally’ agreed exceptions

Social Housing Green 
Paper 2018

Rowed back’ in announcing that these
proposals would not be enacted at the time. This 
allowed Local Authorities to continue to determine the 
types of tenancy that they would offer, locally. There 
have been no suggestions since this time that the 
government has any plans to end the use of Lifetime 
Tenancies

Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
added two new duties to the original statutory rehousing 
duty:
 A duty to prevent homelessness
 A duty to relieve homelessness
The legislation extends entitlements to help, placing a 
renewed focus on the prevention of homelessness and 
local joint partnership working.  It has the potential to 
provide more client focussed, personalised statutory 
homelessness services

Secure Tenancies 
(Victims of Domestic 
Abuse) Act 2018

Supports victims of domestic abuse in social housing to 
leave their abusive situation.  The bill will require Local 
Authorities, Registered Social Landlords, when re-
housing an existing lifetime social tenant, or offering 
them a new sole tenancy in their own home, to grant a 
new lifetime tenancy. The Local Authority / Registered 
Housing Provider must be satisfied that the tenant or a 
member of their household has been a victim of 
domestic abuse and the new tenancy is granted in 
connection with that abuse

Page 71

Agenda Item 5



Appendix F:  Glossary of Terms

Affordable Housing Includes social rented housing, affordable rented 
housing and low-cost home ownership such as shared 
ownership

Fixed Term Tenancy A flexible tenancy with a fixed start and finish date, 
usually for 5 years.
At the end of the fixed term the tenancy may end or it 
may be renewed, depending on the criteria for renewal 
specified in the RP's Tenancy Policy

Affordable Rent A rent set at 80% of the equivalent market rent for 
properties

Social Rent Rent levels for Social Housing for which guideline target 
rents are determined through a National Rent Regime 
aimed at helping ensure that all Social Rent levels are
brought into line and are comparable. Social Rents are 
usually significantly lower than market rent levels

Local Housing 
Allowance
(LHA)

Used to work out Housing Benefit for tenants who rent 
privately. The amount of LHA tenants may be eligible for 
depends on the place of residence, with local limits 
based on the cheapest 30% of properties in an area

Market Rent The rental income level that a property would most 
probably command on the open market if rented 
privately

Intermediate Rent Homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above social 
rent but below market levels.  These can include shared 
equity (shared ownership and equity loans), other low-
cost homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not 
affordable rented housing

Department for 
Levelling Up, 
Housing and 
Communities

Formerly known as the Ministry of Housing Communities 
and Local Government.  The Department is responsible 
for UK Government Policy

Regulator of Social 
Housing

The central Regulator for all Social Housing Providers, 
including Housing Associations and Local Authorities

Liverpool City 
Region

The Liverpool City Region is an economic and political 
area which incorporates the Local Authority districts of 
Halton, Knowsley, Sefton, St Helens, and Wirral

Housing Options 
Service

Administer Homelessness Services, providing help and 
advice on all aspects of housing need

Local Enterprise 
Partnership 

Partnerships between Local Authorities and businesses, 
created in 2011 to help shape local economic priorities 
and undertake activities to drive local economic growth 
and the creation of jobs

Homelessness 
Strategy

A strategy that sets out homelessness issues within a 
Local Authority area and a plan of action to respond

Page 72

Agenda Item 5



Localism Act Legislation enacted in November 2011 relating to a wide 
range of functions at a local level including housing, 
planning and local government administration

Local Lettings Policy A policy applied to the letting of properties or a group of 
properties for housing management purposes or to meet 
other strategic objectives

Registered Provider An organisation registered with the Homes and 
Communities Agency as a provider of social housing

Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment 

The SHMA reviews the whole of a housing market and 
forms part of the evidence base which will help to inform 
future housing and planning policies and strategies
 

Tenancy Agreement The contract between a tenant and a landlord
 

Tenancy Policy A Registered Provider’s policy that sets out the 
landlord’s policy on the use of fixed-term tenancies

Tenancy Strategy Local Authority strategy that sets out the matters 
Registered Providers operating in their area should have 
regard to when setting their Tenancy Policy

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



Appendix G:  Homelessness Service Contact Details

Local 
Authority

Homelessness 
Service

Contact Number

Homelessness Service
Email Address

Halton 0151 511 7979 Housing.solutionsteam@halton.gov.uk
Knowsley 0151 443 2333 Housingsolutions@knowsley.gov.uk 
Liverpool 0151 233 3044 HousingOptionsService

@liverpool.gov.uk 
Sefton 0151 934 3541 Housing.options@sefton.gov.uk 
St Helens (017440) 675150 HousingAdviceOptions@sthelens.gov.uk
Wirral 0151 666 5511 housingoptions@wirral.gov.uk 

Page 74

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Housing.solutionsteam@halton.gov.uk
mailto:Housingsolutions@knowsley.gov.uk
mailto:HousingOptionsService%E2%80%8B@liverpool.gov.uk
mailto:HousingOptionsService%E2%80%8B@liverpool.gov.uk
mailto:Housing.options@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:HousingAdviceOptions@sthelens.gov.uk
mailto:housingoptions@wirral.gov.uk


Appendix H:  Registered Provider Consultation

Consultation Period   
November 2021 – January 2022
Survey Respondents

Registered Providers

Crosby HA
Empower
Encircle HA
Family HA
ForHousing
Halton Housing
Livv
One Vision Housing
Onward
Plus Dane
Prima Group
Regenda
South Liverpool Homes
Torus
Wirral Methodist HA
YMCA Liverpool

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



Appendix I    Registered Provider Responses

Question
# 

Responses
Question 1: Is the information on the kind of 
tenancies that Registered Providers may grant 
accurate and easy to understand?  18 Yes: 18 No: 0
Comments: 5
Question 2: Please provide details of the number 
and length of the fixed-term tenancies your 
organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.  

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in:  
Halton 122

Knowsley 6
Liverpool 318
St Helens 171

Sefton 98
Wirral 78

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:  
2 – 4 years 189

5 years 11
6 - 10 years 113

10 years+ 0
Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed  

Halton 0
Knowsley 0
Liverpool 0
St Helens 0

Sefton 0
Liverpool 0

Question 3: Please provide details of the type of 
property the fixed-term tenancies were used for  

Social rent  810
Affordable rent  13

Other (please provide details) 108
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have 
used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City 
Region below (please tick all reasons that apply)  

Large family homes to prevent future under-
occupation 1

Properties that have been specifically designed or 
adapted for use by disabled persons 2

Property types that are identified as in short 
supply 1

Properties in particularly high demand areas 1
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 1

Encourage tenants to explore other housing 
options 0

Page 76

Agenda Item 5



Support tenants to achieve wider objectives 
related to training and employment 0

Support tenancy sustainment 0
Tackle specific housing management issue 2

Maximise income for development 0
Other (please provide details) 1

Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to 
the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool 
City Region? 10 Yes: 0 No: 10
If yes, please provide details of the appeal 
reason(s) and outcome(s): 1
Question 6:   Should there be a presumption in 
favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool 
City Region?    12

In 
favour: 
11

Not in 
favour: 
1

Please provide details: 15
Question 7: Please use the space below to provide 
any further comments you may have on the use of 
fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, 
for example relating to their effectiveness in 
meeting the intended objectives or the level of 
resources required to administer them. If you have 
not used fixed-term tenancies it would be helpful if 
you could set out the reasons why.  13
Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to 
raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority 
Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?    1
Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term 
tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the 
future? 18 Yes: 2

Possibly: 
2

Not at 
present: 
14

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you 
will consider using fixed-term tenancies 
for (please tick all reasons that apply):  

Large family homes to prevent future under-
occupation 1

Properties that have been specifically designed or 
adapted for use by disabled persons 2

Property types that are identified as in short 
supply  

Properties in particularly high demand areas 1
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 1

Encourage tenants to explore other housing 
options  

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives 
related to training and employment  

Support tenancy sustainment  
Tackle specific housing management issue 2

Maximise income for development  

Page 77

Agenda Item 5



Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit 
payments  

Other (please provide details) 2
Question 10:  Has any information or evidence 
been missed that could influence the Tenancy 
Strategy?  If so, please provide details. 1

Page 78

Agenda Item 5



SECTION 1 –Context & Background

Local Housing Authorities in partnership with Housing Associations. This 
Tenancy Strategy is a joint strategy across the City Region so each Local 
Authority will be responsible for delivery the policy in its area/ 

Appendix H:  Equality Impact Assessment

EIA Ref
Lead Officer Name Patricia Preston

Position Principal Manager
Contact details Patricia.preston@halton.gov.uk

0151 511 8581

1.1 What is the title of the policy / practice?

Tenancy Strategy 2022

1.2 What is the current status of the policy / practice?

Existing Changed New 

1.3 What are the principal aims and intended outcomes of the policy / 
practice?

The development of a Tenancy Strategy setting out the matters which registered 
providers of social housing must have regard to when formulating their policies on 
tenancies, including: the kinds of tenancies that they grant; the circumstances in 
which they grant certain tenancies; the length of time that they will grant tenancies 
and in which circumstances they will grant further tenancies once an existing tenancy 
has come to an end.

1.4 Who has primary responsibility for delivering the policy / practice?

1.5 Who are the main stakeholders?

The main stakeholders are Housing Associations and potential social housing 
tenants.

1.6 Who is the policy / practice intended to affect?

Residents √ Staff Specific Group(s) (add details below)

The policy is intended for all households who will be looking to take on a social 
housing tenancy. 

1.7 Are there any other related policies / practices?

Page 79

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Patricia.preston@halton.gov.uk


 LCR Housing Investment Strategy
 Housing Strategy
 Property Pool Plus and Under one Roof Allocation Scheme rules
 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategies

SECTION 2 – Consideration of Impact

2.1 Relevance: – the Public Sector Equality Duty

Does this policy / practice / service have due regard to the need to: -

(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conflict 
that is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010

(b) Advance equality of opportunity between two persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic

(c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

Yes ( √) No ( )
State reasons below
(Relevance to service users/staff)
Due regard has been given to eliminating discrimination and treating all individuals 
fairly when providing tenancies in the social housing sector. 

2.2 Has data and information has been used in determining the impact of 
the policy / procedure under review?

Equality 
Group(s)

All

Baseline data and information
Tenure types, salaries, median house prices and private rented sector average, 
access to social housing including bungalows and adapted properties,  

2.3 On the basis of evidence, has the actual / potential impact of the 
policy/ practice been judged to be positive (+), neutral (=) or negative (-
) for each of the equality groups and in what way? Is the level of 
impact judged to be high (H), medium ((M), or Low (L)?

Protected 
Characteristic

Impact type
+, =, -

Level 
H, M. L, - Nature of impact

Age + L The Tenancy Strategy 
recommends that people over the 
prevailing state retirement age, or 
residing in older persons’ 
accommodation, are not offered 
fixed-term tenancies to ensure 
stability of tenure during later life. 
The Tenancy Strategy 
recommends that a fixed term 
tenancy will usually be renewed 
Page 80

Agenda Item 5



where the tenant would be 
approaching the prevailing state 
retirement age within the next 
three years and the property is 
suitable for a lifetime tenancy.

Disability + M The Tenancy Strategy 
recommends that fixed-term 
tenancies will not be used for 
prospective tenants where the 
household requires an adaptation 
to the home which is required for 
life. The Tenancy Strategy 
recommends that a fixed term 
tenancy will usually be renewed 
where the property has been 
adapted to meet the needs of a 
disabled person and that person 
still resides in the property and 
needs the adaptations

Gender = / There is no evidence to suggest 
any relevance between gender and 
the Tenancy Strategy.

Race / ethnicity = /
Religion / belief = /
Sexual Orientation = /
Transgender = /
Marital status/ 
Civil Partnerships

= /

Pregnancy/Maternity + /

There is no evidence to suggest 
any relevance between these 
categories and the Tenancy 
Strategy.

The Tenancy Strategy 
recommends that where an 
existing tenancy includes 
dependents of pre-school age or 
in full-time education (where 
children are part of the 
household), a fixed term tenancy 
will usually be renewed.

In Halton two further vulnerable groups have been identified: -
Carers = / There is no evidence to suggest 

any correlation between carers 
and the Tenancy Strategy.

Socio – economic 
disadvantage

+ H The Tenancy Strategy encourages 
the use of fixed-term tenancies in 
certain circumstances which may 
increase the availability of housing 
for low-income households. It also 
contains a presumption in favor of 
lifetime tenancies and sets out the 
circumstances where fixed-term 
tenancies should normally be 
renewed, including where 
households include dependents of 
pre-school age or in full-time 
education

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



No

As the identified Lead Officer of this review I confirm that:-
No negative impact has been identified for one or more equality groups and 
that a Stage 2 Assessment is not required √

2.4 Does the policy / practice have any potential impact upon 
safeguarding vulnerable people?

2.5 How will the impact of the policy / practice be monitored?

Governance through LCR Housing Officers Group and Property Pool Plus Contract 
Board 

2.6 Who will be responsible for monitoring?

Patricia Preston
Principal Manager

2.7 If any negative impacts, or potential negative impacts, have been identified what 
mitigating actions will be put in place, thereby eliminating the need for a 
further Stage 2 assessment.
Where none have been identified insert ‘no further action required’ in the first 
column

Action & purpose / outcome Priority Timeframe Lead Officer
No further action required (H, M, L)

2.8 Summary of stakeholders involved in this review

Job Title or Name Organization / representative 
of

Patricia Preston, Principal Manager Halton BC 

2.9 Completion Statement

Signed: Patricia Preston Date: 4th October 2021

Page 82

Agenda Item 5



Appendix B

Survey Tenancy Strategy Review - Registered Provider Consultation

 Respondents 
(those that operate in Sefton 
in Bold) 

Blue Square Residential
Clarion HA
Cobalt Housing
Crosby HA
Empower
Encircle HA
Family HA
ForHousing
Halton Housing
Livv
One Vision Housing
Onward
Plus Dane
Prima Group
Regenda
South Liverpool Homes
Torus
Wirral Methodist HA
YMCA Liverpool

Page 83

Agenda Item 5



Question # Responses
Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant 
accurate and easy to understand?  18 Yes: 18 No: 0
Comments: 5
Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your 
organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region. 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 
Halton 122

Knowsley 303
Liverpool 318
St Helens 171

Sefton 98
Wirral 78

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for: 
2 – 4 years 189

5 years 11
6 - 10 years 113

10 years+ 0
Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed 

Halton 0
Knowsley 0
Liverpool 0
St Helens 0

Sefton 0
Liverpool 0

Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used 
for 

Social rent  810
Affordable rent  13

Other (please provide details) 108
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City 
Region below (please tick all reasons that apply) 

Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 1
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 2

Property types that are identified as in short supply 1
Properties in particularly high demand areas 1

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 1
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 0

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 0
Support tenancy sustainment 0

Tackle specific housing management issue 2
Maximise income for development 0

Other (please provide details) 1
Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the 
Liverpool City Region? 10 Yes: 0 No: 10
If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s): 1
Question 6   Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool 
City Region?    12

In 
favour: 11

Not in 
favour: 1

Please provide details: 15
Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the 
use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for example relating to their 
effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer 
them. If you have not used fixed-term tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the 
reasons why.  13
Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority 
Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?    1

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future? 18 Yes: 2 Possibly: 2
Not at 
present: 14

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies 
for (please tick all reasons that apply): 

Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 1
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 2

Property types that are identified as in short supply 
Properties in particularly high demand areas 1

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 1
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 
Support tenancy sustainment 

Tackle specific housing management issue 2
Maximise income for development 

Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 
Other (please provide details) 2

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy 
Strategy?  If so, please provide details. 1

Page 84

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

All 
ASTs  

All ASTs 
for 6 
months 

Commen
ts 

Yes Possibly 

Contact name: Katy Peters Job title: Specialist Supported Housing Manager 
Phone number: 07444 406526 Email address: katy@bluesquareresidential.com

Organisation name: Blue Square Residential Ltd

Address

72-74 Chiswick High road, London, W4 1SY 

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?
yes No 

Comments
Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  
Contact name: Katy Peters (as above) Job title:
Phone number: Email address:

Halton 
Knowsley 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

Sefton 7 7 7 

Wirral 

Liverpool 
St Helens 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:

2 – 4 years 

5 years 

Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed
Halton 

6 - 10 years 
10 years+ 

St Helens 
Sefton 

Knowsley 
Liverpool 

Social rent  
Affordable rent  

Liverpool 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 

Property types that are identified as in short supply 
Properties in particularly high demand areas 

Other (please provide details) 7 Supported living 7 Supported living 7 Supported living 
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 

Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue 
Maximise income for development 

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?
In favour / Not in Favour        Please provide details below  

Other (please provide details)
Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?
Yes No 

Not at present 

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

Our ASTs are for 6 months and then continue until terminated by either party – this provides security and flexibility for both landlord and tenant.  

Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons Needs will change over the course of the tenancy 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 
Properties in particularly high demand areas 

We believe that everyone should have the security of tenure for as long as the conditions of their tenancy are met. However, there needs to be flexibility to enable 
landlords to offer accommodation to those that need it most for as long as they need it. 

Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 
Other (please provide details)
Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue 
Maximise income for development 

Page 85

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

Commen
ts 

Yes Possibly 

Contact name: Dave Tai Job title: Head of Housing & Property Services
Phone number: 01519207300 Email address: David.tai@crosby-ha.org.uk

Organisation name: Crosby Housing Association

Address 10 Church Road, Waterloo, Liverpool L22 5NB

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?
Yes No 

Comments
Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  
Contact name: As above Job title:
Phone number: Email address:

Halton 0 0 0 
Knowsley 0 0 0 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

Sefton 0 0 0 
Wirral 0 0 0 

Liverpool 0 0 0 
St Helens 0 0 0 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:
2 – 4 years 0 0 0 
5 years 0 0 0 

Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed 0 0 0 
Halton 0 0 0 

6 - 10 years 0 0 0 
10 years+ 0 0 0 

St Helens 0 0 0 
Sefton 0 0 0 

Knowsley 0 0 0 
Liverpool 0 0 0 

Social rent  0 0 0 
Affordable rent  0 0 0 

Liverpool 0 0 0 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 
Properties in particularly high demand areas 

Other (please provide details) 0 0 0 
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 

Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue 
Maximise income for development 

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?
In favour / Not in Favour        Please provide details below  

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

Other (please provide details)
Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?
Yes No 

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 

Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

Not at present yes 

Tackle specific housing management issue 

Properties in particularly high demand areas 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

We do not use fixed term tenancies

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

Thank you for your time in completing this survey, we value your comments and feedback

Maximise income for development 
Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 
Other (please provide details)

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 
Support tenancy sustainment 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

0 
0 
1 
0 
11 
0 

Commen
ts 

Yes Possibly 

Organisation name: One Vision Housing 
Unit 1, Heysham Road, Bootle
Merseyside

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?
Phone number: As above Email address: As above

 No 

The Information presented in the draft ‘Liverpool City Region Tenancy Strategy 2022-25’ is clear and easy to understand both in the circumstances where it may be 
permissible to grant fixed-term tenancies and when they may be renewed or extended. 

We agree with the presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies but appreciate the flexibility to be able to use fixed term tenancies where required e.g. when complying with 
the conditions of grant issued by Homes England for Affordable Rent, Rent to Buy or Shared Ownership products.

Like most Registered Providers, we do make extensive use of Assured Shorthold Tenancies in the form of Starter Tenancies, however, the vast majority of these convert 
to Assured Tenancies on the anniversary at 12 months. 

Knowsley 0 0 0 
Liverpool 1 1 10 

Halton 0 0 0 

Wirral 0 6 19 
Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:

St Helens 0 0 68 
Sefton 11 37 20 

Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed

2 – 4 years 

6 - 10 years 
5 years 

10 years+ 

Social rent  

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

St Helens 
Sefton 
Liverpool 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

Support tenancy sustainment 

Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 

Affordable rent  
Other (please provide details)
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)

Properties in particularly high demand areas 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

Address
L30 6UR

Contact name: John Rice

Properties in particularly high demand areas 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

Not at present 

Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 

In favour / Not in Favour        Please provide details below  

Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?
Yes No 

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 

Policy and Strategy Manager
07792680045 Email address:

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  
Contact name: As above Job title: As above

Phone number: John.rice@sovini.co.uk
Job title:

Knowsley 
Halton 

Liverpool 

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?

Tackle specific housing management issue 
Maximise income for development 
Other (please provide details)

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 
Support tenancy sustainment 



Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 

We have found the use of ‘Starter Tenancies’ in Social and Affordable Rent properties to be an effective tool for dealing with any tenancy management issues that occur 
in the first twelve months and as a deterrent for anti-social behaviours.  This is particularly effective when combined with the use of Section 21 possession proceedings.  

There have been no particular difficulties in administering starter tenancies or any other fixed term tenancies e.g. those used in conjunction with Affordable Rent, Rent to 
Buy, Shared Ownership products or Market Rent properties. 

We agree that lifetime tenancies offer greater security for customers and also help promote sustainable communities where people can form roots and make active 
contributions to community life / local economy. 

We also view lifetime tenancies as making sound business sense as they reduce the costs associated with advertising and letting properties and avoid creating artificial 
tenancy churn. 

We have no issues to raise. 

The governments intention to introduce legislation in 2022 to repeal Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988 will effectively bring the ‘Assured Shorthold’ 
form of tenancy to an end. 

When this legislation comes into effect all new tenancies granted after this date will be ‘lifetime’ tenancies by default and the Liverpool City Region 
Tenancy Strategy will need to be amended to reflect this position. 

Other (please provide details)

Thank you for your time in completing this survey, we value your comments and feedback

Tackle specific housing management issue 
Maximise income for development 
Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 

Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

Page 87

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

Remaind
er were 
less than 
2 years 

Commen
ts 

Market 
Rent / 
Rent to 
Homebu
y 

Yes Possibly 

Organisation name: Onward Homes  

Address

3rd/4th Floor 
Watson Building 
4 Renshaw Street 
Liverpool 
L1 2SA 

Contact name: Michelle Peart-Simpson  Job title: Head of Neighbourhood services
Phone number: 0161 875 8087 Email address: Michelle.Peart-simpson@onward.co.uk

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?
x No 

Comments
Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  
Contact name: Job title:
Phone number: Email address:

Halton 17 19 7 
Knowsley 87 108 108 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

St Helens  7 6 9 
Wirral 21 20 12 

Liverpool 122 99 85 
Sefton 9 7 4 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:

2 – 4 years 88 62 0 

5 years 0 0 0 

Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed
Halton 0 0 0 

6 - 10 years 0 0 0 
10 years+ 0 0 0 

St Helens 0 0 0 
Sefton 0 0 0 

Knowsley 0 0 0 
Liverpool 0 0 0 

Liverpool 0 0 0 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Other (please provide details) 21 24 24 

Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 

Social rent  241 235 201 
Affordable rent  1 0 0 

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons x 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 
Properties in particularly high demand areas 

Other (please provide details)
Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?
Yes No 

Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue x 
Maximise income for development 

No further comment

Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

As part of onward Homes Development and new build programme, onward will review our strategy to ensure that we have regard to the LCR strategy.  

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

x Not at present 

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?
In favour Please provide details below  

We acknowledge that there is a role for fixed term tenancies particularly for supported accommodation, market rent and licences.  

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

Properties in particularly high demand areas 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons x 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 

Maximise income for development 
Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 
Other (please provide details) Homeless provision units, managing our Market Rented portfolio 

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 
Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue x 

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

No

Thank you for your time in completing this survey, we value your comments and feedback

Page 88

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

We do 
not use 
Fixed 
Term 
Tenancie
s 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

We do 
not use 
fixed 
term 
tenancie
s 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

Commen
ts 

Yes Possibly 

Organisation name: Plus Dane Housing

Address

Atlantic Pavillion
Salthouse Quay
Royal Albert Dock
Liverpool

Contact name: Gaynor Nicoll Job title: Lettings Manager
Phone number: 01928 706827 Email address: Gaynor.nicoll@plusdane.co.uk

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?
Yes No 

Comments
Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  
Contact name: As above Job title:
Phone number: Email address:

Halton 

Knowsley 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

Sefton 
Wirral 

Liverpool 
St Helens 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:
2 – 4 years 
5 years 

Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed

Halton 

6 - 10 years 
10 years+ 

St Helens 
Sefton 

Knowsley 
Liverpool 

Liverpool 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Other (please provide details)
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation n/a 

Social rent  
Affordable rent  

Other reason to make better use of existing stock n/a 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options n/a 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment n/a 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons n/a 
Property types that are identified as in short supply n/a 
Properties in particularly high demand areas n/a 

Other (please provide details) n/a 
Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?
Yes No 

Support tenancy sustainment n/a 
Tackle specific housing management issue n/a 
Maximise income for development n/a 

n/a Plus Dane are committed to offering Life time tenancies

Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

No

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

Not at present 

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?
In favour / 

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

Properties in particularly high demand areas 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 

Maximise income for development 
Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 
Other (please provide details)

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 
Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue 

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

Thank you for your time in completing this survey, we value your comments and feedback

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

No 
propertie
s in this 
area 
We do 
not 
use fixed 
term 
tenancie
s 
We do 
not use 
fixed 
term 
tenancie
s 
No 
propertie
s in this 
area 
We do 
not use 
fixed 
term 
tenancie
s 
We do 
not use 
fixed 
term 
tenancie
s 

Commen
ts 

Yes Possibly 

Contact name: Louise Hooton Job title: Group Head of Housing
Phone number: 0151 452 0202 Email address: Louise.hooton@primagroup.org

Organisation name: Prima Group

Address

8 Columbus Quay, Riverside Drive, Liverpool L3 4DB

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?
x No 

Comments
Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  
Contact name: Job title:
Phone number: Email address:

Halton 

Knowsley 0 0 0 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

Sefton 0 0 0 

Wirral 0 0 0 

Liverpool 0 0 0 

St Helens 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:
2 – 4 years 0 0 0 
5 years 0 0 0 

Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed
Halton 

6 - 10 years 0 0 0 
10 years+ 0 0 0 

St Helens 
Sefton 0 0 0 

Knowsley 0 0 0 
Liverpool 0 0 0 

Liverpool 0 0 0 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Other (please provide details) n/a n/a n/a 
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation n/a 

Social rent  n/a n/a n/a 
Affordable rent  n/a n/a n/a 

Other reason to make better use of existing stock n/a 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options n/a 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment n/a 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons n/a 
Property types that are identified as in short supply n/a 
Properties in particularly high demand areas n/a 

Other (please provide details) n/a 
Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?
Yes n/a No n/a 

Support tenancy sustainment n/a 
Tackle specific housing management issue n/a 
Maximise income for development n/a 

Prima Group seeks to establish settled communities, some neighbourhoods, particularly where there are large concentrations of flats, already have 
a relatively high turnover of properties. To offer fixed term tenancies would exacerbate this situation. Many of our properties are in some of the most deprived 
neighbourhoods where tenants income is low, many applicants are on low incomes. Fixed term tenancies would further contribute to the financial difficulties 
many of our client group face. 
Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

No. 

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

Not at present x 

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?
In favour       Please provide details below  

Prima Group offers lifetime tenancies to all tenants, new tenants are signed up on starter tenancies which convert to assured tenancies after 12 months.  

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

Properties in particularly high demand areas 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 

Maximise income for development 
Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 
Other (please provide details)

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 
Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue 

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

no

Thank you for your time in completing this survey, we value your comments and feedback

Page 90

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 

See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 

See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 

Commen
ts 
See Q1 
See Q1 
See Q1 

Yes Possibly 

Organisation name: Regenda Homes (Part of The Regenda Group) 

Comments: We do not grant fixed term tenancies. We grant Assured tenancies and the terms and conditions, tenants’ obligations and rights  are 
clearly  explained during sign-ups 

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?

Contact name: Emily Mathias Job title: Housing and Neighbourhood Services Manager 

Contact name: Acting Regional Director 
Phone number: osita.asaggar@regenda.org.uk Email address:

Phone number: 01517033315 Email address: emily.mathias@regenda.org.uk 

 Yes No 

Halton n/a n/a n/a 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

St Helens 

Knowsley n/a n/a n/a 
Liverpool n/a n/a n/a 

n/a n/a n/a 
Sefton n/a n/a n/a 
Wirral n/a n/a n/a 
Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:

5 years none none none 
6 - 10 years none none none 

2 – 4 years none none none 

Liverpool n/a n/a n/a 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

Liverpool n/a n/a n/a 

Sefton n/a n/a n/a 
St Helens n/a n/a n/a 

n/a 

n/a 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons n/a 
Property types that are identified as in short supply n/a 

Other (please provide details)
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Affordable rent  
Social rent  n/a n/a 

n/a 
If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 

n/a

In favour / Not in Favour        Please provide details below  
In favour because of the security and rest of mind it offers to our customers, until either party decide to end it. Also, the administrative costs of processing fixed term 
tenancies do not offer value in tenancies of efficiency and value 

Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 
n/a 

n/a 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options n/a 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment n/a 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons n/a 
Property types that are identified as in short supply n/a 
Properties in particularly high demand areas n/a 

Address

Communication Plaza 
1 Commutation Row 
Liverpool 
L3 8QF 

Osita Asaggar Job title:
01517033203 

No
Thank you for your time in completing this survey, we value your comments and feedback

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

Support tenancy sustainment n/a 
Tackle specific housing management issue n/a 

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 

Halton n/a n/a n/a 
Knowsley n/a n/a n/a 

10 years+ none none none 
Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed

n/a 
Other (please provide details) n/a 

Yes No  No 

n/a 
n/a n/a n/a 
n/a n/a n/a 

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment n/a 
Support tenancy sustainment n/a 
Tackle specific housing management issue 

Properties in particularly high demand areas n/a 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock n/a 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 

Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 

Maximise income for development n/a 
Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments n/a 
Other (please provide details) n/a 

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

NO
Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

Not at present x

n/a 
Maximise income for development 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5



Yes 

Commen
ts 

(2018-19 
figures  were 
issued by legacy 
Torus) 

Fixed 
terms not yet 
eclipsed 

Commen
ts 

Yes Possibly 

Contact name: Danny Blunt Job title: Corporate Projects Coordinator
Phone number: - Email address: daniel.blunt@torus.co.uk  

Organisation name: TORUS62 LIMITED trading as Torus

Address
The Observatory, 1 Old Haymarket, Liverpool L1 6RA

Question 1: Is the information on the kind of tenancies that Registered Providers may grant accurate and easy to understand?
X No 

Comments: In Torus’ experience, yes. Any queries or discrepancies are normally cleared at pre-tenancy interviews which are held with all new tenants. The 
allocations team very rarely receive queries regarding different tenancy types. 
Question 2: Please provide details of the number and length of the fixed-term tenancies your organisation has used in the Liverpool City Region.

Please provide details of the person in your organisation with responsibility for the production of your Tenancy Policy (if different to above) so that we can ensure they 
receive a copy of the draft strategy at consultation stage and the final strategy once adopted.  
Contact name: Jan Calland Job title: Regional Director
Phone number: 0151 235 2500 Email address: Jan.Calland@Torus.co.uk  

Halton 0 0 0 
Knowsley 0 0 0 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued in: 2018-19 2019-20 2020 -21 

Sefton 0 0 1 
Wirral 0 0 0 

Liverpool 0 0 0 

St Helens 11 3 1 

Total number of fixed-term tenancies issued for:
2 – 4 years 0 0 0 
5 years 0 3 0 

Total number of fixed term tenancies not renewed

Halton N/A N/A N/A 

6 - 10 years 11 0 2 
10 years+ 0 0 0 

St Helens N/A N/A N/A 
Sefton N/A N/A N/A 

Knowsley N/A N/A N/A 
Liverpool N/A N/A N/A 

Social rent  1 3 0 
Affordable rent  10 0 2 

Liverpool N/A N/A N/A 
Question 3: Please provide details of the type of property the fixed-term tenancies were used for

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 
Properties in particularly high demand areas 

Other (please provide details) 0 0 0 
Question 4: Please identify the reasons you have used fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region below  (please tick all reasons that apply)
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 

Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue X
Maximise income for development 

Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 
Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 

Question 7: Please use the space below to provide any further comments you may have on the use of fixed-term tenancies, based on your experience, for 
example relating to their effectiveness in meeting the intended objectives or the level of resources required to administer them. If you have not used fixed-term 
tenancies it would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why. 

If yes, please provide details of the appeal reason(s) and outcome(s) below: 

Question 6 Should there be a presumption in favour of lifetime tenancies across the Liverpool City Region?
In favour / Not in Favour        Please provide details below  

Other (please provide details)
Question 5: Have you had any appeals relating to the use of fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region?
Yes No X

If yes, please provide details of the reasons you will consider using fixed-term tenancies for (please tick all reasons that apply) : 
Large family homes to prevent future under-occupation 
Properties that have been specifically designed or adapted for use by disabled persons 
Property types that are identified as in short supply 

Question 8: Are there any issues you would like to raise in relation to the Joint Local Authority Tenancy Strategy in the Liverpool City Region?   

Not at this moment in time. 

Question 9: Do you plan to use fixed-term tenancies in the Liverpool City Region in the future?

Not at present X

Support tenancy sustainment 
Tackle specific housing management issue 

Properties in particularly high demand areas 
Other reason to make better use of existing stock 
Encourage tenants to explore other housing options 

As the data shows, Torus is largely against issuing fixed term tenancies. They are non-compatible with a fundamental driver of the group – to provide secure and stable 
homes that give tenants a solid platform to progress in life. Lifetime tenancies, on the other hand, clearly support this.   

Security for tenants is a core value held across the group and significant effort and resource is put towards this as a priority. Activity that undermines this is 
avoided wherever possible. 

In addition to Torus’ moral objection towards fixed term tenancies, they also bring increased operational and administrative costs.  

Although the current Torus Tenancy Strategy allows for the implementation of fixed term tenancies, they are only intended to be used as a last resort or in exceptional 
cases. For example, when it is clear a building is going to have to be emptied for maintenance or demolition purposes.  

Question 10.  Has any information or evidence been missed that could influence the Tenancy Strategy?  If so, please provide details below.

No

Thank you for your time in completing this survey, we value your comments and feedback

Maximise income for development 
Local Housing Allowance cap on Housing Benefit payments 
Other (please provide details)

Support tenants to achieve wider objectives related to training and employment 

Page 92

Agenda Item 5



Page 93

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Report to: Cabinet

Council

Date of Meeting: 10 March 2022

21 April 2022

Subject: Social Housing Allocations Scheme

Report of: Head of Economic 
Growth and 
Housing

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Communities and Housing
Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

Since 2012 the Council has been part of the Merseyside sub regional social housing 
allocations scheme known as Property Pool Plus (PPP). Following a review of the policy, 
which included extensive community consultation which concluded in early 2021, a final 
draft of the policy which updates the current version of the policy has now been agreed 
between all the other Liverpool City Region local authorities. Cabinet is asked to approve 
this final revised Allocations Policy and agree the arrangements for the introduction of a 
new IT system to support the operation of the new policy and scheme.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is asked to agree the following recommendations:
(1) to approve adoptions of the proposed Allocations policy and scheme as set out in 
Appendix B

(2) to delay introduction of the new scheme until a suitable IT system is procured to 
support the operation of the new policy and scheme

(3) to delegate authority to the Head of Economic Growth and Housing in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member Communities & Housing to enter into a contract with an IT 
system supplier following a procurement exercise for the provision of the IT system

(4) to delegate authority to the Head of Economic Growth and Housing to approve the 
financial arrangements for procuring and operating the new IT system

(5) Recommendations (2), (3) and (4) being subject to Council approving a 
Supplementary Capital Estimate for the scheme of £65,000 funded from prudential 
borrowing with repayments met from the Housing Service’s budget

(6) delegate authority to the Head of Economic Growth & Housing to enter into 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



2
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

arrangements with the other participating local authorities (Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool 
and Wirral), to govern the implementation and future operation of the allocations scheme, 
including the appointment of a PPP Coordinator to work across all local authority areas.

Council is recommended

(1) To approve a Supplementary Capital Estimate for the scheme of £65,000 funded from 
prudential borrowing with repayments met from the Housing Service’s budget.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

In order to ensure that the Allocations Policy is in line with current legislation, case law and 
good practice it is necessary to update the current iteration. Cabinet authority is required to 
adopt a new Social Housing Allocations Policy and to approve the work and cost related to 
an IT system necessary to operate it. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

The alternative option would be to not approve participation in this sub-regional scheme, 
and under that scenario the Council would need to operate its own allocation scheme. In 
the short term this would require the continued use of the existing policy and therefore 
extend use of the existing allocation scheme and operational agreements with One Vision 
Housing (OVH) and Civica, the existing IT system supplier. In order to ensure that the 
policy in operation was up to date the Council would need to develop its own allocations 
policy and scheme, and separately procure a suitable IT system with which to operate it. 

However, the opportunity to take advantage of joint sub-regional operational arrangements 
for an allocations scheme or efficient procurement of an improved IT system will not be 
possible, nor will the efficiencies that are expected to flow from these arrangements be 
gained.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
Existing revenue budget exists to help fund the operation of administering an allocations 
service, which is currently performed by OVH, on behalf of the Council. The annual 
revenue costs for operating a new IT system will be circa £90,000, in line with the current 
cost.

Further, an existing revenue budget exists to fund the ongoing licence and maintenance 
fees for the provision of an IT system that delivers the Property Pool Plus scheme. The 
existing annual revenue costs is circa £19,350. A new IT system will be required in order 
to deliver the new PPP policy.

All revenue costs will be contained within the existing Housing Service’s budget.

(B) Capital Costs
The capital costs associated with the scheme includes the development and purchase of a 
new IT system referenced above at a total cost of £65,000. This is to be funded from 
prudential borrowing with repayments met from the Housing Service’s budget. The annual 
borrowing repayments over a 5 year period are estimated to be £14,000 per annum.

Page 96

Agenda Item 6



3
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The Council entered into a service contract with OVH in March 2019 for the operation of 
an allocations service. That arrangement is unaffected by the introduction of a new 
policy and scheme.
There is the need to procure a new IT system to support the operation of a new 
allocations scheme.

Legal Implications:
LAs must adhere to the law regarding the allocation of Social Rented Housing, as set 
out in the Housing Act 1996, Part 6 Allocation of Housing Accommodation.

Equality Implications:
The equality Implications have been identified and mitigated. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. Any climate 
emergency implications arising from matters referred to in the Cabinet Member report 
will be contained in reports when they are presented to Members at the appropriate 
time.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
Many vulnerable people rely on accessing social housing for a home to live in.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
Providing a stable home is a primary way of creating sustainable and resilient 
communities and lifestyles
Commission, broker and provide core services:
A social housing allocations scheme is a core service
Place – leadership and influencer:
Not applicable
Drivers of change and reform:
The current Allocations Policy and Procedures for Property Pool Plus require 
amendments, to bring it up to date with the latest legislation.
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Not applicable
Greater income for social investment: 
Not applicable
Cleaner Greener
Not applicable

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



4
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director Corporate Resources & Customer Services (FD.6694/22) and the 
Chief Legal & Democratic Officer (LD.4894/22) have been consulted and any comments 
have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

A formal public consultation has been conducted, as required in law. The nature and form 
of this consultation was approved by the Council’s consultation and Engagement Panel at 
its meeting in September 2020. 

The consultation was open to any member of the public, asking a number of questions in a 
set survey questionnaire, including an easy read version of the survey. These questions 
were accessed via a Survey Monkey link from the Property Pool Plus website and each 
Local Authorities respective websites. The draft Allocations Policy scheme was provided 
for reference. The consultation and survey was aimed at as many residents within the 
borough of Sefton as possible and specifically those residents currently on the Housing 
Register for social housing with Property Pool Plus, Participating Registered Social 
Landlords, other referring agencies, and other key public sector agencies. The 
consultation ran for 12 weeks between 18th November 2020 and 10th February 2021.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Graham Parry
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 3446
Email Address: graham.parry@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

A. Details of Qualification to the Scheme; Choice; Additional Preference and Priority
B. (proposed new) Housing Allocations Policy/scheme
C. Consultation results
D. Equality Impact Assessment

Background Papers:

The following background papers are available for inspection:
- Report to Overview & Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration & Skills) January 2020, 

‘Review of Social Housing Allocations’ (Item 30. 
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=767&MId=9649&Ver=4 )

- Report to Cabinet Member Communities & Housing September 2020; ‘Housing 
Allocations scheme review and consultation’; 
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=11049 

Page 98

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=767&MId=9649&Ver=4
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=11049


5
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 A report was submitted to Cabinet in February 2011, to approve the common 
Choice Based Lettings and Allocations Policy for the 5 participating Local 
Authorities – Sefton, Halton, Liverpool, Wirral and Knowsley. The allocations 
scheme has been known as the Property Pool Plus scheme (PPP). PPP is a 
partnership between the five local housing authorities plus numerous private 
registered providers of social housing. PPP provides a common procedure and 
approach to allocating social rented housing, using a choice-based method to let 
homes.

1.2 The Council entered into a contract with Abritas (now Civica), for the provision of an 
IT system, which has been critical to underpin the operation of the scheme. The IT 
system has been upgraded over the life of the scheme, but a new system will need 
to be procured in order to operate the new policy. In the meantime, the contractual 
arrangements with Civica extended until a new IT system is procured in line with 
public procurement regulations, and Wirral Council are leading on this aspect of the 
project with assistance from the other local authorities.

1.3 The operation of the scheme, including the IT system, in Sefton is administered on 
behalf of the Council by One Vision Housing (OVH). Following a procurement 
exercise conducted in 2018, OVH were appointed to continue to administer PPP 
from 1st March 2019 until 28th February 2024.

1.4 PPP provides a single point of access for customers/applicants to apply for social 
housing, complete a single application process, and join a single housing register. It 
also provides local authorities with a single means to provide nominations, including 
for homeless applicants. This requires the participation of the vast majority of 
housing associations who let available properties via PPP.  The aspiration remains 
that the local authorities continue to facilitate a single lettings approach for scheme 
partners and customers when allocating and letting social housing across the city 
region.

2 Housing Allocations Policy review

2.1 The Local Authority, in collaboration with other local authority members of the 
Property Pool Plus scheme, commissioned an independent review of how social 
rented housing is allocated across the Liverpool City Region.

2.2 The review was carried out during 2019 and a total of 15 recommendations were 
made to improve how social housing is allocated. The primary 
recommendation was to revise the current rules for allocating social rented 
housing, to bring it up to date with current legislative requirements and accord with 
nationally recognised best practice.

3. Context

3.1 The Local Authority has a public law duty to accept applications from any member 
of the public, for an allocation of social rented housing. 

3.2 The Local Authority has a number of nomination agreements in place with 
Registered Providers of Social Housing with stock in the borough, which allows 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



6
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

people who have applied to the Council for an allocation of social rented housing, 
to be allocated an available property.

3.3 The Local Authority chooses to hold a common database of applicants and a 
common set of rules allocating social rented housing, with four other local 
authorities. This scheme is known as Property Pool Plus.

3.4 The Local Authority is required to allocate social rented housing in accordance 
with statute, statutory guidance and regulations and orders issued by the UK 
Parliament and the UK Government. The local authority is obliged to provide 
information to anyone who is interested in making an application for social rented 
housing. The law sets out how local authorities must handle applications, make 
decisions, and conduct reviews, about allocations. Eligibility for an allocation of 
social housing can also be determined by immigration law, resulting in local 
authorities having no say on this matter. The law specifies that some applicants 
must be given a reasonable priority for an allocation. These include people 
who are homeless, owed a homelessness duty, occupying unsatisfactory 
accommodation need to move on medical or welfare grounds, or need to move to 
avoid hardship. When allocating social rented housing, the local authority must 
avoid discriminating against any person and ensure it enhances equality of 
opportunity for all. The best interests of children must also be taken account of 
when social rented housing is allocated. The Local Authority is afforded no powers 
over these matters, nor does it have any discretion as to how these matters 
are administered.

3.5 In respect of the above matters, a range of administrative changes are being 
proposed to bring practice and procedure in line with current legislative 
requirements.

The Local Authority has powers to determine how social rented housing is allocated 
in respect of the following matters.

1. Qualification – which persons should qualify or be
 disqualified from being allocated of social rented housing.

2. Choice – how much choice a person might be entitled to 
express in regard to the social rented housing they wish to be 
allocated.

3. Additional Preference – persons should be given an extra favour 
when social rented housing is being allocated. 

4. Priority – persons wishing to be allocated social rented housing 
should be selected for an allocation. 

3.6 Elected councillors are responsible for determining how powers are used for 
the aforementioned matters. The changes being proposed are set out below, 
with an explanation of the current policy position alongside the proposed new 
rules.

4. Other matters

4.1 A range of minor amendments are being made to the information people are 
provided, how applications are handled, how decisions are made, and how 

Page 100

Agenda Item 6



7
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

reviews are carried out to ensure these matters accord with the law and statutory 
guidance.

4.2 A range of technical amendments are being made to definitions of eligibility 
for an allocation of social rented housing along with how eligibility and 
qualification will be determined plus the way notifications of decisions and
rights to review will be issued, along with how renewed applications will be 
dealt with. These adjustments are being made to reflect changes in the law.

4.3 Other amendments that are being made include matters relating to local lettings 
schemes, avoiding discrimination and enhancing equality of opportunity, ensuring 
the best interest of children when allocations are made, the way discretion is 
applied to individual cases, the way any future changes about the rules will be 
publicised, how direct flights will be administered, how people can make 
applications to housing associations, details of nominations agreements and 
specific matters relating to transfer tenants. 

4.4 Administration of the Social Housing Allocations Scheme (PPP) in Sefton is 
currently contracted out to One Vision Housing until 28t February 2024. Matters 
relating to the contracting out of the administration of housing allocation functions 
are outside the scope of the proposed new rules. The long-term administration of 
the Social Housing Allocations Scheme following the conclusion of the current 
contract will be subject to a separate recommendation.

5.1 Consultation

5.1 Consultation on the amended scheme rules took place with Registered 
Providers during 2020, feedback being very positive. 

5.2 A public consultation on draft new scheme rules took place from late 2020 to 
early 2021. A total of 4,344 individual responded to the consultation, along 
with 4 organisations. 36% of all respondents were from Liverpool, which is 
reflective of City residents equating to one-third of the population of the Liverpool 
City Region.  

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton Wirral Total
Individual 433 657 1,593 718 993 4,394
on behalf of an organisation 0 1 2 1 0 4
Grand Total 433 658 1,595 719 993 4,398

5.3 The majority (both in relative and absolute terms) of respondents agreed with all 
four key proposals being consulted on. This scheme is also following due process 
for approval in each of the LAs currently participating in Property Pool Plus

6 Conclusion

Page 101

Agenda Item 6



8
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

6.1 The Council has been part of the Merseyside sub regional social housing 
allocations scheme known as Property Pool Plus since 2012 and in order to 
ensure that the scheme remains rational, legal and follows public law procedural 
requirements, and compliant with statute, statutory guidance, regulations, orders, 
court ruling and ombudsman decisions a review of the current policy was 
undertaken with a new draft policy produced which addresses these issues. This 
new policy will ensure that the Council are better able to respond to the needs of 
those in housing need in the borough.

Page 102

Agenda Item 6



9
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Appendix A

Details of Qualification to the Scheme; Choice; Additional Preference and Priority

Qualification

Incapable of holding a tenancy agreement 
A child aged 16 or 17 years of age, will be disqualified from being allocated social rented 
housing, unless a suitable party can act as a trustee and hold a legal tenancy until the 
child reaches the age of 18 years. This rule prevails in the current policy no changes are 
being proposed to this matter. 

A child, defined as a child in need under the children act 1989, section 17, will be 
disqualified from being allocated social rented housing. This rule prevails presently but is 
not expressly made clear in the current policy, an amendment proposed to rectify this.

A person lacking the mental capacity to hold a tenancy, will be disqualified from being 
allocated social rented housing. This rule prevails presently but is not expressly made 
clear in the current policy, an amendment proposed to rectify this.

Unacceptable behaviour
A person who Is guilty of unacceptable behaviour that makes them unsuitable to be a 
tenant, will be disqualified from being allocated social rented housing. This rule prevails in 
the current policy; however, amendments are proposed to make it clearer what constitutes 
unacceptable behaviour. The new rules will make it clear that anyone with a spent 
conviction under the Rehabilitation of Offender Act 1974, section 4, (1) will not be taken 
account of when making decisions about whether a person should be disqualified. The 
proposed new definition of unacceptable behaviour is as follows:

1. Having an unspent conviction of a serious offence, committed in 
the locality of their property, against a person with a right to 
reside or occupy or accommodation.

2. Having an unspent conviction of a serious offence, committed 
elsewhere against the Local Authority or a Registered Provider 
or agents acting on their behalf, which directly or indirectly was 
related or affected carrying out housing management functions

3. Perpetrators of domestic abuse who are subject to a non-
molestation order, an injunction order, an occupation order or a 
restraining order, which is in force at the date an application is 
being determined. 

4. Having an unspent conviction at the date an application is being 
determined for a serious offence as defined by the Serious Crime Act 
2007, Part 1, Schedule 1, committed in the locality of a property 
against another person or the Local Authority or a Registered 
Provider.

5. Breaching a provision of an injunction under section 1, conviction 
under section 30, or an order made under section 80 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, which occurred in the locality 
of a specified property or elsewhere which caused nuisance, 
annoyance, harassment, alarm or distress to a person in the locality or 
the Local Authority or a Registered Provider, or resulted in access to 
property that has been prohibited under section 76 of the Anti-social 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6



10
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, for a continuous period of 
more than 48 hours.

6. Having an unspent conviction for an offence under section 80(4) 
or 82(8) Environmental Protection Act 1990, concerning noise 
from a property which was a statutory nuisance as per section 
79(1), Part 3 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

7. Having an unspent conviction for an offence under the Fraud Act 
2006, Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981 or Social Housing 
Fraud Act 2013, involving withholding, falsifying or 
misrepresenting any information to access to be allocated social 
rented housing or sub-letting of social housing by current 
tenants.

8. Within the past [timescale to be determined, e.g. 12-months], 
having committed any other behaviour that would give grounds 
for possession under Housing Act 1985, section 84, Schedule 2, 
Part 1, Grounds 1-7 and section 84A. This includes an applicant 
being responsible for:
a. Causing nuisance or annoyance to other; people living, 

visiting or carrying out lawful activities in the locality of 
their home, and/or employees of the Local Authority, or 
people employed by other organisations, to carry out housing 
management functions, for the Local Authority

b. Causing an offence, or another adult residing with them, 
for which they were convicted for, which took place during 
and at the scene of a riot in the UK. 

c. Causing violence or threats of violence towards another 
person or their family members, who were living at the 
same property as the applicant, which resulted in them 
leaving and being unlikely to return the property.

d. Allowing acts of waste or neglect of their property or common 
parts of a building in which their property is 
situated or failing take reasonable steps to stop any person 
residing with them to cause acts of waste or neglect to the 
property.

e. Allowing furniture, provided by a landlord for use as part of 
their tenancy, or for use in common parts, to deteriorate due to 
ill-treatment, and in a circumstance where a lodger has caused 
the ill-treatment, not taking reasonable steps to evict that 
lodger.

f. Being granted a tenancy as a result of deliberately and 
rashly making a false statement, made by themselves or 
another person at their prompting.

Following rules concerning unacceptable behaviour, are not permitted in law and so are 
not proposed to be carried forward to the new policy.

• Persons who have been convicted of arson.
• Person who have been previously evicted from a social 

housing tenancy.
• Persons who been previously abandoned a social housing 

tenancy.
• Persons whose criminal convictions are not spent being time 

restricted for a 12-month period.

Page 104

Agenda Item 6



11
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Rent or service charge arrears

Persons who have outstanding liabilities, such as rent or service charge arrears or re-
charges, attributable to a tenancy will be disqualified from being allocated social rented 
housing. This rule prevails in the current policy; however, amendments are proposed to 
the method used for calculating the amount of outstanding arrears by which it is 
acceptable for a person to be allocated social rented housing. The current rules require a 
person to agree to a repayment plan and have maintained repayments for a minimum of 
52 weeks or have reduced their debt to below the equivalent of eight weeks gross rent. 
The new rules still propose a person is required to have a repayment plan, but instead 
require at least three continuous payments to have been made and be no more than one 
month behind the agreed schedule of repayments. In future repayment plans will ignore 
any debts which are statute barred. Deciding what a realistic affordable repayment amount 
might be, it will be necessary to take account of all income a person receive. Following 
which, from a person’s income the deductions will be made.

• Existing expenditure on any current housing costs 
• Reasonable living expenses up to the value equal to universal 

credit standard allowance rates. 
• Expenditure necessary to nurture and keep safe any child lives 

in a household. 
• Income spent paying priority debts

These arrangements have been proposed as they accord with established law and 
court rulings.

Breach of tenancy conditions
Persons who have been evicted for any breach of tenancy conditions (regardless of 
tenure) will be disqualified from being allocated social rented housing. This rule prevails in 
the current policy, however some minor amendments are proposed to clarify the meaning 
of term ‘breach of tenancy conditions’. This will now cover:

1. Sub-letting part or whole of the property without permission.
2. Purposely failing to report repairs.
3. Failing to allow contractors to enter the property to carry out 
maintenance.
4. Running a business from the property without permission from 
the landlord.
5. Having an unspent conviction for using or allowing their property 
to be used for illegal or immoral purposes

Local connection
Persons who have not been resident in the local authority area for a minimum of two 
years will be disqualified from being allocated social rented housing. A rule in the current 
policy requires, persons to have a connection of at least six months out of the last 12 
months or three years out of the last five years, with some minor exemptions applying in 
certain specified circumstances. To accord with statutory guidance the minimum period to 
establish a local connection should be fixed at two years. A person can establish a local 
connection to the local authority area due to them being resident, having employment, 
having family associations, or some other special reason. These matters are defined in 
some detail within the proposed new rules.

Homeowners

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



12
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Persons who are homeowners will be disqualified from being allocated social rented 
housing. This is a change to the current policy; it has been proposed to ensure the new 
rules accord with law and statutory guidance. Some minor exemptions will be put in place, 
such as for those who property has been subject to a prohibition order issued by the local 
authority under the Housing act 2004, due to the property being a danger to the health of 
any occupants.

Savings
Persons who have savings above £16,000 will be disqualified from being allocated social 
rented housing. This is a change to the current policy; it has been proposed to ensure the 
new rules accord with law and statutory guidance. The sum of £16,000 has been adopted 
as these accords with the rate at which the Department for work and pensions fixes its 
own rules regarding entitlement welfare benefits.

Exemptions
Persons who are victims of domestic abuse will be exempt from the requirements 
concerning local connection and property ownership.

Persons who have been on active service with the armed forces or reserve forces will 
have any financial resources gained because of an injury or disability, sustained while on 
active service, disregarded when the matter of savings are considered. Persons who are 
currently serving in the armed forces or have done in the preceding five years plus their 
spouses, also bereaved spouses or civil partners of persons who served in the armed 
forces, and former or serving members of the reserved Armed Forces, plus divorced or 
separated spouses or civil partners of service personnel, along with adult children of 
service personnel who could no longer remain in the family home, will all be exempt from 
local connection requirements.

Choice

People will be offered the opportunity to express a preference about the social rented 
housing that might be allocated to them. This will be done via an online platform, by 
placing bids against a property which is being advertised as available to let. A cap of three 
bids per week will be in force for each person. Each person will be entitled to make a 
limited number of refusals when offered a suitable property. This will be capped at one 
refusal for those in the highest band, two refusals for those in the next band, and three 
refusals for those in the lowest band. These proposed arrangements make no adjustments 
to rules set out in the current policy.

Additional Preference

The law requires that the following persons are given a reasonable preference when social 
rented housing is being allocated:

 People who are homeless.
 People who are owed a homelessness duty by the local authority.
 People occupying insanitary or overcrowded or otherwise living in unsatisfactory 

housing conditions.
 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including any grounds 

relating to a disability.

Page 106

Agenda Item 6



13
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

 People who need to move to a particular locality in the area, where failure to 
meet that need would cause hardship to them.

Local authorities have a power to afford an additional preference on any person they might 
choose whose circumstances are one of those listed above. The current rules do not 
explicitly state how this power has been applied, however it is apparent that this power is 
being put into effect. It is proposed that in future the following persons will be afforded an 
additional preference for an allocation of social housing, and this will be demonstrated by 
placing all such persons in the highest band of the scheme:

1. People who are homeless owed the initial relief duty.
2. People who are homeless owed the main housing duty, due to being not 

intentionally homeless and having a priority need for accommodation.
3. People who are victims of domestic abuse
4. People who experience a sudden loss of home due to disaster
5. People who are severely overcrowded, lacking two or more bedrooms
6. People who are under occupying social rented housing by two or more 

bedrooms
7. People whose medical condition is expected to be terminal, and rehousing is 

required due to the detrimental effects caused by present accommodation.
8. People whose medical condition is life-threatening, and rehousing is required 

due to detrimental effect caused by present accommodation.
9. People who are ready to be discharged from hospital and there is no 

accommodation available to them to be discharged to
10.People leaving the care of the Local Authority’s children services
11.People approved to be a foster carer or to adopt, who need to move to a 

larger home, in order to look after a child under the care of the Local 
Authority’s Children Services.

12.Members of the armed and reserve forces, including former members
13.Bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the armed forces
14.Victims of racial harassment amounting to violence or threats of violence.
15.Victims of hate crime amounting to violence or threats of violence.
16.Witnesses of crime or victims of crime who would be at risk of intimidation 

amounted to violence or threats of violence.
17.People who need to be rehoused due to a compulsory purchase order and/or 

are subject to a local authority approved regeneration scheme
18.People participating in the housing first pilot led by the Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority

Priority

The current rules involve six different bands, from A to F, with some variation in some local 
authority areas as to how people are prioritised across banding. 

Applicants will be prioritised for an allocation of social rented housing according to:

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



14
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1. Four Bands, and the order of A to D
2. Where two or more applicants might have the same priority, then by the date 

they were accepted into the band they are placed in at the time of an offer being 
made, with earlier date taking priority over later dates

3. Where two or more applicants might still have the same priority, then those who 
are making a community contribution. A community contribution is defined as (i) 
someone who is in paid or unpaid employment for a minimum of 16 hours per 
week, for a minimum of six months, (ii) in further or higher education, either part-
time or full time, for a minimum of one term, (iii) serving in the regular or reserve 
armed forces

4. At two or more applicants still might have the same priority, then by those who 
work or have close family in the local authority

5. Meeting landlord advert preference criteria to make best use of stock

Band A will consist of people who have been awarded extra priority for an offer of 
accommodation, due to having an urgent need to move. This band will consist of all 
people whom the local authority has chosen to forward an additional preference. 
See above for full definition.

Band B will consist of people who are entitled to a priority for an offer of 
accommodation, due to having a need to move. This band will consist of all people 
whom the law insists have a reasonable preference. This will include:

 People who are homeless not already included in Band A.
 People who are owed a homelessness duty by the local authority, not 

already included in Band A, such as those who are intentionally homeless 
but have a priority need for accommodation, all those who are threatened 
with homelessness.

 People who are occupying in sanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise 
living in unsatisfactory housing conditions. The Environmental Protection a

 Act 1990 Part 3 (in relation to unhealthy premises), Housing Act 1985, Part 
10 (relating to overcrowding) and the Housing act 2004, part one (relating to 
hazardous housing) will be taken account of by the local authority when 
determining an applicant housing conditions.

 People needing to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds 
relating to a disability, due to detrimental effects caused by present 
accommodation, either due to the location of the present accommodation 
and/or due to the physical conditions of that accommodation. A health or 
social care professional with a direct knowledge of a person’s condition will 
be contacted by the local authority for an opinion of the persons health and 
the impact on their housing needs. The local authority will consider whether 
an applicant needs could be met by providing aids and adaptations to the 
current home, to enable them to remain in their present accommodation. 
Once accommodation is allocated to a person with medical or welfare needs, 
their support and care needs will be assessed jointly by social care services, 
housing support providers, NHS trusts, and other relevant agencies.

Page 108

Agenda Item 6



15
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

 People needing to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority, 
where failure to meet this need would cause hardship to themselves or 
others.

Band C will consist of all other applicants who do not have a priority to move, due to 
them wanting to move rather than having any need to move, as a result of which 
they will not have been afforded an additional preference nor will they be entitled to 
a reasonable preference.

Band D will consist of applicants from band a or B or C who have exhausted the 
right to refuse an allocation of social rented housing, or have failed to bid on more 
than three occasions where a suitable property would have been available. 
Applicant will remain in band D for a period of 12 months.

Applicants in the current Band A will primarily remain in the new proposed band A. 
Applicants in the current band B and C would primarily be placed in the new proposed 
band B. Applicants in the current band D and E would primarily be placed in the new 
proposed Band C. Applicants in the current Band F would be placed in the proposed new 
band D. In future it is proposed that all bandings and prioritisation of people within them 
will be consistently applied across all local authorities.

Page 109

Agenda Item 6



16
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Appendix B

Property Pool Plus
A common housing allocation scheme between Halton Borough Council, Knowsley Metropolitan 
Borough Council, Liverpool City Council, Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council and Wirral 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

December 2021

Page 110

Agenda Item 6



17
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Contents

1.0 OVERVIEW ..............................................................................................................................................18

1.1.0 INTRODUCTION...............................................................................................................................................18
1.2.0 PURPOSE OF THIS SCHEME...........................................................................................................................18
1.3.0 PRINCIPLES OF THIS SCHEME .......................................................................................................................19
1.4.0 CONSULTATION .............................................................................................................................................22

2.0 INFORMATION, APPLICATIONS AND DECISION-MAKING .............................................................23

2.1.0 INFORMATION ................................................................................................................................................23
2.2.0 APPLICATIONS ...............................................................................................................................................25
2.3.0 DECISION-MAKING ........................................................................................................................................30
2.4.0 REVIEWS ........................................................................................................................................................31

3.0 ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION .....................................................................................................32

3.1.0 ELIGIBILITY ....................................................................................................................................................32
3.2.0 QUALIFICATION..............................................................................................................................................34
3.3.0 DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION............................................................................................40
3.4.0 NOTIFICATIONS OF DECISIONS AND RIGHT TO A REVIEW ..............................................................................40
3.5.0 RE-APPLICATION ...........................................................................................................................................40

4.0 ALLOCATIONS .......................................................................................................................................41

4.1.0 ADOPTING THIS SCHEME...............................................................................................................................41
4.2.0 DETERMINING PRIORITY FOR AN ALLOCATION FOR HOUSING.......................................................................42
4.3.0 LOCAL LETTINGS SCHEMES...........................................................................................................................48
4.4.0 AVOIDING DISCRIMINATION AND ENHANCING EQUALITY OF OPPORTUNITY..................................................50
4.5.0 BEST INTERESTS OF CHILDREN .....................................................................................................................51
4.6.0 DISCRETION ...................................................................................................................................................51

5.0 BEING ALLOCATED A PROPERTY .....................................................................................................53

5.1.0 CHOICE ..........................................................................................................................................................53
5.2.0 OTHER GENERAL POINTS .............................................................................................................................54

6.0 OTHER ARRANGEMENTS ....................................................................................................................57

6.1.0 DIRECT APPLICATIONS TO REGISTERED PROVIDERS ....................................................................................57
6.2.0 NOMINATIONS ................................................................................................................................................57
6.3.0 TRANSFERS ...................................................................................................................................................57
6.4.0 CONTRACTING-OUT .......................................................................................................................................57
6.5.0 COMPLAINTS, APPEALS AND LEGAL CHALLENGES.......................................................................................58
4.6.0 DISCRETION ...................................................................................................................................................78
1. ASSESS WHETHER THE APPLICANT HAS EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES........................................................79
2. REFER TO THE SENIOR OFFICER .......................................................................................................................79
3. SENIOR OFFICER TO DECIDE WHETHER TO EXERCISE DISCRETION ..................................................................79
4. INFORM THE APPLICANT OF THE OUTCOME .......................................................................................................81
5. BACKGROUND INFORMATION.............................................................................................................................81

PROCESS CHART FOR APPLYING DISCRETION WHEN ALLOCATING HOUSING............................................................82

DETERMINING AN APPLICANTS’ ENTITLEMENT TO BEDROOMS, FOR ASSESSING 
OVERCROWDING AND UNDER-OCCUPANCY ...............................................................................................88

I. LOCAL AUTHORITY LETTER (COUNCIL TAX, BENEFITS ETC)...............................................................................88
II. DWP LETTER......................................................................................................................................................88
III. PAYSLIP / P45 / P60 ..........................................................................................................................................88
IV. PHOTO DRIVING LICENCE ...................................................................................................................................88

OVERVIEW............................................................................................................................................................93

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES ..............................................................................................................................94

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



18
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

QUESTION 1. DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSED QUALIFICATION CRITERIA? ................................94
QUESTION 2 -  DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR OFFERING CHOICE? ...............................95
QUESTION 3 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR AFFORDING ADDITIONAL PREFERENCE TO 
PERSONS IN THE SPECIFIED CIRCUMSTANCES ............................................................................................................96
QUESTION 4 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR PRIORITISING PEOPLE WAITING FOR AN 
ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING? ............................................................................................................................98
OTHER COMMENTS ......................................................................................................................................................99

APPENDIX 1 – HALTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY..................................................................101

APPENDIX 2 – KNOWSLEY PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY............................................................106

APPENDIX 3 – LIVERPOOL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY............................................................112

APPENDIX 4 – SEFTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ..................................................................116

APPENDIX 5 – WIRRAL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ..................................................................119

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY AREA .......................................................................123

ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING POLICY EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT ........................................................123
3.1.1 Age .............................................................................................................................................................124
3.6.3 Wheelchair user standards ..................................................................................................................125
3.1.3 Gender .......................................................................................................................................................126
3.1.2 Ethnicity ....................................................................................................................................................127

Page 112

Agenda Item 6



19
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1.0 Overview

1.1.0 Introduction 

1.1.1 Halton Borough Council (“Halton”), Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council (“Knowsley”), 
Liverpool City Council (“Liverpool”), Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council (“Sefton”) and 
Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council (“Wirral”) are local housing authorities, which have 
chosen to operate a common housing allocation scheme, under the name Property Pool 
Plus. 

1.1.2 There is a legal requirement for all English local housing authorities to have a scheme for 
the allocation of social rented housing, regardless of whether they own or manage any 
social rented housing. All local housing authorities which are members of the scheme 
previously undertook a voluntary transfer of their housing accommodation. Both Liverpool 
and Wirral have subsequently built a small number of new units and other participating 
local authorities may do the same in the future. 

1.1.3 Throughout this Scheme, a reference to the “Local Authority” means all of those 
authorities and/or each relevant authority as appropriate.

1.1.4 The Local Authority’s housing allocations functions are regulated by the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman.

1.1.5 This Scheme explains how people can apply for an allocation of social rented housing, how 
the Local Authority will allocate social rented housing and the extent of choice applicants 
will be offered. 

1.1.6 The Local Authority is permitted to contract out the administration of specific public law 
housing allocation functions to a third party. Any such arrangements that might be in force 
are outside the scope of this Scheme. Where such arrangements have been established, 
any reference made in this Scheme to the Local Authority automatically extend to any third 
party appointed to undertake such administration. 

1.1.7 The Local Authority will provide general information via the Property Pool Plus website 
about the social housing stock in its area. https://www.propertypoolplus.org.uk

1.2.0 Purpose of this Scheme

1.2.1 The Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 defines social housing as low-cost homes for rent 
and sale to people whose housing needs cannot be met by the general housing market. 
This Scheme shall demonstrate how the Local Authority will allocate social rented housing 
to:
a. persons applying to become a social housing tenant; and
b. secure/assured tenants seeking to move to another dwelling house (“Transfer 
Applicants”), let under secure/assured tenancies. 
The Local Authority intends to allocate homes in a fair, transparent and effective way, that 
prioritises applicants who are most in need, is lawful and makes best use of the homes 
available. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 6

https://www.propertypoolplus.org.uk/


20
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1.2.2 This Scheme explains how priority between applicants will be determined and the 
arrangements for nominating applicants for homes owned by private registered providers of 
social housing (“Registered Providers”), who own and/or manage social rented housing in 
the Local Authority area. 

1.2.3 A copy of this Scheme will be made available to any person who requests one. A summary 
is also available. A copy has been sent to the Regulator of Social Housing and the Local 
Government & Social Care Ombudsman. 

1.2.4 This Scheme has been framed with consideration to the housing requirements of current 
and future potential tenants. Most applicants will be afforded choice in the lettings offered to 
them in that they will be able to express a preference of the available properties that meet 
their housing needs. Any issues of overcrowding and under-occupation will be fully taken 
account of when an allocation is made. 

1.3.0 Principles of this Scheme

1.3.1 This Scheme has been formulated with regard to the law and regulatory requirements, 
including:

1. Housing Act 1985
2. Housing Act 1996
3. Homelessness Act 2002
4. Homelessness Reduction Act 2020
5. Housing and Regeneration Act 2008
6. Localism Act 2011
7. Armed Forces Act 2006
8. Asylum and Immigration Act 1996
9. Immigration and Asylum Act 1999
10. Children Act 2004 
11. Equality Act 2010
12. Data Protection Act 2018
13. European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020
14. Statutory guidance:

a. Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local authorities, December 
2020, updated September 2021

b. Providing social housing for local people, December 2013
c. Right to Move and social housing allocations, March 2015
d. Improving access to social housing for victims of domestic abuse, November 

2018
e. Improving access to social housing for members of the Armed Forces, June 

2020
15. The regulatory standards for registered providers of social housing in England:

a. Tenancy Standard, published April 2012

1.3.2 Case law from the English and Welsh Courts has also been taken into consideration.

Page 114

Agenda Item 6



21
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1.3.3 This Scheme only relates to the allocation of social rented housing in Halton, Knowsley, 
Liverpool, Sefton and Wirral, excluding extra care social rented housing (which will be 
subject to separate arrangements), but which extends to:

1. Affordable rent social housing.
2. General needs social housing. 
3. Affordable rent supported housing.
4. General needs supported housing.

1.3.4 For the purpose of this Scheme, an “allocation” is defined as occurring when the Local 
Authority select an applicant to be a secure or introductory tenant of social rented housing 
held by the Local Authority, or nominates a person to be an assured tenant (encompassing 
flexible and affordable tenancies) of social rented housing held by a Registered Provider, 
subject to certain exceptions. 

1.3.5 Actual entry by an applicant into a tenancy agreement for a particular property is beyond 
the scope of this Scheme. The law and regulations instruct registered providers to publish 
rules and policies about how housing allocations will be made. Applicants should consult 
individual Registered Providers for their rules and policies concerning allocation of social 
rented housing. Copies of which are available from the Local Authority. 

1.3.6 There are exceptions to the position set out above in 1.3.4 as detailed below. There will not 
have been an allocation in any of the following cases. The Local Authority and/or registered 
providers shall have their own rules and polices for these matters, which should be 
referenced for further details:

1. The granting of a tenancy that is not of the type specified in the legal definition of 
allocation, such as one without security of tenure (e.g. a ‘family intervention 
tenancy’, , temporary accommodation provided to homeless households that are 
owed a duty of assistance, etc).

2. Granting a tenancy to a person who is currently and lawfully occupying a property 
held on a family intervention tenancy. 

3. The vesting (by succession) of a periodic secure or introductory tenancy on the 
death of the current tenant.

4. The devolution of a fixed term secure tenancy on the death of a tenant.
5. The assignment of a secure tenancy as part of a mutual exchange.
6. The assignment of a secure or introductory tenancy to a person who would have 

been qualified to succeed to the tenancy on a tenant’s death.
7. The vesting or disposal of a secure or introductory tenancy pursuant to a court order 

made under the following provisions of family law statutes:
a. section 24 of the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973 (property adjustment orders 

in connection with matrimonial proceedings);
b. section 71 of the Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984 (property 

adjustment orders after overseas divorce);
c. paragraph 1 of schedule 1 of the Children Act 1989 (orders for financial relief 

against parents); and
d. schedule 7, Part 2 of the Family Law Act 1996 (orders for moving a tenancy 

from an existing tenant to a new tenant).
8. The vesting or disposal of a secure or introductory tenancy pursuant to an order 

made under Part 2 of schedule 5, or paragraph 9(2) or (3) of schedule 7, to the Civil 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



22
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Partnership Act 2004 (property adjustment orders in connection with civil 
partnership proceedings or after overseas dissolution of civil partnership).

9. A transfer initiated by a private registered provider of social housing of a secure or 
introductory tenancy (i.e. not initiated by an application for a transfer by the tenant).

10. A tenancy being granted as part of a surrender and re-grant where two social 
housing tenants wish to exchange their homes and one tenant holds a flexible 
tenancy or an assured shorthold tenancy.

11. Where a tenant has been displaced from previous accommodation and has been 
provided with suitable alternative accommodation under the Land Compensation 
Act 1973.

12. The granting of a secure tenancy to a former owner-occupier or statutory tenant of a 
defective dwelling house acquired by the Local Authority.

13. The granting of a secure tenancy to a person who is already a secure tenant or an 
assured tenant of a private registered provider of social housing unless the person 
applies for a transfer and is entitled to a statutory reasonable preference. 

1.3.7 When drawing up this Scheme, the Local Authority has consulted with the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority, along with the following bodies and person located within the 
Liverpool City Region; local housing authorities, registered providers (who hold stock in the 
Liverpool City Region), public authorities, voluntary organisations, and other persons, plus 
previous, current and future potential tenants. Regard was had to the current:

1. Halton Homelessness Strategy 
2. Knowsley Homelessness Strategy 
3. Liverpool Homelessness Strategy 
4. Sefton Homelessness Strategy 
5. Wirral Homelessness Strategy 
6. Liverpool City Region Tenancy Strategy 2021-26

1.3.8 The Local Authority will take such steps as it considers reasonable (e.g. by making contact 
via email, telephone, or letter, or by placing a notification on the Property Pool Plus Website 
or the Local Authority website, or via another suitable form of communication), within a 
reasonable period of time, to bring to the attention of those likely to be affected by it: 
a. any alterations made to this Scheme,
b. any subsequent alteration to this Scheme that would affect the relative priority of a large 
number of applicants; and
c. any significant alteration to any associated procedures for administering this Scheme. 

1.3.9 Elected Councillors of the Local Authority are prohibited from making decisions about any 
individual allocation pertaining to any accommodation situated in their electoral ward area 
or any person who is resident in their electoral ward area. Elected Councillors may seek to 
obtain general information about the allocation of housing, can represent their constituents 
and discuss their cases with Property Pool Plus administrators. Elected Councillors should 
participate in making decisions about the overall content of this Scheme. Elected 
Councillors should consider whether the Local Authority’s Code of Conduct requires them 
to declare an interest before participating in such deliberations. If in any doubt, the advice 
of the Local Authority’s Monitoring Officer should be obtained. The Local Authority arranges 
for Elected Councillors to be provided with suitable training in these matters. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 6



23
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1.3.10 Copies of this Scheme are made available by the Local Authority to any person who 
requests one. Electronic copies will be provided, copies in alternative formats will be 
considered on an individual basis. People will be informed about their rights to information, 
advice and assistance concerning Property Pool Plus. For further information, see section 2 
of these rules and procedures. 

1.3.11 People will not be able to join Property Pool Plus if they are either not eligible for an 
allocation of social housing or match the disqualification criterion set out in this Scheme. 
For further information, see section 3 of this Scheme. 

1.3.12 Applicants will be prioritised for an allocation by Band, then the date they were placed in 
the current band they have been afforded, then whether they are making a community 
contribution. For further information, see section 4 of this Scheme. 

1.3.13 Applicants will be allowed to express a preference for the homes available to let. This will be 
subject to certain limitations. Applicants will be penalised for refusing reasonable offers. For 
further information, see section 5 of this Scheme.  

1.4.0 Consultation 

1.4.1 The Local Authority carried out consultation on how it intends to prioritise the allocation of 
social rented housing. Applicants who were members of Property Pool Plus and other 
people, such as advocates for people from all of the protected characteristics groups, as 
the Local Authority deemed appropriate, were consulted before finalising this Scheme. 

1.4.2 The Local Authority has published a report on the consultation of this Scheme, on the 
outcomes of the consultation and changes that have been made to the Property Pool Plus.

1.4.3 A variety of consultation methods, such as focus groups and online surveys, were used to 
solicit opinions. The Local Authority has taken account of the needs of specific groups, 
such as persons with a disability, or learning and support need. An Equality Impact 
Assessment has been completed in conjunction with adopting this Scheme. 

1.4.4 This Scheme will be reviewed by the Local Authority at least every two years (and more 
often if required, for example due to legislative or regulatory changes) in conjunction with 
applicants and other appropriate persons or organisations.

1.4.5 Any major changes to this Scheme that will affect the relative priority of a large number of 
people have been communicated in writing (using email, letter or notification via the 
Property Pool Plus website) to potential applicants that might be affected.

Page 117

Agenda Item 6



24
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

2.0 Information, Applications and Decision-Making

2.1.0 Information

2.1.1 The Local Authority will provide a summary of this Scheme free to any person who asks for 
one. Electronic copies will be provided, copies in alternative formats will be considered on 
an individual basis. The whole of this Scheme will be kept available for inspection by any 
person at the principal offices of the Local Authority. The Local Authority will provide a copy 
to anyone who asks for one. Electronic copies will be provided, copies in alternative 
formats will be considered on an individual basis. The Local Authority will also publish this 
Scheme on its websites, including the Property Pool Plus website. The Local Authority will 
provide, information via the Property Pool Plus website, about: 

1. The rules associated with initial consideration of an applicant’s application, plus the 
treatment of any nomination made by the Local Authority for social rented housing 
to a Registered Provider.

2. Potential stock availability.
3. Eligibility, qualification and prioritisation criterion for joining Property Pool Plus and 

being offered a nomination of social rented housing.

2.1.2 The Local Authority will provide general information via the Property Pool Plus website 
about the social housing stock in its area. https://www.propertypoolplus.org.uk 

2.1.3 The Local Authority will provide the following information via the Property Pool Plus website 
for any given dwelling, wherever it is made available by the Local Authority or registered 
providers:

1. Type (e.g. house, flat, bungalow, etc), size (e.g. number of bedrooms, bathrooms, 
etc) and location (e.g. by electoral ward).

2. Whether it is already accessible for people with disabilities or could be adapted to 
be so.

3. Whether there is access to a shared or private garden.
4. How old it is.
5. An indication of how frequently it is likely to become available.
6. An indication of the cost of running it.

2.1.4 The Local Authority will consider requests for information in translated and alternative 
formats (e.g. Braille, large print, audio etc) and provide materials as relevant. The special 
needs of specific groups of prospective applicants (e.g. the housebound, prisoners, gypsies 
and travellers, etc), will be taken account of when making any arrangement to access and 
provide information and advice. Information will be made available using a variety of media, 
including printed hard copy form, on the website of the Local Authority and the Property 
Pool Plus website and via the telephone.

2.1.5 The Local Authority will provide any person who requests it with information (e.g. in a 
suitable written format) and advice (e.g. via the phone or in person) about their rights to 
make an application for an allocation of social rented housing. Furthermore, the Local 
Authority will freely help any person who is likely to have difficulty in making an application 
to join Property Pool Plus. This assistance will include (this list is not intended to be 
exhaustive):

Page 118

Agenda Item 6

https://www.propertypoolplus.org.uk/


25
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1. Completing any form that might exist
2. Explain what evidence might be required for the Local Authority determine any 

eligibility and qualification criterion that might be in force and help collect this 
evidence for assessment

3. Explain what evidence might be required to determine the degree of priority for 
when allocations are made and help collect this evidence for assessment

4. Explain what evidence might be required to help determine the type of property 
should be allocated and help collect this evidence for assessment

2.1.6 The Local Authority will provide every applicant with the following general information by 
email or letter or other suitable written format (as applicable at the different stages of an 
application being processed), accompanied by a free summary of this Procedure:

1. How their application is likely to be treated.
2. Whether or not they have been accepted as being eligible for an allocation or any 

reasons for being determined as ineligible
3. Whether or not they qualify to join Property Pool Plus and the reasons for being 

disqualified. 
4. The property size they are eligible for.
5. The method that will be used in assessing their needs.
6. The number of other applicants on the register.
7. An assessment of the likely time that they will have to wait to receive an offer by 

reference to average waiting time or the number of allocations of similar properties, 
based on data available for the most recent data available.

8. Any facts about the applicant’s case which have been or will be taken account of 
when making decisions. 

9. The right to request a review of any decision that they are not eligible and/or do not 
qualify to join the Property Pool Plus or concerning an allocation or nomination of 
social rented housing.

10. Any review decision, along with the grounds for that decision in a written 
acknowledgement.

11. The right to seek a judicial review on any point of law where this Procedure (or the 
administration of it) is irrational, illegal, or fails to follow public law procedural 
requirements.

2.1.7 The Local Authority will advise either orally or in writing all persons that equalities 
information will be collected, to enable a better understanding of peoples’ housing needs 
and to ensure that no one is discriminated against as a result of the way this Scheme has 
been framed, or during the administration of it. People will be informed either orally or in 
writing as to how such data will be used, handled, and stored. 

2.1.8 The Local Authority is subject to the information disclosure requirements of the Data 
Protection Act 2018. The administration of this Scheme will ensure compliance with this 
legislation. For further information please reference the Local Authority’s Data Protection 
Policy. Applicants will be advised of their right to make a complaint to the Office of the 
Information Commissioner (“ICO”) if they believe the Local Authority has failed to fulfil its 
obligations and responsibilities as set out in the Data Protection Act 1998. Concerns can be 
reported by telephoning the ICO’s helpline on 0303 123 1113 or online at 
https://ico.org.uk/concerns/ 

Page 119

Agenda Item 6

https://ico.org.uk/concerns/


26
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

2.1.9 All persons making an application to join Property Pool Plus, have the right to 
confidentiality. An application will not be divulged to any other party without an applicant’s 
consent, unless it gives rise to a safeguarding concern. An applicant will be asked to give 
consent to share relevant details of their application, with relevant third-party organisations, 
such as public authorities, private registered providers, voluntary organisations and others. 
Where consent is given, this only extends to those who can provide evidence that can help 
to determine an application and/or who need to know to process an allocation (e.g. 
employees of health, social care, criminal justice, social housing organisations, etc). For 
further information, please refer to the Local Authority’s Information Sharing Protocol. 

2.2.0 Applications 

2.2.1 Each applicant will be provided with a user account that they will be able to securely log 
into via the Scheme website. The Local Authority will primarily communicate with applicants 
via their user account, to include but not limited to, for example, to provide them with 
information and advice, give assistance, issue warnings about fraud, seek further evidence 
or clarify matters relating to evidence already submitted, make notifications as whether 
someone is eligible and qualifies to join the Scheme, confirm whether an applicant wish to 
accept an offer of an allocation and other matters relating to their application. Whenever 
necessary, the Local Authority will also communicate with applicants via other means, such 
as email, telephone/videotelephone, letter/leaflet or in-person, etc, such as when they are 
having difficulty using their Scheme user account, this includes where a person with a 
protected characteristic, needs or asks for an alternative.

2.2.2 All applications must be made using the prescribed online form published by the Local 
Authority. Whenever necessary, the Local Authority will also arrange for applications to be 
completed by other means, such as when an applicant is having difficulty completing the 
prescribed online form, this includes where a person with a protected characteristic, needs 
or asks for an alternative. Copies can be accessed from the Property Pool Plus website. 
Applications can only be made by a sole individual, all other persons who might presently 
live with the applicant can feature as usual household members. Applications are 
welcomed from persons who live at two separate addresses, but who wish to live together 
at one single address, one person will have to feature as the applicant (although an 
applicant together with one or more other persons can enter into a joint tenancy with a 
registered provider, subject to such an organisation’s acquiescence), with the other 
person(s) featuring as usual a household member. Anyone who might usually reside with 
an applicant, or who might reasonably be expected to reside with an applicant, can feature 
as part of the application. A usual household member is a person who primarily (for at least 
50% of a reasonable period of time, e.g. week, month) or exclusively lives with an 
applicant. People who usually live with the applicant but are temporarily absent due to 
circumstances beyond their control (e.g. care of a local authority, hospital, armed forces, 
etc), are also considered a usual household member.

2.2.3 In addition to the application, the following documents (where available) must be submitted 
as evidence to verify the information provided by the main applicant, plus any other person 
who might reside with the applicant:
1. Passport, to help determine eligibility to rent social housing in England.
2. A utility or Council Tax bill from the past three months, to help determine eligibility to rent 

social housing in England.

Page 120

Agenda Item 6



27
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

3. Birth certificate, to help determine qualification to join the Property Pool Plus. 
4. Details of any relevant unspent convictions (see section 3.2.4), to help determine 

qualification to join Property Pool Plus.
5. All financial records from the past three months relating to income and savings, to help 

determine qualification to join Property Pool Plus,
6. All legal records relating to property ownership to help determine qualification to join 

Property Pool Plus.
7. Any other information that helps to determine eligibility to rent social housing in England 

and/or qualification to join Property Pool Plus.

2.2.4 The Local Authority will receive applications from any person, regardless of where they 
currently reside, and this extends to persons of no fixed abode. All applicants will be 
required to renew their application annually, from the anniversary of being accepted to join 
Property Pool Plus. Failure to renew an application will result in an application being closed 
and membership of Property Pool Plus being discontinued. Applicants will be reminded via 
notification issued on the Property Pool Plus website, or email or letter and will have 28 
days from receipt of this information to comply with the renewal request. If an applicant fails 
to comply with the renewal request within the allotted timeframe, further contact, using the 
same methods described above, will be made and they will be afforded a further 28 days to 
renew their application, Failure to comply during the second 28-day period will result in an 
applicant being removed from Property Pool Plus.

2.2.5 Every applicant will be provided with advice about offences in relation to applications, prior 
to making an application. Applicants will be disqualified, and might be prosecuted, if they 
deliberately withhold information, provide misleading information, or do not notify the Local 
Authority of any change in circumstances (e.g. change in income, change in household 
formation). A warning will include the following facts: a person guilty of such an offence 
could be liable to pay a fine (with no maximum) and may also face prosecution for fraud 
which can result in imprisonment. 

2.2.6 The Local Authority will provide every applicant with information and advice (in writing or 
orally, electronically or in person) about their rights to make an application for an allocation 
of social rented housing. Furthermore, assistance (such as explain the steps for making 
and determining an application, collecting evidence to determine eligibility and qualification 
for an allocation, the degree of choice they are entitled to and how applicants are prioritised 
for an allocation) will be provided free of charge to any person who is likely to have difficulty 
in making an application (e.g. due to mental or physical impairment, or because of any 
other special characteristic) to join Property Pool Plus. This assistance will be extended to 
those who might require help to express a preference for an available property to let. The 
Local Authority is subject to the Equality Act 2010 which has been duly considered when 
formulating this Procedure (and any associated rules, procedures, policies and processes). 
A separate Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and copies can be requested 
from the Local Authority or downloaded from the Property Pool Plus website. The Equality 
Impact Assessment has identified any potential impact on people with a protected 
characteristic, showing these as positive, negative or negligible, plus includes actions to 
mitigate any such negative impacts. This Scheme aligns with the Local Authority’s Strategic 
Equalities Plan. To ensure compliance with public sector equality duties, the following 
arrangements will be made by the Local Authority and/or Registered Providers for each 
individual applicant and property: 

Page 121

Agenda Item 6



28
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1. A mechanism (e.g. assistance provided via the Property Pool Plus website, phone, 
or in person) for providing support in making applications.

2. A mechanism (e.g. a specific question on the online application) to identify the 
requirements of disabled applicants. 

3. Informing an applicant of a property’s accessible features (e.g. via the Property Pool 
Plus website, or by email or letter, on the phone or in person) or by any other 
necessary means) Whenever properties with accessible features are advertised via 
the Scheme website, they will be marked as such.

4. A mechanism (e.g. at the stage of offer or nomination from the Local Authority to a 
registered provider) to allow a request for extra time, for disabled applicants if they 
need it to accept an offer.

2.2.7 The Local Authority will process applications this will involve a preliminary assessment. 
Firstly, consideration will be given to whether the applicant is eligible for social rented 
housing in accordance with the law. It will then be determined if an applicant qualifies to 
join Property Pool Plus under the terms of this Scheme. For further information on eligibility 
and qualification, please see section 3 of this Scheme. Detailed scrutiny will take place 
when an applicant is due to be allocated or nominated for a particular property, to 
determine whether the applicant:

1. Is still eligible.
2. Is still a qualifying person.
3. Meets any specific lettings criteria for the particular property (e.g. due to a Local 

Lettings Scheme being in force (see section 4.3.0 for further details), or the having 
accessible features suitable for a person with a disability).

4. Has a household size that matches any size criteria for the property.

2.2.8 The Local Authority will process applications within a reasonable period of time (relative the 
particulars of any given application) after all documentation has been received. Upon 
receipt of an application, the Local Authority will inform the applicant of its complaints 
procedure and how they may seek the help of the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman. Complaints can be made by:

1. Telephone: 0300 061 0614
2. Online: https://www.lgo.org.uk/contact-us 

2.2.9 The Local Authority will accept applications from its current tenants of that of registered 
providers, for transfers (“Transfer Applicants”) to alternative social rented housing 
available in Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton and Wirral. Such applicants have the right 
to:

1. Make applications.
2. Have their applications considered.
3. Be notified as to their rights to information and review.
4. Confidentiality of the fact of their application.

2.2.10 The Local Authority will initially treat Transfer Applicants in the same way as all other 
applicants, except that there will no inquiries made about eligibility. This is because the law 
dictates that all current tenants of social housing are eligible for a further allocation of social 
housing accommodation regardless of their immigration or habitual residence status. 
Transfer Applicants will be prioritised in the same way as new applicants (e.g. by housing 
need and then date of banding, then community contribution). Transfer Applicants will not 

Page 122

Agenda Item 6

https://www.lgo.org.uk/contact-us


29
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

be offered an allocation that would result in them under-occupying the dwelling (against the 
definition used by the Department of Work Pensions to determine claims for help with 
housing costs), being overcrowded by the Bedroom Standard or being unable to afford any 
possible rental or service charges at the date an allocation or nomination is made. As a 
general rule, allocations will be made so that a property is fully occupied. If this is not 
possible, under-occupation will be considered, subject to an affordability assessment 
completed at the same time an offer is made, but prior to a letting being agreed. Transfer 
Applicants will be required to satisfy the qualification criterion set out in this Scheme. 

2.2.11 The Local Authority will handle applications as per the provisions contained in this Scheme. 
Any application which gives the Local Authority a reason to believe a person may be 
homeless or threatened with homelessness, will trigger inquiries as to what duty of 
assistance, if any is owed under Housing Act 1996, Part 7 (as amended). Such inquires 
and any subsequent assistance a person might be entitled to are outside the scope of this 
Scheme. The Local Authority has separate arrangements in force to administer public law 
homelessness duties. Contact details for which are as follows:

Local 
Authority

Homelessness Service Contact 
Number

Email Address

Halton 0151 511 7979 Housing.solutionsteam@halton.gov.uk
Knowsley 0151 443 2333 housingsolutions@knowsley.gov.uk
Liverpool 0151 233 3044 HousingOptionsService@liverpool.gov.uk
Sefton 0151 934 3541 Housing.Options@sefton.gov.uk
Wirral 0151 666 5511 housingoptions@wirral.gov.uk

2.2.12 Specific procedures have been published for administering the following matters and are 
available as the following Appendices:

1. Appendix 1 – Initial Enquiries Procedure
2. Appendix 2 – Application Procedure
3. Appendix 3 – Discretion Procedure
4. Appendix 4 – Request a Review Procedure
5. Appendix 5 – Advertising Options (Overcrowding) Procedure

2.2.13 Decisions about whether an applicant is eligible for an allocation of social rented housing 
and qualifies to join Property Pool Plus will be made in strict accordance with the rules 
established by this Scheme. Reviews will be carried out in strict accordance with the rules 
established by this Scheme. The discretionary power (available in Appendix 3) to allow an 
an applicant to be treated as qualified to join Property Pool Plus outside the criteria set out 
below and/or prioritise them for an allocation  or nomination of social rented housing is 
limited to a designated senior officer with responsibility for administering housing allocation 
functions for the Local Authority. The aforementioned senior employee(s) will be 
responsible for minimising the risk of employee fraud and errors, including the vetting of 
junior employees and randomly checking and validating decisions on applications. 
Consideration of an application will be based on the information provided on the application 
form, plus any evidence supplied by an applicant (e.g. proofs of identify, etc), or information 
gained from public bodies (e.g. prisons, young offender institutes, secure training centres, 
secure colleges, youth offending teams, probation services, DWP/Jobcentre Plus, social 
services authorities (adult social services and child social care), NHS Trusts and NHS 

Page 123

Agenda Item 6



30
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Foundation Trusts, Ministry of Defence, general medical practitioners, schools, police, etc) 
Registered Providers, voluntary organisations and any other persons or organisation that 
might be able to provide or verify evidence relevant to a person’s application). 

2.2.14 Unsuccessful applicants, who have been declared not eligible for an allocation of social 
rented housing or disqualified from joining Property Pool Plus, will be informed that they 
can make a further application whenever they believe there has been a material change to 
their circumstances. They will also be informed of their right to a review (see Appendix 4).

2.2.15 Upon initially receiving an application, the Local Authority will, under the application 
procedure set out in Appendix 2:

1. Confirm accuracy of all information provided by an Applicant. Where information is 
inaccurate or missing, the Local Authority will contact the applicant notifying them of 
this and requesting that they provide further relevant information. Where information 
requires verifying by a third party (e.g. housing, health, social care or other 
professional), the Local Authority will contact the relevant party and seek their 
opinion about the applicant’s circumstances a the date of their application and how 
this affects their housing needs. 

2. Confirm whether an applicant is eligible for an allocation of social rented housing, in 
accordance with the criteria set out in section 3.1.0.

3. Confirm whether an applicant is qualifying or is disqualified for an allocation of social 
rented housing, in accordance with the criteria set out in section 3.2.0:

i. If the applicant has applied on the grounds of being homeless or 
owed a homelessness duty, ascertain whether or not the applicant 
has already made an application of homelessness assistance. 

1. If yes, subject to the applicant’s acquiescence, access the 
Local Authority’s homelessness database for information 
relevant to the applicant’s application for an allocation of 
social rented housing.

2. If no, subject to the applicant’s acquiescence, arrange for the 
applicant to make an application for homelessness 
assistance and share any information from the applicant’s 
application for an allocation of social rented housing that 
might be relevant to their application for homelessness 
assistance.

ii. If an applicant has applied on the grounds that their existing 
accommodation is overcrowded, follow the steps set out in Appendix 
5, section 2.1.0.

4. Confirm an applicant’s priority for an allocation of social rented housing, in 
accordance with the criteria set out in section 4.2.0.

5. Confirm the best interests of any children that might need to be taken account of, in 
accordance with the arrangements set out in section 4.5.0.

6. Confirm whether an applicant’s circumstances warrant any discretion needing to be 
exercised, in accordance with the arrangements set out in section 4.6.0.

7. Confirm the degree of choice an applicant is entitled to express, in accordance with 
the arrangements set out in section 5.1.0.

8. Confirm what would constitute a reasonable offer of accommodation, in accordance 
with the criteria set out in section 5.16.

Page 124

Agenda Item 6



31
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

i. Affordability will be determined in accordance with the criteria set out 
in Appendix 1.

ii. Bedroom entitlement will be determined in accordance with the 
criteria set out in Appendix 2, section 2.2.0.

2.2.16 Subsequent to completing the set-out section 2.214, the Local Authority will inform an 
applicant: 

1. Whether they are or are not eligible for an allocation of social rented housing and of 
their right to request a review of this decision, in accordance with section 2.4.0.

2. Whether they are qualifying or disqualified from joining the Scheme and of their right 
to request a review of this decision, in accordance with section 2.4.0.

3. The priority they have been afforded (e.g. the Band they have been placed in) for an 
allocation of social rented housing and of their right to request a review of this 
decision, in accordance with section 2.4.0.

4. That the best interests of any children will be taken account of, including any 
necessity to contact children social services as part of this.

5. Whether or not their circumstances warrant any discretion needing to be exercised.
6. The degree of choice they will be entitled to express. 
7. The extent of their household and the type of social rented housing they will be 

considered for and of their right to request a review of this decision, in accordance 
with section 2.4.0

2.2.17 Applicants that are eligible and qualify to join Property Pool Plus, shall join the Scheme in 
accordance with the date their application was first received by the Local Authority. 

2.2.18 The above steps will be repeated whenever the applicant notifies the Local Authority of a 
change of circumstances and also at the point the Local Authority will make an offer or a 
nomination of social rented housing to an applicant.

2.3.0 Decision-Making

2.3.1 Decisions on applications will be notified in writing (either in the form of an email or a letter 
when the applicant has not supplied an email address, via notification on the Property Pool 
website), regardless of whether they are adverse or successful. Where the notification 
confirms a successful decision, applicants will also be told when realistically they might be 
offered a letting of social rented housing.  

2.3.2 Where the notification confirms a decision that an applicant is ineligible for an allocation of 
social rented housing or disqualified from joining Property Pool Plus, the applicant will be 
given reasons for the decision based on the relevant facts of the case. Additional 
arrangements will be made for applicants who might have difficulty understanding the 
implications of the decision to be informed orally (e.g. via a telephone call or in person). 
Copies of all adverse decisions can be made available for a reasonable period of time for 
collection by the applicants, or by someone on their behalf (with consent), when an 
applicant has not provided either an email address or postal address.

2.3.3 Decisions about applications made by employees of the Local Authority, will be made as 
per the rules set out in this Scheme. However, all such decisions will be verified via a series 
of random checks by a designated senior officer with responsibility for administering 

Page 125

Agenda Item 6



32
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

housing allocation functions for the Local Authority. Applicants will be asked at the point of 
making an application, whether they (or anyone who lives with them or might reasonably be 
expected to live with them) are an employee of the Local Authority. Where a person affirms 
on their application that they (or a usual household member), is an employee of the Local 
Authority, they will be notified of the process to deal with any conflicts of interest which will 
involve a senior officer processing the application and ensuring that it is dealt with 
impartially without any reference to the relevant employee. The same principle will be 
applied to relatives of persons who are employed by the Local Authority. 

2.4.0 Reviews 

2.4.1 Applicants will be informed of their right to request a review, (as set out in Appendix 4) 
within 21 calendar days of receiving a decision about their housing application, of any of 
the decisions shown below:

1. That an applicant is not eligible for an allocation of social rented housing, due to 
being subject to immigration control or being an ineligible person from abroad.

2. That an applicant is not within a class of persons qualifying to join the Property Pool 
Plus.

3. The degree of preference they have been afforded under Property Pool Plus, 
including any changes made to the degree of preference they are entitled to.

4. The facts of their case which are likely to be, or have been, taken account of when 
deciding whether to make a nomination to a registered provider, including their 
medical condition or other welfare needs.

5. The type of social rented housing for which an applicant will be considered under 
Property Pool Plus.

6. The extent of an applicant’s household.
7. Whether a nomination constitutes a final offer with the terms of this Scheme.

2.4.2 Following the review, where a higher priority band is awarded at stage 1 or 2 of the appeals 
process as a result of information previously considered as part of an earlier banding 
decision, or as a result of further information relating to the same set of circumstances 
previously considered, the Band Effective date in the higher band will be the same as that 
which had been awarded in the lower priority band.  If a priority has been refused 
previously, but subsequently awarded at Stage 1 or 2 of the appeals process then the Band 
Effective date will be the date the original decision was made.  

2.4.3 If at stage 1 or 2 of the appeals process new information is considered as a result of a 
change in the applicant's circumstances resulting in a change in the priority band, the Band 
effective date will be the date the appeal is considered

2.4.4 Applicants will be informed of their right to pursue a judicial review, where they believe 
there is evidence that a decision is irrational, illegal or fails to follow public law procedural 
requirements. This includes a refusal to take an application to join Property Pool Plus. If 
applicants are dissatisfied with how their application and any subsequent complaint has 
been handled by the Local Authority, they will be informed of their right to make a claim of 
maladministration to the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (see 2.2.8).

Page 126

Agenda Item 6



33
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

3.0 Eligibility and Qualification 

3.1.0 Eligibility

3.1.1 The following classes of persons, subject to the satisfying a habitual residency test (see 
section 3.1.6), will be eligible to join Property Pool Plus:

1. British citizens (constituting the nations of England, Scotland and Wales).
2. Commonwealth citizens with a right of abode in the UK immediately before 01 

January 1983 who have remained commonwealth citizens throughout (excluding 
non-British citizens from Pakistan and South Africa, but inclusive of citizens from 
Gambia and Zimbabwe). 

3. Irish citizens (constituting the nations of Northern Ireland and Republic of Ireland)
4. EEA Nationals (other than those from Ireland) and their family members, who 

a. have acquired limited leave to enter and remain in the UK 
b. were frontier working before 31 December 2020, or
c. are lawfully residing in the UK by 31 December 2020, but still have to apply 

to, or acquire status under the EU Settlement Scheme before the deadline of 
30 June 2021, and are covered by the “Grace Period statutory instrument” 

5. Persons exempt from immigration control (e.g. diplomats and their family members 
based in the UK and some military personnel).

6. Persons granted refugee status by the UK Government.
7. Persons granted exceptional or limited leave to enter or remain in the UK with 

condition that they and any dependents have resource to public funds (e.g. 
humanitarian or compassionate circumstances).

8. Persons with current leave to enter or remain in the UK with no condition or 
limitation, and who are habitually resident in the UK, The Channel Islands, the Isle 
of Man or the Republic or Irelands (defined as the Common Travel Area) (a person 
whose maintenance and accommodation is being sponsored must be resident in the 
Common Travel Area for five years since date of entry or date of sponsorship, 
unless the sponsor has died).

9. Persons who have humanitarian protection granted under the Immigration Rules 
(e.g. a person whose asylum application has failed, but they face real risk of harm if 
they returned to their state of origin).

10. Persons who are Afghan citizens with limited leave to enter or remain in the United 
Kingdom, who are habitually resident in the Common Travel Area.

11. Persons who are habitually resident in the Common Travel Area, who has Calais 
leave to remain under the Immigration Rules

12. Persons who are habitually resident in the Common Travel Area and who have 
been granted leave to remain as a stateless person under Immigration Act 1971

13. Persons who have limited leave to enter and remain in the UK as the family member 
of a ‘relevant person of Northern Ireland by virtue of the Immigration Rules. 

3.1.2 EEA Nationals means nationals of any of the EU member states, and national of Iceland, 
Norway, Liechtenstein and Switzerland. 

3.1.3 The following people will not be eligible to join the Property Pool Plus:

Page 127

Agenda Item 6



34
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1. Persons not habitually resident in the Common Travel Area (see section 3.1.1 
subsection 8 for definition): 

2. EEA nationals whose only right to reside in the UK is:
a. Derived from their status as a jobseeker (or their status as a family member 

of a jobseeker
b. An initial right of residence for 3 months.
c. Derivative right of residence because the person is the primary carer of a 

British citizen.
d. Right to reside as a result of the persons deportation, expulsion or other 

removal by compulsion of law from another country to the UK (including EEA 
nationals exercising EU Treaty rights, who were previously settled in the UK 
prior to deportation).

3. Persons whose only right to reside in the UK is an initial right for no more than 3 
months, including those who would become an unreasonable burden on the social 
assistance system of the UK.

4. Persons who are excluded by section 115 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 
to entitlement to universal credit under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 or to 
housing benefit. 

3.1.4 The granting of a tenancy agreement will be determined by the Local Authority, and each 
registered provider in accordance with their respective allocations policy and/or tenancy 
policy. Notwithstanding this, a joint tenancy cannot be granted to two or more people if any 
one of them is not eligible for an allocation of social rented housing. If one person is 
eligible, a tenancy may be granted to the eligible person. 

3.1.5 Eligibility provisions do not apply to applicants who are already secure, introductory, or 
assured tenants of the Local Authority or a registered provider seeking to transfer. 

3.1.6 Confirmation of immigration status of an applicant from abroad will be obtained, where 
necessary, from the Home Office by emailing EvidenceandEnquiry@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk

3.1.7 Even when a person is eligible for an allocation of social rented housing, only persons who 
are habitually resident in the Common Travel Area will be eligible for an allocation (expect 
persons which exempt from the requirement to be habitually resident, as defined in law or 
statutory guidance). If it is apparent that an applicant came to live in the UK during the 
previous two years, the following tests will be carried out to confirm if an applicant is 
habitually resident:

1. The degree of permanence in the person’s residence in the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain & Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland, Isle of Man or the Channel 
Islands.

2. The association between a person and their place of residence. 
3. Why a person has come to live in the UK
4. Whether a person is joining family or friends in the UK
5. Whether a person has accumulated a continuous period of residence prior to 

making their application.
6. The length of residence in another country
7. Visits abroad for holidays or to visit relatives and other temporary periods of 

absence will be disregarded.
8. A person’s future intentions, employment prospects and centre of interest

Page 128

Agenda Item 6

mailto:EvidenceandEnquiry@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


35
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

9. Exemptions from the habitual residence test include EEA nationals and their family 
members who are workers or self-employed, or have certain permanent rights of 
residence, or have been removed from another country to the UK.

3.1.8 Persons who are subject to immigration control or are an ineligible person from abroad, will 
not be eligible for an allocation of social rented housing. 

3.1.9 The Local Authority will carry out appropriate checks on an applicant’s eligibility to be 
allocated social rented housing, but will ensure these checks are not discriminatory on the 
basis of race, nationality, ethnic origin, or any other protected characteristic as defined by 
the Equality Act 2010. The Local Authority will monitor performance in screening housing 
applications for immigration status to ensure that members of ethnic minorities, who are 
eligible for an allocation of social rented housing, do not experience unreasonably long 
delays while their application is being considered. Where there is any uncertainty about an 
applicant’s immigration status, the Local Authority shall contact the Home Office. Before 
doing so, applicants will be advised that such inquiries will be made in order to comply with 
data protection legislation. The Local Authority or its administering partner will train its 
employees about housing allocation law and practice and the duties and responsibilities 
under the Equality Act 2010. The Local Authority shall ensure that language and 
interpretation support is available for applicants who have difficulty reading or speaking 
English. 

3.1.10 The Local Authority is not subject to the duty arising from the Immigration Act 2014, part 3, 
chapter 1, to carry-out a ‘right to rent’ check on each letting. The Local Authority will only 
perform checks on the eligibility of any applicant, as per sections 3.1.1 – 3.1.9 of this 
Scheme.

3.2.0 Qualification

3.2.1 The following rules which are equally applicable to new applicants and Transfer Applicants, 
explains those applicants who are disqualified from joining this Scheme. 

3.2.2 Participants of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Housing First Pilot are 
exempt from this qualification criterion, with the exception of section 3.2.4. 

3.2.3. An applicant who has been allocated social rented housing via this Scheme within the 12 
months preceding a new application, and whose accommodation remains suitable.

3.2.4 An applicant that is incapable of holding a tenancy agreement, which extends to:
1. Persons defined as a child in English and Welsh law (anyone aged 0 - 17 inclusive). An 

exemption will apply to an applicant who is a child aged 16 or 17, (who may or may 
not also feature another person(s) aged 16 or 17 as a usual household member(s)), 
where a tenancy can be granted to a third party (e.g. an adult relative or social 
worker, etc), ‘a trustee’, and held on trust for the child until they reach the age of 18 
years. An exemption will also apply of if there is a person aged 18 years or over 
who willing to enter into a joint tenancy agreement with a child. 

2. Persons defined as a child in need as a result of a statutory assessment carried out in 
accordance with Children Act 1989, section 17. When making decisions about the 
qualification of a child aged 16/17 or an adult (a person aged 18 years and over) who is 

Page 129

Agenda Item 6



36
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

leaving the care of the Local Authority, full regard will be made to any protocol agreed 
between the Local Authority’s children services and housing services for rehousing care 
leavers. Former care leavers aged 18 years or older fall outside the scope of this 
section, determination as to whether they qualify will be based on any or all relevant 
factors in the entirety of section 3.2.0

3. Persons lacking mental capacity as defined in the Mental Capacity Act 2005.

3.2.5 An applicant, or a member of their household guilty of past unacceptable behaviour of a 
specified standard that makes them unsuitable to be a tenant of the Local Authority (or a 
registered provider it makes a nomination to). Only behaviour that would be serious enough 
that a county court judge could make an outright order for the Local Authority to obtain 
possession, had the applicant been a tenant at the time the unacceptable behaviour was 
carried out, will be considered as unacceptable behaviour. The meaning of unacceptable 
behaviour for the purpose of this Scheme will encompass a past action or activity (including 
an omission, failure to act, passivity or inactivity) on the part of an applicant or a present or 
past member of their household, A person will be considered unsuitable to be a tenant if 
there has been no improvement in their behaviour since the unsuitable behaviour occurred, 
to the date when a decision is made about their application and/or when an allocation of 
social rented housing is due to be made. The Local Authority will not take account of any 
behaviour relating to a spent conviction under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974, 
section 4(1). Unacceptable behaviour is defined as:

1. Having an unspent conviction of a serious offence, committed in the locality of their 
property, against a person with a right to reside or occupy or accommodation.

2. Having an unspent conviction of a serious offence, committed elsewhere against the 
Local Authority or a Registered Provider or agents acting on their behalf, which directly 
or indirectly was related or affected carrying out housing management functions

3. Perpetrators of domestic abuse who are subject to a non-molestation order, an 
injunction order, an occupation order or a restraining order, which is in force at the date 
an application is being determined. 

4. Having an unspent conviction at the date an application is being determined for a 
serious offence as defined by the Serious Crime Act 2007, Part 1, Schedule 1, 
committed in the locality of a property against another person or the Local Authority or a 
Registered Provider.

5. Breaching a provision of an injunction under section 1, conviction under section 30, or 
an order made under section 80 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 
2014, which occurred in the locality of a specified property or elsewhere which caused 
nuisance, annoyance, harassment, alarm or distress to a person in the locality or the 
Local Authority or a Registered Provider, or resulted in access to property that has been 
prohibited under section 76 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, 
for a continuous period of more than 48 hours.

6. Having an unspent conviction for an offence under section 80(4) or 82(8) 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, concerning noise from a property which was a 
statutory nuisance as per section 79(1), Part 3 of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990.

7. Having an unspent conviction for an offence under the Fraud Act 2006, Forgery and 
Counterfeiting Act 1981 or Social Housing Fraud Act 2013, involving withholding, 
falsifying or misrepresenting any information to access to be allocated social rented 
housing or sub-letting of social housing by current tenants.

Page 130

Agenda Item 6



37
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

8. Within the past [timescale to be determined, e.g. 12-months], having committed any 
other behaviour that would give grounds for possession under Housing Act 1985, 
section 84, Schedule 2, Part 1, Grounds 1-7 and section 84A. This includes an 
applicant being responsible for:

a. Causing nuisance or annoyance to other; people living, visiting or carrying out 
lawful activities in the locality of their home, and/or employees of the Local 
Authority, or people employed by other organisations, to carry out housing 
management functions, for the Local Authority

b. Causing an offence, or another adult residing with them, for which they were 
convicted for, which took place during and at the scene of a riot in the UK. 

c. Causing violence or threats of violence towards another person or their family 
members, who were living at the same property as the applicant, which resulted 
in them leaving and being unlikely to return the property.

d. Allowing acts of waste or neglect of their property or common parts of a building 
in which their property is situated or failing take reasonable steps to stop any 
person residing with them to cause acts of waste or neglect to the property.

e. Allowing furniture, provided by a landlord for use as part of their tenancy, or for 
use in common parts, to deteriorate due to ill-treatment, and in a circumstance 
where a lodger has caused the ill-treatment, not taking reasonable steps to evict 
that lodger.

f. Being granted a tenancy as a result of deliberately and rashly making a false 
statement, made by themselves or another person at their prompting.

3.2.6 An applicant or a member of their household who has outstanding liabilities (such as rent or 
service charge arrears, or recharges) attributable to a tenancy which are more than 1/12th 
of the annual amount payable (or which was payable) by an applicant to a landlord in 
respect of a tenancy. When determining a realistic repayment agreement, there will be an 
emphasis on an applicant’s willingness to address the debt and to come to an agreement to 
do so. Any agreement will be based on the affordability of an applicant, rather than the level 
of debt. Efforts will be made to take into consideration why the arrears have arisen. The 
urgency of an applicant’s housing need will also be of paramount importance. For the 
purpose of this Procedure, outstanding rent arrears or debts which fall within the following 
categories will be disregarded:

1. Any outstanding liability (such as rent arrears) attributable to a tenancy of which the 
applicant (or a member of their household) is not, and was not when the liability 
accrued, the tenant.

2. Any rent or other liability which is outstanding, but where the amount outstanding is 
less than 1/12th of the annual amount payable (or which was payable) to a landlord 
in respect of a tenancy, or the applicant has both (i) agreed payments with a 
landlord for paying the outstanding liability, and (ii) made payments in line with that 
arrangement for at least three months and is continuing to make such payments.

3. Any outstanding liability of an applicant or anyone who will live with them, which 
does not relate to the tenancy of a property.

4. Any outstanding liability that has been declared unenforceable or statute barred 
(e.g. any debts that can no longer be recovered through court action). For rent 
arrears this will be after six years. (Debts which are subject to court action before 
the unenforceable period begin, will not become statute barred).

Page 131

Agenda Item 6



38
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

3.2.7 An applicant, or a member of their household who have been found to have breached any of 
the following tenancy conditions, within the past 12-months, regardless of tenure:

1. Sub-letting part or whole of the property without permission.
2. Purposely failing to report repairs.
3. Failing to allow contractors to enter the property to carry out maintenance.
4. Running a business from the property without permission from the landlord.
5. Having an unspent conviction for using or allowing their property to be used for illegal or 

immoral purposes.  

3.2.8 An applicant who does not have a minimum of two years continuous connection to the 
Scheme area, due to any of the following factors (disregards apply to applicants who are 
entitled to be afforded a reasonable preference for an allocation of social rented housing as 
defined in law, including persons who are survivors of domestic abuse and Armed Forces 
personnel, see sections 3.2.13 and 3.2.14):

1. Residence - a connection is established by being normally resident within the Local 
Authority area, by their own choice for a minimum period of two years. Being 
normally resident includes permanent housing but also includes anyone who has 
nowhere to live, occupying interim accommodation provided under the Local 
Authority’s homelessness duties, community care duties, or other duties. Persons 
who have been detained in the Local Authority (e.g. in prison or hospital), will not be 
able to establish a local connection as this does not constitute a choice of being 
resident in the area. Nor will former asylum seekers who were previously 
accommodated under Immigration and Asylum Act 1999, section 98 (temporary 
support) or section 4 (hard cases support), or former asylum seekers previously 
accommodated under the Asylum Seekers (interim Provisions) Regulations). 
Exemptions to residence conditions will apply to: 

1. homeless households and care leavers owed a duty by the Local Authority 
placed outside the local authority area, including care leavers placed outside 
the area.

An applicant will only be awarded the highest band for the Local Authority Scheme area 
they have local connection to. Every other scheme area will be Band C.

2. Employment – a connection established by employment (including an 
apprenticeship) will be limited to the usual place of work Any work that is short-term 
(e.g. a contract of employment is less than 12 months), marginal (e.g. less than 16 
hours per week and earnings allow for claiming Universal Credit or entitlement to 
Working Tax Credits), ancillary (e.g. occasional (even regularly) work that is 
undertaken in the Local Authority area, but the main place of work is outside the 
Local Authority area) or voluntary (e.g. where no payment is received, or payment is 
made only for expenses) will not be taken account of. An exemption will apply for 
applicants who need to move to take-up an offer of work. When deciding whether to 
apply an exemption, the Local Authority will consider evidence (the following list is 
not exhaustive, and the Local Authority will consider any other appropriate factors 
and local circumstances):

1. The distance and/or time taken to travel between work and home.
2. The availability and affordability of transport, taking account the level of 

earnings.
3. The nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available closer 

to home.

Page 132

Agenda Item 6



39
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

4. Other personal factors, such as medical conditions and childcare, which 
would be affected if a move could not take place.

5. The length of the work contract.
6. Whether failure to move would result in the loss of an opportunity to improve 

their employment circumstances or prospects, such as taking a better job, a 
promotion, or an apprenticeship.  

7. In circumstances where a job is being offered, and there is a need to move to 
take it up, and their intention to take up an offer of employment.

8. Verification of employment, or an offer of employment, and acceptance of it 
from the employer, such as:

i. a contract of employment,
ii. wages/salary slips or bank statements in cases of zero hours contracts,
iii. proof of receipt of tax and benefit information,
iv. a formal offer letter.

3. Family associations – a connection established by family relationships will be limited 
to near relatives (e.g. parents/other guardians, siblings, adult children where there is 
sufficiently close links in the form of frequent contact) and their residence being 
within the Local Authority for a minimum period of five years. Applicants who can 
prove they have a continuing caring responsibility for someone who is resident in 
the Local Authority area, and that this care could not be provided unless they were 
resident in the region, will be exempt from local connection requirements.

4. Other special reason – persons who need to be near special medical or support 
services which are only available in the Local Authority area will be exempt from local 
connection requirements.

5. Care leavers – persons aged 18-21 or 25 if they are pursuing a programme of 
education agreed in their pathway plan, who are owed a duty under Children Act 
1989, section 23C, by the Local Authority will be deemed to have a local connection 
to the Local Authority area.

3.2.9 An applicant, or a member of their household who are homeowners, encompassing anyone 
who has a mortgage for the whole or part of their home (disregards apply to applicants who 
have survived domestic abuse, see sections 3.2.13). Applicants who own property will be 
able to qualify for an allocation of social rented housing in the following circumstances: 

1. Property has been valued as having negative equity (or limited equity in respect of 
disabled adaptation to be made). 

2. Where the property has not been let, but the owner cannot secure entry to the 
property, for example due to it not being safe to enter the property due to severe 
structural faults, or there are squatters living in the property.

3. Where it is probable that occupying the property will lead to abuse from someone 
living in the property.

4. Where it is probable that occupying the property will lead to abuse from someone 
who previously resided with the applicant whether in that property or elsewhere.

5. Where the Local Authority has issued a Prohibition Order under the Housing Act 
2004 due to continued occupation of the property may endanger the health of the 
occupants and there are no reasonable steps that can be taken by an applicant to 
prevent that danger (e.g. where it is not possible to adapt a property due to the 
physical arrangements of a dwelling, or the cost of adaptations is prohibitive, or an 
applicant is in negative equity).

Page 133

Agenda Item 6



40
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

3.2.10 An applicant, or a member of their household with financial resources consistent with the UK 
Government’s upper limit for savings set out in the common rules of the DWP Benefit and 
Pension Rates (disregards apply to Armed Forces personnel, see sections 3.2.14). 

3.2.11 An applicant whose qualification would solely derive from a household member who is subject to 
immigration control, due to them not being entitled to freely enter or remain in the UK, or not 
being entitled to state aid, will not qualify to join the Scheme.

3.2.12 The Local Authority will consider whether an applicant qualifies to join Property Pool Plus, 
at both the time of the initial application and then again when an allocation is made. A 
decision that an applicant is disqualified will be notified in writing with the grounds for that 
decision. Applicants will be notified of their right to request a review of such a decision and 
will be notified in writing of the grounds of any review decision made. Following the 
conclusion of a review, applicants will be notified of their right to apply for a judicial review 
on any point of law. Applicants will be notified of their right to make a complaint to the Local 
Authority, if they remain dissatisfied upon conclusion of any internal complaints 
investigation and their right to ask the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman or the 
Housing Ombudsman to investigate claims of maladministration. 

3.2.13 Persons who are victims of domestic abuse or threats of domestic abuse, or escaping 
domestic abuse or harm, will be exempt from local connection requirements, as will those 
who have sought a place of safety in a refuge or other form of temporary accommodation in 
the Local Authority area. Property ownership conditions will also be disapplied. 

3.2.14 Any compensation for an injury or disability sustained on active service with the Armed 
Forces or Reserve Forces will be disregarded when calculating financial resources. Any 
mesne profit debts accrued by occupants of service families accommodation will be 
disregarded, subject to them providing a copy of their notice to vacate or Certificate of 
cessation of Entitlement to Service Families Accommodation (the Local Authority may 
contact the Ministry of Defence Loss of Entitlement team by emailing DIORDAccn-
LOETeam@mod.gov.uk with any queries about the status of such applicants. The following 
applicants who are members of the Armed Forces community are exempt from local 
connection  

1. Persons who are currently serving in the Regular Armed Forces or were serving in 
the Regular Armed Forces at any time in the five preceding years of their 
application, and their spouses. 

2. Bereaved spouse or civil partners of persons who are serving in the Regular Armed 
Forces, where the bereaved spouse or civil partner has recently ceased, or will 
cease, to be entitled to reside in Ministry of Defence accommodation following the 
death of their Service spouse or civil partner and the death was wholly or partially 
attributable to their service.  

3. Serving or former members of the Reserve Armed Forces who are suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is wholly or partially attributable to their 
service.

4. Divorced or separated spouses or civil partners of Service personnel, who are 
required to move out of accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence. 

5. Adult children of service personnel who are no longer able to remain in the family 
home due to the impact of their family moving from base-to-base.

Page 134

Agenda Item 6

mailto:DIORDAccn-LOETeam@mod.gov.uk
mailto:DIORDAccn-LOETeam@mod.gov.uk


41
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

3.3.0 Determining eligibility and qualification

3.3.1 The Local Authority will check an applicant’s eligibility and qualification to join Property Pool 
Plus when they initially apply, plus (assuming satisfaction of the tests at that stage) again 
when an allocation of a specific property is made. This will allow administrators to be aware 
of any changed circumstances that might have occurred subsequent to the initial 
application, which might render an applicant not eligible or disqualified for an allocation of 
social rented housing.  

3.4.0 Notifications of decisions and right to a review

3.4.1 The Local Authority will provide all applicants found to be not eligible or disqualified with 
written notification and the grounds for the decision (see 2.3.1 to 2.3.2). Information will 
also be provided on any rights they have to request an internal review (see 2.4.1 to 2.4.4). 

3.5.0 Re-application

3.5.1 Any person may at any time make a further application to join the Property Pool Plus, if 
they have cause to believe they should no longer be treated as ineligible and/or 
disqualified, because their circumstances or behaviour has changed. Applicants will be 
expected to evidence the changes in their circumstances or behaviour. There is no limit on 
the number or frequency of times a person may re-apply. No person will be excluded from 
making an application. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 6



42
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

4.0 Allocations

4.1.0 Adopting this Scheme

4.1.1 This Scheme has been subject to an equality impact assessment required under equalities 
legislation, carried-out in accordance with the Local Authority’s own equalities policies and 
procedures. Other local housing authorities, registered providers, public authorities, 
voluntary organisations and other people and organisations were afforded a reasonable 
opportunity to comment on a draft version of this Scheme. Prior to adopting this Scheme, 
views were elicited from former, current and future potential applicants.

4.1.2 The Local Authority will review this Scheme at least every two years, however amendments 
will be made as result of any significant change in legislation, regulations and/or 
circumstances. Any major change to this Scheme will be subject to further consultation or 
notification.  

4.1.3 An annual report will be published by the Local Authority about allocations made as result 
of this Policy. This report will inform whether the purpose and principles set out in section 
one of this Procedure are being accomplished. The report will consider matters such as:

1. Who was allocated social rented housing
a. characteristic (e.g. age, gender, household formation etc)
b. eligibility and ineligibility 
c. qualification and disqualification

2. What social rented housing was allocated 
a. number of bedrooms 
b. property types
c. tenure type (e.g. affordable rent, social rent, supported, etc)

3. When was social rented housing allocated
a. waiting times by band

4. Where was social rented housing allocated
a. by electoral ward
b. by local authority area in comparison with other local authority areas that are 

members of Property Pool Plus
5. With whom was social rented housing allocated

a. by registered provider
6. Why was social rented housing allocated

a. reasonable preference
b. victims of domestic abuse
c. armed forces veterans
d. community contribution 
e. local connection 
f. right to move criteria

7. How was social rented housing allocated
a. choice
b. direct let
c. final offer
d. review 

Page 136

Agenda Item 6



43
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

4.2.0 Determining priority for an allocation for housing 

4.2.1 Applicants will be prioritised for an allocation of social rented housing, in the local authority 
area to which they have a local connection, according to the following criteria:

1. Bands, in the order of A to D. Band A has the highest priority and Band D the 
lowest. 

2. Where two or more applicants might have the same priority under 1 above, then by 
the date they were accepted into the Band they are placed in at the time an offer is 
made, with earlier dates taking priority over later dates.

3. Where two or more applicants still might have the same priority, then those who are 
making a community contribution, as defined in section 4.2.7. 

4. Where two or more applicants still might have the same priority, then by those who 
work or have close family in the Local Authority area, as per the definition set out in 
section 3.2.8 of the Scheme. 

5. Meeting landlord advert preference criteria to make best use of stock.

4.2.2. In determining in which band to place an application, the following priorities will apply:
1. Applicants who have been awarded an additional preference, in addition to the 

requirement to be afforded a reasonable preference for an allocation of social 
housing accommodation, as defined in section 4.2.3. of this Procedure.

2. Applicants who statute stipulates must be afforded a reasonable preference for an 
allocation of social housing accommodation, as defined in section 4.2.4. of this 
Procedure.

3. All other applicants for whom no additional or reasonable preference has been 
afforded, as defined in section 4.2.5 of the Procedure

4. Applicants who have exhausted their right to refuse an allocation of social rented 
housing, as defined in section 4.2.6 of the Procedure.

4.2.3 Band A will consist of applicants in the following circumstances:
1. Homeless, specifically owed the section 189B initial duty owed to all eligible 

persons who are homeless and owed the section 188 interim duty to accommodate 
due to having an apparent priority need. 

2. Owed a duty under Housing Act 1996, Part 7, specifically, those who are:
a. Not intentionally homeless and have a priority need for accommodation, 

owed the section193 duty.
3. Victims of domestic abuse (defined as any incident or pattern of incidence of 

controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 
16 or over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members regardless 
of gender. The abuse can encompass, but is not limited to, psychological, physical, 
sexual, financial and emotional abuse), including those have been provided 
temporary protection in a refuge or other form of temporary accommodation, who 
are homeless or owed any homelessness duty and/or have been identified as high-
risk victims of domestic abuse, for example, at a local MARAC.

4. Sudden loss existing home as a result of a disaster, such as those who are 
required to leave their home due to fire safety concerns identified by the 
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service or the Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service.

5. Severely overcrowded due to lacking two or more bedrooms. For the purposes of 
determining overcrowding, an assessment will be made against the minimum room 
size for licensed HMOs (for licences issued after 01st October 2018) or the UK 

Page 137

Agenda Item 6



44
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

Government’s Bedroom Standard for any other type of dwelling, which allows a 
separate bedroom each for: 

i. A married or cohabiting couple, 
ii. Adult aged 21 years or more,
iii. Pair of adolescents aged 10-20 years of the same gender,
iv. Pair of children aged under 10 years regardless of gender,
v. An adolescent aged 10-20 years paired with a child aged under 10 

years of the same gender,
vi. An unpaired adolescent aged 10-20 years,
vii. An unpaired child aged under 10 years.
viii. Due to the shortage of larger properties, applicants who are eligible 

for four bedroom properties may also be considered for larger three 
bedroom properties, for example a three bedroom property with two 
separate living rooms where one can be considered to be used as a 
bedroom.

ix. A second ground floor living room  can be regarded as a   bedroom, 
and included in the assessment of an applicant’s bedroom need  as 
such, except where the property has a through kitchen/lounge or 
kitchen/diner and only one other separate living room or the dividing 
wall between two living rooms has been substantially removed .  In 
considering the use of a room which could be used as a bedroom, 
regard will be given to whether the room has a fixed heating 
appliance with exposed flame which would make it unsuitable for 
use as a bedroom.  

6. Under-occupying social rented housing by two or more bedrooms, as per the 
criteria set out above in section 4.2.3.5

7. Medical condition is expected to be terminal and re-housing is required due to 
detrimental effects caused by present accommodation, either due to the location of 
the present accommodation and/or due to the physical conditions of that 
accommodation. A health or social care professional with direct knowledge of the 
applicant’s condition will be contacted by the Local Authority for an opinion of the 
applicant’s health and the impact on their housing needs, when evidence submitted 
by an applicant requires clarification on a point of accuracy or clarification of the 
prevailing circumstances of their condition. The Local Authority will consider 
whether an applicant’s needs could be met by providing aids and adaptations to the 
current home, to enable them to remain in their present accommodation. 

8. Medical condition is life threatening and re-housing is required due to detrimental 
effects caused by present accommodation, either due to the location of the present 
accommodation and/or due to the physical conditions of that accommodation. A 
health/mental health or social care professional with direct knowledge of the 
applicant’s condition will be contacted by the Local Authority for an opinion of the 
applicant’s health and the impact on their housing needs, when evidence submitted 
by an applicant requires clarification on a point of accuracy or clarification of the 
prevailing circumstances of their condition. The Local Authority will consider 
whether an applicant’s needs could be met by providing aids and adaptations to the 
current home, to enable them to remain in their present accommodation. 

9. Planned discharge from hospital is imminent and there is no accommodation 
available to them which is reasonable for them to occupy. See section 5.1.6 for 
definition of reasonable.

Page 138

Agenda Item 6



45
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

10. Persons leaving care of the Local Authority’s children services.
11. Persons approved by the Local Authority as foster carers or to adopt, who need to 

move to a larger home in order to look after a child under the care of the Local 
Authority’s children services, including those who require a larger property in order 
to secure a Special Guardianship order or Child Arrangement Order in respects to 
a looked after child or for a child that is deemed at high risk of becoming looked 
after otherwise.

12. Members of the Armed and Reserve Forces, such as:
a. Former members of the Regular Armed Forces
b. Serving members of the Regular Armed forces 6 months prior to discharge. 
c. Serving members of the Armed Forces who need to move because of a 

serious injury, medical condition or disability (encompassing a mental ill 
health condition) which is wholly or partially attributable to their service 

d. Serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to move 
because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability which is wholly or 
partially attributable to their service 

13. Bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed Forces leaving 
Services Family Accommodation following the death of their spouse or partner, 
which was wholly or partially attributable to their service.

14. Victims of racial harassment amounting to violence or threats of violence. 
15. Victims of hate crime amounting to violence or threats of violence due to their age 

disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. 

16. Witnesses of crime, or victims of crime, who would be at risk of intimidation 
amounting to violence or threats of violence if they remained in their current homes.

17. Those who require rehousing due to a compulsory purchase order and/or subject to 
a local authority approved regeneration scheme.

18. Persons participating in the Housing First Pilot led by the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority.

4.2.4 Band B will consist of applicants entitled to a reasonable preference for an allocation of 
social housing accommodation. These applicants are defined for the purpose of this Policy 
as persons who are:

1. Homeless, as defined by Housing Act 1996, Part 7, section 175, regardless of 
whether they have made an application for homelessness assistance, , including 
those who are owed the section 189B initial duty owed to all eligible persons who 
are homeless, but are not owed the section 188 interim accommodation duty. 

2. Owed a duty under Housing Act 1996, Part 7, specifically, those who are:
a. Intentionally homeless and have a priority need for accommodation, owed 

the section 190 duty.
b. Threatened with homelessness, owed the (prevention) section195 duty.

3. Occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in unsatisfactory 
housing conditions. The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (in relation to premises 
which pose a statutory nuisance to the occupant), Part 3, Housing Act 1985, Part 10 
(relating to overcrowding) and the Housing Act 2004, Part 1 (relating to hazardous 
housing) will be taken account of by the Local Authority when determining an 
applicant’s housing conditions. The following list of is intended to be illustrative and 
in no way prescribed or definitive:

Page 139

Agenda Item 6



46
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

a. Lacking a bathroom or kitchen, as verified by an Environmental Health 
Officer or equivalent.

b. Lacking an inside WC, verified by an Environmental Health Officer or 
equivalent.

c. Lacking cold or hot water supplies, electricity, gas, or adequate heating, as 
verified by an Environmental Health Officer or equivalent.

d. overcrowded due to lacking one bedroom. For the purposes of determining 
overcrowding, an assessment will be made against the minimum room size 
for licensed HMOs (for licences issued after 01st October 2018)  or the UK 
Government’s Bedroom Standard for any other type of dwelling, which 
allows a separate bedroom each for: 

i. A married or cohabiting couple, 
ii. Adult aged 21 years or more,

iii. Pair of adolescents aged 10-20 years of the same gender,
iv. Pair of children aged under 10 years regardless of gender,
v. An adolescent aged 10-20 years paired with a child aged under 10 years of 

the same gender,
vi. An unpaired adolescent aged 10-20 years,

vii. An unpaired child aged under 10 years.
viii. Due to the shortage of larger properties, applicants who are eligible for 

four bedroom properties may also be considered for larger three bedroom 
properties, for example a three bedroom property with two separate living 
rooms where one can be considered to be used as a bedroom.

ix. A second ground floor living room  can be regarded as a  bedroom, and 
included in the assessment of an applicant’s bedroom need  as such, 
except where the property has a through kitchen/lounge or kitchen/diner 
and only one other separate living room or the dividing wall between two 
living rooms has been substantially removed .  In considering the use of a 
room which could be used as a bedroom, regard will be given to whether 
the room has a fixed heating appliance with exposed flame which would 
make it unsuitable for use as a bedroom.

e. Property in disrepair, as verified by an Environmental Health Officer or 
equivalent. 

f. Under-occupying social rented housing by one bedroom, as per the criteria 
set out above in point d.

4. Needing to move on medical or welfare grounds (including grounds relating to a 
disability), due to detrimental effects caused by present accommodation, either due 
to the location of the present accommodation and/or due to the physical conditions 
of that accommodation. Applicants will be asked to provide evidence from a 
health/mental health or social care professional with direct knowledge of the 
applicant’s condition for an opinion of the applicant’s health and the impact on their 
housing needs, when evidence submitted by an applicant requires clarification on a 
point of accuracy or clarification of the prevailing circumstances of their condition. 
The Local Authority will consider whether an applicant’s needs could be met by 
providing aids and adaptations to the current home, to enable them to remain in 
their present accommodation. Once accommodation is allocated to a person with 
medical or welfare needs, their support and care needs will be assessed jointly by 
social services, housing support providers, NHS Trusts, and other relevant 

Page 140

Agenda Item 6



47
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

agencies. The following list is intended to be illustrative and in no way prescribed or 
definitive:

a. A mental illness, including but not limited to current or former Armed Forces 
personnel suffering from depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, 
a family member of victims of domestic abuse who are suffering the effects 
of violence or threats of violence. 

b. A physical or learning disability of any member of the applicant’s household. 
c. Chronic or progressive medical conditions (e.g. MS, HIV/AIDS).
d. Frailty due to old age.
e. The need to give or receive care.
f. Victims of domestic abuse (defined as any incident or pattern of incidence of 

controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between 
those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family 
members regardless of gender. The abuse can encompass, but is not 
limited to, psychological, physical, sexual, financial and emotional abuse), 
including those have been provided temporary protection in a refuge or other 
form of temporary accommodation.

g. The need to recover from the effects of violence (including racial attacks) or 
threats of violence, or physical, emotional or sexual abuse.

h. A restricted ability to fend for self.
i. Experiencing or at risk of abuse, harm or self-neglect from others or from 

self.
j. Young people at risk.
k. People with behavioural difficulties.
l. Need adapted housing and/or extra facilities, bedroom or bathroom.
m. Need improved heating (on medical and/or social care grounds).
n. Need sheltered housing (on medical and/or social care grounds).
o. Need ground floor accommodation (on medical and/or social care grounds).
p. Need to be near friends/relatives or medical/social care facilities on medical 

or social care grounds.
q. Need to move following hospitalisation or long-term care on medical and/or 

social care grounds.
r. Moving on from drug or alcohol recovery programme.
s. Moving on from short-term supported housing and hostels, including 

specialist accommodation for those with mental health issues.
5. Needing to move to a particular locality in the district of the authority, where failure 

to meet this need would cause hardship (to themselves or others). The following list 
is intended to be illustrative and in no way prescribed or definitive:

a. Victims of racial harassment. 
b. Victims of hate crime due to their age disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex, sexual orientation. 

c. Witnesses of crime, or victims of crime, who would be at risk of intimidation if 
they remained in their current homes.

d. Escaping anti-social behaviour such has harassment, alarm, distress, as 
result of nuisance or annoyance in relation to the occupation of their 
premises, or as a result of housing-related nuisance or annoyance, from a 
person.

e. Give or receive care

Page 141

Agenda Item 6



48
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

f. Access specialised medical treatment.
g. Take-up a particular employment, education or training opportunity and in 

respect of Transfer Applicants, be closer to work (see section 3.2.7.2 for 
definition)

h. Due to housing benefit restrictions or other constraints on income from 
benefits (e.g. benefit sanctions)

4.2.5 Band C will consist of all other applicants who have not been afforded an additional 
preference or are not entitled to a reasonable preference. This will include all applicants 
who have been awarded either Band A or B for another scheme area.

4.2.6 Band D will consist of applicants from Band A, B or C, who have exhausted their right to 
refuse an allocation of social rented housing (see section 5.15), or have failed to bid on 
more than three occasions where a suitable property would be available. Applicants will 
remain in Band D for a period of 12 months from date of final refusal. After which, they will 
then be moved to whichever Band is applicable to their circumstances at that time. 

4.2.7 For the purposes of this Scheme, an applicant or their usual household members will be 
considered as being involved or participating in a community (i.e. making a community 
contribution) if they are: 

1. Engaged in paid or unpaid employment for a minimum of 16 hours per week for a 
minimum of 6 months.

a. including serving in the Regular or Reserve Armed Forces
2. Engaged in further or higher education, either part-time or full-time, for a minimum 

of one term. 

4.2.8 Those applicants who are unable to be involved or participate in their community due to an 
illness, disability, age, gender or any other characteristic or circumstance which means they 
are less likely to be able to work, will also be treated with the same favour as those who are 
actively involved or participating in their community.

4.2.9 Applicants whose circumstances change once they've been accepted onto Property Pool 
Plus must notify the Local Authority of such changes. A failure to do so could result in an 
applicant becoming disqualified and facing prosecution for fraud. If as a result of a change 
in circumstances an applicant gains a higher banding preference for re-housing (e.g. they 
move from Band B up to Band A), their acceptance date will be amended to reflect the date 
of the change. If as a result of a change in circumstances an applicant is assessed as 
having the same banding preference (e.g. they remain in Band B), the original acceptance 
date will remain in force. If as a result of a change in circumstances an applicant is 
assessed as having less banding preference (e.g. the move from Band B down to Band C), 
the original acceptance date will remain in force. If an applicant is moved from Band A, B or 
C down to Band D, their acceptance date will be amended to reflect the date of the change. 
If as a result of a change in circumstances an applicant becomes ineligible or disqualified, 
then they shall cease to be registered on Property Pool Plus.

4.2.10 Applicants whose entitlement to be placed in Band A or Band B is solely derived from a 
usual household member who is subject to immigration control, due to them not being 
entitled to freely enter or remain in the UK, or not being entitled to state aid, will instead in 
be placed in Band C.

Page 142

Agenda Item 6



49
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

4.2.11 Accessible properties will always be offered to applicants with a need for such 
accommodation (e.g. due to disability), over those with no such need, even when those 
with a need might have been waiting a shorter time than those without a need. A health or 
social care professional with direct knowledge of the applicant’s condition will be contacted 
by the Local Authority for an opinion of the applicant’s health and the impact on their 
housing needs, when evidence submitted by an applicant requires clarification on a point of 
accuracy or clarification of the prevailing circumstances of their condition.

4.2.13 Properties purposely built for elderly applicants will always be offered to applicants that are 
elderly, over those with no such need, even when those with a need might have waiting a 
shorter time than those without a need. A health or social care professional, or other 
relevant professional, with direct knowledge of the applicant’s condition will be contacted by 
the Local Authority for an opinion of the applicant’s health and the impact on their housing 
needs, when evidence submitted by an applicant requires clarification on a point of 
accuracy or clarification of the prevailing circumstances of their condition.

4.3.0 Local lettings schemes

4.3.1 The Local Authority and registered providers can use local lettings schemes to achieve a 
wide variety of housing management and policy objectives subject to agreement with the 
Local Authority. The following list is intended to be illustrative and in no way prescribed or 
definitive:
1. Allocating accommodation in rural villages and giving priority to applicants with a 

connection to a particular parish 
2. Creating more mixed and/or sustainable communities.
3. Dealing with a concentration of deprivation.
4. Ensuring properties that are particularly suited to being made accessible (e.g. ground 

floor flats) are prioritised for those with access needs.
5. Relocating essential workers such as teachers, nurses and police officers within a 

reasonable travelling distance from their work.
6. Supporting people in work/volunteering or who are seeking work or seeking 

volunteering opportunities.
7. Dealing sensitively with lettings in rural areas to sustain communities by giving priority 

to those with a local connection of more than two years. 
8. Where a child to adult ratio could be lowered on an estate where there is high child 

density or, conversely, young single people could integrate into an estate where there is 
high ratio of older persons.

9. Where there are reasons to positively discriminate due to age, for example 
accommodation is only suitable for applicants under the age of 35 years, or over the 
age of state pension entitlement.

4.3.2 Upon identification of particular types, clusters or locations of housing for particular types of 
applicants, a local lettings scheme will be used to deal with letting those homes. Local 
letting schemes will have clear evidence of need for the approach being taken. Any local 
lettings scheme will not dominate Property Pool Plus and will overall give a reasonable 

Page 143

Agenda Item 6



50
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

preference to those in Band A and Band B over applicants in Band C or Band D. Any local 
lettings scheme adopted will set out the following:
1. A clear definition of the objective(s) to be achieved, backed up by evidence. 
2. A method which is likely to achieve the objective(s).
3. An equality impact assessment.
4. How the scheme will be monitored and who will be involved.
5. Mechanisms of reporting and reviewing the scheme.
6. How the views of local communities have shaped the scheme (e.g. with people who are 

on electoral register as being resident in an electoral ward(s), where a local letting 
scheme us being proposed. Their view will not be treated as an overriding factor in 
decision making).

7. The circumstances in which the local lettings scheme will be reviewed or will come to 
an end.

4.3.3 Local lettings schemes may be adopted to include but not exhaustive to the following: 
1. A portion of properties for letting of new build properties for the first time, to be 

determined in accordance with the Local Authority’s Local Plan. 
2. A portion of properties, to be determined annually (from date of adopting this Scheme)  

by the Local Authority, for former members of the Armed Forces based on the number 
of applications made by and allocations made to former members of the Armed Forces 
during the preceding 12 months.

3. A portion of properties, to be determined annually (from date of adopting this Scheme) 
by the Local Authority, for households in types of employment where skills are in short 
supply.

4. A portion of properties, to be determined annually (from date of adopting this Scheme) 
by the Local Authority, for prospective and approved foster carers and adopters 
(endorsed by the Local Authority), so it can satisfy its duty under Children Act 1989, 
section 22G to ensure there is sufficient accommodation available to the needs of 
looked after children, based on intelligence provided by the Local Authority’s Children 
Services.

5. A portion of properties, to be determined annually (from date of adopting this Scheme) 
by the Local Authority, a minimum of which is one percent (1%) of all properties 
allocated, to Transfer Applicants who need to move for work related reasons, based on 
the number of applications made by and allocations made to Transfer Applicants who 
need to move for work related reasons, during the preceding 12 months.

4.3.4 A local lettings scheme may be adopted for specific types of accommodation which provide with 
linked support services for: 
1. Older persons apply for accommodation at an Extra Care Scheme. A joint assessment of the 

applicant’s housing, care and support needs will be undertaken by the Local Authority’s 
housing and adult social care departments, subject to consent from the applicant.

2. Single parents aged 16/17 years, who are not living with their parents. A joint assessment of 
the applicant’s housing, care and support needs will be undertaken by the Local Authority’s 
housing and children services departments, subject to consent from the applicant.

3. Rough sleepers and people at risk of rough sleeping. An assessment of housing and support 
needs will be undertaken by the Local Authority housing department, adult social care 

Page 144

Agenda Item 6



51
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

department, or an organisation commissioned by the Local Authority to provide support to 
people sleeping rough or at risk of rough sleeping. 

4. Sex offenders. A joint assessment of will be undertaken by Cheshire Police or Merseyside 
Police, National Probation Service, the Local Authority’s adult social care department, health 
professionals and other bodies to manage risk to the community

4.3.5 A local letting scheme may be adopted for displaced agricultural workers, where they have been 
displaced due to a need to accommodate another agricultural worker and the farmer cannot 
provide suitable alternative accommodation for the displaced worker and needs to rehoused in the 
interest of efficient agriculture. 

4.3.6 A local lettings scheme may be adopted for former tenants or other occupiers when allocating 
certain accommodation which would otherwise be available for letting in the following 
circumstances:
1. An applicant has married an existing tenant and they both seek the grant of a fresh tenancy in 

their joint names.
2. An applicant is a former joint tenant and the joint tenancy has ended.
3. An applicant is a relation of the previous tenant who has died without there being a right of 

succession.
4. An applicant has otherwise occupied the particular property for a considerable time.
5. An applicant was placed in accommodation under a non-secure tenancy but now wishes to be 

granted a secure introductory tenancy of the same property. 

4.4.0 Avoiding discrimination and enhancing equality of opportunity

4.4.1 An equality duty is imposed on the Local Authority by the Equality Act 2010, section 149 
(the “Public Sector Equality Duty”). Regard has been made to this public-sector equality 
duty and to the equality objectives that it sets out when formulating this Scheme and it will 
inform decision-making on individual cases so far as the law requires. Allocations of social 
rented housing will be monitored to determine whether equal opportunities obligations are 
being met, to identify any negative impact on people with protected characteristics. A plan 
will be adopted to mitigate any negative impacts. 

4.4.2 This Scheme intends to ensure that at all times non-discriminatory decisions will be made 
about the allocation of social rented housing. Regard has been had to advice on allocating 
housing to disabled people published by the Equality and Human Rights Commission, 
along with other associated research and guides that are available. 

4.4.3 When formulating this Scheme, an equality impact assessment was undertaken to avoid 
discrimination and to demonstrate compliance with the public-sector equality duty. 
Particular attention has been paid to the housing needs of refugees, Gypsies and 
Travellers, people with disabilities, older people, people with mental health problems, and 
people who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender. Any substantial variation to 
this Scheme will also be subject to an equality impact assessment. For further information, 
please see the Property Pool Plus Equality Impact Assessment. 

4.4.4 This Scheme has been formulated to ensure compliance with the Human Rights Act 1998, 
the Equality Act 2010 and the European Convention on Human Rights Article 14 and 

Page 145

Agenda Item 6



52
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

regard has been had to the advice and guidance published by the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission for social housing providers on housing discrimination. The 
administration of the Procedure will be undertaken, in a non-discriminatory manner so not 
to treat any person directly or indirectly less favourably than others because of a protected 
characteristic, with particular attention being paid to people with a disability. 

4.4.5 The Local Authority will provide regular, accurate and generalised information on how 
Property Pool Plus is managed, to actively dispel any misconceptions arising about the 
allocation of social rented housing and immigration, including data on nationality and 
immigration status, to strengthen public confidence in Property Pool Plus. 

4.4.6 Applicants will be informed of their rights to seek assistance from the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission, if they believe the Local Authority has breached the Human Rights Act 
1998, by contravening their human rights or unlawfully discriminated against them. 

4.5.0 Best interests of children

4.5.1 When formulating this Scheme, the Local Authority has considered and taken full account 
of the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, in accordance with the 
Children Act 2002, section 11.

4.5.2 This Scheme and the administration of it will accord the objectives and actions set out in 
the Local Authority’s joint working protocol agreed between its Housing Services and 
Children Services. 

4.5.3 When making decisions about individual applications for an allocation of social rented 
housing, the best interests of any children involved will be treated as a primary (but not 
overriding) consideration. Active involvement from the Local Authority’s Children Services 
department will be sought, when making decisions about housing allocations where there is 
involvement with an applicant or a usual member of their household, from the Local 
Authority’s Children Services. If there is some uncertainty about whether an applicant 
should qualify specifically due to matters relating to children services’ duties, the Children 
Services department will be consulted.

4.6.0 Discretion 

4.6.1 Discretion about being made eligible, allocated social rented housing or awarded additional 
preference will be exercised only by the Local Authority’s Senior Officer, limited only to 
individual cases, within the City Region area, where there are exceptional circumstances as 
defined below (see Appendix 3):

1. Providing protection to people who need to move away from another local 
authority area, to escape violence, harm, or intimidation.

2. In circumstances where an applicant needs to move due to a serious 
offence (equal to MAPPA level 2 or 3), as defined by the Serious Crime Act 
2007, Part 1, Schedule 1, there will be joint working with the Police, 
Probation Services, Adult Care Services, health professionals, registered 
providers and other bodies, to manage any risk to the community.

4.6.2 When assessing whether discretion should be applied, the Local Authority will consider:

Page 146

Agenda Item 6



53
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

1. What the exceptional circumstances are. They should be unusual or 
remarkable circumstances which indicate that the applicant’s housing needs 
are more urgent that other applicants.

2. What will be the consequences if no discretion is exercised? This will 
include considering how serious the potential consequences are and how 
likely each potential consequence is

4.6.3 When deciding, the Local Authority will have regard to:
1. The fact that decisions to exercise discretion will be kept to minimum  
2. The need for consistency with previous decisions whether or not to exercise 

discretion
3. What would be a fair outcome to ensure that there is no discrimination and  
4. The likelihood and severity of the potential consequences of discretion is not 

exercised. 

A decision as to whether or not to exercise discretion will be made at the point of receipt of 
application and again at the point of offer.

In all cases when direct offers are made, applicants will receive one direct offer only subject to the 
Local Authority’s discretion to make a further direct offer.

Page 147

Agenda Item 6



54
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

5.0 Being Allocated a Property

5.1.0 Choice

5.1.1 The Local Authority will inform applicants of their right to express (place a bid) a preference 
about the property which might be allocated.

5.1.2 The Local Authority will identify and support any applicants who may have a difficultly in 
expressing a preference. Applicants will be encouraged to self-identify that they require 
support to express a preference. The Local Authority will use its own judgement on initial 
contact with an applicant, based on whether they were able to complete an application to 
join Property Pool Plus unaided. Applicants who are not expressing a preference will be 
contacted to determine if this is due to them having difficulties. Particular attention will be 
paid to ensuring those who are homeless, have a disability or are from a black or minority 
ethnic community, are provided with any support they might need to express a preference.  

5.1.3 Applicants will be able to express a preference of up to three properties that are available 
to let from the Local Authority or a Registered Provider in a calendar week. Applicants will 
be able to express a preference making a ‘bid’ for a property via the Property Pool Plus 
website. The Local Authority will make a bid on behalf of an applicant who requires support. 
Applicants may be sent reminders about opportunities to bid via email or text. The Local 
Authority will provide information on the likely level of priority or waiting time for any 
property available to bid on. 

5.1.4 An applicant’s right to express a preference of a property they wish to be allocated, does 
not extend to any social rented housing that is intended for occupation by persons with 
specific characteristic which they do not possess, e.g. properties specifically for persons of 
specified age where an applicant is under minimum and/or maximum threshold.

5.1.5 All applicants are subject to a limit on the number of properties that would be reasonable 
for them to occupy, which they are entitled to refuse an offer of. Auto-bidding may be 
implemented for applicants who are owed the section 189B initial duty owed to all eligible 
persons who are homeless and persons with a priority need who are not homeless 
intentionally. If an applicant should refuse a final offer, they will be given reduced 
preference for a period of 12 months, by being placed into Band D. The Local Authority will 
consider the circumstances of each refusal on a case-by-case basis and confirm with an 
applicant they are refusing an offer prior to imposing a sanction.
1. Band A applicants are entitled to one refusal of a reasonable offer of accommodation, 
except those who are homeless or owed a homelessness duty who will have no entitlement 
to a refusal of a reasonable offer of accommodation.
2. Band B applicants are entitled to two reasonable refusals, except those who are 
homeless or owed a homelessness duty who will be entitled to one reasonable refusal
3. Band C applicants are entitled to three refusals of a reasonable offer of accommodation.
4. Band D applicants have no cap on the number of refusals of a reasonable offer of 
accommodation. 

Page 148

Agenda Item 6



55
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

5.1.6 An offer of accommodation will be considered reasonable if the property being offered will 
meet the housing needs of an applicant, having had regard to the following matters at the 
date when the offer is made:

1. Whether the applicant and their household would be overcrowded or under-occupying. As a 
general rule, allocations will be made so that a property is fully occupied. If this is not 
possible, under-occupation will be considered, subject to an affordability assessment.

2. Affordability of the property when compared to the applicants’ income and expenditure, see 
appendix one for the methodology that will followed to determine whether a property is 
affordable

3. Location of the property in regard to essential journeys the applicants needs to make
4. Public sector equality duty in Equality Act 2010, section 149
5. When there is a child or children in the applicant’s household, the duty to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children in the Children Act 2002, section 11
6. In respect of school-age children, the duty in the Human Rights Act 1989, that no person 

should be denied the right to an education (Notwithstanding this, an offer of 
accommodation might necessitate a child having to move school). 

7. Space and arrangement of the property
8. The standard of property
9. The specific health needs of the applicant their usual household members
10. The proximity and accessibility of family support
11. The proximity and accessibility of medical facilities and other support services which are 

currently used by or provided to the applicant or the usual family members that are 
essential to that persons’ wellbeing

12. The proximity of alleged perpetrators or victims of domestic abuse

5.1.7 Instances when an applicant who requires adaptations who are offered a property, that is 
subsequently deemed to be unable to be adapted, will not be deemed as a refusal. 

5.1.8 Applicants will be informed of their right to seek a review of whether an offer of social 
rented housing they refused was a reasonable offer, or whether the final offered refused 
was a suitable offer.

5.1.9 The Local Authority will publish feedback on the outcome of bids on the Property Pool Plus 
website. Requests for this information to be provided in alternative formats will be 
considered on an individual basis. 

5.1.10 The Local Authority will maintain a list of suitable homes for disabled people with access 
needs, to avoid potentially disadvantaging applicants who might require a home with such 
features. 

5.2.0 Other General Points

5.2.1 Following an offer or nomination of social rented housing by the Local Authority, applicants 
will be given a reasonable period to properly consider whether to accept it.  However, the 
personal circumstances of each applicant, including those who are vulnerable applicants, 
unfamiliar with the property being offered, in hospital, need to arrange a support worker to 
be present at the viewing, are working, or have childcare commitments will be given longer 
to consider the property offered. Any longer timescale will be based in specific 
circumstances of an applicant. The actual letting will be handled by the Local Authority or a 

Page 149

Agenda Item 6



56
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

registered provider, who will complete the letting following the offer and acceptance of a 
tenancy agreement by the applicant.  

5.2.2 Applicants will not be offered an allocation that would result in them under-occupying the 
dwelling (against the definition used by the Department of Work Pensions to determine 
claims for help with housing costs), being overcrowded (against the UK Government’s 
Bedroom Standard) or being unable to afford rental or service charges at the date an 
allocation or nomination is made. As a general rule, allocations will be made so that a 
property is fully occupied. If this is not possible, under-occupation will be considered, 
subject to an affordability assessment. Applicants who receive support from a carer who 
does not live with them and who is required to stay overnight, will have their need for a 
spare room taken account of whenever possible. Properties on the ground floor, with an 
accessible bathroom or an additional bathroom or toilet will be offered to applicants who 
have a medical need for such a dwelling over an applicant who has no need for such 
accommodation. Any particular needs of elderly applicants will be taken account of. A 
health or social care professional with direct knowledge of the applicant’s condition will be 
contacted by the Local Authority for an opinion of the applicant’s health and the impact on 
their housing needs, when evidence submitted by an applicant requires clarification on a 
point of accuracy or clarification of the prevailing circumstances of their condition. The 
needs of applicants who been approve by the Local Authority to adopt or foster and require 
a larger property will be taken account of. The extent and circumstances of an applicant’s 
household will be taken account of, as to whether they would be eligible or qualify in their 
own right or not. 

5.2.3 For the purposes of determining overcrowding or under-occupying, an assessment will be 
made against the minimum room size for licensed HMOs (for licences issued after 01st 
October 2018) or the UK Government’s Bedroom Standard for any other type of dwelling, 
which allows a separate bedroom each for: 
1. A married or cohabiting couple, 
2. Adult aged 21 years or more,
3. Pair of adolescents aged 10-20 years of the same gender,
4. Pair of children aged under 10 years regardless of gender,
5. An adolescent aged 10-20 years paired with a child aged under 10 years of the same 

gender,
6. An unpaired adolescent aged 10-20 years,
7. An unpaired child aged under 10 years.
8. An adult or child who cannot share due to a disability or medical condition, or due to 

fostering arrangements being facilitated by the Local Authority
9. An overnight carer for any usual household member, if the carer isn’t a usual household 

member.
10. Approved foster carer who is between placements, but only for up to 52 weeks from the 

end of the last placement

5.2.6 Applicants may not be made an offer of a property in a locality (e.g. electoral ward, 
parliamentary constituency) in which he or she has previously been the perpetrator or 
victim of anti-social behaviour, hate crime, violence or domestic abuse, or where the 
perpetrator or victim now currently lives. Offers may be withdrawn if new information is 
provided to the Local Authority, which they believe may put the victim at risk. 

Page 150

Agenda Item 6



57
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

5.2.7 The letting of a property, including whether a joint tenancy will be granted, is beyond the 
scope of this Procedure. The Local Authority and registered providers have their own 
allocation rules and policies that dictate how lettings will be agreed. 

5.2.8 This Scheme has been drawn up with regard to the Liverpool City Region Tenancy 
Strategy referred to above in paragraph 1.3.7. Tenancies offered by registered providers 
will be made having regard to this document.  

5.2.9 Applicants will be informed by the relevant Registered Provider, at the point of an 
allocation, if the property will be furnished or unfurnished. 

5.2.10 Applicants will be provided with an opportunity to view the property prior to accepting or 
rejecting the dwelling being offered. Applicants can expect properties to be fit for 
occupation at the date of the letting, or that any repairing obligations imposed on a 
registered provider, will be met within a reasonable time of commencement of the tenancy. 

5.2.11 Transfer Applicants will be made an offer that ensures they do not inadvertently lose 
accrued rights and will be tenancy of equivalent form to that which they are transferring 
from. Arrears of rent outstanding on a previous tenancy can be transferred to the new one 
when both properties are held by the same Registered Provider, subject to agreement with 
their Landlord as to how those arrears will be cleared (compliance with the arrears 
agreement will be a term of the new occupancy agreement). 

5.2.12 The Local Authority has not developed a specified position on pets in social rented housing. 
Registered Providers are expected to set out their position clearly in property 
advertisements and tenancy agreements. 

Page 151

Agenda Item 6



58
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

6.0 Other Arrangements

6.1.0 Direct applications to registered providers 

6.1.1 Registered Providers have a duty to maintain rules and policies concerning the allocation of 
social rented housing. The contents of such rules and policies should reflect the law and 
also regulations found in the Tenancy Standard, published by the Regulator of Social 
Housing. Information about housing allocation rules and policies of Registered Providers 
are available directly from these organisations. Copies are also available from the Local 
Authority and can be found on the Property Pool Plus website. Applicants that have a 
dispute about housing allocation rules and policies of a Registered Provider will be 
informed of their right to make seek judicial review and/or make a complaint directly to the 
organisation, and if they remain dissatisfied to the Housing Ombudsman. 

6.1.2 People who make an application to the Local Authority for social rented housing, are in no 
way restricted from also making separate additional applications directly to any Registered 
Provider, where their own housing allocation rules and policies allow this.  

6.2.0 Nominations

6.2.1 Nominations agreements have been adopted between the Local Authority and registered 
providers that own and/or manage social rented housing in the Local Authority district. All 
such agreements prescribe the portion of lettings that any registered provider will make 
available to the Local Authority. The agreements also have a criterion for how registered 
providers can accept or reject a nomination, plus describe how any disagreements about 
nominations will be resolved. 

6.2.2 The Local Authority and Registered Providers that it has entered into nomination 
arrangements with have agreed an information sharing protocol that accords with the 
General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018. The Local Authority will 
require written consent from an applicant to share their information with a Registered 
Provider. 

6.2.3 A system has been adopted to monitor the effectiveness of the nominations agreements, to 
allow the Local Authority to satisfy itself that it is fulfilling its legal obligations to allocate 
social rented housing. An annual report on nominations agreements will be presented to 
elected councillors of the Local Authority and will be shared with registered providers who 
have entered into a nomination agreement with the Local Authority.   

6.3.0 Transfers

6.3.1 Registered Providers have published rules governing cases where secure tenants wish to 
move from one dwelling to another. Copies of such rules are available directly from these 
organisations. 

6.4.0 Contracting-out

Page 152

Agenda Item 6



59
Property Pool Plus Housing Allocation Scheme Procedure

6.4.1 Any arrangements by which the Local Authority has contracted-out the administration of 
housing allocation functions to a registered provider are subject to separate contractual 
terms which fall outside the scope of this Policy. 

6.5.0 Complaints, appeals and legal challenges

6.5.1 Applicants will be informed of their rights to make a complaint about a private registered 
provider of social housing’s decision to reject a nomination for an allocation of social rented 
housing. The methods by which complaints can be made are set out in the housing 
allocation rules and policies published by registered providers. Applicants that have a 
dispute about the housing allocation rules and policies of registered providers will be 
informed of their right to make a complaint directly to the organisation, and when still 
dissatisfied after their complaint has been investigated, to the Housing Ombudsman. 
Applicants will also be informed of their right to seek judicial review on any point of law of a 
registered provider’s decision to reject a nomination of social rented housing.

6.5.2 Applicants will be informed of their right to seek a judicial review of a registered provider’s 
decision-making on a nomination for social rented housing. Additionally, applicants who 
consider that there has been unlawful discrimination or infringement of human rights will be 
informed of their right to seek assistance from the Equality and Human Rights Commission. 

Page 153

Agenda Item 6



60

Appendix 1

Policy for assessing initial enquiries to make an application for an allocation of 
housing or amend an application following a change of circumstances 

Contents
1.0 OVERVIEW...................................................................................................................................18

1.1.0 INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................................18
1.2.0 PURPOSE OF THIS SCHEME...............................................................................................................18
1.3.0 PRINCIPLES OF THIS SCHEME ...........................................................................................................19
1.4.0 CONSULTATION .................................................................................................................................22

2.0 INFORMATION, APPLICATIONS AND DECISION-MAKING ..................................................23

2.1.0 INFORMATION ....................................................................................................................................23
2.2.0 APPLICATIONS ...................................................................................................................................25
2.3.0 DECISION-MAKING ............................................................................................................................30
2.4.0 REVIEWS............................................................................................................................................31

3.0 ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION..........................................................................................32

3.1.0 ELIGIBILITY ........................................................................................................................................32
3.2.0 QUALIFICATION..................................................................................................................................34
3.3.0 DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION................................................................................40
3.4.0 NOTIFICATIONS OF DECISIONS AND RIGHT TO A REVIEW ..................................................................40
3.5.0 RE-APPLICATION ...............................................................................................................................40

4.0 ALLOCATIONS ............................................................................................................................41

4.1.0 ADOPTING THIS SCHEME...................................................................................................................41
4.2.0 DETERMINING PRIORITY FOR AN ALLOCATION FOR HOUSING ..........................................................42
4.3.0 LOCAL LETTINGS SCHEMES ..............................................................................................................48
4.4.0 AVOIDING DISCRIMINATION AND ENHANCING EQUALITY OF OPPORTUNITY......................................50
4.5.0 BEST INTERESTS OF CHILDREN.........................................................................................................51
4.6.0 DISCRETION .......................................................................................................................................51

5.0 BEING ALLOCATED A PROPERTY..........................................................................................53

5.1.0 CHOICE ..............................................................................................................................................53
5.2.0 OTHER GENERAL POINTS .................................................................................................................54

6.0 OTHER ARRANGEMENTS.........................................................................................................57

6.1.0 DIRECT APPLICATIONS TO REGISTERED PROVIDERS ........................................................................57
6.2.0 NOMINATIONS ....................................................................................................................................57
6.3.0 TRANSFERS .......................................................................................................................................57
6.4.0 CONTRACTING-OUT ...........................................................................................................................57
6.5.0 COMPLAINTS, APPEALS AND LEGAL CHALLENGES ..........................................................................58
4.6.0 DISCRETION .......................................................................................................................................78
1. ASSESS WHETHER THE APPLICANT HAS EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES ...........................................79
2. REFER TO THE SENIOR OFFICER ...........................................................................................................79
3. SENIOR OFFICER TO DECIDE WHETHER TO EXERCISE DISCRETION ......................................................79
4. INFORM THE APPLICANT OF THE OUTCOME ...........................................................................................81
5. BACKGROUND INFORMATION.................................................................................................................81

PROCESS CHART FOR APPLYING DISCRETION WHEN ALLOCATING HOUSING ................................................82

Page 154

Agenda Item 6



61

DETERMINING AN APPLICANTS’ ENTITLEMENT TO BEDROOMS, FOR ASSESSING 
OVERCROWDING AND UNDER-OCCUPANCY....................................................................................88

I. LOCAL AUTHORITY LETTER (COUNCIL TAX, BENEFITS ETC)...................................................................88
II. DWP LETTER .........................................................................................................................................88
III. PAYSLIP / P45 / P60 ..............................................................................................................................88
IV. PHOTO DRIVING LICENCE .......................................................................................................................88

OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................................93

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES ..................................................................................................................94

QUESTION 1. DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSED QUALIFICATION CRITERIA?....................94
QUESTION 2 -  DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR OFFERING CHOICE? ...................95
QUESTION 3 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR AFFORDING ADDITIONAL 
PREFERENCE TO PERSONS IN THE SPECIFIED CIRCUMSTANCES ....................................................................96
QUESTION 4 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR PRIORITISING PEOPLE WAITING 
FOR AN ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING? ...................................................................................................98
OTHER COMMENTS ..........................................................................................................................................99

APPENDIX 1 – HALTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ......................................................101

APPENDIX 2 – KNOWSLEY PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ................................................106

APPENDIX 3 – LIVERPOOL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ................................................112

APPENDIX 4 – SEFTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY.......................................................116

APPENDIX 5 – WIRRAL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY .......................................................119

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY AREA............................................................123

ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING POLICY EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT............................................123
3.1.1 Age .................................................................................................................................................124
3.6.3 Wheelchair user standards ......................................................................................................125
3.1.3 Gender...........................................................................................................................................126
3.1.2 Ethnicity ........................................................................................................................................127

Page 155

Agenda Item 6



62

Procedure for assessing initial enquiries or change of circumstances 

Assess the applicant’s eligibility 

a. On receiving initial enquiries to make a new application or amend an existing 
application following a change of circumstances, the officer must establish that 
the applicant is eligible to join the scheme.

b. Applicants will be eligible unless:
i. they are from abroad and subject to immigration control (unless they fall 

into one of the limited exceptions); or 
ii. they are from abroad and fall into a category the Secretary of State has 

prescribed as being ineligible.

c. The allocations officer should review the applicant’s identity documents to confirm 
the applicant’s nationality and immigration status. Evidence should be a passport; 
birth certificate or immigration documents and copies should be kept on the file.

d. If the allocations officer cannot determine the applicant’s immigration status from 
the identity documents, the allocations officer can contact the UK Border Agency 
to confirm the applicant’s immigration status, but should first warn the applicant 
so that the applicant has the option of withdrawing the enquiry before any action 
is taken. 

e. If the allocations officer is in any doubt as to the eligibility of the applicant, the 
allocations officer should consult the code of guidance (Allocation of 
Accommodation: Guidance for Local Housing Authorities in England 2012) and 
discuss the file with a senior officer. 

f. If the allocations officer determines that the applicant is not eligible, the 
allocations officer should inform the applicant using the Disqualification Letter 
(Document 1) and should advise the applicant on other housing options available. 

Determine whether the applicant qualifies for the scheme

g. Once the applicant has been confirmed as being eligible, the allocations officer 
must determine whether the applicant qualifies for the scheme by completing the 
Qualification Assessment (Document 2) with the applicant. 

h. The allocations officer does not need to assess evidence of the applicant’s 
qualification at this stage, but any evidence provided should be referred to in the 
Qualification Assessment and a copy kept on the file.

Page 156

Agenda Item 6



63

i. If the applicant does not qualify, the allocations officer should inform the applicant 
using the Disqualification Letter (Document 1) and should advise the applicant on 
other housing options available.

Confirm that the applicant has a local connection 

j. The allocations officer must next confirm that the applicant has a local connection 
with the local authority area.

k. An applicant will have a local connection if they:
i. live in the local authority area for at least two years 
ii. have permanent employment in the local authority area or (if they are self-

employed) have a work base in the local authority area; 
iii. have parents, adult siblings or adult children who live in the local authority 

area and have done so for at least 2 years; or
iv. have special circumstances.

l. Special circumstances can include, but is not limited to:
i. households fleeing violence who are owed a homelessness duty;
ii. people who do not live in local authority area, but who need to be near a 

close relative to provide care and/or support;
iii. people returning from temporary care or interim accommodation in 

another local authority area; and
iv. households including someone who:

1. is serving in the regular forces or has done so in the last 5 years;
2. has recently ceased, or will cease, to be entitled to reside in 

accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the 
death of that person’s spouse or civil partner which was wholly or 
partly due to their service in the regular forces; or 

3. is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from 
a serious injury, illness or disability which is wholly or partly 
attributable to that service.

m. The applicant should be asked to confirm that they have one of the above local 
connections with the local authority area and should be reminded of the 
importance of not providing misleading or inaccurate information.

n. The allocations officer should assess evidence of the applicant’s local connection 
at this stage and any evidence provided a copy should be kept on the file.

o. If the applicant does not have a local connection with the local authority area, the 
officer should inform the applicant that they are disqualified from the scheme 
using the Disqualification Letter (Document 1) and should advise the applicant on 
other housing options available.

Check that the applicant is not guilty of unacceptable behaviour 

p. Applicants can be disqualified on the grounds of unacceptable behaviour by the 
applicant or a member of their household.

q. Unacceptable behaviour can include, but is not limited to: 

i. Causing or likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to other persons in the 
locality of their property.

Page 157

Agenda Item 6



64

ii. Causing or likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to the Local Authority 
or a Registered Provider or agents acting on their behalf to carry out 
housing management functions

iii. Perpetrators of domestic abuse who are subject to a non-molestation 
order, an injunction order, an occupation order or a restraining order, 
which is in force at the date an application is being determined. 

iv. Having an unspent conviction at the date an application is being 
determined for a serious offence as defined by the Serious Crime Act 
2007, Part 1, Schedule 1, committed in the locality of a property against 
another person or the Local Authority or a Registered Provider.

v. Breaching a provision of an injunction under section 1, conviction under 
section 30, or an order made under section 80 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, which occurred in the locality of 
a specified property or elsewhere which caused nuisance, annoyance, 
harassment, alarm or distress to a person in the locality or the Local 
Authority or a Registered Provider, or resulted in access to property that 
has been prohibited under section 76 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014, for a continuous period of more than 48 hours

vi. Having an unspent conviction for an offence under section 80(4) or 82(8) 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, concerning noise from a property 
which was a statutory nuisance as per section 79(1), Part 3 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990

vii. Having committed an act of fraud to which the circumstances remain 
relevant at the date an application is being determined, involving 
withholding, falsifying or misrepresenting any information to access to 
public funds and/or services.

viii. Having committed any other behaviour that would give grounds for 
possession under Housing Act 1985, section 84, Schedule 2, Part 1, 
Grounds 1-7 and section 84A.

r. The allocations officer should check existing records to see whether there is any 
evidence of unacceptable behaviour by the applicant or a member of the 
applicant’s household. The applicant should also be asked to confirm that there 
has been no such unacceptable behaviour and should be reminded of the 
importance of not providing misleading or inaccurate information.

s. If there is any behaviour which may be unacceptable, the allocations officer 
should apply the following tests before making a decision on disqualification:

i. Has the applicant or member of their household behaved in such an 
unacceptable manner that they are considered unsuitable to be a tenant?

ii. At the time of the application, is the applicant or member of their 
household still considered unsuitable to be a tenant?

iii. Was the unacceptable behaviour serious enough to entitle a landlord to 
commence legal proceedings or to pose a serious threat to the local 
community?

t. If the allocations officer decides that the unacceptable behaviour should lead to 
disqualification, the allocations officer should inform the applicant using the 
Disqualification Letter (Document 1) and should advise the applicant on other 
housing options available.

Check the applicant’s financial resources 

a. Applicants are also disqualified from the scheme if:

Page 158

Agenda Item 6



65

i. they are owner-occupiers or have equity in a property, unless there are 
pressing health needs that mean sheltered housing is required;

ii. the applicant or a member of their household has savings or other capital 
which would make them ineligible for local housing allowance or universal 
credit. 

b. The applicant should be asked to confirm that their financial resources do not 
breach these criteria and should be reminded of the importance of not providing 
misleading or inaccurate information.

c. If the applicant’s financial resources do breach the above criteria, the allocations 
officer should inform the applicant that they are disqualified from the scheme 
using the Disqualification Letter (Document 1) and should advise the applicant on 
other housing options available.

Progress the application

u. If the applicant has met the above requirements, the allocations officer should 
process the enquiry by advising the applicant on the next steps in the application 
process.

Background information

v. This procedure applies to any applicants who have made enquiries about 
applying for an allocation of housing or amending an application following a 
change of circumstances in the local authority area.

w. This procedure is in accordance with the Housing Allocation Scheme produced 
by local authority.

x. Throughout this procedure, whenever a document is to be completed or issued, a 
copy should be retained on the electronic file. 

y. This procedure will be reviewed in line with any significant change in the Housing 
Allocation Scheme, legislation, statutory guidance or significant case law. 
Separate to this it should be reviewed every two years. 

Page 159

Agenda Item 6



66

Process chart for assessing initial enquiries or change of circumstances 

Is the applicant eligible? 

Does the applicant qualify? 
Complete the Disqualification 

Assessment (Document 2) with the 
applicant

Does the applicant have a local 
connection to the local authority area?

Is the applicant’s behaviour 
acceptable?

Are the applicant’s financial resources 
below the disqualification criteria?

Yes

Send the 
Disqualification 

Letter No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Progress the application

Yes

Page 160

Agenda Item 6



67

Appendix 2 -

Policy for assessing and processing applications for an allocation of housing

Contents
1.0 OVERVIEW...................................................................................................................................18

1.1.0 INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................................18
1.2.0 PURPOSE OF THIS SCHEME...............................................................................................................18
1.3.0 PRINCIPLES OF THIS SCHEME ...........................................................................................................19
1.4.0 CONSULTATION .................................................................................................................................22

2.0 INFORMATION, APPLICATIONS AND DECISION-MAKING ..................................................23

2.1.0 INFORMATION ....................................................................................................................................23
2.2.0 APPLICATIONS ...................................................................................................................................25
2.3.0 DECISION-MAKING ............................................................................................................................30
2.4.0 REVIEWS............................................................................................................................................31

3.0 ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION..........................................................................................32

3.1.0 ELIGIBILITY ........................................................................................................................................32
3.2.0 QUALIFICATION..................................................................................................................................34
3.3.0 DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION................................................................................40
3.4.0 NOTIFICATIONS OF DECISIONS AND RIGHT TO A REVIEW ..................................................................40
3.5.0 RE-APPLICATION ...............................................................................................................................40

4.0 ALLOCATIONS ............................................................................................................................41

4.1.0 ADOPTING THIS SCHEME...................................................................................................................41
4.2.0 DETERMINING PRIORITY FOR AN ALLOCATION FOR HOUSING ..........................................................42
4.3.0 LOCAL LETTINGS SCHEMES ..............................................................................................................48
4.4.0 AVOIDING DISCRIMINATION AND ENHANCING EQUALITY OF OPPORTUNITY......................................50
4.5.0 BEST INTERESTS OF CHILDREN.........................................................................................................51
4.6.0 DISCRETION .......................................................................................................................................51

5.0 BEING ALLOCATED A PROPERTY..........................................................................................53

5.1.0 CHOICE ..............................................................................................................................................53
5.2.0 OTHER GENERAL POINTS .................................................................................................................54

6.0 OTHER ARRANGEMENTS.........................................................................................................57

6.1.0 DIRECT APPLICATIONS TO REGISTERED PROVIDERS ........................................................................57
6.2.0 NOMINATIONS ....................................................................................................................................57
6.3.0 TRANSFERS .......................................................................................................................................57
6.4.0 CONTRACTING-OUT ...........................................................................................................................57
6.5.0 COMPLAINTS, APPEALS AND LEGAL CHALLENGES ..........................................................................58
4.6.0 DISCRETION .......................................................................................................................................78
1. ASSESS WHETHER THE APPLICANT HAS EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES ...........................................79
2. REFER TO THE SENIOR OFFICER ...........................................................................................................79
3. SENIOR OFFICER TO DECIDE WHETHER TO EXERCISE DISCRETION ......................................................79
4. INFORM THE APPLICANT OF THE OUTCOME ...........................................................................................81
5. BACKGROUND INFORMATION.................................................................................................................81

PROCESS CHART FOR APPLYING DISCRETION WHEN ALLOCATING HOUSING ................................................82

DETERMINING AN APPLICANTS’ ENTITLEMENT TO BEDROOMS, FOR ASSESSING 
OVERCROWDING AND UNDER-OCCUPANCY....................................................................................88

Page 161

Agenda Item 6



68

I. LOCAL AUTHORITY LETTER (COUNCIL TAX, BENEFITS ETC)...................................................................88
II. DWP LETTER .........................................................................................................................................88
III. PAYSLIP / P45 / P60 ..............................................................................................................................88
IV. PHOTO DRIVING LICENCE .......................................................................................................................88

OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................................93

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES ..................................................................................................................94

QUESTION 1. DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSED QUALIFICATION CRITERIA?....................94
QUESTION 2 -  DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR OFFERING CHOICE? ...................95
QUESTION 3 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR AFFORDING ADDITIONAL 
PREFERENCE TO PERSONS IN THE SPECIFIED CIRCUMSTANCES ....................................................................96
QUESTION 4 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR PRIORITISING PEOPLE WAITING 
FOR AN ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING? ...................................................................................................98
OTHER COMMENTS ..........................................................................................................................................99

APPENDIX 1 – HALTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ......................................................101

APPENDIX 2 – KNOWSLEY PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ................................................106

APPENDIX 3 – LIVERPOOL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ................................................112

APPENDIX 4 – SEFTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY.......................................................116

APPENDIX 5 – WIRRAL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY .......................................................119

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY AREA............................................................123

ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING POLICY EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT............................................123
3.1.1 Age .................................................................................................................................................124
3.6.3 Wheelchair user standards ......................................................................................................125
3.1.3 Gender...........................................................................................................................................126
3.1.2 Ethnicity ........................................................................................................................................127

Page 162

Agenda Item 6



69

Procedure for assessing and processing applications
Following a decision being made that an applicant is eligible and qualifying the following 
processes should be followed:

1. Determine the applicant’s housing needs

a. The officer should determine the number of bedrooms required by household per 
the bedroom standard specified in the policy s.4.2.3. 

b. If the applicant has applied on the grounds that their existing accommodation is 
overcrowded, i.e. the number of bedrooms in the current accommodation is fewer 
than required for all existing residents including those who are not being 
rehoused, then the officer should follow the procedure for dealing with 
applications from overcrowded households see Appendix 5. 

c. If the applicant has applied on the grounds of being threatened with 
homelessness, the applicant should be sign posted to relevant Housing Options 
Team to explore any ways of preventing homelessness.

d. If the applicant meets any of the criteria for a priority band A or B as specified in 
the policy then relevant evidence should be requested to verify this need as set 
out in the checklist (Document 1). 

e. If the applicant has no housing need as identified within the criteria set out in the 
scheme s 4.2.3 Band A and 4.2.4 Band B then they will be placed in Band C.

f. If the applicant wishes to exclude any location from consideration, the applicant 
must provide reasons relating to safety and / or welfare and the officer must be 
satisfied that there is a genuine justification to exclude the relevant zone.

2. Place the applicant in the appropriate band on the register

a. The officer should place the applicant in the appropriate band on the register 
using the Banding Structure. The date of entry in the band should be the date the 
last piece of evidence / information was submitted to verify that the criteria is met. 

b. If the officer believes there are exceptional circumstances which may mean that 
the applicant needs higher priority than the applicant would normally be given, 
the officer should refer to the procedure for applying discretion see Appendix 3.

c. The officer should refer to the local connection criteria as set out in s 3.2.8 of the 
scheme to ensure that a priority band A or B is only awarded for a Local Authority 
area where a local connection can be confirmed as defined in the scheme.  For 
all other Local Authority areas, the highest priority band that can be awarded will 
be Band C.  

3. Inform the applicant of the outcome 

a. Once the applicant has been placed on the register, the officer should inform the 
applicant in writing of the outcome of the assessment and ensure to make relevant 
notes on the application via the IT system to detail the decision made. 

b. If the applicant is placed in band C, the officer should advise the applicant on other 
housing options available as this may be the quickest way for the applicant to be re-
housed.

4. Match the applicant with a property
This section of the process will be undertaken by the Registered Provider allocating 
the advertised property.

Page 163

Agenda Item 6



70

a. Properties will be shortlisted according to section 4.2.1 of the Scheme Policy.

b. The only exceptions are if there is an agreed and published Local Lettings plan in 
place which allows a variation to standard procedure.

5. Verify the applicant’s eligibility 
This section of the process will be undertaken by the Registered Provider allocating 
the advertised property.

a. Once a property has been identified as being suitable for the applicant, the officer 
must verify that the applicant is still eligible.

b. The officer should first check if the identity evidence provided at the initial 
enquiries stage is still valid and correct. For example, has the applicant’s 
passport expired? If the evidence on file is no longer valid, the applicant should 
be asked to provide updated identity documents.

c. The allocations officer should take particular care with applicants from abroad 
because their immigration status may have changed or the eligibility regulations 
concerning people from abroad may have changed. Such applicants should be 
asked for updated identity documents confirming their immigration status. 

d. If the officer cannot determine the applicant’s immigration status from the identity 
documents, the allocations officer can contact the UK Border Agency to confirm 
the applicant’s immigration status, but should first warn the applicant so that the 
applicant has the option of withdrawing the application before any action is taken. 

e. If the officer is in any doubt as to the eligibility of the applicant, the allocations 
officer should consult the code of guidance (Allocation of Accommodation: 
Guidance for Local Housing Authorities in England 2012). 

f. If the officer believes that the applicant is no longer eligible, the officer should 
contact the Administering Scheme partner responsible for managing that 
application who will investigate further and determine eligibility for the scheme.

6. Verify the applicant’s qualification and priority band
This section of the process will be undertaken by the Registered Provider allocating 
the advertised property.

a. The officer must next verify that the applicant still qualifies under the scheme and 
is not disqualified due to lack of local connection, unacceptable behaviour or 
financial resources.

b. The officer should verify that there has been no change in the applicants’ 
circumstances that may impact their qualification and / or priority band.  This may 
include requesting and reviewing evidence to confirm that the applicant falls into 
the relevant category of qualification. The Checklist (Document 1) provides 
guidance as to the types of suitable evidence that could be requested.

c. If the officer considers that the applicant may no longer qualify and / or meet the 
criteria for the priority band awarded, the officer should discuss further with the 
Administering Scheme partner responsible for managing that application, who will 
investigate further and make a decision on qualification  / priority band.

Page 164

Agenda Item 6



71

7. Confirm the allocation
This section of the process will be undertaken by the Registered Provider allocating 
the advertised property.

a. Once the applicant’s information has been verified as above, the officer should 
undertake all usual allocations procedures per their own organisation.

b.  The officer should follow the PPP IT system procedure for moving the housing 
application to a “Housed” status.

8. Background information

a. This procedure applies to any applicants who have made an application for an 
allocation of housing in the local authority area.

b. This procedure is in accordance with the Housing Allocation Scheme produced 
by the Council.

c. This procedure will be reviewed in line with any significant change in the Housing 
Allocation Scheme, legislation, statutory guidance or significant case law. 
Separate to this it should be reviewed every two years. 

Process chart for assessing and processing applications 

Following completion of eligibility and qualification 
checks 

Determine the applicant’s housing needs using 
the Housing Needs Assessment.

Match the applicant with a property.

Verify the applicant’s qualification.

Confirm the allocation and move the application to 
“Housed“ status

Place the applicant in the appropriate band using 
the Banding Structure 

Inform the applicant of the outcome 

Verify the applicant’s eligibility.

Page 165

Agenda Item 6



72

Paperwork Templates 

Document 1 – Checklist
Additional Preference - Band A:

Criteria Example evidence
Homeless, specifically owed the section 
189B initial duty owed to all eligible persons 
who are homeless and owed the section 
188 interim duty to accommodate due to 
having an apparent priority need.

Confirmation from the homelessness team

Owed a duty under Housing Act 1996, Part 
7, specifically, those who are:
Not intentionally homeless and have a 
priority need for accommodation, owed the 
section193 duty.

Confirmation from the homelessness team

Victims of domestic abuse who are 
homeless or owed any homelessness duty 
and/or have been identified as high-risk 
victims of domestic abuse at a local MARAC

Referral from MARAC

Sudden loss of existing home as a result of 
a disaster

Referral from Fire and Rescue Service

Severely overcrowded due to lacking two or 
more bedrooms

Evidence of the size of the property, such 
as property particulars or confirmation from 
the landlord, and the number of inhabitants, 
such as the electoral register.  If necessary, 
an inspection may be carried out and advice 
sought from the Housing Standards Team in 
respect of space standards. Refer to 
Overcrowding procedure Appendix 5.

Under-occupying social rented housing by 
two or more bedrooms

Evidence of the size of the property, such 
as property particulars or confirmation from 
the landlord, and the number of inhabitants, 
such as the electoral register.  If necessary, 
an inspection may be carried out. Refer to 
bedroom standard. 

Medical condition is expected to be terminal 
and re-housing is required due to 
detrimental effects caused by present 
accommodation

Supporting evidence from a health or social 
care professional with direct knowledge of 
the applicant’s condition

Medical condition is life threatening and re-
housing is required due to detrimental 
effects caused by present accommodation

Supporting evidence from a health or social 
care professional with direct knowledge of 
the applicant’s condition will be contacted 
by the Local Authority for an opinion of the 
applicant’s health and the impact on their 
housing needs.

Planned discharge from hospital is imminent 
and there is no accommodation available to 
them which is reasonable for them to 
occupy.

Evidence from Hospital Discharge Team / 
Social Care

Persons leaving care of the Local 
Authority’s children services

A referral from their personal adviser and 
evidence that a support package is in place 
where applicable.

Persons approved by the Local Authority as Referral from Local Authority Children’s’ 

Page 166

Agenda Item 6



73

foster carers or to adopt, who need to move 
to a larger home in order to look after a child 
under the care of the Local Authority’s 
children services

Services confirming approval and 
requirements for a move to take on the care 
of a child. 

Members of the Armed and Reserve Forces Proof of Forces service and need to move
Bereaved spouses and civil partners of 
members of the Armed Forces leaving 
Services Family Accommodation following 
the death of their spouse or partner, which 
was wholly or partially attributable to their 
service.

Confirmation of situation from Armed Forces

Victims of racial harassment amounting to 
violence or threats of violence

Referral / supporting evidence from a 
relevant agency e.g. Police, Victim Support, 
ASBT

Victims of hate crime Referral / supporting evidence from a 
relevant agency e.g. Police, Victim Support, 
ASBT, Anthony Walker Foundation

Witnesses of crime, or victims of crime, who 
would be at risk of intimidation amounting to 
violence or threats of violence if they 
remained in their current homes

Referral / supporting evidence from a 
relevant agency e.g. Police, Victim Support

Those who require rehousing due to a 
compulsory purchase order and/or subject 
to a local authority approved regeneration 
scheme

Copy of CPO and confirmation from the LA 
that the property falls within an approved 
Regeneration Scheme.

Persons participating in the Housing First 
Pilot led by the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority

Referral from LCR Housing First 
Administrator

Reasonable Preference – Band B
Criteria Example evidence

Homeless, as defined by Housing Act 1996, 
Part 7, section 175, regardless of whether 
they have made an application for 
homelessness assistance, , including those 
who are owed the section 189B initial duty 
owed to all eligible persons who are 
homeless, but are not owed the section 188 
interim accommodation duty

Referral from Homeless Team or following 
assessment by PPP Officer 

Owed a duty under Housing Act 1996, Part 
7, specifically, those who are:

a. Intentionally homeless and have a 
priority need for accommodation, 
owed the section 190 duty.

b. Threatened with homelessness, owed the 
(prevention) section195 duty.

Referral from Homeless Team

Overcrowded due to lacking one bedroom Evidence of the size of the property, such 
as property particulars or confirmation from 
the landlord, and the number of inhabitants, 
such as the electoral register.  If necessary, 
an inspection may be carried out and advice 
sought from the Housing Standards Team. 
Refer to Overcrowding procedure Appendix 

Page 167

Agenda Item 6



74

5.
Occupying insanitary housing or otherwise 
living in unsatisfactory housing conditions

Evidence that the applicant has made 
contact with their landlord and the Housing 
Standards team and copies of any 
improvement notices or prohibition orders 
issued. If an emergency prohibition order 
has been made, there should be a referral 
from the Housing Standards team with 
advice on the urgency of the situation. 

Property in disrepair Evidence that the applicant has made 
contact with their landlord and the Housing 
Standards team and copies of any 
improvement notices or prohibition orders 
issued. If an emergency prohibition order 
has been made, there should be a referral 
from the Housing Standards team with 
advice on the urgency of the situation.

Under-occupying social rented housing by 
one bedroom

Evidence of the size of the property, such 
as property particulars or confirmation from 
the landlord, and the number of inhabitants, 
such as the electoral register.  If necessary, 
an inspection may be carried out. Refer to 
bedroom standard.

In housing need and needs to move on 
medical grounds (including grounds relating 
to a disability).

Referral from a medical professional 
(occupational therapist, psychiatrist, 
consultant, GP) or a social worker after a 
period of reablement provided by Adult 
Services has been completed. The key 
factor is the detrimental effect of the current 
accommodation so the referral could relate 
to the location of the property or its facilities. 
Whilst a referral is required and medical 
advice should be taken into consideration, it 
should not solely determine the outcome of 
the allocation officer’s decision where there 
are other relevant factors. 

In housing need and needs to move on 
welfare grounds. 

Evidence of the applicant’s welfare needs, 
such as confirmation from social services 
that the applicant is:
a) providing accommodation for a care 
leaver or a person returning from a drug or 
alcohol recovery programme; or 
b) a young adult with learning disabilities 
who could not be expected to find their own 
accommodation.

In housing need and needs to move to a 
particular locality to avoid hardship to 
themselves or others (for example to access 
medical treatment, give or receive care or 
start employment/training).

Evidence of how the move will relieve 
hardship. For example:
a) evidence from a family member who is 
suffering harassment and/or financial abuse 
and is in danger of losing their home that 
the applicant will provide emotional/financial 
support on moving; or
b) evidence from a medical professional that 
the applicant needs to be in a specific area 

Page 168

Agenda Item 6



75

to access treatment for a medical condition 
that cannot be reasonably accessed where 
they currently live.

Additional requirements for special categories:
If the applicant is under 18. A third party to be a trustee of the tenancy and satisfactory 

evidence that the applicant can pay the rent, such as proof 
of earnings, or an adult guarantor.

Local connection:
Grounds for local connection Example evidence

Live within the Scheme area for 
two years (6 of the last 12 months 
or 1 of the last 5 years owed a 
homelessness duty) .

Tenancy agreement, Council tax or utility bills or 
bank statements. For proof of former residence, 
possibly confirmation from the electoral register.

Have employment in the local 
authority area or (if self-employed) 
have a work base in the local 
authority area. Must not be short 
term i.e. less than 12 month 
contract, or less than 16 hours per 
week and in receipt of UC / WTC

Wage slips or P60 if employed, rates or business 
utility bills or business bank statements for self-
employed.

Have parents, adult siblings or 
adult children living in the local 
authority area who have lived in the 
area for at least 5 years.

Evidence of family connection, such as birth 
certificate, and evidence of family member’s 
residence, such as tenancy agreement, Council tax 
or utility bills or bank statements. For proof of former 
residence, possibly confirmation from the electoral 
register.

Have special circumstances so 
should be deemed to have a local 
connection.

Evidence that the household includes someone who:
a) is serving in the regular forces or who has served 
in the regular forces within the last 5 years;
b) has recently ceased or will cease to be entitled to 
reside in accommodation provided by the Ministry of 
Defence following the death of that person’s spouse 
or civil partners where the spouse or partner served 
in the regular forces and their death was attributable 
(wholly or partly) to that service; or 
c) is serving or has served in the reserve forces and 
who is suffering from a serious injury, illness or 
disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to 
that service.
d) Persons who are victims of domestic abuse or 
threats of domestic abuse, or escaping domestic 
abuse or harm
It may be possible to verify special circumstances 
with a third party. For example, the police may be 
able to verify that a household is fleeing violence, a 
social worker may be able to verify that someone 
needs to be near a close relative to provide care or 
the homelessness team may be able to verify that 
the applicant was placed in interim accommodation 
outside the borough.

Clarification notes Applicants will only be awarded a priority band A or 
B for a Local Authority area where they have a 

Page 169

Agenda Item 6



76

verified Local Connection to the area as described 
above.  For all other LA areas they will be awarded 
Band C.
If they are claiming local connection based on 
residence and have been resident in more than one 
Local Authority area in the past two years, then they 
will only get a priority Band A or B for the area where 
they are currently resident or where they can 
demonstrate a local connection on other grounds 
e.g. employment or family connection.  For all other 
Local Authority areas a Band C will be awarded. 

Unacceptable behaviour:
Appropriate evidence could be evidence from internal records, the applicant’s current 
landlord or the police of the applicant or a member of the applicant’s household. If no 
unacceptable behaviour is found, the applicant should be asked to confirm in writing that 
there has been no such unacceptable behaviour and should be reminded of the importance 
of not providing misleading or inaccurate information.

Financial resources:
Disqualification criteria Example evidence

Owner occupier or has equity in a property 
(unless there are pressing health needs for 
sheltered housing).

Declaration on application form. Mortgage 
statements.

An applicant, or a member of their 
household with financial resources 
consistent with the UK Government’s upper 
limit for savings set out in the common rules 
of the DWP Benefit and Pension Rates 
(disregards apply to Armed Forces 
personnel, see sections 3.2.14)

Proof UC in payment, Bank statements and 
declaration vi application form that this is 
not the case. If in receipt of Universal Credit 
this will suffice as evidence

An applicant who has been allocated social 
rented housing via this Scheme within the 
12 months preceding a new application, and 
whose accommodation remains suitable.

Application housing history, PPP Records, 
landlord reference.

Participants of the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority Housing First Pilot are 
exempt from this qualification criterion

Housing First referral (see policy s3.2.2 for 
exemptions)

Page 170

Agenda Item 6



77

APPENDIX 3 – 

Policy for applying discretion when allocating housing 

Contents
PPP POLICY - 

1.0 OVERVIEW...................................................................................................................................18

1.1.0 INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................................18
1.2.0 PURPOSE OF THIS SCHEME...............................................................................................................18
1.3.0 PRINCIPLES OF THIS SCHEME ...........................................................................................................19
1.4.0 CONSULTATION .................................................................................................................................22

2.0 INFORMATION, APPLICATIONS AND DECISION-MAKING ..................................................23

2.1.0 INFORMATION ....................................................................................................................................23
2.2.0 APPLICATIONS ...................................................................................................................................25
2.3.0 DECISION-MAKING ............................................................................................................................30
2.4.0 REVIEWS............................................................................................................................................31

3.0 ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION..........................................................................................32

3.1.0 ELIGIBILITY ........................................................................................................................................32
3.2.0 QUALIFICATION..................................................................................................................................34
3.3.0 DETERMINING ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION................................................................................40
3.4.0 NOTIFICATIONS OF DECISIONS AND RIGHT TO A REVIEW ..................................................................40
3.5.0 RE-APPLICATION ...............................................................................................................................40

4.0 ALLOCATIONS ............................................................................................................................41

4.1.0 ADOPTING THIS SCHEME...................................................................................................................41
4.2.0 DETERMINING PRIORITY FOR AN ALLOCATION FOR HOUSING ..........................................................42
4.3.0 LOCAL LETTINGS SCHEMES ..............................................................................................................48
4.4.0 AVOIDING DISCRIMINATION AND ENHANCING EQUALITY OF OPPORTUNITY......................................50
4.5.0 BEST INTERESTS OF CHILDREN.........................................................................................................51
4.6.0 DISCRETION .......................................................................................................................................51

5.0 BEING ALLOCATED A PROPERTY..........................................................................................53

5.1.0 CHOICE ..............................................................................................................................................53
5.2.0 OTHER GENERAL POINTS .................................................................................................................54

6.0 OTHER ARRANGEMENTS.........................................................................................................57

6.1.0 DIRECT APPLICATIONS TO REGISTERED PROVIDERS ........................................................................57
6.2.0 NOMINATIONS ....................................................................................................................................57
6.3.0 TRANSFERS .......................................................................................................................................57
6.4.0 CONTRACTING-OUT ...........................................................................................................................57
6.5.0 COMPLAINTS, APPEALS AND LEGAL CHALLENGES ..........................................................................58
4.6.0 DISCRETION .......................................................................................................................................78
1. ASSESS WHETHER THE APPLICANT HAS EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES ...........................................79
2. REFER TO THE SENIOR OFFICER ...........................................................................................................79
3. SENIOR OFFICER TO DECIDE WHETHER TO EXERCISE DISCRETION ......................................................79
4. INFORM THE APPLICANT OF THE OUTCOME ...........................................................................................81
5. BACKGROUND INFORMATION.................................................................................................................81

PROCESS CHART FOR APPLYING DISCRETION WHEN ALLOCATING HOUSING ................................................82

Page 171

Agenda Item 6



78

DETERMINING AN APPLICANTS’ ENTITLEMENT TO BEDROOMS, FOR ASSESSING 
OVERCROWDING AND UNDER-OCCUPANCY....................................................................................88

I. LOCAL AUTHORITY LETTER (COUNCIL TAX, BENEFITS ETC)...................................................................88
II. DWP LETTER .........................................................................................................................................88
III. PAYSLIP / P45 / P60 ..............................................................................................................................88
IV. PHOTO DRIVING LICENCE .......................................................................................................................88

OVERVIEW ................................................................................................................................................93

SUMMARY OF RESPONSES ..................................................................................................................94

QUESTION 1. DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSED QUALIFICATION CRITERIA?....................94
QUESTION 2 -  DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR OFFERING CHOICE? ...................95
QUESTION 3 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR AFFORDING ADDITIONAL 
PREFERENCE TO PERSONS IN THE SPECIFIED CIRCUMSTANCES ....................................................................96
QUESTION 4 – DO YOU AGREE OR DISAGREE WITH THE PROPOSALS FOR PRIORITISING PEOPLE WAITING 
FOR AN ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING? ...................................................................................................98
OTHER COMMENTS ..........................................................................................................................................99

APPENDIX 1 – HALTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ......................................................101

APPENDIX 2 – KNOWSLEY PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ................................................106

APPENDIX 3 – LIVERPOOL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY ................................................112

APPENDIX 4 – SEFTON PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY.......................................................116

APPENDIX 5 – WIRRAL PUBLIC CONSULTATION SUMMARY .......................................................119

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY AREA............................................................123

ALLOCATION OF SOCIAL HOUSING POLICY EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT............................................123
3.1.1 Age .................................................................................................................................................124
3.6.3 Wheelchair user standards ......................................................................................................125
3.1.3 Gender...........................................................................................................................................126
3.1.2 Ethnicity ........................................................................................................................................127

Page 172

Agenda Item 6



79

4.6.0 Discretion 

4.6.1 Discretion about being made eligible, allocated social rented housing or awarded 
additional preference will be exercised only by the Local Authority’s Senior Officer, 
limited only to individual cases, within the City Region area, where there are 
exceptional circumstances as defined below:

1. Providing protection to people who need to move away from another local 
authority area, to escape violence, harm, or intimidation.

2. In circumstances where an applicant needs to move due to a serious offence 
(equal to MAPPA level 2 or 3), as defined by the Serious Crime Act 2007, 
Part 1, Schedule 1, there will be joint working with the Police, Probation 
Services, Adult Care Services, health professionals, registered providers and 
other bodies, to manage any risk to the community.

4.6.2 When assessing whether discretion should be applied, the Local Authority will 
consider:

1. What the exceptional circumstances are. They should be unusual or 
remarkable circumstances which indicate that the applicant’s housing needs 
are more urgent that other applicants

2. What will be the consequences if no discretion is exercised? This will include 
considering how serious the potential consequences are and how likely each 
potential consequence is

4.6.3 When deciding, the Local Authority will have regard to:
1. The fact that decisions to exercise discretion will be kept to minimum  
2. The need for consistency with previous decisions whether or not to 

exercise discretion
3. What would be a fair outcome to ensure that there is no discrimination 

and  
4. The likelihood and severity of the potential consequences of discretion is 

not exercised. 

A decision as to whether or not to exercise discretion will be made at the point of receipt of 
application and again at the point of offer.

In all cases when direct offers are made, applicants will receive one direct offer only subject 
to the Local Authority’s discretion to make a further direct offer.

Page 173

Agenda Item 6



80

Procedure for applying discretion when allocating housing 

1. Assess whether the applicant has exceptional circumstances 

a. The Senior Officer can exercise discretion if:

 Providing protection to people who need to move away from 

another area within the scheme area, to escape violence, harm, or 

intimidation,

 In circumstances where an applicant needs to move due to a 
serious offence (equal to MAPPA level 2 or 3), as defined by the 
Serious Crime Act 2007, Part 1, Schedule 1, there will be joint 
working with the Police, Probation Services, Adult Care Services, 
health professionals, registered providers and other bodies, to 
manage any risk to the community.

b. When assessing whether the application should be referred to the Senior 

Officer, the allocations officer should consider:

i. what the exceptional circumstances are. They should be 

exceptional, unusual or remarkable circumstances which indicate 

that the applicant’s housing needs are more urgent than other 

applicants with reasonable preference;

ii. what will be the consequences if the Local Authority does not 

exercise discretion to move the applicant urgently. This should 

include considering how serious the potential consequences are 

and how likely each potential consequence is; 

c. If the allocations officer is in any doubt as to whether or not to refer the file, 

the officer should discuss the matter with a senior officer.

2. Refer to the Senior Officer

a. Once the applicant has been assessed as having exceptional 

circumstances, the Senior officer may refer the case to the Senior Local 

Authority Officer using a secure email.

3. Senior Officer to decide whether to exercise discretion
a. The Senior Officer will carry out a review of the file by considering all of the 

circumstances, details within the secure email, the PPP Housing Allocation 

Page 174

Agenda Item 6



81

Scheme, any relevant legislation and statutory guidance and similar previous 

applications.

b. As part of the review, the Senior Officer may require the allocations officer 

to collect further evidence about the circumstances and/or provide a more 

detailed report on the circumstances. 

c. When carrying out the review, Senior Officer will have regard to:

i. the fact that decisions to exercise discretion should be kept to a 

minimum.

ii. the need for consistency with previous decisions.

iii. what would be a fair outcome ensuring that there is no 

discrimination and that reasonable preference groups still have 

reasonable preference within the allocation system; and

iv. the likelihood and severity of the potential consequences if the 

Senior Officer does not exercise discretion. Got to be threat to life 

or irreversible harm?

d. Example where discretion may be appropriate in the circumstances could 

be:

i. an applicant who is a witness in proceedings and who is being 

threatened or attacked in existing accommodation, where clear 

support from Merseyside Policy is present, so needs to move to a 

new area within the Liverpool City Region urgently.

ii. When the full housing need can’t be fully met but an offer would 

improve their current situation

This example is not definitive in showing when discretion should or should 
not be exercised and is only included as guidance to assist the Senior 
Officer in assessing files.

e. The Senior Officer should aim to make a decision on whether or not to 

exercise discretion within 7 days of either receiving the secure email or 

receiving additional evidence or reports which have been requested 

(whichever is later). The Senior Officer should inform the officer of the 

decision as soon as possible after it has been made and should record the 

decision and the reasons for it on the file.

Page 175

Agenda Item 6



82

4. Inform the applicant of the outcome 

a. Once the assessment of the application has been completed, the Senior 

officer should inform the applicant of the outcome using a Decision Letter.

b. In all cases when direct offers are made, applicants will receive one direct 

offer only subject to the Local Authority’s discretion to make a further direct 

offer.

5. Background information

a. This procedure applies to any applicants who have applied for an 

allocation of housing in the local authority area and are considered to be in 

exceptional circumstances so that discretion may need to be applied 

b. This procedure is in accordance with the Housing Allocation Scheme 

produced by The Council.

c. Throughout this procedure, whenever a document is to be completed or 

issued, an electronic copy should be retained on the file. 

d. This procedure will be reviewed in line with any significant change in the 

Housing Allocation Scheme, legislation, statutory guidance or significant 

case law. Separate to this it should be reviewed every two years. 

Page 176

Agenda Item 6



83

Process chart for applying discretion when allocating housing

Assess whether the applicant has exceptional 
circumstances. Consider:

 whether the circumstances are unusual or 
remarkable (ie exceptional);

 the severity and likelihood of potential 
consequences if discretion is not 
exercised; and

Refer to the Senior Officer via secure email

Make a single offer of direct award of social 
housing.

Send a Decision Letter 

Senior Officer to review the file and make a decision. 
Consider:

 that decisions should be kept to a minimum;
 the need for consistency;
 the need for fairness;  
 the severity and likelihood of potential 

consequences if discretion is not 
exercised;

Page 177

Agenda Item 6



84

APPENDIX 4

Procedure for dealing with requests for reviews of allocation decisions

Contents
Procedure for dealing with requests for review of allocations decision 2

1. Assess whether the applicant is entitled to request a review 2
2. Acknowledge receipt of the request 2
3. Refer the request 2
4. Stage 1 review 2
5. Inform the applicant of the outcome of the stage 1 review 3
6. If the applicant is not satisfied with the outcome of the stage 1 review 

and wants to take further action 3
7. Stage 2 review 3
8. If the applicant wants to take further action 3
9. Background information                                                                                4

Process chart for dealing with requests for reviews of allocation decisions 5      

Page 178

Agenda Item 6



85

1. Assess if the applicant is entitled to request a review
a) Applicants or their representative can request a review of a decision made in relation to 

their application via their administering scheme partner. The request for a review can be 
made in person, by telephone, by email or in writing within 15 working days from the date 
of being advised of the decision they are disputing. In exceptional circumstances, discretion 
may be used to proceed with the review, if the request for a review is made outside of the 
15 working days.

b) Applicants can only request reviews on the following grounds;

i. That an applicant is not eligible for an allocation of social rented housing, due to 
being subject to immigration control or being an ineligible person from abroad.

ii. That an applicant does not meet the qualifying criteria to join the housing allocation 
scheme.

iii. The degree of preference they have been afforded, including any changes made to 
the degree of preference they are entitled to.

iv. The facts of their case which are likely to be, or have been, taken account of when 
deciding whether to make a nomination to a Registered Provider, including their 
medical condition or welfare needs.

v. The type of social rented housing for which an applicant will be considered for.
vi. The extent of the applicant’s household.

vii. Whether a nomination constitutes a final offer

c) If the applicant is not entitled to request a review due to being outside of the timeframe or 
requesting on grounds other than those specified below. The applicant should be informed 
of this in writing.

2. Acknowledge receipt of the request
a) As soon as possible after receipt of a verbal or written request for a review, the officer must 

acknowledge receipt of the request.

3. Refer the request 
a) As soon as the notification has been sent, the officer should refer the request to a senior 

officer who was not involved in the original decision.

4. Stage 1 review
a) The review will be carried out by a senior officer who was not involved in the original 

decision. 

b) The senior officer will carry out the review considering all of the facts, the policy, any 
relevant legislation and any statutory guidance. Any supporting documentation provided by 
the applicant or the applicant’s representative will also be considered.

5. Inform the applicant of outcome of the stage 1 review
a) A response should be provided with the outcome of the review to the applicant within 15 

working days of the request being received. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 6



86

6. If the applicant is not satisfied with the outcome of the stage 1 review and wants to take further 
action

a) The applicant can request a stage 2 review within 15 working days of receiving the review 
decision notice advising them of the stage 1 outcome. This request for a review can be made 
in person, by telephone, by email or in writing, but must set out their reasons for the 
request.

b) An acknowledgement letter must be sent to the applicant, copying in the relevant scheme 
council, within 10 working days of receipt of the stage 2 request.

c)  All the necessary documentation must be sent immediately to the relevant council, which 
should include the following;

 The applicant’s initial stage 1 review complaint
 The response from administrating scheme partner
 The applicants request that they wish to proceed to a stage 2 review
 Electronic application file
 Any other relevant documentation.

7. Stage 2 Review
a) The stage 2 review will be heard by a panel that will be chaired by a senior manager at the 

relevant scheme council and at least two other panel members, that will be either a officer 
from one or more of the administering scheme partners not involved in the original decision 
or stage 1 review and/or the property pool plus co-ordinator. 

b) Applicants will be offered the chance of presenting their case in person (or remotely via 
teams). Wherever possible a meeting will be convened within 15 working days of the 
acknowledgement letter being issued, however, this period may need to be extended but, in 
these cases, will be a maximum of 31 days. 

c) The panel will make their decision based on all the evidence that is detailed above. Please 
note that any new/additional evidence cannot be considered at Stage 2 but should be 
submitted to assessment prior to the Stage 2 Panel Hearing.

d) The decision should be provided in writing within 10 working days from when the panel 
meets.

8. If the applicant wants to take further action
a) Applicants will be informed of their right to pursue a judicial review, where they believe 

there is evidence that a decision is irrational, illegal or falls to follow public law procedural 
requirement. This includes a refusal to take an application to join Property Pool Plus. 

b) An applicant can apply for a judicial review, if they can show that the review decision;
i. is contrary to the Part 6 of the Housing Act 1996

ii. is contrary to the Housing Allocation Scheme
iii. has been reached by applying an unfair or unlawful procedure
iv. is based on a mistake of law (or sometimes fact)

Page 180

Agenda Item 6



87

c) To be able to apply for a judicial review, the applicant will have to apply for the 
Administrative Court’s permission as soon as possible, but in any event within three months 
of being notified of the review decision.

d) If the officer becomes aware that the applicant intends to apply for a judicial review, the 
officer should immediately pass the file to the legal team.

e) If applicants are dissatisfied with how their application and ant subsequent complaint has 
been handled by the Local Authority, they will be informed of their right to make a claim of 
maladministration to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

9. Background Information
a) This procedure applies to any applicants who have requested a review of a decision in 

relation to the allocation of social housing in the local authority area.

b) This procedure is in accordance with the Housing Allocation Scheme produced by the Local 
Authority.

c) Throughout this procedure, whenever a document is to be issued, a copy should be retained 
on file.

d) This procedure will be reviewed in line with any significant change in the Housing Allocations 
Scheme, legislation, statutory guidance or significant case law. Separate to this it should be 
reviewed every two years.

Page 181

Agenda Item 6



88

Process chart for dealing with requests for reviews of allocation decisions

Assess whether the applicant is entitled to 
request a review. 

Send the review acknowledgment letter 
within 10 working days of receiving the 

review request

Refer to a senior officer not involved in the 
original decision.

Carry out the review within 15 working days 
of receiving the review request.

On completion of the review, send the 
decision in writing

On receipt of Stage 2 review request an 
acknowledgement letter must be sent to the 
applicant, copying in the relevant scheme 

council, within 10 working days

Convene a meeting within 15 working days 
of the acknowledgement letter being issued 

(this period may need to be extended but will 
be a maximum of 31 days)

Send the decision in writing within 10 
working days from when panel met

If the applicant intends to apply for a judicial 
review of the decision, refer to the legal 

team. Page 182

Agenda Item 6



89

APPENDIX 5

Determining an applicants’ entitlement to bedrooms, for 
assessing overcrowding and under-occupancy 

1.1.0 Determining bedroom entitlement to assess overcrowding or under-occupancy

1.1.1 If an applicant has applied on the basis that the applicant’s existing accommodation 
is overcrowded or under-occupied, the officer should first establish the applicant’s 
bedroom needs. 

1.1.2 For the purposes of determining overcrowding or under-occupying, an assessment 
will be made against the minimum room size for licensed HMOs (for licences issued 
after 01st October 2018) or the UK Government’s Bedroom Standard for any other 
type of dwelling, which allows a separate bedroom each for: 

i. A married or cohabiting couple, 
ii. Adult aged 21 years or more,
iii. Pair of adolescents aged 10-20 years of the same gender,
iv. Pair of children aged under 10 years regardless of gender,
v. An adolescent aged 10-20 years paired with a child aged under 10 years 

of the same gender,
vi. An unpaired adolescent aged 10-20 years,
vii. An unpaired child aged under 10 years.
viii. An adult or child who cannot share due to a disability or medical condition, 

or due to fostering arrangements being facilitated by the Local Authority
ix. An overnight carer for any usual household member, if the carer isn’t a 

usual household member.

1.1.2 Once an applicant’s bedroom needs are known, the Local Authority will confirm 
whether an applicant’s existing accommodation is overcrowded or under-occupied. 
The Local Authority will confirm the size and type of the existing accommodation and 
the usual members of the applicant’s household. This might include the Local 
Authority assessing the evidence provided by the applicant or if necessary, carrying 
out an inspection. 

1.1.3 The following non-exhaustive list details the types of evidence an applicant may 
provide, all documents should be dated within the previous 3 months or linked to the 
current financial year’s benefit award:

i. Local Authority letter (council tax, benefits etc)
ii. DWP letter
iii. Payslip / P45 / P60
iv. Photo driving licence 

1.1.3 Whilst determining whether an applicant is overcrowded or under-occupied, the Local 
Authority will consider whether any other services could assist an applicant in 
resolving their overcrowding or under-occupation and will advise the applicant 
accordingly. 

Page 183

Agenda Item 6



90

1.1.4 The Local Authority will notify applicants as to whether they are overcrowded or 
under-occupying. Applicants that are overcrowded or under-occupied by two or more 
bedrooms will be place in Band A. Applicants that are overcrowded or under-
occupied by one bedroom will be placed in Band B. Applicants that are not 
overcrowded or under-occupied will be placed into Band C, unless there are any 
other grounds relevant to their applicant (see section 4.2.4).

1.1.5 If there is any indication that the applicant may have contrived the overcrowding or 
under- occupancy situation with the intention of gaining preferential access to 
housing, the officer should ask the applicant for clarification. Should any further 
evidence provided by the applicant not provide sufficient clarification the officer will 
discuss the file with a senior officer. The officer and the senior officer should agree 
what further inquiries there should be carried out to confirm the situation. 

1.1.6 Applicants who have contrived an overcrowding or under-occupation situation should 
be dealt with under the policy for dealing with potential cases of disqualification as 
set out in section 2.3.0.

2.2 Specific Arrangements  

2.2.1 Officers should discuss the potential of separate housing applications for households 
with qualifying adult children, if they are statutorily overcrowded at the point of 
application and are unlikely to have their housing needs fully met when making a 
single application. 

2.2.2 Applicants may be awarded eligibility for an additional bedroom should they require 
and overnight carer who is required to have their own bedroom, or an additional 
room for medical equipment. Applicants should provide evidence from a health or 
social care professional with direct knowledge of the situation and housing needs. 

2.2.3 A second ground floor living room can be regarded as a bedroom and included in the 
assessment of an applicant’s bedroom need as such, except where the property has 
a through kitchen/lounge or kitchen/diner and only one other separate living room or 
the dividing wall between two living rooms has been substantially removed. In 
considering the use of a room which could be used as a bedroom, regard will be 
given to whether the room has a fixed heating Page 38 appliance with exposed flame 
which would make it unsuitable for use as a bedroom.

2.2.4 Where there is a requirement for space standards to be considered this will use the 
Housing Act 1985 and 2004 act to inform any decisions on applications.

Page 184

Agenda Item 6



91

Appendix C

Proposed amendments to the Property Pool Plus housing 
allocation scheme: summary of responses to the public 
consultation 

June 2021

Page 185

Agenda Item 6



Property Pool Plus
Property Pool Plus (PPP) is a housing allocation scheme which operates across the local housing authority areas of 
City of Liverpool, the metropolitan boroughs of Knowsley, Sefton, and Wirral and the borough of Halton. PPP is a 
partnership between the aforementioned local housing authorities and numerous private registered providers of social 
housing. PPP provides a common procedure and approach to allocating social rented housing, using a choice-based 
method to let homes. 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) is a local authority covering the City of Liverpool, the 
metropolitan boroughs of Knowsley, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral and the borough of Halton. Founded in 2014, an 
elected mayor leads the authority, together with the council leaders of the constituent local authorities. The LCRCA 
administers devolved powers from the UK Government, such as transport, economic development and regeneration 
functions. 

Neil Morland & Co
Neil Morland & Co are housing consultants. Formed in 2011, we work throughout England, Scotland and Wales with 
national and local governments, housing associations, voluntary organisations and others. We believe there should be 
adequate housing for everyone. We improve the quality and potential of housing services and strategies.

Disclaimers: All views and any errors contained in this report are the responsibility of the authors. The views 
expressed should not be assumed to be those of the commissioners, sponsors, authors, nor any person who 
contributed to this report. The information contained in this report is accurate at the date of publication. The information 
in this report should not be considered legal advice. The commissioners, sponsors and authors are not authorised to 
provide legal advice. No responsibility for any loss or damage incurred, by any person or organisation acting or 
refraining from action as result of any statement in the report, can be taken by the commissioners or the authors. 

Page 186

Agenda Item 6



Introduction

This report provides a summary of feedback received from a consultation, which invited 
comments on proposals to amend the Property Pool Plus housing allocation scheme. These 
proposals relate to the following local authority areas:

 Halton Borough Council
 Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council
 Liverpool City Council
 Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council
 Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council

The consultation was aimed at any member of the public. Neighbouring local authorities, social 
housing tenants, waiting list applicants, voluntary organisations and housing associations were 
expected to have an interest.

The consultation was run by each local authority via its own website and also via the Property 
Pool Plus website. 

The consultation lasted for 12 weeks from [insert start date and end date].

The consultation could be responded to by using an online survey or, written responses could be 
submitted by email or sent by post.

Respondents were asked to confirm whether they are replying as an individual or submitting an 
official response on behalf of an organisation. 

The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority on behalf of the local authority members of 
Property Pool Plus, commissioned an independent review of the way social rented housing is 
allocated. Review was carried out during 2019. A range of recommendations were made, 
including that the rules for allocating social rented housing should be amended to ensure full 
compatibility with the law and alignment with recognised good practice. 

Page 187

Agenda Item 6



Overview

A total of 4,344 individual responded to the consultation, along with 4 organisations. 36% of all 
respondents were from Liverpool, which is reflective of City residents equating to one-third of the 
population of the Liverpool City Region.  

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton Wirral Total
Individual 433 657 1,593 718 993 4,394

on behalf of an organisation 0 1 2 1 0 4
Grand Total 433 658 1,595 719 993 4,398

The majority (both in relative and absolute terms) of respondents agreed with all four key 
proposals being consulted on. 

The proposed qualification criterion was the most commonly agreed with and the proposals for 
prioritisation was the least commonly agreed with. The proposed qualification criteria and was 
also the most commonly disagreed with and the proposals for affording additional preference 
were the least commonly disagreed with. The proposed qualification criteria and had the least 
amount of non-responses and the proposals for prioritisation have the most amount of non-
responses. 

More responses were submitted about the proposed disqualification criteria than any other 
question, with the least amount being submitted in response to the question about prioritisation.

More comments were submitted about the proposed disqualification criterion than any other 
question, the least amount of comments being submitted about the proposals for awarding 
additional preference.

Page 188

Agenda Item 6



Summary of Responses

Question 1. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed qualification criteria?

An overall average of 91% of consultees responded to this question, 66% of respondents agreed 
with proposed qualification criteria, compared to 24% disagreeing and 16% providing no 
response.

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton Wirral
Agree  68%  58% 60% 74% 62%

Disagree  20%  25% 21% 26% 23%

No response  12%  17% 19% 0% 15%

There were supportive comments made about the proposed amendments regarding 
disqualification due to antisocial behaviour.

Comments about the proposed rent arrears criteria were most frequently made in responses. 
The proposed new arrangements, abolishing an arbitrary cap and replacing it with an 
arrangement that require at least three consecutive repayments and for these to be  no more 
than one month behind scheme is designed to more person centred, allowing unique 
circumstances to be better taken account of. Given the amount of concern raised from this 
survey about the proposed rent arrears criterion, it will be important to communicate the more 
advantageous arrangements that are being proposed, before and when they are put into force.

Comments were made disagreeing about proposals for two-year minimum local connection 
criterion, with many preferring local connection rules being relaxed or removed entirely. It has to 
be acknowledged that the two-year rule will disadvantage some applicants. It will be important to 
communicate that the two-year threshold is a requirement set out in statutory guidance. Equally, 
it will be valuable to promote the fact that exemptions will be made for those persons who are 
entitled to reasonable preference. 

Comments were made about the exemptions specific for victims of domestic abuse, with 
respondents being concerned that these exemptions were adverse to the interests of persons in 
such circumstances. It will be important to communicate clearly all of the matters specific made 
throughout the whole policy (not just those specific to qualification) so victims of domestic abuse 
and organisations that might support them, are confident that the Property Pool Plus Scheme 
has been formulated to positively discriminate for victims of domestic abuse, so they can be 
rehoused as quickly as possible. There would be some benefit in publishing a specific guide for 
victims of domestic abuse, explaining how any applications will be handled and that the proposed 
amended scheme satisfies the directions set out in MHCLG’s code guidance about making 
allocations of social rented housing to the victims of domestic abuse and the new housing 
specific duties arising from the Domestic Abuse Act 2021

Comments were made about the exemption specific to Armed Forces personnel, veterans and 
their families, with respondents suggesting that such exemptions were unnecessarily favourable. 
There will be some benefit in publishing a specific guide for Armed Forces personnel, veterans, 
and their families, explaining how applications will be handled and that the proposed amended 

Page 189

Agenda Item 6



scheme satisfies the directions set out in MHCLG’s code of guidance about making allocations of 
social rented housing to Armed Forces applicants. 

Comments were made disagreeing the proposal for an applicant’s equity or savings to be taken 
account of when considering whether a person qualifies to join Property Pool Plus. Likewise, 
some respondents also disagreed with the proposal to disqualify a person due to being a 
homeowner. It will be important to communicate that by law, social rented housing has to be 
allocated to people whose needs cannot be met by the general housing market. It will be 
essential to make clear that a person with savings or assets above the upper savings threshold, 
as fixed by the Department of Work and Pensions, has been deemed to be a sufficient amount 
for to secure housing from the general market. Equally, emphasise that this applies only to 
savings and assets, and not to income will also be helpful and that some exemptions have been 
made to homeowners in certain specific circumstances.

Question 2 -  Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for offering choice?

An overall average of 88% of consultees responded to this question, 62% of respondents agreed 
with proposed qualification criteria, compared to 22% disagreeing and 21% providing no 
response. 

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton Wirral
Agree 64% 54% 51% 73% 60%

Disagree  18% 22% 24% 26% 20%

No response  18%  24% 25% 0% 20%

Comments were made about proposals to limited the right of refusal of reasonable offers. Many 
respondents suggested that there should be no limit on the number of reasonable refusals an 
applicant is entitled to make. Others suggested that a cap of three should be applied across the 
scheme bands. Consideration could be given to revising current proposals for refusal of 
reasonable offers, to make this an equal threshold across all bands (e.g. a cap of three) for all 
applicants regardless of their circumstances. One consequence of making such a change, would 
be a possible reduction in the number of review requests relating to refusal of reasonable offers. 
Another consequence might be that persons who are homeless or owed a homelessness duty, 
might remain occupying temporary accommodation longer than they otherwise could have done 
so. This might also be the case for persons occupying a hospital bed ready for discharge, 
anyone living in supported housing ready to move on, people waiting to leave the care of children 
services, and other applicants living in transitionary housing or institutional environments. 

Comments were made about applicants having the right to make more than three bids per week, 
with many applicants suggesting there should be no limit set at all. It will be important to 
communicate the reasons for why such a limit has been put in force and how this benefits the 
overall operation of the scheme. Proposed amendment made to the scheme set out at section 2 
a range of information that will be provided about any given dwelling, subject to this being made 
available by registered providers. The scheme also sets out at section 2, the types of formats by 
which information will be provided. It will be important to ensure as much information is made 
available as possible and that this is set out in a user-friendly fashion. This information could be 

Page 190

Agenda Item 6



provided via the scheme website but also be made available in other electronic or printed 
formats. 

Comments were made about clarifying what constituted a reasonable offer. Whilst these facts 
can be found from reading the proposed scheme rules, there will be some value in putting all this 
information together in section 5 of the proposed amended scheme. 

Comments were made about dissatisfaction with the choice-based letting model and instead 
adopting alternative model of choice, that might also involve replacing the banding mechanism 
with a points-based system. It will be important to communicate the benefits of the choice-based 
lettings approach such as that it fosters transparency about what properties are available to let 
and to which applicants they were left to. When the scheme is next reviewed, consideration could 
be given to appraising the options available to facilitate choice and effectiveness of these. 

Question 3 – Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for affording additional 
preference to persons in the specified circumstances

An overall average of 83% of consultees responded to this question, 69% of respondents agreed 
with proposed qualification criteria, compared to 14% disagreeing and 30% providing no 
response. 

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton Wirral
Agree 54% 56% 57% 83% 63%

Disagree 16% 10% 12% 17% 12%

No response  30%  34% 31% 0% 25%

Comments were made about providing extra support with making an application and affording 
more priority for applicants with a disability and/or medical needs. Legislation already guarantees 
people support with making an application for an allocation of social rented housing and 
assistance with expressing choice and responding to offers. The specifics of how this will be 
carried out under the Property Pool Plus scheme a set out in section 2 of the proposed amended 
rules. The availability of this assistance, including how to secure it, should be enthusiastically 
promoted prior and at the time of the amended scheme being launched. It’s important to note 
that Liverpool City Council shall be commissioning an independent review of its accessible 
housing register, findings from which can inform any future amendments to Property Pool Plus 
scheme in respect of administering applications from disabled applicants. Notwithstanding this, 
any future guidance issued by the UK government on making allocations to disabled applicants, 
will be fully incorporated as required, into the operation of the Property Pool Plus. 

Comments were made about overcrowded households, with some suggesting that they should 
be given less parity and others that they should be given more. It would be useful to publish 
specific information for applicants from overcrowded households, setting out the range of actions 
the local authority might be able to assist them with, via initiatives provided from a Councils 
private sector housing service and how such actions complement the prioritisation for an 
allocation from the Property Pool Plus scheme. Such information could also include how 
overcrowding can have an adverse effect on a household’s well-being and how individual 
households might be able prevent and tackle overcrowding themselves. 

Page 191

Agenda Item 6



A common comment made by respondents who disagreed with the proposals for affording 
additional preference, was more priority should be given to people and in employment. It will be 
important to emphasise the provisions within the proposed property pool plus scheme that afford 
that recognise community contribution for applicants in employment and or education. It would 
also be useful to promote the fact that applicants who need to move will be suitably prioritised 
and might benefit from being exempt from the usual local connection criteria. There may be 
some value in considering whether greater regard is had to the principle of community 
contribution when prioritising applicants for an allocation. It’s important to note that they were 
also comments that expressed an opposition to employment being a factor connected with 
prioritising how social housing allocations are made. 

Comments are made that priority should be given on individual circumstances. It’s important to 
communicate clearly to current and future potential applicants, that each person is unique 
situation is fully taken account of when they apply to join property pool plus and that that specific 
housing needs of any given household directly informs the degree of priority they are afforded. 

Comments were made that more priority should be given to persons who are homeless or owed 
a homelessness duty. It will be beneficial to publish some specific advice for persons who are 
homeless or owed a homelessness duty, setting out how their application will be handled and the 
priority that they will be afforded. Such advice should explain clearly that any person who is 
homeless owed the relief duty or is homeless and owed the main duty, will be given additional 
priority than other persons who might be homeless or owed any other homelessness duty. The 
advice should provide a justification for this, that being that typically persons out these duties are 
occupying temper accommodation and would benefit from being rehoused into settled 
accommodation as quickly as possible. The advice should also explain that other persons who 
are homeless or owed other homelessness duties, including those who are threatened with 
homelessness, I’ve been given the greater priority that they’re entitled to in law. The advice 
should include a clear explanation of the legal definition of homelessness, set out the different 
homelessness duties that someone might be owed and explain the rights persons who are 
homeless or owed a homeless duty are afforded in housing allocation is law. It’s important to 
note that Liverpool City Council has commissioned an independent review how best to allocate 
social rented housing to persons who are homeless or owed a homelessness duty, findings from 
which can inform any future amendments to Property Pool Plus scheme in respect of 
administering applications from applicants in these circumstances. Notwithstanding this, any 
future guidance issued by the UK Government on making allocations to homeless applicants, will 
be fully incorporated as required, into the operation of the Property Pool Plus.

Comments were made that more priority should be given to victims of domestic abuse. As 
mentioned previously in this paper, it will be important to publish specific advice for victims of 
domestic abuse, setting out how their applications will be handled and the degree of parity that 
they are being afforded and that the property pool plus scheme gives an additional property 
beyond the legal minimum requirements.

Comments were made that more priority should be given to victims of antisocial behaviour. 
Applicants in such circumstances can be afforded a reasonable preference for an allocation on 
the grounds of hardship. Consideration can be given to making this clearer within the rules that 
have been proposed.

Page 192

Agenda Item 6



Comments were made that more priority should be given to applicants living in the private rented 
sector whose homes are unaffordable and or in a state of disrepair. Anyone whose home is 
unreasonable to occupy due to affordability or fitness of condition (along with other matters such 
as overcrowding and domestic abuse) can approach a local authority and make an application 
for homelessness assistance. Following an assessment of the facts, the local authority will 
determine what duty, if any, is owed to a household in such circumstances. Where a local 
authority finds that a household’s home is unaffordable or in an unfit condition, within the legal 
meaning of these terms, they will be entitled to receive assistance to obtain suitable 
accommodation. This would also result in an applicant being awarded a band B or band a status, 
subject to the homeless duty they might be owed. Other action might be taken by the local 
authority under the housing health and safety rating system, which could also result in an 
applicant being awarded a band B status, due to them living in unsatisfactory housing conditions.

Comments were made that those in high priority should be give more choice. Options in this 
respect were explored in response to the previous question. In summary, these could include 
amending the number of bids an applicant is entitled to make in any given week, along with 
varying the number of refusals of offers an applicant is entitled to make. There is also an option 
to abandon the current choice-based lettings model and pursue an alternative, such as inviting 
applicants to select an area a preference they would like to live in (based on an electoral ward 
boundary for example) and to make a direct match when properties become available in an 
applicant’s chosen locality. These options might be explored when the scheme is next reviewed.

Question 4 – Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for prioritising people 
waiting for an allocation of social housing?

An overall average of % of consultees responded to this question, 60% of respondents agreed 
with proposed qualification criteria, compared to 21% disagreeing and 33% providing no 
response.

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton Wirral
Agree 54% 46% 46% 75% 51%

Disagree 16% 18% 19% 25% 19%

No response  30%  36% 35% 0% 30%

Comments were made about the community contribution provisions set out within the proposed 
amended scheme. Assertions were made that the definition of commuter contribution was 
unclear and unfair. Statutory guidance encourages like authority to adopt a curious your 
contribution criteria. The concept a committee contribution has been tested in the courts and it is 
these judgements that hace directly informed how community contribution has been framed for 
the purposes of the amended scheme. There is a clear definition of what constitutes work and 
education and the evidence that must be sought to confirm these arrangements are in place. 
Furthermore, those who are unable, as opposed to on willing, to make a community contribution 
have also been taken account of and have been provided for within the rules.

Comments were made about affording more priority to applicants who are in employment but 
unable to access other housing markets. The scheme does not take account of earnings when 
determine qualification or prioritisation (although savings and assets are considered), nor are 

Page 193

Agenda Item 6



earnings taken account of at any time subsequent to a person becoming a tenant.  Applicants 
who are in employment but whose earnings for below the required income levels to purchase a 
home, would benefit from more information via Property Pool Plus, about the array of low-cost 
home ownership schemes that they might benefit from.

Comments were made that more importance should be given to an applicant’s proximity to their 
family. An applicant’s family being resident in an area is one of the criteria that will be used to 
determine whether a person qualified to join the scheme. Where an applicant either Gibbs or 
receives care from or to their family, these factors will be taken account of when determining the 
degree of prioritisation, they should be afforded.

Comments were made that indicated some respondents are confused about the bidding process, 
how banding status and duration on the scheme might affect the outcome of any given bid, 
subject to which other applicants might have also placed a bid on any given property. It will be 
important to communicate very clearly (ideally using illustrations and or videos alongside text or 
narrative) how the bidding process works, using a variety of illustrated examples to demonstrate 
the various outcomes that might occur.

Comments were made that raise concern about not all properties being advertised via Property 
Pool Plus and that this gave rise to a suspicion of a lack of transparency. Encouraging housing 
associations to advertise all vacant properties available to let via Property Pool Plus, regardless 
as to whether these are been allocated via the scheme rules or a housing associations own 
policy, will help to positively deal with these assertions. It will be important to continue the 
practice of publishing what property (by location, type and bedrooms) was let to which applicant 
(by band and waiting time), as this allows for everyone to have insight into typical waiting times. 

Comments were made that there is a need for more housing, particularly larger family homes. 
This illustrates what are the limitations of a housing allocation scheme, in the fact that it does not 
increase the supply of homes available to that, but is solely concerned with making sure those 
that are available, are allocated in the fairest way possible. Notwithstanding this, intelligence that 
can be collected from those registered with Property Pool Plus, is invaluable to inform decision-
makers how best increase the supply of new housing, while making the best use of existing 
homes. 

Other comments
Comments were made that waiting time rather than banding status should be the predetermined 
factor for allocating a home. To ensure the scheme complies with statute, Regulations and 
statutory guidance, a balance of both waiting time and need must be taken account of when 
making decisions about applications.

Comments were made about the dissatisfaction with information and assistance applicants 
received prior to and at the point of joining property pool plus and also once they had been 
accepted onto the scheme. There was a also criticism for the IT software that Property Pool Plus 
uses. Improving information and assistance provided to applicants with themes picked up in the 
review we carried out in 2019. Our recommendations regarding training and centralising of 
services will help to reduce dissatisfaction with these issues. Notwithstanding this, regular 
customer satisfaction survey should be carried out to identify opportunities for continuous 
improvement. There’s already an intention to undertake a market testing exercise of software 
databases, to operate the Property Pool Plus scheme. It will be important to ensure there are 

Page 194

Agenda Item 6



opportunity to involve applicants in the design of any tender specification and the decision-
making process for selecting any future IT supplier. 

Conclusion

The feedback provided from this consultation exercise will be carefully considered and acted on 
as required, when formulating the final amended version of the Property Pool Plus scheme. It is 
anticipated that any changes made will not substantially change the objectives and framing of the 
scheme, enough to warrant any further public consultation. A final version of the amended 
scheme will be put forward to elected councillors for them to decide whether to adopt it. Elected 
Council will be informed of consultation feedback and any changes acted upon as a result of it.

Page 195

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 1 – Halton Public Consultation Summary 

Following a 12-week public consultation on the proposed changes to the Liverpool City Region 
Allocations Scheme, the responses received by Halton Borough Council are detailed below. 

Who
The following table provides a summary of who responded to the survey: 

Who Total
as yourself 433

on behalf of an organisation 0
Grand Total 433

A total of 433 responses were received by HBC, 433 of which were responding as residents 

Qualifying Criteria
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposed qualifying criteria: 

Count of Agree or disagree with qualification criteria 

Agree 294

Disagree 85

Grand Total 379

(blank) 54 (12%)

This section received a response rate of 88%.  Of the 379 respondents, 69% agreed with the 
qualifying criteria proposals while 20% disagreed. 
The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the qualifying 
criteria proposals: 

Count of Qualifying criteria comments category
ASB 5

Children In flats 1
Disagree with armed forces 2

Disagree with local connection 10
Disagree with rent arrears levels 22
Equity shouldn't be considered 5
Increased priority for workers 5

More support for disabled applicants 2
More support for homeless 2

More support in for DV cases 7
Not enough support for offenders 2

Grand Total 63

A total of  additional comments were received for this section, with the 3 most common themes 
detailed below:

 22 (35%) respondents stated that they disagreed with proposed rent arrears level before 
reducing an applicant’s eligibility, many highlighting the financial difficulties currently 
facing residents. 

Page 196

Agenda Item 6



 10 (16%) respondents stated that they disagreed with local connection. 
 7 (11%) respondents felt points surrounding victims of DV seem to be penalising 

Offering Choice 
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposals on offering choice: 

Count of Agree or disagree with offering choice 
Agree 276

Disagree 79
Grand Total 355

(blank) 78 (18%)

This section received a response rate of 82%. Of the 355 respondents, 64% agreed with the 
proposals while 18% disagreed. 
The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the offering choice 
proposals: 

Count of Offering choice comments category 
Auto Bidding isn’t accurate to areas 1

Improved property information 3
Increase number of bids allowed 12

No definition of reasonable 3
Banding system confusing 5
More/fair choices available 9

Internet access limits to some people 1
Refusals too harsh 15

Grand Total 49

A total of 49 additional comments were received for this section, with the 2 most common themes 
detailed below:

 15 (31%) respondents felt the proposed number of refusals per applicant prior to 
decreasing priority was too harsh. 

 12 (24%) respondents stated that an increase in the number of bids should be allowed. 

Additional Preference 
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposals on additional preference:

This section received a response rate of 76%. Of the 329 respondents, 66% agreed with the 
proposals while 10% disagreed. 

The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the additional 
preference proposals: 

Count of Additional preferences comments category
ASB 1

Count of Agree or disagree with additional preference 
Agree 287

Disagree 42
Grand Total 329

(blank) 104 (24%)

Page 197

Agenda Item 6



Domestic violence 4
Downsizing 2

Foster carers 1
Rigid rules instead of case by case analysis 3

More support for homeless 3
More support for medical needs 7

More support for workers 1
More support for young people 2

Overcrowding 6
Overcrowding too generous 3

Should be time based 1
Grand Total 34

A total of 34 additional comments were received for this section, with the 2 most common themes 
detailed below:

 7 (21%) respondents felt more support needed to be provided to applicants with medical 
needs, this ranged from increased priority or process support. 

 6 (18%) respondents felt that not enough priority is given to those in overcrowded 
situations and felt unsupported . 

Prioritisation 
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposals on prioritisation:

Count of Agree or disagree prioritisation 
Agree 232

Disagree 71
Grand Total 303

(blank) 130 (30%)

This section received a response rate of 70%. Of the 303 respondents, 54% agreed with the 
proposals while 16% disagreed. 
The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the prioritisation 
proposals: 

Count of Prioritisation comments category
Children in flats 2

Disagree with the bandings 3
Disagree with increase preference for workers 3

Downsizing 1
Financial support 1

More support for homeless 2
More support for workers 5

More support for young people 2
More support medical needs 7
More support for DV cases 1
Should be based on time 1

Shouldn’t be based on time 4
Need to be based on individual personal 

circumstances 5

Page 198

Agenda Item 6



Suitability 1
Grand Total 38

A total of 38 additional comments were received for this section, with the 3 most common themes 
detailed below:

 7 (18%) respondents felt more support needed to be provided to applicants with medical 
needs, this ranged from increased priority or process support. 

 5 (13%) respondents felt that more support should be given to workers and feel they wait 
and have no success in obtaining secure housing

 5 (13%) respondents stated that priority should be given on individual circumstances and 
not apply a ‘blanket’ approach in banding people within the same band when some 
situations could be more priority than others. 

Any other comments 
The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the proposed 
Allocations Scheme: 

Count of Any other comments category
Auto bids should go on at beginning of cycle 1

ASB 2
Bedroom criteria 4

Better customer information 2
Community contribution 1

Fair process 6
Quicker Process 3
Increased bids 1

Less Priority for workers 1
Localised approach 2
More for transfers 5

More personalised approach 14
More social housing 5

More support for homeless 2
More support for medical needs 6

More support for workers 19
More support for overcrowding 3

Poor service 6
Property quality 1

Priority with those who have access to 
children 1

Time over need 8
Time of bid 3

Want as well as need 1
Workers shouldn't be eligible 1

Under occupation support 2
Grand Total 100

A total of 100 additional comments were received for this section, with the 3 most common 
applicable themes detailed below:

Page 199

Agenda Item 6



 19 (19%) respondents stated that more support and priority should be given to those in 
employment and currently feel the current system is penalising them.

 14 (14%) respondents felt a more personalised approach should be adopted and that the 
policy is restrictive to individuals needs 

 8 (8%) respondents stated that increased priority should be given to applicants who have 
a higher waiting time rather than banding. 

Page 200

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 2 – Knowsley Public Consultation Summary 

Following a 12-week public consultation on the proposed changes to the Liverpool City Region 
Allocations Scheme, the responses received by Knowsley Metropolitan Borough Council are 
detailed below. 

Who
The following table provides a summary of who responded to the survey: 

Who Total
as yourself 657

on behalf of an organisation 1
Grand Total 658

A total of 658 responses were received by KMBC, 657 of which were responding as residents 
while 1 respondent was responding on behalf of an organisation. 

Qualifying Criteria
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposed qualifying criteria: 

Count of Agree or disagree with qualification criteria 

Agree 383

Disagree 166

Grand Total 549

(blank) 109 

This section received a response rate of 83%.  Of the 549 respondents, 70% agreed with the 
qualifying criteria proposals while 30% disagreed. 

The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the qualifying 
criteria proposals: 

Count of Qualifying criteria comments category
Agree with support for armed forces 3

ASB 7
Children In flats 1

Disagree with armed forces 4
Disagree with disqualification 1

Disagree with local connection 13
Disagree with rent arrears levels 29
Equity shouldn't be considered 12
Exclude previous convictions 1

Income cap 5
Increased priority for workers 4

Increased priority for overcrowding 1
More support for disabled applicants 1

More support for homeless 4

Page 201

Agenda Item 6



More support for older applicants 3
N/A 7

Not enough support for offenders 1
Personal approach required 8

Grand Total 105

A total of 105 additional comments were received for this section, with the 3 most common 
themes detailed below:

 29 (28%) respondents stated that they disagreed with proposed rent arrears level before 
reducing an applicant’s eligibility, many highlighting the financial difficulties currently 
facing residents. 

 13 (12%) respondents stated that they disagreed with local connection. 
 12 (11%) respondents felt that an applicant’s equity or savings should not be taken into 

consideration when applying for PPP. 
Offering Choice 
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposals on offering choice: 

Count of Agree or disagree with offering choice 
Agree 358

Disagree 142
Grand Total 500

(blank) 158 

This section received a response rate of 76%. Of the 500 respondents, 72% agreed with the 
proposals while 28% disagreed. 

The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the offering choice 
proposals: 

Count of Offering choice comments category 
ASB 1

Choice 2
Improved property information 11

Increase number of bids allowed 4
More properties 6

More support for disabled applicants 3
More support for families 2

More support for older applicants 1
No definition of reasonable 10

Refusals too harsh 36
Grand Total 76

A total of 76 additional comments were received for this section, with the 3 most common themes 
detailed below:

 36 (47%) respondents felt the proposed number of refusals per applicant prior to 
decreasing priority was too harsh. 

 11 (14%) respondents stated that improved information needs to be provided to 
applicants prior to bidding on properties, this included but not limited to; better property 
photos, viewings, floor plans. 

Page 202

Agenda Item 6



 10 (13%) respondents expressed a concern that the consultation/policy did not provide a 
definition of what would be considered a ‘reasonable’ offer and may lead to inconsistency 
or unfair decisions. 

Additional Preference 
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposals on additional preference:

This section received a response rate of 66%. Of the 432 respondents, 85% agreed with the 
proposals while 15% disagreed. 

The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the additional 
preference proposals: 

Count of Additional preferences comments category
ASB 1

Domestic violence 2
Downsizing 2

Foster carers 1
Key workers 1

Less choice for homeless 1
More support for homeless 3

More support for medical needs 8
More support for workers 3

More support for young people 1
Overcrowding 3

Overcrowding too generous 5
Should be time based 1

Grand Total 32

A total of 32 additional comments were received for this section, with the 4 most common themes 
detailed below:

 8 (25%) respondents felt more support needed to be provided to applicants with medical 
needs, this ranged from increased priority or process support. 

 5 (16%) respondents felt that the additional preference for overcrowding was too 
generous and people within this category had made choices that led them to become 
overcrowd and should therefore not receive any additional priority. 

 3 (9%) respondents felt that overcrowded applicants should receive more priority than 
currently proposed. 

 3 (9%) respondents stated that more support was required for homeless applicants. 

Prioritisation 
The following table provides a summary of whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposals on prioritisation:

Count of Agree or disagree prioritisation 

Count of Agree or disagree with additional preference 
Agree 368

Disagree 64
Grand Total 432

(blank) 226

Page 203

Agenda Item 6



Agree 300
Disagree 124

Grand Total 424
(blank) 234

This section received a response rate of 64%. Of the 424 respondents, 71% agreed with the 
proposals while 29% disagreed. 

The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the prioritisation 
proposals: 

Count of Prioritisation comments category
Age designations 1

ASB 2
Bidding 1

Children in flats 1
Community contribution 8

Disagree with local connection 3
Downsizing 1

Financial support 2
Homeowners 1
Increase bids 1

Increased priority for armed forces 1
Key workers 1

More social housing 1
More support for disabled applicants 1

More support for homeless 3
More support for workers 7

More support for young people 1
More support medical needs 9

Poor property conditions 1
Poor system 11

Refusals 4
Should be based on time 1

Suitability 1
Want over need 1

Grand Total 64

A total of 64 additional comments were received for this section, with the 4 most common themes 
detailed below:

 11 (17%) respondents commented on their overall dissatisfaction with Choice Based 
Lettings system based on a banding system.  

 9 (14%) respondents felt more support needed to be provided to applicants with medical 
needs, this ranged from increased priority or process support. 

 8 (13%) respondents raised concerns over the community contribution proposal, 
highlighting the lack of definition potentially leading to a lack of transparency or fairness 
and the potential equality issues facing those who are unable to provide ‘community 
contribution’ 

Page 204

Agenda Item 6



 7 (11%) respondents stated that increased priority should be given to applicants in 
employment who are unable to access other housing markets. 

Any other comments 
The following table categorises any additional comments respondents had on the proposed 
Allocations Scheme: 

Count of Any other comments category
Age designated 2

ASB 6
Bedroom criteria 5

Better customer information 1
Community contribution 1

Disagree with rent arrears levels 1
Disrepair 1

Domestic abuse 2
Fair process 1

Finance 2
Increased bids 2

Less priority for armed forces 1
Less priority for convictions 1
Less priority for homeless 3

Local connection 5
Localised approach 1
More for transfers 1

More personalised approach 9
More social housing 17

More support for homeless 4
More support for homeowners 2

More support for medical needs 9
More support for workers 13

N/A 21
Poor service 26

Property quality 1
Refusals 1

Shorter biding cycles 1
Single households 5

Time over need 6
Want as well as need 4

Workers shouldn't be eligible 4
Grand Total 159

A total of 159 additional comments were received for this section, with the 3 most common 
applicable themes detailed below:

 26 (16%) respondents stated that they felt the overall service offered to customers was 
poor, the reasons for this included but were not limited to; poor IT system, poor customer 
service, disagree with the CBL approach. 

Page 205

Agenda Item 6



 17 (11%) respondents felt the Council should focus on ensuring the development of more 
social housing provision within the Borough to help meet residents’ housing needs. 

15 (9%) respondents stated that increased priority should be given to applicants in employment 
who are unable to access other housing markets.

Page 206

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 3 – Liverpool Public Consultation Summary 

Easy Read
107 people answered
As yourself 100%

Q. Do you agree with who cannot apply for social housing?
Yes- 58.87%
No- 21.49%
No response – 10.28%
Main Comments:

 Local connection rules should be relaxed and made clearer
 More lenient approach should be taken on rent arrears
 Working people should be given more priority
 Disabled people should be given highest priority
 There should be greater recognition of problems with PRS 

Q. Do you agree to these ideas about offering choice?
Yes- 52.33%
No- 38.31%
No response – 9.34%
Main Comments:

 Choice should be given re areas and properties
 Should be a limit on number of offers
 Homeless applicants should be given as much choice as everyone else
 People wanting to free up larger accommodation for families should be helped more
 There should be a separate list for homeless people

Q. Do you agree to add these reasons to why we give extra priority to people?
Yes- 69.15%
No- 16.82%
No response – 14.01%
Main Comments:

 Link between ASB and health and safety should be recognised more
 There should be more transparency in assessment of health needs
 Homeless people should be assessed separately

Q. Do you agree with using bands to put people in priority order for social housing?
Yes- 29.90%
No- 51.40%
No response – 18.69%
Main Comments: 

 Lots of people in Band C who have no chance of being rehoused
 There should be a separate band for working people
 Credit should be given for waiting time
 Why should community standing be considered?
 Concerns that people manipulate the system and provide false information
 PPP has taken away personal attention to customers

Other Comments:

Page 207

Agenda Item 6



 It should be easier for people to explain their need for housing
 Concerns about digital exclusion and reliance on IT system
 Should be a limit of £10K on capital
 Quotas should be applied to the bands
 More help for people suffering ASB
 Reviews of applications should be undertaken when they have been registered for a 

given length of time

Standard Version
1486 responses
As yourself – 100%

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed qualification criteria?
Agree- 59.55%
Disagree- 21.19%
No response – 19.24%
Main Comments:

 Local connection rules should be relaxed or removed
 Many comments that rent arrears exclusion rules were too harsh
 General support for ASB disqualifications
 A number of respondents felt having savings should not stop people applying or £16K 

limit was too low

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for offering choice?
Agree- 51.48%
Disagree- 23.82%
No response – 24.56%
Main Comments:

 There should be more information and photographs so that people can make informed 
choices about properties

 Lots of comments disagreeing with limits on refusals ranging from people having 
unlimited right to refuse to having the same number of refusals irrespective of priority

 Need a clear definition of what constitutes a ‘reasonable refusal’
 People should be able to make unlimited bids in the cycle
 Bidding should be scrapped and replaced with a waiting list

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for affording additional preference to people in 
the above specified circumstances?
Agree- 56.59%
Disagree- 12.44%
No response – 30.95%
Main Comments:

 Several comments supporting needs-based approach
 Overcrowding should be given a greater priority
 Greater priority should be given for domestic abuse – several respondents were victims of 

DA
 ASB victims should be given more support
 Disabled people having real problems accessing suitable accommodation

Page 208

Agenda Item 6



 Mental health issues are understated
 General support for homelessness as a priority but terms such as relief and prevention 

should be better explained

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for prioritising people waiting for an allocation of 
social housing?
Agree- 45.82%
Disagree- 19.31%
No response – 34.85%
Main comments:

 People felt it would be difficult to define community contribution
 Employment shouldn’t be a factor in prioritising applications
 Proximity to family should be given greater weighting
 Difference between medical priorities in B and C are not clear

Other comments:
 Many respondents felt the proposals were fair
 Administering partners should adopt a more personalised approach
 Some respondents clearly still confused about the bidding process and how position on 

the list changes during bidding cycle
 There should be more transparency e.g. why are not all properties advertised
 Several people highlighted difficulties and cost of living in the PRS
 Many respondents recognised the need for more housing particular some types e.g. 

larger family homes

COMBINED RESULTS (1593)
Q1. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed qualification criteria?
Agree- 59.15%
Disagree- 33.77%
No response- 18.64%
Q2. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for offering choice?
Agree- 51.53%
Disagree- 22.22%
No response- 23.54%
Q3. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for affording additional preference to people in 
the above specified circumstances?
Agree- 57.43%
Disagree- 12.74%
No response- 28.56%
Q4. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for prioritising people waiting for an allocation of 
social housing?
Agree- 44.00%
Disagree- 20.02%
No response- 35.96%

Page 209

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 4 – Sefton Public Consultation Summary

Easy Read
73 people answered
As yourself 100%

Q. Do you agree with who cannot apply for social housing?
Yes- 59.7%
No- 40.3%
Main Comments:

 Debt shouldn’t prevent being accepted onto waiting list
 Rules for bedroom sharing appalling
 More freedom of movement across LCR
 Shouldn’t be £16k limit

Q. Do you agree to these ideas about offering choice?
Yes- 50%
No- 50%
Main Comments:

 People in highest priority should still have choice, esp homeless
 Disabled people should be able to apply for whatever comes available

Q. Do you agree to add these reasons to why we give extra priority to people?
Yes- 88.33%
No- 11.67%
Main Comments:

 Priority should be given to those who need support from family to allow to move closer
 People who have 2 additional rooms should be given priority in order to free up that home 

for others

Q. Do you agree with using bands to put people in priority order for social housing?
Yes- 86%
No- 14%
Main Comments:

 Key workers & community contribution should be given a priority
Other Comments:

 Overcrowding households should only be able to exchange
 Need more bungalows
 Priority for local residents

Standard Version
646 responses
As yourself – 645
On behalf of Organisation – 1 (Sefton based organisation)

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed qualification criteria?
Agree- 73.6%
Disagree- 26.4%

Page 210

Agenda Item 6



Main Comments:
 Covid should now be taken into account
 Disagree about preferential treatment to Armed Forces
 16k not a lot of money these days to penalise
 Could be good mitigating reasons for arrears/debt
 Seems a blanket decision concerning homeowners but there may be other circumstances 

where social housing is needed

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for offering choice?
Agree- 73.5%
Disagree- 25.5%
Main Comments:

 People should not be limited – all levels should have 3
 Properties should be described better. Photos, floor plans etc

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for affording additional preference to people in 
the above specified circumstances?
Agree- 83%
Disagree- 17%
Main Comments:

 Assistance for those in the PRS, unaffordable and in disrepair should count
 Higher priorities should have more choice

Q. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for prioritising people waiting for an allocation of 
social housing?
Agree- 74.5%
Disagree- 25.5%
Main comments:

 Community Contribution needs to be clearly defined
 Young people on low wages need supporting more
 Those struggling in PRS need help
 Individual circumstances need to be considered in all cases

Other comments:
 Workers should be given higher priority

COMBINED RESULTS (719)
Q1. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed qualification criteria?
Agree- 72%
Disagree- 28%
Q2. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for offering choice?
Agree- 71%
Disagree- 29%
Q3. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for affording additional preference to people in 
the above specified circumstances?
Agree- 84%
Disagree- 16%
Q4. Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for prioritising people waiting for an allocation of 
social housing?

Page 211

Agenda Item 6



Agree- 76%

Page 212

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 5 – Wirral Public Consultation Summary 

In total, 993 respondents completed the survey identifying ‘Wirral’ as their LA.

Respondent Profile
100% of respondents taking part in the survey did so as ‘individuals.’
0% of respondents taking part in the survey did so on behalf of an organisation.

Quantitative and qualitative analysis

“Do you agree or disagree with the proposed qualification criteria?”
84.6% of all respondents answered this question.
15.4% of all respondents did not answer this question.
Of the respondents that answered this question:
72.74% (611) agreed with the proposed qualification criteria.
27.26% (229) disagreed with the proposed qualification criteria.

192 comments to this question were submitted.

A significant number of comments focussed on rent arrears and that a blanket approach to this 
issue does not consider any personal circumstances that led to the accrual of arrears. Many 
respondents felt that cases of former tenancy arrears should be viewed individually. 

“Unfortunately, people who have built up rent arrears of more than a month are penalised if they 
have lived in rented accommodation for years. This could actually be due to a number of factors, 
income drops from children moving out, a spouse dying, hospitalisation and out of work etc. After 
currently being served with a section 21 after FIFTEEN years of a tenancy, privately renting, I 
was penalised for having just 6 weeks arrears! In FIFTEEN years. No consideration to what 
caused it, like a criminal assault on my daughter which required surgery and me being out of 
work to care for her!”

Disqualification of home-owners was another recurrent theme as respondents also felt that this 
did not take into consideration any personal circumstances such as those for whom their 
accommodation is suitable (e.g. as a consequence of disability etc)

“The proposed policy outlined that they would disqualify anyone owning a property from their list, 
however, as I have said previously this would bring great detriment and discrimination to the 
elder 60+ years, who may require sheltered accommodation either due to their health, wellbeing 
or they are suffering harassment and the elderly need support, so, even if they own their own 
home and they should Not have to sell their property until they have secured a sheltered 
accommodation property, they need support and make friends within sheltered accommodation 
environment, it would be unlawful to force an elderly person to sell their home, but if the elderly 
person is offered a shelter accommodation place, they should also be given 3 choices of offers.”

“Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for offering choice?”
79.75% of all respondents answered this question.
20.25% of all respondents did not answer this question.
Of the respondents that answered this question:
75% (594) agreed with the proposals for offering choice.

Page 213

Agenda Item 6



25% (198) disagreed with the proposals for offering choice.

153 comments to this question were submitted.

A large number of respondents felt that a maximum of three bids per week is insufficient, with 
some respondents indicating that applicants should be allowed an unlimited number of bids.

“It takes a long time to get a property on PPP therefore you should be able to bid for more than 3 
properties.”

“Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for affording additional preference to people in the 
above specified circumstances?”
74.8% (743) of all respondents answered this question.
25.2% (250) of all respondents did not answer this question.
Of the respondents that answered this question:
84.5% (628) agreed with the proposals for affording additional preference to people in the above 
specified circumstances.
15.5% (115) disagreed with the proposals for affording additional preference to people in the 
above specified circumstances.

122 comments to this question were submitted.

Generally, there was agreement amongst the respondents regarding additional preference. 
However, there were a number of remarks made that suggested that there should be no 
preferential treatment and that all applicants should be treated the same irrespective of their 
circumstances.

A recurring theme amongst those that disagreed was that people in employment should also be 
afforded additional preference. 

“I think some preference needs to be given to people like us who are both in employment, paying 
high private rent and in no position to buy a home so that we could have a chance at getting a 
home in which to bring up our family.”

“Do you agree or disagree with the proposals for prioritising people waiting for an allocation of 
social housing?”
70% (695) of all respondents answered this question.
30% (298) of all respondents did not answer this question.
Of the respondents that answered this question:
73.2% (509) agreed with the with the proposals for prioritising people waiting for an allocation of 
social housing.
26.8% (186) disagreed with the with the proposals for prioritising people waiting for an allocation 
of social housing.

139 comments to this question were submitted.

Page 214

Agenda Item 6



Some respondents queried the term ‘community contribution’ and how this could be assessed 
fairly. Some comments suggested that this would indirectly penalise people with ill health s their 
ability to contribute may be limited.

Employment was another recurrent theme, with some remarks suggesting that the proposals 
disadvantage non-working households whereas, conversely, some respondents commented that 
the proposals didn’t do enough to support employed households.

Do you have any other comments about the proposed policy for allocating social 
housing?
275 comments to this question were submitted.

The responses to this question were varied, with no particular stand-out theme.

Again, some respondents felt that the proposed system neglected people in full-time 
employment.

Some respondents suggested that offers of housing should be based solely on the length of time 
that a registration has been active.

The appropriateness of blanket policies, rather than consideration of individual personal 
circumstances, was again questioned by respondents

Page 215

Agenda Item 6



Message Call FaceTime Mail
07816 935620

neil@neilmorland.co.uk

Find us online www.neilmorland.co.uk

Follow us on LinkedIn www.linkedin.com/company/neil-morland-co-consultants/ 

Registered Office: 78 Borough Road, Altrincham, Greater Manchester, WA14 9EJ
Company no: 7776084

VAT no: 135466214
Neil Morland & Co Housing Consultants is a trading name for Neil Morland Housing Consultant Ltd

Please contact us for a copy of this document in Braille, larger 
print, audio or other languages. We consider requests on an 

individual basis.

Page 216

Agenda Item 6

mailto:neil@neilmorland.co.uk
http://www.neilmorland.co.uk/
http://www.linkedin.com/company/neil-morland-co-consultants/


Appendix D

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Area 

Allocation of Social Housing Policy Equality 
Impact Assessment

Business Unit: 

Director: 

Lead Officer: 

Name of policy to be assessed: 
Liverpool Social Housing Allocations Scheme

Brief description of policy to be assessed: 
All Local Housing Authorities, including those who no longer manage or own any social housing stock, 
are required to have in place a Housing Allocation Scheme (HAS), providing detailed information about 
all procedures that will be followed, and by which persons, in the allocation of Social Rented Housing 
within their local authority (LA) area. Statutory guidance1  reminds LAs they must have regard to their 
duties under equalities legislation when framing their allocations qualification criteria within the HAS. 

This Equality Impact Assessment is part of the sub-regional review of the current HAS.

The Local Authority intends to allocate homes in a fair, lawful and transparent way, that makes best 
use of the homes available.  The HAS will set out how the Local Authority will allocate social rented 
housing to those persons applying to become a social housing tenant; and secure tenants seeking to 
move to another home let under secure tenancies. 

The HAS Procedure explains how priority between applicants will be determined and the arrangements 
for nominating applicants for homes owned by private registered providers of social housing (PRPs) 
who own and/or manage social rented housing in the LA area. 

Date of Assessment: January 2020 Person Responsible for Completing the 
Assessment:  

Contact Details: 
Brief description of the anticipated outcomes of the proposal: 

Social Housing Allocations law and guidance2 aims to ensure that LAs social housing is allocated to 
persons most in need, and therefore may necessarily contain positive discrimination in order to fully 
comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty.3. 

The HAS Procedure intends to ensure that at all times non-discriminatory decisions will be made about 

1 Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England 2012 para 3.20
2 Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England 2012 para 3.20
3 Equality Act 2010, s 149(6)

Page 217

Agenda Item 6



the allocation of social rented housing.  The administrators of the HAS will be given training about 
housing allocation law and practice and their duties and responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010. 
Allocations will be monitored to understand the impact of the HAS on people with protected 
characteristics going forward, as recommended by good practice4. The monitoring will be used to 
ensure that the HAS does not negatively discriminate. Guidance5, while no longer in force gives a 
particularly relevant examples showing why this monitoring and analysis is essential to ensure that, for 
example the HAS is not directly discriminating by consistently offering inferior accommodation to 
people from certain racial groups.  

All applicants will receive information and advice about their rights to make an application for an 
allocation of social rented housing, and assistance will be provided free of charge to any person who is 
likely to have difficulty in making an application (e.g. due to mental or physical impairment, or because 
of any other special characteristic) to join Property Pool Plus. This assistance will be extended to those 
who might require help to express a preference for an available property to let. 

Information will be provided in translated and alternative formats (e.g. Braille, large print, audio etc) 
upon request. The special needs of specific groups of prospective applicants (e.g. the housebound, 
gypsies and travellers), will be taken account of when making any arrangement to access and provide 
information and advice. Information will be made available using a variety of media, including printed 
hard copy form, on the LA website and via the telephone. 

Applicants will be informed of their rights to seek assistance from the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission, if they believe the Local Authority has breached the Human Rights Act 1998, by 
contravening their human rights or unlawfully discriminating against them. Those applicants who are 
unable to be involved or participate in their community due to an illness, disability, age or any other 
characteristic, will also be treated with the same favour as those who are actively involved or 
participating in their community.

A HAS must afford a reasonable preference to applicants who fall into certain statutory groups6, which 
has been established in case law to mean such applicants ‘should be given a reasonable head start’ 7.  
The proposed HAS also affords additional preference to some prescribed applicants who have been 
afforded reasonable preference as provided by legislation8. The highest priority Band A will consist of 
applicants who will be awarded additional preference, in addition to being entitled to a reasonable 
preference for an allocation of social housing accommodation. These applicants are listed for each 
characteristic in Impact: Explanation column as Band A.

 Impact: The HAS aims to have an overall positive effect on households in the area with significant 
housing need.  
Protected 
Characteristic Impact Explanation Evidence

Pos Neg Neu
Age √ The procedure contains provision 

which positively discriminate due 
3.1.1 Age9

Currently, median age 

4 p15 The Essential Guide to the Public Sector Equality Duty, 2011 (revised 2014)
5 Statutory Code of Practice on Racial Equality in Housing, 2005 Example 38. 
6 HA 1996, s 166A(a)
7 R v Wolverhampton MBC ex p Watters (1997(
8 HA 1996, s 166A(3)
9 A review of housing allocation in the Liverpool City Region, January 2020

Page 218

Agenda Item 6



to age.  These include: 

Victims of hate crime amounting 
to violence or threats of violence 
due to their age being placed in 
Band A. 

Some social housing 
accommodation is specifically 
designated to applicants under 
the age of 35 years, or over the 
age of state pension entitlement 
due to the suitability for certain 
age groups and will be advertised 
as such.

Sheltered and extra care housing 
is targeted specifically at older 
people, usually from 55 and 
upwards. 

Young applicants who have been 
looked after, accommodated or 
fostered by any local authority as 
part of the performance of its 
children social care duties by the 
LA will be exempt from local 
connection requirements when 
preparing to leave the care 
arrangements so that they can 
apply for a social rented home in 
their original home area. 

of lead tenants is 
recorded, but no other 
data is available with 
regard to age as a 
protected 
characteristic. 

Disability √ The procedure contains provision 
which positively discriminate due 
to disability.  These include: 

Those whose medical condition is 
life threatening and their existing 
accommodation is a major 
contributory factor; those whose 
planned discharge from hospital is 
imminent and there is no 
accommodation available to them 
which is reasonable for them to 
occupy; and victims of hate crime 

3.6.3 Wheelchair user 
standards10

Between 2013-14 and 
2017-18, 5% of all 
Affordable Rent 
General Needs lettings 
and 3% of Social Rent 
General needs lettings 
across the 6 LCR 
areas met wheelchair 
user standards.

10 A review of housing allocation in the Liverpool City Region, January 2020

Page 219

Agenda Item 6



amounting to violence or threats 
of violence due to their disability 
all being placed in Band A.

Specific arrangements will be 
considered for each individual 
applicant and property where it 
may be accessible, informing an 
applicant of a property’s 
accessible features and 
implementing a mechanism to 
identify the requirements of 
disabled applicants, to allow extra 
time for disabled applicants, if 
they need it, to accept an offer 
and for providing support in 
making applications. 

Applicants who can prove they 
have a continuing caring 
responsibility for someone who is 
resident in the Liverpool City 
Region, and that this care could 
not be provided unless they were 
resident in the region, will be 
exempt from local connection 
requirements. 

Gender 
Reassignment 
(Transgender) 

√ The procedure contains provision 
which positively discriminate due 
to Gender reassignment.  These 
include: 

Victims of hate crime amounting 
to violence or threats of violence 
due to gender reassignment being 
placed in Band A.

There is currently no 
local allocations data 
available for this 
protected 
characteristic.

Sex (Gender), √ The procedure does not contain 
specific provision which positively 
discriminate due to gender, 
although the gender of each 
member of an applicant 
household is fully considered 
during the assessment process 

3.1.3 Gender11

There was an 
imbalance of genders 
among affordable rent 
and social rent general 
need lettings, with 69% 
and 58% of lettings 
made to women, 

11 A review of housing allocation in the Liverpool City Region, January 2020

Page 220

Agenda Item 6



with regard to the size and type of 
accommodation that would be 
suitable, due to children over a 
certain age not having to share a 
bedroom with a child of a different 
sex.

slightly higher 
compared to 55% of 
female general needs 
lettings in England12. 
This is likely a result of 
the priority given to 
single parents by social 
housing providers. 

In contrast, new 
supported housing 
lettings contained more 
male tenants, 
averaging 58% of all 
supported housing 
lettings across the 
LCR, higher, compared 
with England, recording 
52% of new supported 
housing lettings to 
male households in 
2017-1813  

This data will not all be 
relevant to this EIA but 
supports the 
Explanation (left).  

Race √ The procedure contains provision 
which positively discriminate due 
to race.  These include: 

Victims of racial harassment 
amounting to violence or threats 
of violence, and victims of hate 
crime amounting to violence or 
threats of violence due to their 
race being placed in Band A.

Essential and appropriate checks 
carried out to establish an 
applicant’s eligibility to be 
allocated social rented housing 
will be monitored to ensure that 

3.1.2 Ethnicity14

In the LCC area black 
households were over-
represented in new 
social housing lettings, 
at 5.8% compared to 
4% of the English 
population15. Asian 
households were 
under-represented, 
constituting 2% of 
lettings but 7% of the 
population. The 
remaining 6.2% of new 
lettings were to 
households with mixed 

12 MHCLG Social Housing Lettings April 2017 to March 2018, England.
13 MHCLG Social Housing Lettings April 2017 to March 2018, England.
14 A review of housing allocation in the Liverpool City Region, January 2020
15 Population denominators by ethnic group, 2017

Page 221

Agenda Item 6



they are not discriminatory on the 
basis of race, nationality, ethnic 
origin, or any other protected 
characteristic. 

race, Chinese or other 
ethnic group lead 
tenants.  The 
remaining 5 LAs 
recorded less than 3% 
black and other 
minority ethnicity 
(BME) households in 
new social housing 
lettings.  

Religion/Belief √ The procedure contains provision 
which positively discriminate due 
to religion/belief.  These include:

Victims of hate crime amounting 
to violence or threats of violence 
due to their religion or belief being 
placed in Band A..

There is currently no 
local allocations data 
available for this 
protected 
characteristic.

Sexual 
Orientation 
(Lesbian, Gay 
and Bisexual)

√ The procedure contains provision 
which positively discriminate due 
to sexual orientation.  These 
include: 

Victims of hate crime amounting 
to violence or threats of violence 
due to their sexual orientation 
being placed in Band A.

There is currently no 
local allocations data 
available for this 
protected 
characteristic.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity

√ The procedure contains provision 
which positively discriminate due 
to pregnancy and maternity.  
These include: 

Victims of hate crime amounting 
to violence or threats of violence 
due to their pregnancy or 
maternity being placed in Band A.

There is currently no 
local allocations data 
available for this 
protected 
characteristic.

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership

√ The procedure contains provision 
which positively discriminate due 
to marriage and civil partnership.  
These include: 

Victims of hate crime amounting 
to violence or threats of violence 
due to their marriage or civil 
partnership being placed in Band 
A.

There is currently no 
local allocations data 
available for this 
protected 
characteristic.

Links to evidence
Page 222

Agenda Item 6



A Review of Housing Allocation in the Liverpool City Region, January 2020

MHCLG Social Housing Lettings April 2017 to March 2018, England 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/social-housing-lettings-in-england-april-2017-to-march-2018

2. Consideration of Alternatives

2.1 Retain the current HAS 
The current HAS must be updated and amended to ensure that the procedure complies with the 
most up to date legislation and case law, and that the impact on equalities is positive, therefore 
retaining the current HAS is not a viable option.

2.2 Make additional or fewer amendments to the current HAS.
The consultation draft HAS that this EIA has assessed provides a clear but comprehensive 
procedure to help ensure that the allocation of scarce social housing is made to those in most need 
of it, in accordance with the most up to date legislation and case law, therefore fewer or additional 
amendments to the HAS will likely result in it not being fit for purpose, and possibly unlawful. 

3. Consultation

Stakeholder/group consulted Evidence/Link to data, reports etc
Liverpool Housing Directors 
Consultation event
Housing Select Committee
PPP Project Board
Liverpool Private Registered 
Providers Consultation Event
LA and Private Registered 
Providers Survey
Stakeholder Survey
Public Consultation Survey

A consultation report will be published with all findings once all consultation has been completed and 
the responses analysed.

4. Monitoring Arrangements

 PPP Project Board members will review current monitoring arrangements and put in place 
quarterly and annual monitoring of the impact of the implementation of the HAS on 
equalities.

 Housing Select Committee to continue with its scrutiny role

5. Publication

Where will this Equality Impact Assessment be 
Reported:         
Published:    
Date:

Proposed implementation date of project/proposal: 

Page 223

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/social-housing-lettings-in-england-april-2017-to-march-2018


Funding arrangements: 

Page 224

Agenda Item 6



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 10 March 2022

Subject: Town Deal: The Enterprise Arcade

Report of: Executive Director
(Place)

Wards Affected: Dukes

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regeneration and Skills

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

Report to update Cabinet on the Southport Town Deal project, The Enterprise Arcade, 
and to present the preferred option for progressing the commitment of Town Deal 
funding for the project. The report also includes a summary of the business case for 
submission by the Council, as accountable body, to Government on behalf of the 
Southport Town Deal board.

Recommendation(s)

That:

(1) Agree that the Business Case for this project is endorsed to go forward as part of 
the Town Deal investment package;

(2) delegate to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services, in consultation with the Executive Director (Place) in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Skills, and, the Chair of the Southport 
Town Deal Board, the signing and returning of the Project Documentation to 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) in line with Town 
Deal funding deadlines, in order to trigger the release of funding and commence 
the project activity; and

(3) Cabinet recommend to Council the approval of a supplementary capital estimate 
of £1.25m funded from the Town Deal.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Under the Town Deal Heads of Terms, Sefton Council is required to submit businesses 
cases within 12 months of the offer (by March 2022). 

The preferred option for Enterprise Arcade is set out in the business case and in the 
Design Feasibility RIBA Stage 2 Report which will allow for the provision of 898 m2 of 
improved floor space comprising of Crown Building* and 3 adjacent retail units on 
Eastbank Street, Southport. 

Page 225

Agenda Item 7



(* the Dove Properties management suite is excluded from this initial phase 1 work but 
may be drawn into the proposed works subject to agreeing a release of this office with 
the current 
leaseholder). 

Securing a Tenant who will act as an operating partner for the Enterprise Arcade will be 
integral to the long-term success of the project. Through agreeing a Property Lease, with 
embedded contractual obligations, the risks of ongoing financial liability for the operation 
and day-to-day costs of running the building will be transferred to the Tenant partner, 
meaning that there will be no ongoing financial burden to the council relative to any 
operating costs. The Council will continue to have responsibility for the structural integrity 
of the building and associated services, and provision will be made in the lease 
agreement for a contribution to these costs from the lessee/operator. The freehold of the 
building will remain with the Council as will the long term benefit of the Town Deal 
funding for improvements to the asset. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

The RIBA Stage 2 report lists the alternative options considered in delivering Enterprise 
Arcade across 8 options differentiated by scale/levels of finish and associated cost. 

The Do Nothing option is rejected on the basis of not meeting the Core Objectives of the 
Project and output requirement committed within the Town Investment Plan and related 
Heads of Terms. 

The preferred option delivers to the required level of outputs within the available budget 
and all associated Project Risks for this project at Design Stage 2 are addressed in the 
Stage 2 Design Feasibility Report. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
The Design and Delivery Team costs relating to development into the next stages of 
design fees will be capitalised and fully funded via the Town Deal. These cost will be met 
via the early release of the first 5% of the awarded Town Deal funds.  The project funding 
will provide the resources required to deliver the development. This will allow for a level 
of fee allocation to cover the costs to the Council as the project client - contract 
management and associated costs. The Town Deal programme makes provision for 
Programme Management costs and will provide the project support in the processes 
associated with administering claims, monitoring and reporting requirements. The 
Schedule of Requirements associated with the Lease will require from the operator a 
regular report on performance against key performance indicators linked to Town Deal. 

In October 2021 it was reported to Cabinet that the financial implications associated with 
the proposed Property Lease will be reported in a future update to Cabinet as part of the 
Business Case.

Delays in finalising the designs for the project due to the reduced settlement for the 
Southport Town Deal and consequential loss of Enterprise Store project, resulted in the 
need to balance project scale against operator requirements and viability. On that basis 
the operator procurement has been pushed back as a result we do not have at this stage 
the detailed revenue models that will emerge through that process. A further report will 

Page 226

Agenda Item 7



now be presented on completion of the operator procurement which is now ongoing. This 
will tie in with the lease and link to progressing the commitment to implementing the 
capital works.

Delivery of the physical project will be self-contained and the Exit Strategy for the project 
is represented by the conclusion of the works and at that point the property being made 
available to the leaseholder and operator for the project. The project is intended to be 
cost neutral to the Council whilst both securing investment in an existing Council asset, 
and impacting positively on the Council’s Core Purpose and agreed Town Deal 
outcomes and priorities. 

(B) Capital Costs
The Southport Town Deal will fund the Capital costs of this project in its entirety to the 
agreed level of fit out. Any final fit out cost to meet the specific operating requirements of 
the Tenant/operator/occupiers will be met by the lease holder/operator of the Enterprise 
Arcade if required. Based on the RIBA Stage 2 Design, these costs have been estimated 
to be £1.5m. The business case provides a sensitivity analysis for information and to 
support decision making.

The project is profiled to deliver the capital elements in 2022/3 financial year and within 
the capital programme £250k is already approved, a further £1.25m will be required to 
provide for project delivery. These costs will be fully recovered through the Town Deal 
Programme subject to DLUHC approval of the Business Case and meeting the 
requirement of the associated Grant Funding Agreement.

Any risk associated with claw back will be mitigated through the implementation of 
appropriate project and programme management and all works will be delivered in 
accordance with the Councils financial and wider regulatory and governance procedures. 

Wider risk management and risk mitigation as this relates to delivery of the project 
features as an element of the RIBA Stage 2 Feasibility Report (Project Risk Register) 
and moving forward will be managed within the project and contract management 
processes associated with further design and delivery stages. 

Subsidy Control (formerly State Aid) will be addressed through the lease and operator 
procurement process and will require the operator to demonstrate compliance through its 
organisational structure and the associated business model for the project.  

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The project is being progressed by Council staff, funded from existing Council budgets.

Legal Implications:
There are no legal implications anticipated with the project that are not addressed 
herein.

Equality Implications:
A Public Sector Equality Duty proforma has to be submitted to show any equality 
impacts, under Town Deal guidelines and will be included as part of the submission to 
Government. 

Page 227

Agenda Item 7



Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
Have a neutral impact N
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The Enterprise Arcade project aims to significantly improve the energy and water 
efficiency of assets it occupies and in the way it operates contributing towards the 
council’s Climate Emergency targets.  No provision is made for car parking, as the site 
is very well served by public transport in the form of both rail and bus services. In 
addition the proposed design will incorporate bespoke secure cycle storage facilities.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: As with all council regeneration projects, the project 
business case will identify and develop inclusive opportunities in employment and 
training for all people across Sefton.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Acting as a beacon to raise levels of 
aspiration and support the delivery of desired life outcomes, including direct support to 
start and sustain viable business and created employment opportunities for residents. 
Clear connectivity between business, education and communities.

Commission, broker and provide core services: The Enterprise Arcade’s proximity and 
relationship with the Atkinson and library services will add value to the services offered. 
It will also support delivery of elements of the Sefton Economic Strategy, working 
alongside the InvestSefton service. This includes supporting new business starts, 
sustainability, business growth ambitions. New and growing business will also provide 
employment opportunities, aligned to objectives and delivered in conjunction with 
Sefton@work

Place – leadership and influencer: The proposed project will be the first initiative of this 
type in the Town Centre. It will be an enabler for transformational change and lead to 
further private sector investment in Southport.

Drivers of change and reform: Providing a long-term sustainable future for underutilised 
assets in the Town Centre. Supporting economic diversification and retention of young 
people in Southport. 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Providing a long-term sustainable future for 
underutilised assets in the Town Centre. Supporting the creation and sustainability of 
new business starts, business growth and sectoral development of the Creative, Digital 
and Technology Sector(s) in Southport. Supports jobs creation.

Greater income for social investment: The project will be required to demonstrate 
through the delivery stages social value outcomes commensurate with the value of the 
contract

Page 228

Agenda Item 7



Cleaner Greener: The future operation will contribute to Sefton’s objectives in respect of 
climate emergency.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6721/22) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4721/22.) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 
The Enterprise Arcade project is part of the Southport Town Deal’s Town Investment 
Plan which was submitted following an extensive public consultation with residents, 
visitors, business owners and young people (on which more than 7,000 responses were 
received). The project was identified as a priority by the Town Deal Board, in both the 
submission of the bid in October 2020, and in the allocation of the awarded funding in 
March 2021. In addition the Town Deal Board considered the Business Case in Feb 
2022 and approved its submission to Government subject to Cabinet consideration in 
March 2022.

The recommendations are supported by the feedback of Operator Soft Market Testing, 
undertaken during the Summer of 2021. The recommendations are support by the 
stakeholder consultation which was undertaken for the RIBA Stage 2 feasibility report 
and detailed therein. 

Contact Officer: Keith Molloy 
Telephone Number: Tel:  0151 934 2734
Email Address: Keith.molloy@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:
The following appendices are attached to this report:

Appendix A 
Enterprise Arcade Business Case
Append B 
Enterprise Arcade RIBA Stage 2 Design Feasibility Report 

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available elsewhere on the Internet can 
be accessed on the Council website: 

Cabinet meeting 1st April 2021, Southport Town Deal – Heads of Terms: http://smbc-
modgov-
03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$L
O$=1 

Cabinet meeting 7th October 2021,  Town Deal: Enterprise Arcade Project

Page 229

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Keith.molloy@sefton.gov.uk
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1


Town Deal Board: http://smbc-modgov-03/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=881 

1. Background

1.1 Following the successful submission of Southport’s Town Investment Plan, under 
the government’s Town Deal funding programme, Southport has been allocated 
£37.5m for a range of projects.  All project funding allocations through the Town 
Deal have been developed with the agreement and support of the Town Deal 
Board and in line with the Town Deal Programme Heads of Terms. 

1.2 One of the projects agreed and allocated £1.5m of funding is The Enterprise 
Arcade. The Town Investment Plan set this out as the regeneration and 
transformation of Crown Buildings into Southport’s first flexible office collaborative 
co working space; designed to act as an incubator and flexible/co-working space 
for start-up businesses with the purpose of nurturing the growth of the creative 
digital and technology led business base which already exists in the town but 
currently has no identifiable geographic focus.

1.3 In a break away from traditional office space and embracing the move towards 
flexible and hybrid working the Enterprise Arcade will be a ‘Place for Pioneers’, 
playing a part in Sefton’s and the City Regions Economic Recovery Plan.  The 
benefits being seen in an outward looking resilient economy, underpinned by the 
infrastructure which connects the whole of the Liverpool City Region. 

1.4 The preferred option sets out the business case for the Councils delivery of the 
project and subsequent lease of the building to suitable tenant who will then be 
responsible for and contractually committed to the operation of the Enterprise 
Arcade and achieving the outcomes and outputs required under the Town Deal 
Heads of Terms. 

1.5 The tenant will be appointed under a Property Lease with contractual obligations 
as set out in the Cabinet report dated 7th October 2021.  

2. Project Outcomes 

2.1 Key objectives of the project include: 

 Support the diversification of the local economy
 Deliver refurbished floorspace to create a business incubator and meet the 

needs of new and growing businesses through flexible, experiential 
workspaces

 Increase the number of business in the target sector(s)
 Support new business starts and encourage entrepreneurship 
 Support business and provide the right space for them to expand
 Support the creation of new jobs and training opportunities
 Act as a hub for businesses and innovation in Southport, facilitate the networks 

and connectivity to support a thriving business ecosystem

Page 230

Agenda Item 7

http://smbc-modgov-03/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=881


 Drive private sector investment and help to deliver a new Creative, Digital and 
Tech led district

 Help retain younger people in Southport
 Help ensure greater integration between education and business

3. Delivery Approach and Recommendation 

3.1 A range of options for delivering these objectives has been assessed and a 
Recommended Option developed. The Recommended Option is set out in the 
RIBA Design Report and will involve in the first Phase, the renovation of 898m2 of 
floor space in the Crown Building and three vacant adjacent shop units.

3.2 The RIBA Stage 2 Feasibility Report identifies a wider opportunity incorporating 
elements of space within the Bank Buildings (the Atkinson) and sets out how this 
wider opportunity might be realised. The report also recognises the limits of the 
current funding to deliver the Project and on this basis the scope of works 
identified in the report as Phase 1 of the project involves works only to Crown 
Building and the vacant Eastbank Street retail units which will link together 
through the proposed works. Associated with the identification of a suitable tenant 
operator the ability to deliver future phases of the wider project opportunity will be 
explored together with potential future routes to funding. 

4. Business Case

The Business Case developed for the project meets the requirement set out by 
Government and funding approval through the Town Deal Programme. The 
Business Case adopts a Treasury Green Book approach providing a 5 Case 
Model as a methodology detailing for the Project the: 

 Strategic Case
 Economic Case 
 Financial Case 
 Commercial Case 
 Management Case 

A summary of each of the 5 cases as contained within the Business Case as 
follows: 

STRATEGIC CASE

The Enterprise Arcade will provide a focal point for the development of the 
CreaTech sector in Southport and address a significant shortfall in the provision of 
commercial office space for SMEs whilst at the same time repurposing legacy 
retail property.
CreaTech is the umbrella term used to cover the emerging activities in which 
technology enables creativity to produce new, value added products, services, or 
experiences and vice-versa.

In the UK the CreaTech sector is one of the fastest growing sectors and provides 
high paid and highly productive opportunities for the workforce – typically focused 

Page 231

Agenda Item 7



on a younger demographic. Southport is home to a number of successful 
CreaTech companies but in relative terms has not developed the same proportion 
of its business base and employment from the sector. One of the critical aspects 
in this underdevelopment has been the lack of a ‘hub’ around which businesses 
can establish, grow, learn and collaborate.
Those wishing to work in the sector, many of whom have achieved sector relevant 
qualifications from Southport College, either leave the area as they enter the 
workforce or take ongoing studies or out-commute. This is a lost opportunity in a 
town which is seeking to diversify its economic base and retain a greater 
proportion of people in the younger demographics.
The characteristics of the sector with dynamic new entrants offering limited 
covenant strength from a commercial property perspective present a significant 
challenge in attracting the provision of new office space. Southport in general 
presents viability challenges for office developers but this is compounded by the 
nature of the sector.
The opportunity to create the Enterprise Arcade represents a perfect opportunity 
to repurpose a legacy retail asset which is one of many voids in a town centre 
badly affected by general UK high street issues and Covid-19. It creates a new 
and highly attractive office development for a modest cost in a priority area of the 
town centre and can be entirely focused on the CreaTech centre and operated by 
a provider with experience of driving growth within that sector.  

ECONOMIC CASE

The scheme offers strong value for money. A prudent approach has been taken in 
the development of a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) value for money calculation. Gross 
jobs accommodated within the scheme has been estimated at 74 for the purposes 
of the economic case. The employment has been adjusted for deadweight, 
leakage and displacement before a multiplier impact was applied. The discounted 
GVA benefits of the scheme were calculated with a persistence effect of 3 years 
at £5.3m. The discounted costs were adjusted upwards for optimism bias and 
after this adjustment the scheme demonstrates a BCR of 3.34 which represents 
very good value for money against DLUHC guidance (a figure above 2 is 
considered good). 

In addition to the BCR the scheme provides 898m2 of repurposed floorspace 
which is a key measure for Towns Fund urban regeneration schemes and 
contributes against a number of qualitative factors relating to sector development, 
workforce retention and town centre footfall and vibrancy.

FINANCIAL CASE

The financial case considers the capital costs associated with the conversion of 
Crown Buildings and the retail elements of Bank building into the Enterprise 
Arcade. The intention is that the completed building will be operated by an 
experienced provider of similar space for the CreaTech sector, but the provider is 
yet to be procured. As such, none of the operational costs or future rental receipts 
are incorporated into the business case – the financial case is concerned only with 
the refurbishment.

Page 232

Agenda Item 7



The architects (K2) have been working within the budget envelope of £1.5m 
provided by Towns Fund. The scheme will result in the conversion of 898m2 to a 
Category A standard accommodation. This approach provides a full refurbishment 
and provision of services to the standards required of a business hub facility. The 
remaining partitioning and fit out works will be the responsibility of the Tenant 
operator – and this is considered appropriate given their specialist input into the 
nature of the final co-working and lease space for the sector.
The architect’s approach has been fully validated by the work of a Quantity 
Surveyor (Gleeds) and they have provided a full cost estimate that demonstrates 
the affordability of the scheme, complete with a buffer for contingency. On this 
basis the final budget estimate is £1.5m when taken together with associated fees 
and costs. 

COMMERCIAL CASE

The delivery of the refurbishment project will be undertaken by a lead contractor, 
under a fixed price contract. This approach will then ensure that the scheme is 
delivered to budget with the appropriate contractual conditions aiming to ensure 
that the scheme is delivered against the timetable provided. This contract will be 
procured in compliance with public sector procurement rules and the process will 
be managed by Sefton Council officers.
The management of the centre beyond refurbishment will be undertaken by an 
experienced operator, also to be selected through a robust procurement exercise. 
This approach has been informed through soft market testing with operators 
experienced in the provision of collaborative business hubs for the CreaTech 
sector. The freehold interest of the final scheme will remain with Sefton Council.
The compliance of the scheme within Subsidy Control regulations has also been 
assessed and given that the scheme will remain in public ownership and the 
procurement approach being undertaken combined with the requirement for 
businesses to pay a market rent for occupation the scheme is deemed to be 
compliant with the regulations.

MANAGEMENT CASE

The project will be managed in accordance with the well-established assurance 
and management framework established by The Council. Within this framework a 
programme, cost plan, risk register and evaluation process has been defined.

A summary of the Business Case for Enterprise Arcade can be seen at Appendix 
A. The status of the Business Case is described as a ‘Business Case Light’ given 
the status of the project Design and associated costings. This approach is 
consistent with and compliant to Towns Fund Guidance, using the template 
provided for this purpose. On this basis the next stages of design and 
development will include cost review provisions to allow for ongoing management 
and cost control as part of the normal risk management process.  

5. Securing Preferred Operator 

Page 233

Agenda Item 7



5.1 Securing a preferred Tenant operator for the project is identified as key in 
achieving the main objectives of the project at section 2 above. Independent 
advice was sought in establishing the most appropriate way to secure a 
suitable operator for the project. 

5.2 The advice provided recommended a lease agreement with performance 
requirements linked to a schedule within the lease arrangement as the 
mechanism to secure the delivery, recording and reporting of the necessary 
Town Deal outputs. This approach will ensure the Tenant operator meets all the 
requirements. The tenancy/operator opportunity is marketed through The Chest- 
North West Procurement Portal and build out construction works and in particular 
final fit will be dependent on the identification of a suitable tenant/operator 
through this process. 

6. Town Deal Funding Assurance 

6.1 Soft market testing was carried out on The Chest procurement platform, in 
order to help inform and shape the Operator Model and proposals for an 
Operating Partner for Enterprise Arcade. The market testing exercise is 
intended to allow the council to consider the most appropriate Operator model 
for the long-term delivery of its strategic objectives associated with this project.

6.2 In addition to the market testing officers received external advice through the 
Town Deal Partnership from Grant Thornton (commissioned by government to 
support towns with their Town Deal processes). We evaluated both Delivery 
and Procurement Methods against the needs of the Council, to narrow down 
and identify the preferred option(s) for delivery of the Enterprise Arcade and to 
consider the options for securing an operator. 

6.3   A number of options were outlined for consideration including: 

 Lease and Service Level Agreement with operating partner 
 Procure an operating partner, with management agreement
 Council form new arm’s length company/CIC to deliver
 Council deliver and operate directly 

6.4 Considering the requirements to meet the Town Deal delivery timescales to 
have the business case approved at the very latest by March 2022 and 
assessing on a risk-based approach officers recommend that a Property Lease 
for the Enterprise Arcade assets, containing robust lease obligations as to the 
operation of the asset is pursued. It is considered that this approach will appeal 
to a wide range of potential Tenant operators and will therefore secure the right 
operator for the project, whilst also setting out requirements for the purpose of 
the operations to achieve the outcomes and benefits set out under the Town 
Deal.

6.5 It is also recommended that giving operators the option to form a Community 
Interest Company (CIC), by which it can explicitly demonstrate social purpose 
and through the inclusion of an asset lock (so the asset is tied into the delivery), 
and having a requirement to operate with a clear social objective, would add 

Page 234

Agenda Item 7



synergy to the purpose of the Town Deal investment and economic growth in 
the town

6.6 It is considered that the single-document approach of embedding all obligations 
within the lease is preferable to a dual document approach or a bare lease and 
separate operating contract, both to eliminate the risk of any gaps between how 
the two documents dovetail with each other and also to mitigate against the 
operator contract being subject to a separate procurement exercise. The 
Property Lease will include Crown Buildings, vacant retail Units 3 & 5-7 
Eastbank Street.

7. Asset Regeneration 

7.1 Alongside developing options for the operating model officers have been 
progressing the building design options with externally appointed architects 
who prepared a RIBA Stage 2 design  (feasibility). This confirms the total floor 
area of the Enterprise Arcade Phase 1 works and will be shared with potential 
lessee/operators and aid the development of their submissions and business 
model.

7.2 The procurement of the next stages of design and delivery will follow the Stage 
2 report. The options available for compliant procurement will be assessed 
based on their potential level of risk:

1. Open Procurement through the Chest
2. Compliant Public Framework 

Using a compliant framework is considered the option with the lowest risk and 
more easily meets the timescales required to comply with Town Deal Heads of 
Terms for producing the business cases. 

7.3 The decision on the Procurement route for the next design stages through to 
project delivery and construction has previously been delegated to the 
Executive Director (Place), in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration and Skills.

8. Next Steps

8.1 As previously agreed by Cabinet, the Property Lease has been drawn up and 
advertised with a view to agreeing the Lease and operator before the final 
design stages of the project are fixed. 

8.2 Officers will shortly commence procurement through a compliant framework for 
design and build phases of the project. Moving to the construction stage of the 
phase 1 works will only progress on confirmation that the Project Business 
Case has been approved by Government and funding secured on that basis. 

8.3 Further information on the refurbishment/design and outcome of the Property 
Lease for the operating model for the Enterprise Arcade will be subject of 
progress updates to Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Skills and Cabinet 
Member for Regulatory, Compliance & Corporate Services.

Page 235

Agenda Item 7



8.4 The Business Case and Summary Document which is required by DLUHC will 
be submitted to Town Deal Board for their information and in order to meet the 
government deadlines for release of further funding to deliver the Enterprise 
Arcade Project. 

Page 236

Agenda Item 7



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

BUSINESS CASE

SOUTHPORT TOWNS FUND

ENTERPRISE ARCADE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 237

Agenda Item 7



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The business case has been developed for an Enterprise Arcade in the Crown Buildings in Southport 
and is a core component of the Southport Towns Deal Fund project.

STRATEGIC CASE

The Enterprise Arcade will provide a focal point for the development of the CreaTech sector in Southport 
and address a chronic shortfall in the provision of commercial office space for SMEs whilst at the same 
time repurposing legacy retail property.
In the UK the CreaTech sector is one of the fastest growing sectors and provides high paid and highly 
productive opportunities for the workforce – typically focused on a younger demographic. Southport is 
home to a number of successful CreaTech companies but in relative terms has not developed the same 
proportion of its business base and employment from the sector. One of the critical aspects in this 
underdevelopment has been the lack of a ‘hub’ around which businesses can establish, grow, learn and 
collaborate.
Those wishing to work in the sector, many of whom have achieved sector relevant qualifications from 
Southport College, either leave the area as they enter the workforce or take ongoing studies or out-
commute. This is a lost opportunity in a town which is seeking to diversify its economic base and retain a 
greater proportion of people in the younger demographics.
The characteristics of the sector with dynamic new entrants offering limited covenant strength from a 
commercial property perspective present a significant challenge in attracting the provision of new office 
space. Southport in general presents viability challenges for office developers but this is compounded by 
the nature of the sector.
The development of the Enterprise Arcade represents a perfect opportunity to repurpose a legacy retail 
asset which is one of many voids in a town centre badly affected by general UK high street issues and 
Covid-19. It creates a new and highly attractive office development for a modest cost in a priority area of 
the town centre and can be entirely focused on the CreaTech centre and operated by a provider with 
experience of driving growth within that sector.  

ECONOMIC CASE

The scheme offers strong value for money. A prudent approach has been taken in the development of a 
Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) value for money calculation. Gross jobs accommodated within the scheme has 
been estimated at 74 for the purposes of the economic case. The employment has been adjusted for 
deadweight, leakage and displacement before a multiplier impact was applied. The discounted Gross 
Value Added (GVA) benefits of the scheme were calculated with a persistence effect of 3 years at 
£5.3m. The discounted costs were adjusted upwards for optimism bias and after this adjustment the 
scheme demonstrates a BCR of 3.34 which represents very good value for money against Department 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) guidance.

In addition to the BCR the scheme provides 898m2 of repurposed floorspace which is a key measure for 
Towns Fund urban regeneration schemes and contributes against a number of qualitative factors relating 
to sector development, workforce retention and town centre footfall and vibrancy.

FINANCIAL CASE

The financial case considers the capital costs associated with the conversion of Crown Buildings and 
part of the Old Bank building into the Enterprise Arcade. The intention is that the completed building will 

Page 238

Agenda Item 7



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

be operated by an experienced provider of similar space for the CreaTech sector but the provider is yet 
to be procured. As such, none of the operational costs or future rental receipts are incorporated into the 
business case – the financial case is concerned only with the refurbishment.
The architects (K2) have been working within the budget envelope of £1.5m provided by Towns Fund. 
The scheme will result in the conversion of 898m2 to a Category A standard. This approach provides a 
full refurbishment and provision of services to the standards required of a business hub facility. The 
remaining partitioning and fit out works will be the responsibility of the operator – and this is considered 
appropriate given their specialist input in to the nature of the final co-working and lease space for the 
sector.
The architects approach has been fully validated by the work of a Quantity Surveyor (Gleeds) and they 
have provided a full cost estimate that demonstrates the affordability of the scheme – complete with a 
buffer for contingency / inflation. On this basis the final budget estimate is £1.5m.

COMMERCIAL CASE

The delivery of the refurbishment project will be undertaken by a lead contractor to a fixed price contract. 
This approach will then ensure that the scheme is delivered to budget with the appropriate contractual 
conditions ensuring that the scheme is delivered against the timetable provided. This contract will be 
procured in compliance with public sector procurement rules and the process will be managed by the 
experienced Sefton Council procurement team.
The management of the centre beyond refurbishment will be undertaken by an experienced operator – 
also selected through a compliant procurement approach. This approach has been informed through soft 
market testing with operators experienced in the provision of collaborative business hubs for the 
CreaTech sector. The freehold interest of the final scheme will remain with Sefton Council.
The compliance of the scheme within Subsidy Control regulations has also been assessed and given 
that the scheme will remain in public ownership and the procurement approach being undertaken 
combined with the requirement for businesses to pay a market rent for occupation the scheme is 
deemed to be compliant with the regulations.

MANAGEMENT CASE
The project will be managed in accordance with the well established assurance and management 
framework established by The Council. Within this framework a programme, cost plan, risk register and 
evaluation process has been defined.

CONCLUSIONS

The case for change is strong because of importance of creating the most beneficial environment for 
growing the emerging creative and digital cluster in Southport, there is a good evidence base of both 
need and opportunity . 

The Enterprise Arcade Project offers value for money and the benefit cost ratio is high.

Scheme costs are considered to be proportionate and affordable and the opportunity exists to grow the 
project beyond this initial phase of development. 

Existing procedures and approval mechanisms are suitable for procuring and managing the delivery of 
the project. Key risks and measures to mitigate and manage those risks have been identified. Key 
stakeholders are identified and consultation has taken place and will continue into the next design stage.

Page 239

Agenda Item 7



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template
Page 240

Agenda Item 7



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 10 March 2022

Subject: Customer Experience Training - Business Case

Report of: Executive Director
(Place)

Wards Affected: All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regeneration and Skills

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To update on the Southport Town Deal project, Building Better Customer Experience, 
and to present the preferred option for progressing the commitment of Town Deal 
funding for the project.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is requested to:

(1) agree that the Business Case for this project is endorsed to go forward as part of 
the Town Deal investment package;

(2) delegate to the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services, in consultation with Executive Director (Place) and the Chair of the 
Southport Town Deal Board the signing and returning of the Project 
Documentation to Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) 
in line with Town Deal funding deadlines, in order to trigger the release of funding 
and commence the project activity; and

(3) note that the Executive Director (Place) in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
and Section 151 Officer will be requested to approve a supplementary revenue 
estimate of £200,000, as per the Financial Procedure Rules, to be fully funded by 
the Town Deal.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Under the Town Deal Heads of Terms, Sefton Council is required to submit business 
cases within 12 months of the initial offer (ie by March 2022).

The preferred option for Building Better Customer Experience is set out in the business 
case and reflects an understanding of the needs of the Town in order to make key 
improvements in the quality of the local workforce to underpin the transformation of the 
Town.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Page 241

Agenda Item 8



The Do-Nothing option has been rejected on the basis that we have recognised there are 
key issues connected with the skills and aptitudes of the local workforce which are 
necessary to address in order to achieve the level of transformation we envisage in the 
Town Deal Investment Plan, with increased visitor footfall, increased length of stay and 
return visit and higher levels of satisfaction in key attractions, leisure facilities, catering 
and hospitality settings.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

The Project will cost £200,000 to deliver and will be financed through Town Deal funding.

Any supplementary contributions – including those identified from Sefton Community 
Learning and Southport College – will be funded by those partners – and where these 
are Sefton Council services – these costs will be met from within existing budgets.

(B) Capital Costs

There are no direct capital costs associated with this report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The projects will be delivered by known and credible delivery partners who will recruit 
and deploy new staff to work within their establishments alongside existing staff. IT 
systems to report outcomes, account for funding and supply necessary evidence to 
support performance are already in place.

Legal Implications:
There are no legal implications.

Equality Implications:
An Equality impact assessment is required under Town Deal requirements and will be 
supplied to cover this project.
Since this project will focus on developing the skills of people currently outside the 
labour market accessing second-chance vocational learning opportunities it is 
envisaged that the equality implications of this delivery will be positive.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Yes
Have a neutral impact No
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

The Building Better Customer Experience project will significantly contribute towards the 
council’s Climate Emergency targets through promoting the recruitment and retention of 

Page 242

Agenda Item 8



local residents into employment opportunities within Southport, thereby reducing the 
average travel to work geography. Furthermore, participants in the training will have 
access to a range of support including travel to work plans promoting public transport 
and cycling including travel passes and access to cycles for those meeting key criteria.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: As with all council regeneration projects, the project 
business case will identify and develop inclusive opportunities in employment and 
training for all people across Sefton. This project will particularly impact excluded 
younger people wishing to enter the labour market.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: By raising the quality of the local 
workforce and promoting the viability of the visitor economy as a sector of desirable and 
sustainable employment  

Commission, broker and provide core services: The project will work closely with other 
initiatives focused on business growth in the town It will also be aligned with the 
emerging processes to maximise job capture from capital investments arising from the 
various elements of the Town Deal approach.

Place – leadership and influencer: The proposed project will be the first initiative of this 
type in the Town Centre and will seek to drive forward a new standard in customer 
experience that will be linked with the transformation of Southport. The project will be an 
enabler for change and lead to further private sector investment in Southport.

Drivers of change and reform: The project will provide a new template for private sector 
investors and business to drive up the quality of visitor experience, promote return visits 
and further promote engagement between the Town Deal and the local community and 
the visitor economy sector.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Equipping individuals with higher levels of 
marketable skills will enhance their resilience and employability in the longer term. 
Working with employers to understand their quality expectations will enable a smoother 
match between businesses wishing to recruit and those seeking entry to sustainable 
work.

Greater income for social investment: The project will impact across the private, public 
and community sectors by enhancing the visitor experience. This in turn will assist in 
providing the key determinants for increased social investment.

Cleaner Greener: The future operation will contribute to Sefton’s aims to becoming net 
zero Carbon Neutral by promoting local employment, reducing commuter travel patterns 
and offering access to cycles or public transport support for potential new recruits.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Page 243

Agenda Item 8



The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6722/22.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4722/22.) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Building Better Customer Experience project is part of the Southport Town Deal’s 
Town Investment Plan which was submitted following an extensive public consultation 
with residents, visitors, business owners and young people (on which more than 7,000 
responses were received). 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting.

Contact Officer: Claire Maguire
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2684
Email Address: claire.maguire@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report:

Appendix A 
Building Better Customer Experience Business Case

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available elsewhere on the Internet can 
be accessed on the Council website: 

Cabinet meeting 1st April 2021, Southport Town Deal – Heads of Terms: http://smbc-
modgov-
03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$L
O$=1 
   

Town Deal Board: http://smbc-modgov-03/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=881 

Page 244

Agenda Item 8

http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=881


1. Background

1.1 Following the successful submission of Southport’s Town Investment Plan, under 
the government’s Town Deal funding programme, Southport has been allocated 
£37.5m for a range of projects.  All project funding allocations through the Town 
Deal have been developed with the agreement and support of the Town Deal 
Board and in line with the Town Deal Programme Heads of Terms.

1.2 One of the projects agreed and allocated £200,000 of funding is The Building 
Better Customer Experience.

1.3 The Building Better Customer Experience project is the only element of Town 
Deal funding which is revenue based as it will be used to support the training of 
employees, residents and other stakeholders.

1.4 The preferred option sets out the business case for the Council’s delivery of the 
project including roles and responsibilities of providers and will then be 
responsible for the operation of the Building Better Customer Experience project 
and achieving the outcomes and outputs required under the Town Deal Heads of 
Terms.

2. Project Outcomes 

The Project is a co-ordinated programme of blended training to be delivered by trusted 
partners committed to the transformation of the Town which will deliver a step change in 
skills and attitude of workers engaged in the visitor economy and public sector services 
across Southport to enhance the quality of visitor experiences, promote return business 
and increase length of stay.

2.1 Key objectives of the project include the following Towns Fund output 
requirements for training and skills development projects:

 Number of closer collaborations with employers – The programme will engage 
with employers to provide input to course content and to provide trainee 
employment experience. The programme will collaborate with c30 employers.

 Number of learners/students/trainees gaining certificates, graduating or 
completing courses at new or improved training or education facilities, or attending 
new courses. This measure will be delivered by Southport College and is 
estimated at 320.

 Number of learners enrolled in new education and training courses. This measure 
will be delivered by Sefton Council and Sefton Adult Learning Service and is 
estimated at 1800. 

3. Delivery Approach and Recommendation 

3.1 A range of options for delivering the project objectives has been assessed and a 
Recommended Option developed. 

Page 245

Agenda Item 8



3.2 The preferred option entails a three-strand approach delivered via Sefton Council 
workforce development team, Southport College and Sefton Council’s Adult 
Learning Service. 

3.3 A funding agreement will be set up between the Council as the applicant for the 
Town Deal funding and Southport College to cover those elements of the project 
being delivered through the College. 

3.4 The preferred option is recommended on the assumption that there are key 
project assurance processes, safeguarding and quality measures in place within 
the delivery partners that will enable a swift start

3.5 Commencing after the release of government funding, the training will be 
delivered over 24 months from January 2023, with financial completion of all 
activity by end March 25. Approximately £135k is scheduled for expenditure in 
year 2, with the remaining £65k in year 3, allowing for funding to be rolled over 
between years if necessary.

4. Business Case

The Business Case developed for the project meets the requirement set out by 
Government for approval through the Town Deal Programme.  Advice from the 
Town Deal appointed consultancy partners indicates that while the Business Case 
for a revenue project of modest budget such as this should adopts a Treasury 
Green Book approach providing a 5 Case Model, it should also be proportionate in 
scale and complexity

The Business Case therefore covers the following domains:

Strategic Case
Economic Case 
Financial Case 
Commercial Case 
Management Case 

A summary of each of the 5 cases as contained within the Business Case as 
follows: 

STRATEGIC CASE

 Southport has been badly impacted by the national decline in town centre retail 
activity and some of the general issues affecting seaside locations. 

 Impacts have been worsened by lockdowns effecting the leisure and hospitality 
sector during the pandemic.

 There is a wide-ranging plan for renewal within Southport to reinvigorate the 
visitor sector which is fundamental to the economy of the town but we recognize 
that a bricks and mortar approach must be supplemented with skills and 
employment interventions if the full extent of the programme is to be realised for 
the community.

 Pandemic has caused workers to drift away from the hospitality sector. For 
Southport to deliver on an objective of providing a distinct and high-quality visitor 

Page 246

Agenda Item 8



offer there is a need to create a skilled base of workers that can help create an 
enhanced customer experience.

 Visitor economy is the largest sector of employment in Southport. The ability of 
the town to attract visitors (and repeat visits) is affected by the quality of customer 
service and the wider experience that visitors receive. 

 Intervention is therefore needed in order to ensure Southport’s highly important 
visitor economy experiences a quick recovery from the impacts of Covid-19. 

 By aligning with other Southport Town Investment Plan (TIP) projects, this project 
will provide training and development programmes for anyone that has contact 
with visitors in Southport with the aim of creating a consistent level of outstanding 
service that can be associated with a ‘Southport standard’.

ECONOMIC CASE

 Preferred option provides 1,500 units of blended learning to Council staff 
members with interactions with the public; Southport College will deliver 320 
modules of customer service training alongside its relevant course provision for 
both its young person provision and adult learners & Sefton Adult Learning 
Service will provide 300 learners not currently engaged within the workforce.

 Economic uplift that could be achieved from the training is based on a 
Government assessment of the impact of the FE sector on earnings and 
employment. This assessment is then used as a core set of assumptions for the 
economic model reflecting the short term and modular basis of the training 
provision.

 The uplift in GVA is calculated as £1.27m over the three years of the programme 
after adjusting gross outputs to net outputs and ensuring that aspects such as 
optimism bias have been considered. 

 A partial BCR has been calculated at 5.3 and as such the scheme offers very 
good value for money against DLUHC benchmarks. The partial BCR reflects a 
difficulty in costing the provision which will be made by partners from the 
infrastructure, systems, marketing and management

 MHCLG (now DLUHC) ‘Towns Fund guidance (stage two): business case 
development’ 16 December 2020 notes the following, ‘Value for money is ideally 
demonstrated in a credible Benefit-Cost Ratio, but where some of the costs and/or 
benefits cannot be monetised at the present time, the economic case should 
proportionally capture these impacts and specify a partial value for money 
measure. Wider benefits and costs should be considered and specified where 
these are sizeable, compared with the direct impacts.’

FINANCIAL CASE

 The project will be funded by £200,000 revenue funding from the Town Deal. 
However, additional contributions will be received from partners as follows:

 Sefton Council will devise content within parts of their ‘Me Learning’ platform to 
deliver aspects of the training to Council employees. The website will be adapted 
& managed and monitored internally using Council resource.

 Southport College will provide their own management & monitoring resource to 
the project. The College will also build their employer engagement to ensure there 
are work placements for students undertaking relevant modules.

Page 247

Agenda Item 8



 Within the College strand, where there is demand for hospitality and leisure 
focused courses providing skills in customer service, management, leadership, 
marketing and team building it will be possible to deliver NVQs relevant to the 
industry and share evidence of the associated skills and training budgets that 
such activity will draw down. 

 Sefton Adult Learning will provide their existing management function, systems & 
monitoring processes into the project and support to post-19 learners in the 
community will attract funding from the Adult Education Budget.

 Therefore, the £200,000 Towns Fund programme will lever in considerable 
additional resource but the difficulty in capturing the internal benefit in kind 
provided and the uncertainty over the level to which trainees to whom budget 
provision is linked will engage with the programme compared to other non-budget 
attracting trainees has meant that no value can be attributed to this provisional 
match under the preferred option.

COMMERCIAL CASE

 This considers the mechanisms for delivery in terms of procurement and 
contractual structure. 

 The approach taken in building the programme focused on working with those 
organisations for whom training and development of the wider workforce is 
already a core purpose and who already have the base infrastructure and systems 
to support the initiative

 It is possible that small items of expenditure may be required in order to deliver a 
blended learning approach (additional on-line provision or minor additional items 
of training equipment for example) and where this is the case the procurement 
rules of the 3 organisations will be applied – which in each case are fully 
compliant with public sector procurement regulations.

 No items of expenditure will exceed the threshold for a full procurement exercise. 
Procurement will follow the internal processes of partners but are likely to involve 
suppliers procured under previous competitive processes covering the aspects of 
expenditure required (software, small elements of IT equipment or stationery) or 
will involve a 3-quote process. 

 The project will support the incremental costs of the specific training activities but 
this could not be delivered without the underlying expertise, infrastructure, 
performance monitoring & governance procedures such as health & wellbeing, 
safeguarding compliance that each organization has in place.

 Project is assessed as being Subsidy Control Compliant and offers no element of 
profit in delivery to the partners

MANAGEMENT CASE

 Applicant for the funding is the Council but activity will be delivered by three local 
partners ie. the Council Workforce Development Team, Southport College and the 
Council’s Adult Learning Service. Project management will be through existing 
structures, with lead officers for each partner making up a Project governance 
group. Any underperformance to be reported to the executive Director of Place 
and Head of Economic Growth and Housing.

 The project will be delivered against a programme covering 3 years and during 
this time existing performance monitoring systems will provide detail on how 

Page 248

Agenda Item 8



outputs have been delivered against programme. The employment outcomes of 
trainees will also be monitored as well as private sector engagement.

 A detailed milestones plan has been devised as a framework for keeping the 
project on track

 The plan identifies the methodology for assurance against agreed standards and 
ensuring the project scope is well understood 

 A key assumption in devising this project is that there will be no further 
recurrences of lockdowns affecting visitor economy businesses

 The management case also sets out the constraints associated with the 
programme and how these can be mitigated 

5. The Case for Change

The following compelling case for change has been made within the Business Case 
document:

 Southport has suffered challenges from the economic shifts impacting on retail 
and the impact on the town centre was then accelerated through the shutdowns 
imposed as a result of the pandemic. As the economy has re-opened the 
hospitality and leisure sector has struggled to recruit staff with significant 
vacancies reported – and there is a mismatch between the skills of the rising 
numbers of unemployed within Southport, and the needs of the sector as it moves 
forward with its transformation

 The Towns Fund will strengthen the visitor offer of the town and attract greater 
numbers of visitors but there is a need for this approach to be matched with 
interventions to strengthen the local skills base and ensure that there is a pathway 
from worklessness into the opportunities which will be created. There is also a 
clear need for the level of customer service to be up-skilled within the workforce to 
ensure that this supports the highest quality visitor experience within the town.

 The nature of the hospitality and leisure sector in the town, with very few major 
national players and a preponderance of local SMEs has meant that there is a 
limit to the skills provision which can be provided by the private sector players. 
The provision of a wider and planned approach for skills provision across the 
sector will ensure that there is a consistent and high-quality approach taken by 
providers and the nature of the training and its value will be understood by 
employers. The content of the training will encompass a focus on disability 
confident working practices and awareness, along with other elements of 
equalities, access and diversity training to maximise the attractiveness of the town 
as a destination for all groups of visitors and customers.

6. Next Steps

6.1 The Business Case and Summary Document which is required by DLUHC will be 
submitted to Town Deal Board for their information and in order to meet the 
government deadlines for release of further funding to deliver the Building Better 
Customer Experience Project. 

Page 249

Agenda Item 8



6.2 Appropriate governance mechanisms will be set up in summer 2022 to commence 
arrangements for project implementation, with a view to a swift start following the 
release of Town Deal funding.

Page 250

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

BUSINESS CASE

SOUTHPORT TOWNS FUND

BUILDING BETTER 
CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

Page 251

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

1. Executive summary

The business case has been developed for Southport’s Building Better Customer Experience project and 
is a core component of the Southport Towns Deal Fund project.

STRATEGIC CASE

Southport has been badly impacted by the national decline in town centre retail activity and some of the 
general issues affecting seaside locations. The impacts have been worsened by the lockdown which 
affected the leisure and hospitality sector during the pandemic.
There is a wide-ranging plan for renewal within Southport to reinvigorate the visitor sector which is 
fundamental to the economy of the town but it is recognized that the bricks and mortar approach must be 
supplemented with skills and employment interventions if the full extent of the programme is to be 
realized for the community.
The pandemic has caused workers to drift away from the hospitality sector and in order for Southport to 
deliver on an objective of providing a distinct and high quality visitor offer there is a need to create a 
skilled base of workers that can help create a customer experience.
Of course, the private sector has a responsibility to train its own staff in the nature of their business but 
such an approach is piecemeal and does not create a consistent and higher level approach to customer 
service and the customer experience. A coordinated response in this area can ensure that a consistent 
approach is delivered; that there is a general uplift in the level of skills across the whole hospitality 
workforce and that this drives both business performance and the visitor experience. The improved 
visitor experience will in turn generate greater dwell time, repeat visits and the total number of visitors.
A coordinated programme of training activity has been established by three partners within the town – 
Sefton Council, Southport College and Sefton Adult Learning Service. The programme dovetails with the 
wider work that is involved in capital project delivery so that the improvements in the hospitality 
workforce will be in place as these new developments come on line.
The partners will provide their existing assets, reach, delivery structures, management and monitoring 
activity to the approach and are seeking a small incremental grant fund of £200,000 to increase their 
delivery capacity.
A key part of delivery is stakeholder engagement and from the demand side private sector employers 
and the Southport bid are formal engagement partners to help determine couse content and provide 
workplace experience for learners. From the supply side, engagement with schools and Job Centre Plus 
will raise the recognition of the programme and also highlight the opportunities that hospitality and 
leisure will provide within the town in the coming years.

ECONOMIC CASE

The funding received for the project will enable greater levels of staff time and wider learning resources 
to be provided to students. The preferred approach will ensure that Sefton Council provides 1,500 units 
of blended learning to the staff members that have interactions with the public; Southport College will 
deliver 320 modules of customer service training alongside its relevant course provision for both its 
young person provision and adult learners; and Sefton AdultLearning Service will prove 300 courses to a 
cohort of working age people not currently engaged within the workforce.

This provision will ensure that the formal Towns Fund outputs for training and development programmes 
are delivered and these are:

Page 252

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

 Deliver 1,500 training interactions with Sefton Council staff in customer service delivery through 
the Council’s Me Learning site by the end of 2022.

 Provide additional training modules to 320 Southport College learners spread across 16-18 year 
old learners and adult learners by 2024.

 Deliver 300 training courses to those currently outside the workforce and aged over 19 by 2024.
 Collaborate with 150 private sector organisatons within the Visitor Economy either in course 

development or in finding work placements for trainees during the duration of the programme 
2022-2024.

In addition, the economic case has assessed the economic uplift that could be achieved from the training 
provision. The calculation of the uplift is based on a Government assessment of the impact of the FE 
sector on earnings and employment. This assessment is then used as a core set of assumptions for the 
economic model reflecting the short term and modular basis of the training provision.

The uplift in Gross Value Added (GVA) was calculated as £1.27m over the three years of the programme 
after adjusting gross outputs to net outputs and ensuring that aspects such as optimism bias have been 
considered. A partial Benefit-Cost Ratio (BCR) has been calculated at 5.3 and as such the scheme 
offers very good value for money against Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) benchmarks. The partial BCR reflects a difficulty in costing the provision which will be made by 
partners from the infrastructure, systems, marketing and management. This has not been costed but it 
can be seen that the level of the BCR generated has significant headroom to incorporate this costing and 
for the scheme to remain excellent value for money1.

FINANCIAL CASE

The financial case sets out the basis for the cost recharge proposed by the 3 partners and amounting to 
£200,000. This reflects the increamental cost of training additional modules to the cohorts of people 
identified.

COMMERCIAL CASE

The project will be delivered by 3 existing training providers acting as partners within the programme and 
no surplus is generated. As such there are no particular procurement issues to highlight and no Subsidy 
Control implications.

MANAGEMENT CASE

The applicant for the funding is Sefton Council, but the activity will be delivered by the three partners in 
line with their current activities. As such the project management internally will be carried out through the 
existing management structures of partners. The managers of each element of the programme will make 
up a management team who will meet regularly to monitor training development, stakeholder 
engagement, deliver and the achievement of outputs. Any slippage in performance will be reported to the 
relevant director .

The project will be delivered against a programme covering 3 years and during this time existing 
performance monitoring systems will provide detail on how outputs have been delivered against 
programme. The employment outcomes of trainees will also be monitored as well as private sector 
engagement.

The management case also sets out the key risks associated with the programme and how these have 
been mitigated.

1 MHCLG (now DLUHC) ‘Towns Fund guidance (stage two): business case development’ 16 December 2020 notes the following, ‘Value for 
money is ideally demonstrated in a credible Benefit-Cost Ratio, but where some of the costs and/or benefits cannot be monetised at the present 
time, the economic case should proportionally capture these impacts and specify a partial value for money measure. Wider benefits and costs 
should be considered and specified where these are sizeable, compared with the direct impacts.’Page 253

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

2. Introduction

INTRODUCTION

The Building Better Customer Experience project is part of the Southport Town Investment Plan. This 
business case sets out details of the delivery of the scheme.

This project will be funded by Southport Towns Fund. It will be run as a partnership activity with Liverpool 
City Region Skills and Apprenticeship Hub, Southport College and Sefton Adult Learning Service.

The Project
The aim of the project will be to to create a consistent level of exemplary service across the hospitality 
and leisure sector which can be associated with a ‘Southport standard’ in order to strengthen the visitor 
experience and, in turn, the visitor economy. The project will also improve the overall provision and level 
of transferable customer service skills across Southport. In particular, the project will involve working with 
a wide range of stakeholders and businesses to deliver a range of training and development 
programmes for everyone who has contact with visitors and customers in Southport.

The programme will involve the development of a number of ‘Southport ambassadors’ across different 
service settings to build confidence and aspiration for all those who live or work in Southport and who will 
demonstrate the highest standards for those visiting. This will build confidence and aspiration for those 
involved in all types of public interaction to allow them to be advocates for the town.

Within the training, there will be a focus on the understanding of Southport and its assets as well as 
specific product and service knowledge and the programme will also incorporate a strong underpinning 
of diversity and equalities training that aligns with overall objectives for Southport to be a great place for 
everyone to live, learn, visit and work.

This project directly links into the ambitious series of visitor economy projects being brought forward by 
the other capital projects in the Town Deal Projects programme in order to maximise the impact of 
capital projects and other investments in the town. As such, this revenue project is an initiative which 
ensures that the maximum impact is achieved by this wider work.

Southport are requesting £0.2m from Towns Deal funding, and this will leverage further support and 
skills provision through Sefton Council, Southport College and Sefton Adult Learning Service.

The project is scheduled to take place in 3 strands mirroring the organisations involved. 
 Strand 1 will be ‘Training in the Workforce’ and will need to be completed by September 2024 

within Sefton Council. 
 Strand 2 ‘Training for Jobseekers’ will be delivered within Southport College as both standalone 

courses and additional modules within existing courses, and 
 Strand 3 ‘Training for Volunteers and WorklessPeople’ will be completed by the end of 2024 by 

the Adult  Learning Service.

There will be an array of different supportive stakeholders involved in the delivery of this project including 
Southport Business Improvement District, DWP, Jobcentre Plus, Sefton@work, , training providers 

Page 254

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

offering Sector Based Work Academies, and other employer networks, training providers, schools, 
colleges, community and faith groups. This broad engagement will ensure that the reach of the 
programme and an awareness of opportunities is widespread.

This project provides a close fit with Southport’s wider regeneration delivery plan as it provides essential 
skills and knowledge for a large spectrum of beneficiaries involved in customer experience which will 
help transform the perceptions of the Town, contribute to its sense of unified purpose as an attractive 
destination for residents and visitors and contribute to the aims of ensuring that Southport attracts 
entrepreneurs and investors to see Southport as a great place to start and grow new ventures.

As well as benefitting Southport’s vital visitor economy, the project will support and provide experience to 
hundreds of learners and support Southport’s skills infrastructure.

This Business Case

The business case has been provided in line with the Towns Fund 5-case template and as such the 
details which follow are:

 The Strategic Case
 The Economic Case
 The Financial Case
 The Commercial Case
 The Management Case

Page 255

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

3. Strategic case

INTRODUCTION
The strategic case sets out the need for the Building Better Customer Experience project and the 
rationale for its inclusion within the Towns Deal Fund.

CASE FOR CHANGE

Introduction – the situation

The visitor economy is the largest sector of employment in Southport. The ability of the town to attract 
visitors (and repeat visits) is affected by the quality of customer service and the wider experience that 
visitors receive. The capacity of the visitor economy businesses to offer excellent customer service is 
closely related to the skills of the workforce and the ability to recruit new entrants with suitable customer 
service skills.

Southport is a key tourist and leisure destination, attracting millions of visitors from all over the country 
every year. Southport has developed a successful annual events programme including the Air Show, 
Flower Show and British Musical Fireworks Championship. In combination these generate large 
numbers of visitors to the town and provide an important boost to the economy of the area, but their 
impact is time limited and cannot sustain businesses in the tourism and hospitality sectors year round. 

Southport’s visitor economy is estimated to generate £597m per annum in economic impact and 
supports over 6,800 FTE jobs. Each year there are estimated to be over 8m day visitors, and staying 
visitors generate £222m for the local economy, supporting the accommodation, tourist attractions, food 
and drink offerings, as well as the retail sector. 

Alongside tourism the town also performs as a ‘day to day’ town centre retail destination for residents as 
well as a wider Sefton and West Lancashire catchment area. The town centre is the location of the 
highest concentration of employees in the majority of the visitor economy sub-sectors across this 
catchment area.

Visitor Economy Sub-
Sector

Jobs Businesses

Retail 13,000 1,100
Food & Beverage 6,000 650
Accomodation 1,250 40
Sport & Amusement 
Activities

1,750 145

Service Sector 1,250 410

However, Southport’s visitor economy is facing a number of challenges.

 Southport’s shopping experience has suffered a significant decline, before Covid-19 the Town 
had a vacancy rate of over 18% (well above the national average of 10%) and since that point the 
town has suffered further losses with the closure of the Beales and Debenhams department 
stores.  

 Southport currently has a lack of all weather attractions and this results in seasonality and a 
greater reliance on the short summer season. This creates a vulnerability in the sector.

Page 256

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

 The outdated nature and poor functionality of the Southport Theatre & Convention Centre has 
resulted in a loss of destination conferences in recent years which has in turn caused a falling 
number of business tourism visitors and repeat leisure visits. 

 Transience in the visitor economy workforce due to its reliance on students, young people and 
highly mobile sources of labour. This leads to difficulties in management and skills development 
in the sector.

 Southport depends on building its tourism offer for the domestic audience and creating a reason 
to stay in order to thrive. At present, only 9% of visits result in overnight stays.

Intervention is therefore needed in order to ensure than Southport’s highly important visitor economy 
experiences a quick recovery from the impacts of Covid-19. By aligning with other Southport Town 
Investment Plan (TIP) projects, the Building Better Customer Experience project will provide training and 
development programmes for anyone that has contact with visitors in Southport with the aim of creating 
a consistent level of outstanding service that can be associated with a ‘Southport standard’.

Not only will this benefit the visior economy in Southport, through increasing the number of visitors and 
length of stay, it will also improve the skills infrastructure in the town. The programme will provide 
training to hundreds of learners and boost opportunities in the town, particularly for young people.

Market failure – Covid-19 impact on visitor economy

In May 2020 Sefton Council commissioned a Covid-19 Response Report to highlight the position of 
various sectors across the town and the impact that Covid-19 was having at that time. The area of most 
concern and with the highest impact for Southport was the visitor economy and specifically the 
hospitality and leisure industry with retail also seriously affected.

The reason for this is the relatively high proportion of Southport’s jobs and businesses that lie within the 
sector, coupled with this being one of the hardest hit industries by lockdown restrictions. Despite 
Government support mechanisms, the sector was essentially faced with closure for large periods of time.

Employment and unemployment indicators from the early months of the pandemic illustrate the severity 
of the crisis for Southport. This included: 
 A total level of unemployment of 3,420 claimants within the Southport constituency area as at 

September 2020 
 Ward level increases in unemployment of between 58% and 164% (measured by the claimant 

count) within the town (March to September 2020). 
 Youth unemployment increasing by 120% between March and September 2020

The impact of Covid continued beyond September 2020 with further lockdowns over the winter of 20/21.

Even by early 2022 the visitor economy continued to struggle to bounce back after  being hit by the fast 
spreading Omicron variant, simultaneously harming confidence in the public to use leisure and retail 
facilities and hitting the industry with staff absences due to isolation rules.

Whilst the claimant count in Southport has reduced since the peak in May 2020 during the height of the 
first lockdown, as of November 2021 it was still 45% higher than pre-pandemic levels in March 2020, 
before which it was relatively stable.

Page 257

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

9
N

ov
em

be
r 2

01
9

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
20

Fe
br

ua
ry

 2
02

0
M

ar
ch

 2
02

0
Ap

ril
 2

02
0

M
ay

 2
02

0
Ju

ne
 2

02
0

Ju
ly

 2
02

0
Au

gu
st

 2
02

0
Se

pt
em

be
r 2

02
0

O
ct

ob
er

 2
02

0
N

ov
em

be
r 2

02
0

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
21

Fe
br

ua
ry

 2
02

1
M

ar
ch

 2
02

1
Ap

ril
 2

02
1

M
ay

 2
02

1
Ju

ne
 2

02
1

Ju
ly

 2
02

1
Au

gu
st

 2
02

1
Se

pt
em

be
r 2

02
1

O
ct

ob
er

 2
02

1
N

ov
em

be
r 2

02
1

0
500

1,000
1,500
2,000
2,500
3,000
3,500
4,000

Claimant Count in Southport (Age 16+)

Source: DWP sourced from Nomis

More recent post-pandemic figures show Southport experiencing larger reductions in employment rates 
than the North West region and England as whole. As can be seen from the graph below, the over 16 
employment rate dropped from 57% in the year ending June 2019, to 47% to the year ending June 2021. 
In contrast, both the North West region and England each experienced only a 1 percentage point drop in 
their unemployment rates for the same period. 

57% 59% 61%
54%

60% 62%

47%

58% 60%

Southport North West England
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

July 18- June 19 July 19- June 20 July 20- June 21

% of all people aged 16 & over in employment

Source: DWP sourced from Nomis

There is little doubt that the impact of covid-19 on the visitor economy in Southport is a contributing 
factor to the deteriorating employment position in the town. This can be be backed up by evidence of 
how important the visitor economy is for employment in Southport. As the table below shows, 16% of all 
employees work in the retail trade industry, 7 percentage points higher than in England on average. 
There is also a higher proportion of employees in the food and beverage service, accommodation and 
sports activities, amusement & recreation activities industries. 

% of Total Employees in Visitor Economy Industries in 2020 
Southport England Location Quotient2

2 Location quotient is a measure of the proportion of employment in a location compared to the proportion of 
employment nationally. As such a location quotient of 1.74 demonstrates that 1.74x the average proportion of 
employment in England is employed in Southport Page 258

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Retail trade, except of 
motor vehicles and 
motorcycles

16% 9% 1.74

Food and beverage 
service activities

7% 6% 1.24

Accommodation 2% 1% 1.74
Sports activities and 
amusement and 
recreation activities

3% 1% 1.82

Therefore, it is important that Southport’s vital visitor economy is able to bounceback from the impact of 
the pandemic and this will only be avhieved if it attracts an improved number of visitors. 

Market failure – vacancies & skills

In 2020 a survey was undertaken across a wide range of visitor economy employers in the Liverpool City 
Region and they reported that: 
 45% of employers had found it hard to fill vacancies over the previous year – compared to only 

27% across all sectors 
 42% of the vacancies were hard to fill because of deficits in general employability and work 

readiness, much higher than the all sector average of 33% 
 40% of employers said basic communications skills were skills deficits in the workforce

It is clear, therefore, that despite increasing levels of unemployment, those unemployed within the area 
are less willing to consider roles within the visitor economy than other sectors. There is also some 
suggestion that job losses within the industry during the pandemic at least partly affected EU staff 
members and that those employees were lost to the UK if they then returned home as a result of the 
pandemic.  Feedback from key visitor economy employers has highlighted the workforce challenges 
appear across all levels of the labour force, and have affected engagement with younger people seeking 
entry level positions as well as  hampering the recruitment of more experienced staff who have since left 
the sector for other tyes of employment during the pandemic and  are reluctant to return.Whatever the 
reason, certainly the capacity of visitor economy businesses to offer excellent customer service is closely 
related to the skills of the workforce and their ability to recruit.

The number of online job adverts has risen considerably in 2021, surpassing pre-pandemic levels. As of 
the start of November, there were 19,300 online job adverts in LCR, a 63% increase on pre-pandemic 
levels. This is slightly greater than the increase in vacancies seen across England (52%). 

To some extent, this vacancy growth will be due to recently re-opened businesses catching up on 
recruitment, but strong vacancy growth across a range of sectors is likely to support a recovery in 
employment. It will be important to ensure these vacancies are filled and do not further drive skill 
shortages but in Southport there is a considerable number of workless people who are deemed to 
economically inactive which also serves to reduce the number of “ job ready” people seeking 
opportunities from whom employers have to choose

Page 259

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Graph: Regional and national changes in job vacancies since March 2020

Source: ONS online job advert estimates, 2021; Azuna, 2021

Nationally, the number of vacancies in travel/tourism and catering & hospitality jumped up as restrictions 
began to ease in mid-2021. These vacancies remain above pre-pandemic levels as hospitality and 
tourism businesses strive to reopen to full capacity. 

12
/1

2/
20

19
1/

12
/2

02
0

2/
12

/2
02

0
3/

12
/2

02
0

4/
12

/2
02

0
5/

12
/2

02
0

6/
12

/2
02

0
7/

12
/2

02
0

8/
12

/2
02

0
9/

12
/2

02
0

10
/1

2/
20

20
11

/1
2/

20
20

12
/1

2/
20

20
1/

12
/2

02
1

2/
12

/2
02

1
3/

12
/2

02
1

4/
12

/2
02

1
5/

12
/2

02
1

6/
12

/2
02

1
7/

12
/2

02
1

8/
12

/2
02

1
9/

12
/2

02
1

10
/1

2/
20

21
11

/1
2/

20
21

12
/1

2/
20

21

0.0
20.0
40.0
60.0
80.0

100.0
120.0
140.0
160.0
180.0
200.0
220.0

Travel / tourism Catering and hospitality

UK Job Vacancies, Index February 2020 average = 100

Source: ONS online job advert estimates, 2021; Azuna, 2021

Public Policy Objective

The analysis has shown that Southport’s important visitor economy is suffering after the impacts of 
Covid-19 and that intervention is needed for its recovery. The Southport TIP identified strengthening the 
visitor economy as a key theme going forward highlighting challenges such as high retail vacancy rates 

Page 260

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

(even pre-covid), a lack of all-weather attractions, low levels of overnight stays and struggles with 
management across the sector due to a reliance on highly mobile labour, students and young people.

In response to this, Sefton Council have proposed 4 projects to strengthen Southport’s visitor economy. 
Of these, 3 are:
 Marine Lake Events Centre
 The Light Fantastic (a walkway into the lake as part of a water, light and sound, complementing 

the Events Centre)
 Project Barnum (transformation of the existing Southport Pleasureland)

These 3 projects will attract more visitors to Southport, but for this to succeed with vacancies filled and 
visitors returning with lengthening stays, there needs to be an improvement in the standard of customer 
service in the town and an increase in the labour supply with the relevant skills to increase the capacity 
and further attractiveness of the sector.

The Building Better Customer Experience projects meets the Skills Priorities for the Liverpool City 
Region’s Skill for Growth Action Plan for Visitor Economy Skills 2018 – 2020 and also reflects the 
priorities in ‘People First in 2020’ which identified the benefits of good customer service

Case for Change Conclusion

Southport has suffered challenges from the economic shifts impacting on retail and the impact on the 
town centre was then accelerated through the shutdowns imposed as a result of the pandemic. As the 
economy has re-opened the hospitality and leisure sector has struggled to recruit staff with significant 
vacancies reported – and there is a mismatch between the skills of the rising numbers of unemployed 
within Southport, and the needs of the sector as it moves forward with its transformation.

The Towns Fund will strengthen the visitor offer of the town and attract greater numbers of visitors but 
there is a need for this approach to be matched with interventions to strengthen the local skills base and 
ensure that there is a pathway from worklessness into the opportunities which will be created. There is 
also a clear need for the level of customer service to be up-skilled within the workforce to ensure that this 
supports the highest quality visitor experience within the town.

The nature of the hospitality and leisure sector in the town, with very few major national players and a 
preponderance of local SMEs has meant that there is a limit to the skills provision which can be provided 
by the private sector players. The provision of a wider and planned approach for skills provision across 
the sector will ensure that there is a consistent and high quality approach taken by providers and the 
nature of the training and its value will be understood by employers. 

 Market

1. Visitor Economy in the UK

National Trends

Leisure Trends:-

Prior to the pandemic, society viewed leisure, recreation, tourism and culture as an essential part of 
everyday life. Taking short breaks, eating out, retail therapy and visiting attractions were commonplace 
and are expected, post-pandemic to continue to drive the expansion of the service sector. 

As a nation however, we are generally ‘cash tight – time poor’ meaning customers are more discerning 
and will look for quality visitor experiences that offer value for money. The expected cost of living 

Page 261

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

squeeze and as consumers take time to return to their pre-pandemic lifestyle, there is an expectation 
that this trend will continue.

Virtually all UK consumers have access to the internet. The older generation are becoming increasingly
confident at using these technologies, social media is recognised as the media of choice for engaging
younger audiences and user generated content on platforms such as TripAdvisor and Facebook are
trusted sources of information for recommendations and pre trip research. The shift to mobile and tablet
devices also means visitors expect web content to be mobile optimised, instantly available and able to
enhance their experience through things like mobile ticketing, interactive mapping and digital
interpretation. Good or poor ratings for customer experience through these means can have significant 
impacts on the success of businesses which seek to promote return and continuing trade. 

Business Tourism Trends:-

For Liverpool, the sector was worth in the region of £68.5 million per annum (last estimated by UKCAMS 
- 2014). More generally, destinations rely on business tourism to sustain venues and generate income 
out of the main holiday season and during mid-week periods. Conference and meeting organisers are 
attracted by destinations with good local amenities, however they are increasingly attracted by unusual 
venues with distinctive and attractive ’backdrops’, landscapes or views.

National Demographic Trends:-

Nationally the population is growing, however it is getting older. Those in their retirement years are more 
affluent than their predecessors. Over the medium term there is likely to be an increase in young people 
but a decline in those aged 35-49 years. New types of family structures are also emerging with
families becoming significantly more dispersed as people choose to live away from their place of birth or
the place they grew up.

The population is also becoming more diverse with the proportion of people born outside of the UK 
increasing from 7% to 13% between 1991 and 2011. This has been a significant driver of people 
travelling to the UK to visit friends and relatives.

UK Inbound Trends:-

In 2018 37m overseas tourists travelled to the UK for leisure purposes, with built heritage, cultural
heritage, sport and shopping being among the primary motivations. As a consequence of recent
incidents of terrorism in major cities however, pre-pandemic inbound visitors from countries like 
Germany, France and Spain were choosing ‘second tier’ cities as they are perceived as being safer than 
many of Europe’s capitals.

The consequences of Brexit in terms of the welcome, visa and taxation for those travelling to the UK 
remain somewhat unclear. In the short term at least, the falling value of sterling has made the UK more 
attractive and makes the UK a competitive inbound destination.

UK Domestic Tourism Trends:-

Domestically, falling incomes and exchange rate has increased the number of UK residents choosing
domestic breaks or ‘staycations’. In 2015, the number of holidays taken in England increased to 43.7 
million with city and urban destinations such as Liverpool seeing significant growth.

For UK tourism economies this means:-

 Tourism is becoming increasingly experiential. Tourists are more experienced and are looking for 
immersion in culture and experiences that are unique and authentic. This is especially true for 
older visitors who are becoming more active and will pursue leisure and recreational activities 
that are quality driven and offer value for money.

Page 262

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

 Families will also be much more likely to take holidays and days out with grandparents, with 
group sizes getting larger and increased demand for ‘intergenerational family’ experiences.

 Similarly, the demand for large family functions is increasing as dispersed families reunite for ‘get 
togethers’ and special occasions such as christenings, weddings and anniversaries.

 As couples wait longer to have children, the double income pre-kids market has grown and has 
considerable economic power.

 Digital media is replacing the traditional marketing collateral. It is becoming increasingly effective 
(in terms of reach and cost) at targeting different visitor segments, especially younger audiences.

 The ‘cash rich, time poor’ phenomena are shifting visitors towards planning higher frequency 
short breaks. As a result, they will seek quality and value for money experiences meaning joint 
packaging, discounting offers and good quality service will be essential for stimulating demand, 
encouraging repeat visits and increasing word of mouth recommendations.

 Consumers trust platforms like TripAdvisor more than destination literature when planning a visit 
and will look for information (including tickets) to be accessible in a variety of digital formats.

 The rise in ‘Staycations’ to major cities is likely to continue as sterling weakens against the Dollar 
and Euro. The falling value of sterling also makes the UK more attractive to inbound markets 
including the growth markets of Germany, France, Ireland and the USA.

 Inbound motivations for visiting the UK are primarily centred around the country’s build heritage, 
cultural heritage, contemporary culture, sport and shopping.

 The continued threat of terrorism is likely to drive overseas and domestic visitors away from the 
capital cities to experience second tier UK cities and potential the destinations within their 
immediate reach.

Many of these trends support an increased number of potential vistiors to the Liverpool City Region in 
general and to  Southport as the LCR’s seaside town The trends do highlight, however, the changing 
nature of Visitor Economy requirements and the pandemic is unlikely to have changed many of these 
trends. The different target markets, nature of visits, expectations around experience and digital 
interaction all support the approach being taken through the ‘Building Better Customer Experience’ bid.
These trends can be directly overlaid with the Southport experience as shown below.

2. Southport’s Visitor Economy (informed by significant primary research for Sefton as a 
whole)

Sefton’s Current Visitor Markets

Throughout the three years prior to the pandemic, Sefton undertook a significant amount of primary 
research within the Sefton Coast and Southport to understand the nature of its visitors and to identify the 
potential markets it should be seeking to attract. In terms of the coast, 80% of visitors to Ainsdale and 
Crosby originated from the Northwest with over 70% being leisure day visitors. Those visiting from 
elsewhere in the UK amounted to 18.9% of all visitors with 1.3% travelling from overseas.

Conversely, Southport commands a much broader spread of visitors with around 31% travelling from 
outside the Northwest and just under 30% staying for either a leisure or business trip. Those travelling 
from overseas account for 2.6% of all visitors and are mainly staying in serviced accommodation or with 
friends/relatives.

Across all visitor types, there are a number of motivations for people visiting Sefton, which are relatively 
evenly spread between those seeing friends and relatives, visiting attractions, exploring the destination 
or to take a holiday. For Southport, the allure of Lord Street, the Seafront and Pier provide the focus for 
visitor activity, while Another Place, Red Squirrels at Formby/Victoria Road and the Sefton Coastal path 
are the primary motivators for those visiting the coast. These findings for Southport in particular were a 
key underpinning for the Visitor Economy aspects of the Towns Fund bid.

Page 263

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

As a destination, the retail offer of Lord Street, Southport Pier and the Sefton Coast stand out as the 
places that visitors most closely associated with Sefton. However the borough’s cultural offer in terms of 
its natural and built heritage, sport and assets including the Atkinson and the Another Place also stand 
out as prominent features. Whilst overall visitor satisfaction is generally good, there are some challenges 
in terms of the quality and range of shops/retail available and the provision of basic amenities such as 
toilets and parking. Clearly the pandemic has had a further negative impact on this particularly within 
Southport.

In terms of business visitors, the STCC and the resort’s hotels provided a broad range of conference
facilities for regional and national conferences. Even prior to the pandemic national conferences 
selecting Southport had been in decline and the total amount of conference delegates in 2018 was 
6,905, with a total of 17,815 bed nights compared to 12,745 delegates in 2008 with a total of 43,570 bed 
nights. Clearly the current closure of the STCC and the plans for major renewal are a key plank of the 
Visitor Economy strategy for the future – and the closure will continue to create a gap in the number of 
visitors attracted to the town.

The overall profile of visitors to Sefton is skewed toward the middle-aged audiences. Those aged 35 – 
64 years make up over 57% of all visitors. This corresponds closely with the range of attractions, outdoor 
and cultural experiences typically demanded by these groups and where Sefton has clear strengths. 
These audiences are either travelling with their families or partners, are in full time work or retired and 
fall into the A/B and C1 socio economic groupings. Younger audiences aged between 16 and 34 years 
make up only 16% of visitors to Sefton, with those aged 65+ making up 13% of visitors.

Sefton’s Emerging Visitor Markets

As part of survey work undertaken in 2019 for Crosby Coastal Park and Ainsdale on Sea, the potential 
for attracting new visitor markets was assessed. Whilst assumptive, the findings provided a useful 
barometer for the opportunities for Sefton’s wider coastal offer such are the similarities in terms of the 
overall product and experience. This includes Southport albeit the offer is somewhat different – and the 
nature of the visitor also differs somewhat.

Working from a sample of people that had never visited either of these locations, or had not done so in at 
least ten years, the findings showed that over 51% respondents had low, if no awareness of the coastal 
offer. Similarly, of those that had visited, 48% indicated that low levels satisfaction at the time of their trip 
along with their perception that there are more attractive destinations to choose from would not generate 
a repeat visit. In contrast, the relatively high levels of satisfaction among the coast’s existing visitors and 
the strong likelihood of recommendations, suggests these preconceptions may well be an opportunity 
rather than a weakness.

Those surveyed also indicated a strong interest in the countryside, seaside resorts, nature and coastal 
areas as primary motivations when planning trips, however their awareness of these attributes being 
core features of the Sefton Coast was also low. While investment in key amenities (food and beverage, 
transport and toilets for example) will be integral for conversion, it is the awareness and perception of 
Sefton’s coastal offer among these audiences that appears to be the main barrier for converting visits.

There are also opportunities to attract younger markets, with 60% of those surveyed aged between 16 –
34 years being receptive to the coast’s leisure and recreation offer. This contrasts strongly with the 
dominance of current visitor base which tends to be older audiences aged 45 years plus.

Analysis through the Mosaic segmentation model also demonstrates the potential for Sefton, especially 
those audiences within a 60 - 90 minute drive time. Overall, five of the Mosaic segments had strong 
associations with Sefton’s core offer and ranged from middle aged family groups with affluent lifestyles to 
younger more aspirational pre-family groups with more limited incomes. These groups have strong 
similarities with the groups/audience profiles already identified through Sefton’s visitor marketing strategy 
including the weekend escaper, go getting families, experience seekers, mature explorers and pragmatic 
pioneers segments.

Page 264

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Overall, the opportunity for growth lies in the fact that while Sefton is currently attracting a total of c.287K 
people in each of these segments, however there is a potential market of over 3.5 million. Sefton’s 
proximity to Liverpool (and arguably Manchester and Cumbria), means there is also potential growth 
opportunities for attracting tourist day visitors. Working on the basis that there are approximately 1.9m 
domestic and overseas visitors staying in Liverpool per annum, research conducted in 2015 showed that 
only 10% of these are travelling outside of the immediate city centre during their stay. Furthermore, only 
0.8% of those surveyed in Southport during this period were visiting Sefton as part of a day trip whilst 
staying in another town or city.

In terms of business visitors, Southport has lost key conferences such as the Liberal Democrats National 
Conference (up to 2,000 delegates) over the last 5 years. It was thought pre pandemic that the STCC 
alone should have been attracting in the region of 20 conferences per annum (of 1,000 delegates plus) 
with the association & societies, charities, political, trade union and medical conference markets all 
forming part of its primary target.

Implications for Sefton

To deliver growth, and based on the wider context in which Sefton’s visitor economy operates, the main 
implications for delivering the draft visitor economy strategy drafted in 2019 were thought to be as 
follows:-

 The importance of staying visitors – Staying visitors (those staying in serviced 
accommodation) to the Sefton Coast and Southport spend more than 4 times as much as day 
visitors, however they are only contributing 19% of the £590 million delivered by the sector to 
Sefton’s economy. The position is symptomatic of the high proportion of day visitors to Sefton 
that make up over 91% of all visits to the borough. Furthermore, the majority are travelling short 
distances (80% are travelling from the Liverpool City Region or from neighbouring Lancashire) 
that further diminishes yield through reduced levels of discretionary spend. While Southport 
commands the majority of staying visitors, average occupancy of 70% (pre pandemic) 
demonstrates the capacity available for increasing revenue. On the basis that average spend per 
person staying in serviced accommodation is £195, this equates to substantial amounts in lost 
revenue per annum assuming a rate of 85% occupancy. Similarly, only 4% of visitors to the coast 
are staying in serviced accommodation in Sefton, which indicates the need for better packaging 
of short break products and strengthening the association with the amenities in Southport.

Hotel investment in terms of capacity and quality will also be integral for attracting higher value 
visitor markets. The offer in Southport is mixed with lower to mid range hotels not having the 
appeal to attract the higher value leisure markets and also not meeting the requirements of 
business visitors. Similarly, if destinations such as Ainsdale are to generally realise their potential 
as holiday destinations, additional capacity is needed both in terms of providing quality 
accommodation, driving up the standards of existing operators as well as additional facilities for 
the caravan and camping market. These recommendations have all been made in Sefton’s 
recently approved Hotel Strategy, however an investment strategy that engages the land owners, 
developers and potential operators is now needed.

It is clear that any increase in overseas visitor numbers and a strategy to upgrade the 
accommodation provision will also require an associated increase in the levels of skills and 
customer service provided.

 Attracting younger markets – Overall, the Sefton Coast and Southport have limited appeal to 
younger markets and families (those ages 25 – 44 years), particularly those looking for cultural, 
physical recreation and leisure activity. Across the North West, these markets are significant in 
their size and through the Mosaic profiling the Domestic Success and Aspiring Homemaker 
segments comprise over 1.2 million people that have an affinity with experience Southport and 
the Sefton Coast have to offer and live within a 90 minute drive time. To convert them however, 
Sefton will need to develop its leisure/ recreational offer at the key coastal gateways of Crosby, 
Ainsdale and Formby as well as investment in basic amenities.

Page 265

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

For Southport, building on and enhancing the quality of leisure attractions in areas such as the 
sea front will be a prerequisite for these markets, as will the need to upgrade the night time offer 
and the retail and cultural experience in key locations such as Lord Street.

In both cases the standard of experience will be influenced by the standard of custromer service 
covering every aspect of the visit from basic amenity through to hospitality venue.

▪ Focusing on near markets – There is significant capacity in markets within a 60 – 90 minute 
drive time of Sefton. Currently, the majority of day and staying visitors are travelling from the 
Liverpool City Region and Lancashire, however there are opportunities to increase penetration 
and repeat visits in existing North West markets such as Greater Manchester, Cumbria and West 
Yorkshire, as well as North Wales and Cheshire. As over 7 million people lie within this 
catchment, there is an obvious benefit in focussing marketing and product development on these 
audiences.

Whilst a strategy can increase penetration rates for first time visitors from these markets, repeat 
visits will be determined by the experience of those first time visitors, with excellent customer 
care being a key determinant in the judgement of these experiences .

▪ Developing domestic and overseas markets – The capability of Sefton to compete in far 
domestic and international visitor markets is limited, both in terms of the competition it is faces 
and because its profile has limited resonance with these audiences. While Southport does attract 
visitors from the West Midlands and Greater London areas, they are small by comparison and 
tend to be staying with friends/relatives or for major events such as The Open and Grand 
National.

This is not to say the that Sefton shouldn’t be attracting these markets, however the most 
effective way of reaching them is likely to come through the development of content and 
packages that can be jointly marketing with those cites that are within reach of Sefton. They not 
only possess the pulling power to entice these visitors, but will also have the budget to deliver the 
cut through in what is a very competitive market.

The proximity of the Sefton Coast and Southport to Liverpool is a particular benefit. As the profile 
of domestic visitors to the city are similar to Sefton, the ability to integrate marketing and product 
offer means there is a real opportunity to attract markets that would normally be out of reach.

Capitalising on the experience of visitors who do attend major sporting events or make a short 
visit from Liverpool could further stimulate further visits.

▪ Capitalising on the Travel Trade – The group travel market is an important channel for 
attracting older, but higher value visitors who do not wish to travel independently. It is also an 
effective tool for extending the main shoulder periods and helping reduce issues associated with 
demand seasonality.

Southport has been very successful in this market both in terms of establishing itself as a coach 
friendly destination, but also in developing repeat business by building long term relationships 
with the coach and tour operators. Over the last 10 years, coach travel has contributed £82m to 
Southport’s visitor economy, which is predominantly made up of day visitors.

The challenge facing the resort is the ability to create sales leads and sustain growth with 
reduced resource as well as developing packages that meet the expectations of a discerning 
market seeking both quality and value for money.

There also needs to be a greater focus on building packages and itineraries that will attract over 
night stays either as part of excursion to the wider North West offer or by greater integration with 
the opportunities for outdoor recreation and nature associated with the Sefton Coast. The latter 

Page 266

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

point is important as coach business to the Sefton Coast is virtually none existent, however the 
product offer and its proximity to Southport can bring significant diversity to the overall 
proposition.

▪ Business Tourism – The conference, exhibitions and business events market was critical to 
Southport both in terms of developing mid week hotel business on a year round basis, and 
safeguarded the position of key venues such as the STCC and the Atkinson, which also 
generated discretionary spend for local shops, bars and restaurants. The closure of the STCC 
has clearly damaged this market still further, but even before this the reduction in corporate and 
association conferences for Southport over the last 10 years had been damagining. 

The reinvestment in this market is expected to restore the position of Southport as a location but 
the success of the approach will be underpinned by driving up positive reviews and experiences 
in customer experience

▪ Using known brands – Southport, Royal Birkdale, The Grand National, National Trust Formby, 
Another Place are arguably brands that command national if not international profile. Harnessing 
the power of these assets and their association with Sefton through product development, 
marketing and PR will be important for raising awareness of the borough’s wider offer and 
positively influencing visitor perceptions. Linking to an aspirational standard for the highest 
customer care will be a key focus if  the association between the local offer and these key global 
brands is to be achieved.

▪ Digital Marketing - Use of mobile technologies and social media continues to grow in 
importance in the way we communicate. The profile of Sefton’s potential markets (see above) is 
similar to the profile of users of both smartphones and social media – with significant implications 
and opportunities for future marketing communications.

This is a relatively new trend within the Visitor Economy and the acceleration of its importance is 
a key element in terms of skills and training provision. Immediate feedback from customers is 
now a reality and poor service constitutes missed opportunity for future business.

▪ Investing in product – Southport and the Sefton Coast are the places that differentiate Sefton 
from other visitor destinations and therefore should be the focus for investment.  This is a core 
element of the Towns Fund bid.

▪ Developing Major Events – Southport’s events programme has been a contributor of visitors to 
the resort over the last 20 years, it is testimony to the fact that events such as the Flower Show, 
Air Show and Musical Fireworks are income generating and have contributed some 2.7 million 
(since 2003) visitors during that time. Similarly The Open at Royal Birkdale commands the largest 
number of spectators outside Scotland and the Grand National at Aintree is an international 
spectacle that fills hotel rooms in Southport and across the wider region.

In that sense, events are not only essential for Southport, but also in terms of developing 
awareness of the coastal offer. Opportunities to invest in training and skills of the workforce as 
well as the content of Southport’s established events has been identified as paramount and will 
set the Southport offer apart in terms of quality.

Overall, therefore, a significant amount of work has been undertaken in understanding the current 
position of Southport and Sefton in terms of the Visitor Economy and the future direction that the location 
will focus upon. This intelligence has led to the capital investment programme planned for Southport in 
particular. It can be seen from the work on the market, however, that high quality skills provision is an 
equally important part of the overall approach. 

Page 267

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

STAKEHOLDERS

The stakeholders for the programme will include the 3 delivery partners. These are Sefton Council as a 
delivery body ensuring that skills are embedded within Council staff. The second partner will be 
Southport College who will create opportunities for the relevant training within its own course delivery as 
well as, where relevant, creating suitable standalone provision. The provision offered by the College will 
cover both young people and adult learners. Thirdly, Sefton Adult Learning Service who will support the 
voluntary sector and those groups who are not currently involved within the workplace.

A wider group of stakeholders will ensure that the programme of activity is widely known and aligned 
with need. This will include Southport Business Improvement District, DWP, Jobcentre Plus, 
Sefton@work, Training providers offering  Sector Based Work Academies, and other employer networks, 
training providers, schools, colleges, community and faith groups. Work has already started to engage 
with these organisations on the opportunities provided in the vistor economy as recovery builds after the 
pandemic.

POLICY ALIGNMENT

The Building Better Customer Experience approach not only aligns with the wider policy framework 
within the UK and the City Region, it is also a direct response to some of the key requirements identified 
in Sefton’s Strategic Recovery Plan.

Liverpool City Region

The Visitor Economy is one of the core sectors supported by the Liverpool City Region LEP. The LEP 
has established that the Visitor Economy was worth £4.9bn and supported over 55,500 jobs (2019 
figures) and continues to develop as a major growth sector bringing both economic benefits and 
reputational advantage to the City Region. The LEP previously set out its skills strategy for the sector, 
‘Liverpool City Region Skills for Growth – Visitor Economy’ in 2013 and the ‘Building Better Customer 
Experience’ bid aligns with this approach – albeit reflecting the impact that Covid has had on the visitor 
economy.

The LEP has also developed the ‘Liverpool City Region Visitor Economy Investment Plan for Growth’ 
and this aligns with the approach taken by Sefton in those Towns Fund bids which support the visitor 
economy. 

The LEP continues to work on the revitalisaton of the Visitor Economy, recognising that Southport is a 
key part of the LCR Visitor Economy offer and the LEP has an established Visitor Economy board which 
helps inform the future strategy for the LCR Visitor Economy. This Board will help to raise awareness of 
the Sefton ‘Building Better Customer Experience’ across the sector and it is envisaged that the lessons 
learned in the delivery of the approach will provide input into the Board for future work on skills within the 
City Region.
  
Sefton

Prior to the pandemic, Sefton created a Draft Visitor Economy Strategy (2020-2025). This draft plan had 
already highlighted the need for investment in skills to help drive the prosperity of the sector. The 
strategy work was then rolled into the work on economic rebuilding.

Post pandemic, Sefton has built on the earlier work and created a ‘Strategic Recovery Plan’ for the 
economy. This plan aligns fully with the work on ‘Building a Better Customer Experience’ and highlights 
the importance that the Visitor Economy will play in the future vitality of the Sefton economy and the 
importance of the provision of employment and training support for Sefton residents as well as devising a 
range of community learning responses to meet the needs of furloughed employees. In many ways it is 
this aspect of the Strategic Recovery Plan that has informed the Towns Fund Bid.

Sefton Business Improvement District (BID)
Page 268

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

The BID is also considered highly relevant. As an organisation working at the business level within 
Southport the BID has both informed the approach proposed but is also a key stakeholder in the 
successful delivery of the scheme. It is the membership of the BID who can help inform and develop the 
skills programme which is required – and it is also the members within the Bid who will, for the most 
partm deliver the employment opportunities arising.

Towns Fund

The approach underpinning this project fully aligns with the wider objectives of the Towns Fund and 
supports some of the anticipated outputs from the other projects in terms of visitor numbers, dwell time 
and repeat visits.

VISION AND OBJECTIVES

The vision is to create a skilled workforce and pipeline of talent which supports the need of a recognised 
destination and delivers a high quality experience for the different range of visitors to the town. This will, 
in turn, increase the attractiveness of a career within the visitor economy creating an increasing range of 
opportunities for development within the sector.
The Objectives are identified as:

 Deliver 1,500 training interactions with Sefton Council staff in customer service delivery through 
the Council’s Me Learning site by the end of 2024.

 Provide additional training modules to 320 Southport College learners spread across 16-18 year 
old learners and adult learners by 2024.

 Deliver training courses to  300 people  currently outside the workforce and aged over 19 by 
2024.

 Collaborate with 30 private sector organisatons within the Visitor Economy either in course 
development or in finding work placements for trainees during the duration of the programme 
2022-2024.

THE PROPOSED INVESTMENT

A logic chain which summarises the overall approach within the Strategic Case is provided below.

Building Better Customer Experience Logic Model:

Page 269

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Need

• Southport has been affected by the national downturn in retail centres and some of the general impacts 
on traditional coastal resorts. The Covid lockdowns impacted severly on the important hospitality sector.

• The town has a clear strategy of renewal but there is a need to ensure that the workforce returns to the 
hospitaility sector and secures the skills to ensure that the visitor offer and customer exerience provided 
drive increases in dwell time and return visits. 

Market failure

• Individual businesses provide training and development for staff limited to the very specific needs of the 
business.

• This delivers a piecemeal approach with no overall vision, no consistency and no focus on exceptional 
customer experiences. This is the focus of the training.

Inputs

• An over-arching training delivery approach will be provided by leveraging the delivery capability and 
structures of existing providers - Sefton Council; Southport College; and Sefton Adult Learning Service. 
Funding of £200,000 would allow the delivery of incremental modules with the remaining staff, 
management and monitoring activity provided by the partners themselves.

Activity

• Sefton Council will provide customer service training for its public facing staff underlining the need for 
the approach to underpin the wider capital investment in the town.

• Southport College will add customer experience training into existing relevant training modules 
provided to young people and adult learners - building a hospitality course if demand is then identified.

• Sefton Adult  Learning will provide training to those outside the workplace signposting opportunities 
and providing courses which allow individuals to regain employment.

Outputs

• Sefton Council - 1,500 training course deliveries
• Southport College - 320 modules provided
• Sefton Adult Learning Service - 300 individuals supported
• Business engagement - 30 business engaged in the activity

Outcomes

• Uplift in GVA estimated at £1.27m
• BCR estimated at 5.3 

Ultimate 
Impact

• Improved visitor experience resulting in increased recognition of the Southport offer and greater visitor 
numbers, dwell time and repeat visits. Improved visitor performance then underpins the viability of the 
wider programme of visitor economy capital works across the town.

Estimates of outcomes to be achieved from the project:

In terms of the Towns Fund output requirements for training and skills development projects the proposal 
will result in:

 Number of closer collaborations with employers – The programme will engage with employers to 
provide input to course content and to provide trainee employment experience. The programme 
will collaborate with c30 employers.

 Number of learners/students/trainees gaining certificates, graduating or completing courses at 
new or improved training or education facilities, or attending new courses. This measure will be 
delivered by Southport College and is estimated at 320.

 Number of learners enrolled in new education and training courses. This measure will be 
delivered by Sefton Council and Sefton Adult Learning ServiceSefton Adult Learning Service and 
is estimated at 300. 

Page 270

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

RISKS, CONSTRAINTS AND INTERDEPENDENCIES

The project has been considered in terms of constraints and dependencies and none have been 
identified. The inclusion of the key learning providers for each cohort of staff has ensured that the 
programme can be delivered directly and with no known issues. There are some areas of initial work in 
content development for different learning styles required but these are considered to be critical areas of 
delivery rather than interdependenies because they are within the control of partners.

The risks of the project are considered in detail as part of the Management Case and a risk register is 
prepared and provided in this section.

The key risks picked up in this section are considered to be:

 The programme does not address the needs of the sector
 There are insufficient employment opportunities to enable trainees to bring their skills to the 

workplace
 Those receiving training will find employment opportunities outside of the intended Southport 

area of focus
 There is insufficient interest from potential trainees to meet the programme outputs
 Delays to the programme mean that outputs will not be achieved by the end point of the 

programme
 Costs escalate and there will be insufficient resources to allow delivery.

Sefton Council has identified these risks alongside its partners and a robust mitigation plan has been 
aligned with each risk (see management case).

Page 271

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

4. Economic case

INTRODUCTION

In line with HM Treasury Green Book best practice guidance, the economic case identifies a number of 
potential options and uses an established mechanism for measuring the value for money of the scheme. 
The work has established the gross economic impacts achieved and then makes a series of adjustments 
to arrive at an estimate of the net impacts before assessing these net impacts against project costs in 
order to evaluate the value for money of the preferred approach.

APPROACH TO ECONOMIC CASE

The Economic Case was approached by first assessing a number of options to arrive at the preferred 
choice both in terms of the number of learners, the type of learners and the different potential delivery 
options. The benefits and costs calculated are then used to calculate a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) to 
determine whether the project represents good value for money. 
The benefits have been measured by calculating the uplift in employment and earnings that can be 
triggered through the provision of customer experience training through each of 3 strands of activity. 
These strands relate to the training provider and target learner types. Finally, conclusions are made 
using the results of the BCR and a qualitative assessment of the benefits to argue the economic case for 
the use of Towns Fund for the Building Better Customer Experience project for Southport.
Treasury Green Book Guidance sets out a requirement for different options to be evaluated in order to 
ensure that the most appropriate option is selected for delivery. Towns Fund sets out a requirement for 
the economic modelling to consider a minimum of the ‘preferred case’ against the ‘do nothing scenario’. 
As a result, a review of the initial options against the critical success factors has been undertaken and 
then an economic model used to evaluate the preferred case against the do nothing scenario. This 
approach ensured that the ‘do nothing’ scenario equated to deadweight. 
There are 3 project options that can be evaluated to determine which delivery option would be most 
likely to succeed in achieving the desired outcomes, compared against a ‘do nothing’ scenario. These 
options are based on differences in the number of learners, and delivery options.  

Option 1 – Do Nothing It is standard for Green Book business cases to 
measure the value for money of options against a 
‘do nothing’ scenario. The number of options 
considered depend on the funding scheme and 
the quantum of grant.  
 
The Towns Fund guidance requires projects to be 
considered against a do-nothing scenario as the 
minimum requirement – and this is required 
anyway as part of a consideration of the 
deadweight impact. 

In this case, a ‘do-nothing’ scenario would mean 
that there would be no investment into improving 
customer service skills in Southport, and so no 
learners would benefit from the uplift in earnings 
unless provided by the private sector.

Whilst the private sector may provide very specific 
customer service training in relation to their own 

Page 272

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

activities, this type of training is less transferable 
and in any event, has always taken place. The 
approach proposed in terms of Better Customer 
Experience training is intended to be over and 
above the work that has always taken place. As 
such the ‘do nothing’ effect can be assumed to 
involve no comparable outputs. 

Option 2 – 4,000 learners The original plans for the project involved 
providing training to 4,000 learners. 
The original project proposal was developed at a 
point when all economic commentators were 
predicting a very large increase in unemployment 
and the scheme proposed was intended to, in 
part, provide skills to enable residents to consider 
careers in the hospitality industry (which 
continues to create the largest number of jobs 
within Southport).
The cushioning of the anticipated spike in 
unemployment by the furlough scheme has 
affected the likely demand for the training – but its 
requirement remains absolutely valid if visitors are 
to recognize the Southport difference and be 
motivated to return and make longer stays.
It has therefore been recognized that the initial 
assessment of  total outputs were initially too high 
as this was driven by the best estimate of the 
labour market impacts of the pandemic at the 
height of this unprecedented economic shock. As 
a result the provision of high quality training is  
scaled down in this option but its impact remains 
important for future recovery and growth

Option 3 – Delivery options with different 
partners

The delivery of Customer Experience Training for 
different numbers of learners could also be 
delivered through a different and wider range of 
partners. 
This approach was considered, but the partners 
selected (Southport College and Sefton Adult 
Learning Service) were considered to be 
appropriate on the basis that a wider range of 
providers would dilute the ability to offer complete 
consistency in the approach and the partners 
selected were the major providers for the 
identified cohorts in the Borough and could 
therefore deliver training targeted most 
appropriately, identify potential learners most 
effectively and deliver against the requirements of 
a programme of this type.

Option 4 – 2,120 learners Following a review of the capacity of stakeholders 
to provide training to learners and the likely 
demand for input following a better understanding 
of the medium term post-Covid position, the 

Page 273

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

number of learners to receive training was 
reduced from 4,000 to 2,120.
This number will allow providers to realistically 
reach the target number of learners whilst still be 
sufficiently wide-reaching to provide significant 
quantitative and qualitative benefits to the town.

ECONOMIC BENEFITS

The methodology taken to derive the economic impact is based on Green Book principles. An economic 
model has been developed which models the costs and benefits of the scheme.

The key quantifiable benefit of this project is the Gross Value Added (GVA) derived from the uplift in 
earnings for Southport. This comes from both a rise in additional wage premia for some learners, and 
through a gain in employment for others, depending on the strand. 

The strands are split as follows:

Strand 1 – Workforce 
Development 

Strand 2 - Southport College Strand 3 - Sefton Adult 
Learning Service 

Target Cohort:

Sefton council employees. 
Those Sfton employess who, 
through the course of their work, 
are likely to have some 
interaction with visitors to the 
town.

Target Cohort:

Young people aged 16 to 18 as 
part of study programmes or 
other pathways. Young job 
seekers. Adult students.  
Training incorporated into other 
qualifications or developed as 
stand alone activity to draw 
down match funding. Bespoke 
sectoral courses for employers. 
People employed earning under 
£18,500.

Target Cohort:

Adult learners aged over 19 in 
the community, focusing on 
those individuals currently 
workless and seeking 
opportunities and/ora 
community volunteer offer. Pre 
recruitment training will be 
delivered in conjunction with 
Sefton@work, the Council’s 
inhouse job brokerage service

Contribution to Project 
Outputs:

1,500 learners 

Contribution to Project 
Outputs:

320 learners 

Contribution to Project 
Outputs:

300 learners

The Green Book requires the gross benefits calculated (in wage uplift terms) to be adjusted for the likely 
‘real world’ benefit.  
 
As such the model is adjusted for removal of ‘deadweight’ (what would happen anyway); ‘leakage’ (those 
benefits secured but which may benefit neighbouring places rather than Southport); displacement (the 
effect to which the project simply moves benefits from provider A to provider B). 
 
The final measure is multiplied by the type II industry GVA multiplier to monetise the benefits. Multipliers 
set out the economic advantage that would accrue from the anticipated expenditure in the local supply 
chain and the anticipated additional demand created by the earnings of those newly employed / 
promoted as a result of the intervention.

Page 274

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Due to the variation between strands, each has a slightly different approach to calculating a final 
contribution towards the economic benefits. Therefore, each strand will be explained separately.

Strand 1 – Workforce Development

As this strand of training will be given to Sefton Council employees the learners will already be in 
employment and so it is not possible that any participant will enter / re-enter employment through this 
training course. However, assuming that many of the council employees that take this course will be in 
more junior roles / grades of employment, such as Apprentices it is possible that a small percentage may 
benefit from an increase in wages.

It has been assumed that 5% of these learners will go on to experience a 1.25% increase in wage. This 
wage uplift has been derived from the guidance by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
on Measuring the Economic Impact of Further Education. This guidance states that a Development 
Learning course given to someone whose highest qualification is a L3, 4 or 5 can be assumed to 
experience a 1.25% wage premia. A baseline of minimum wage at 35 hours a week has been used 
throughout the model.

Deadweight for Strand 1 has been chosen at 50% to represent the assumption that half of those who 
receive a wage premia would have ended up getting a rise in wage anyway, regardless of whether they 
received the training. This reflects an assumption that those securing wage increases were those who 
might be expected to achieve this because of their roles / attributes, rather than directly as a result of the 
training.

Strand 2 – Southport College

It is estimated that the majority (90%) of learners receiving Customer Experience training through 
Southport College will go on to gain employment. The employment gain creates an uplift in earnings and 
results in additional GVA for Southport.

However, as most of these students will already be enrolled at the college it is likely that most would 
have gained employment anyway. Therefore, a large deadweight of 90% has been applied to learners in 
Strand 2.

Strand 3 – Sefton Adult Learning Service

The learners receiving Customer Service training through Sefton Adult Learning Service are the most 
likely of the 3 strands to be unemployed and seeking work at the time of taking the course. They are 
therefore likely to be seeking employment within the customer service industry and looking improve their 
chances of gaining employment through taking the course.

It has been assumed that 30% of the Strand 3 learners will gain employment, with a lower deadweight of 
50% applied to account for those that would have found employment anyway. 

Leakage and Displacement

For all 3 strands leakage is assumed to be 52% to account for those that will take the benefits outside of 
the town following the training. This is because it is not a requirement to be a resident of Southport to 
receive training from any of the 3 providers and that the measurable influx of commuters into Sefton is 
52% (from the last census).

Displacement is assumed to be 25% to account for the scale of the benefits that would be moved from 
existing providers. This is a standard ‘low’ displacement measure applied to economic models and 
consistent with Government guidance.

ECONOMIC COSTS
The costs of the project can be broken down as follows, occurring in Year 1:

Page 275

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Project Budget        

  
Strand 1 – 
Workforce 
Development

Strand 2 - Southport 
College

Strand 3 – Sefton 
Adult Learning 
Service

Total Project 

Cost £20,000 £140,000 £40,000 £200,000

Green Book also requires any economic case to adjust for optimism bias – which is the tendency of all 
projects to ‘look on the bright side’ when estimating costs / timescales. An optimism bias of 25% has 
been considered when calculating the final value for money assessment.
This is considered to be prudent. Green Book supplementary guidance provides long term examples of 
project cost escalation across different capital cost projects. Less guidance is provided with regard to 
revenue based projects but a cost escalation of 25% is considered to be at the upper extent of possible 
escalation.

VALUE FOR MONEY ASSESSMENT

To calculate the value for money of the project, a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) has been calculated using 
the total costs (capital costs from public funding), likely GVA of employment gains and uplift in earnings, 
and a discount rate of 3.5%

A persistence effect of only 2 years following the 1st year of funding has been applied because if most 
learners were not able to secure employment within a short period then, on the whole, different 
employment scenarios / training may present themselves within a relatively short time frame. 

The outline of the project costs and benefits is therefore summarised in the table below:

Table: Summary of costs and economic benefits

 
Year 1

£
Year 2

£
Year 3

£
Capital Costs -200,000 0 0
GVA of uplift in earnings 0 691,564 691,564
Total -200,000 691,564 691,564
    
Total costs -200,000 0 0
Total GVA 0 691,564 691,564

The project costs and benefits set out in the table above have then been incorporated into the economic 
model to establish that the value for money outcomes is as follows:

Table: Economic Outcomes

Value for money 
assessment   

  

Discount Rate  3.5% 
Net Present Value Costs  £0.193m 
Net Present Value Savings   £1.27m 
Benefit-Cost Ratio (BCR)  6.6 
BCR after Optimism Bias 5.3 

Page 276

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

DLUHC guidance suggests that a BCR of above 2 represents good value for money although a BCR of 
greater than 4 is considered unlikely and requires further explanation. In this case the BCR has been 
calculated at 5.3 after optimism bias. 

The reason for this relatively high BCR is that further public sector contribtions will be made into the 
scheme in terms of management time, processes, residual systems and potential Adult Education 
Budget contributions which cannot be assessed at this stage. The result is that the model somewhat 
under-represents public sector ‘costs’ and as a result the BCR is somewhat inflated. It does, also 
demonstrate, however, that the project is likely to provide very strong value for money. 

The stage 2 Towns Fund Guidance issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
states that where some of the costs and/or benefits cannot be monetised at the present time, the 
economic case should proportionally capture these impacts and specify a partial value for money 
measure. The inability to fully estimate costs has resulted in this approach being taken3.

NON-QUANTIFIED BENEFITS

In addition to the quantified objectives, the scheme can deliver against a number of additional qualitative 
benefits.

Learners gaining skills on new training courses
Due to the fact that this project targets 3 different strands delivered by 3 different providers, a wide range 
of learners will benefit from the customer service training, each of these gaining new or improving their 
existing skills. The specific benefits will vary depending on the level of experience, current employment 
status and age of the learner but, all of those that gain these new skills could improve their employability 
which can potentially improve their chances of employment or promotion in the future.
Thee courses will provide learners with evidence on their CV to prove they have received additional 
customer service skills and providing a boost at the job application stage. The approach is also likely to 
improve the learners confidence which can have wide ranging benefits, from a college student having 
confidence in their first interview to someone already in employment gaining the confidence and skills to 
take on a managerial role. 
The training could encourage college students to take up a part-time job in customer service whilst they 
study, and give hospitality managers the confidence to hire young people knowing they have 
experienced a consistent and high level of training.
Overall, this could contribute towards reducing unemployment (particularly youth unemployment) and 
increase wages.

Benefits from employment gains
Overall, the availability of a trained workforce, developed specifically for the opportunities relevant to 
Southport will in turn create an uplift in local employment, and provide an associated uplift in GVA for 
Southport’s economy. The qualitative benefits of these employment gains are also important.
The increase in employment in Southport’s customer service industries will help to fill empty vacancies 
that have been caused by the pandemic and individuals lost to the workplace (the pandemic has 
increased the number of people removing themselves from the workforce and EU nationals leaving the 
UK). An increase in employment with well trained staff will improve productivity in the sector and allow 
businesses to provide high quality service, increase profits and grow.
Evidence presented in the Strategic Case highlighted that the Covid-19 pandemic had a greater impact 
on employment in Southport than in the North West and England as a whole. This creates the risk of 

3 MHCLG (now DLUHC) ‘Towns Fund guidance (stage two): business case development’ 16 December 2020 notes the following, ‘Value for 
money is ideally demonstrated in a credible Benefit-Cost Ratio, but where some of the costs and/or benefits cannot be monetised at the present 
time, the economic case should proportionally capture these impacts and specify a partial value for money measure. Wider benefits and costs 
should be considered and specified where these are sizeable, compared with the direct impacts.’Page 277

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

potentially widening inequality between the town and the rest of the region/country. Getting more people 
back into employment through these courses reduces this risk and provides the opportunity for overall 
improvement in the quality of life. 

Benefits to Southport’s visitor economy through improved perceptions of Southport
One of the key aims of this project is to create a ‘Southport standard’ of customer experience. The idea 
behind this is that by providing a high standard of customer experience, the overall perception of 
Southport will be improved. In particular as a place to visit, as the visitor economy makes up such a large 
proportion of Southport’s businesses and employment.
If visitors enjoy their time in the town they are more likely to return, and to book longer trips, increasing 
overall footfall and spending in the visitor economy. This gives a boost to existing businesses as well as 
potentially attracting more businesses and creating more jobs. 
By improving the overall perception the word will spread and, it is intended, that the combination of new 
investment and highly skilled professional servives staff will kickstart a process of renewed visitor 
confidence and improved experiences within the town. This will drive an increase in dwell time, return 
visits and staying visits from all of the target segments for the town.
Towns Fund Annex Benefits
The Towns Fund specifically identifies a number of core measures for training interventions and the 
Build Back Better Customer Experience course will provide outputs against these measures. These are 
specifically:
 Number of closer collaborations with employers – The programme will engage with employers to 

provide input to course content and to provide trainee employment experience. The programme 
will collaborate with c30 employers.

 Number of learners/students/trainees gaining certificates, graduating or completing courses at 
new or improved training or education facilities, or attending new courses. This measure will be 
delivered by Southport College and is estimated at 320.

 Number of learners enrolled in new education and training courses. This measure will be 
delivered by Sefton Council and Sefton Adult Learning Service and is estimated at 300

SUMMARY

Following analysis of the quantitative and qualitative benefits of investing in the Building Better Customer 
Experience project in Southport, it can be concluded that the preferred option for the project offers very 
good value for money and is expected to achieve several qualitative factors. The project will complement 
other projects within Southport’s Town Investment Plan that focus on strengthening the local visitor 
economy. 

BUSINESS CASE

Page 278

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

5. FINANCIAL CASE 
INTRODUCTION

The financial case for the programme sets out the estimates of costs and the contributions from the 
partners in the project. The project is entirely based on expenditure based on revenue rather than 
capital.

APPROACH TO FINANCIAL CASE

Funding

It is intended that the funding for the project will be provided entirely by the Towns Fund to a maximum of 
£200,000.

In addition the project will be supplemented by contributions from partners. This is broken down as 
follows:

 Sefton Community Learning will provide their existing management function, systems and 
monitoring processes into the project and the provision of the support to post-19 learners who are 
not currently within the workplace will attract funding from the Adult Education Budget.

 Sefton Council will re-purpose content within parts of their ‘Me Learning’ website to deliver 
aspects of the training to Council employees. The website will be adapted and the programme will 
be managed and monitored internally using Council resource.

 Southport College will also provide their own management and monitoring resource to provide 
oversight to the programme run within the College. The College will also leverage and build their 
employer engagement programme to support the initiative and ensure that there are work 
placements for the relevant students undertaking modules within the College.

Within the College based provision, where there is demand for hospitality and leisure focused courses 
providing skills in customer service, management, leadership, marketing and team building it will be 
possible to deliver NVQs relevant to the industry and the associated skills and training budgets that such 
activity will draw down. Where this is achieved, the college will share evidence of these qualifications 
with the project.

It can be seen therefore, that the £200,000 Towns Fund programme will leverage considerable additional 
resource but the difficulty in capturing the internal benefit in kind provided and the uncertainty over the 
level to which trainees to whom budget provision is linked will engage with the programme compared to 
other non-budget attracting trainees has meant that no value can be  attributed to this provision / match. 
It is clear that the match will be significant, but monitoring during the programme would be extremely 
difficult and the partners are very keen that students are selected on merit / motivation to take part and 
progress rather than by their funding position or whether their personal characteristica can lever in match 
finance

[NB it is accepted that the outline application within the overall Town Fund bid did place an estimate on 
this match funding but when the practicalities of such an approach were considered and the likely 
conditions that this would cascade into a Grant Funding Agreement, it was thought to create significant 
problems for both the funder in terms of monitoring and the applicant in terms of estimating and capture].

 Revenue Modelling

There is no revenue associated with the project (aside from the contribution of budgets associated with 
learners). The provision of a profit and loss account showing fully loaded staff costs and associated 

Page 279

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

overhead against the potential budget lines associated with learners is considered to be too complex for 
this application.

More straightforwardly, the approach demonstrates the additional value that the provision of Towns Fund 
would bring and the identification that the funding clearly pays for additional cash costs to the partners 
rather than the re-allocation or payment for any previously committed and now reallocated resource.

COSTS

The costs that make up the £200,000 funding request are broken down as follows:

Summary cost plan including cost breakdown structure and basis of estimates

Strand Type of Cost Year 1 Cost 

£

Year 2 Cost 

£

Year 3 Cost 

£

Basis of Estimates

Strand 1

Sefton

workforce

Staffing & 
associated staff 
costs

0 17,000 0 Current known pay rates within partner 
organisations as baseline for Year 1 with uplift of 
2.5% per year thereafter

Other Costs 
(including 
Marketing & 
Comms, 
Equipment, etc.)

0 3,000 0 Current known rates for other costs for existing 
comparable projects being delivered as a baseline 
for Year 1 with an uplift of 2.5% per year thereafter

Strand 2-

Southport 
College

Staffing & 
associated staff 
costs

0 £65,000 40,000 Current known pay rates within partner 
organisations as baseline for Year 1 with uplift of 
2.5% per year thereafter

Other Costs 
(including 
Marketing & 
Comms, 
Equipment, etc.)

0 25,000 10,000 Current known rates for other costs for existing 
comparable projects being delivered as a baseline 
for Year 1 with an uplift of 2.5% per year thereafter

Strand 3-

Adult 
Learning

Staffing & 
associated staff 
costs

0 16,333 8,167 Current known pay rates within partner 
organisations as baseline for Year 1 with uplift of 
2.5% per year thereafter

Other Costs 
(including 
Marketing & 
Comms, 
Equipment, etc.)

0 8,850 6,650 Current known rates for other costs for existing 
comparable projects being delivered as a baseline 
for Year 1 with an uplift of 2.5% per year thereafter

All 
Strands 

0 135,183 64,817

Total 
funding 
per 
strand

Strand 1 – 

Workforce 
Development 

=£20,000

Strand 2- 

Southport 
College

=£140,000

Strand 3 –

Sefton Adult 
Learning

=£40,000

FUNDING AND REVENUES

As noted the revenue associated with the costs is based on the provision of Towns Fund.

Page 280

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

AFFORDABILITY ASSESSMENT

The modest costs of the programme have been calculated on an additional cash cost basis to partners 
and the provision of the programme clearly leverages the established mechanisms, systems, 
management and support of the partners. On this basis the programme is considered to offer 
considerable value in addition to the demonstration that the economic benefit achieves the required 
value for money thresholds.

WIDER FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no wider financial implications although it is noted that the modest revenue ask associated 
with this programme does de-risk elements of the capital programme expenditure across the visitor 
economy elements of the Towns Fund programme. The provision of high quality visitior economy skills 
ensures that the strategy for Southport is delivered with the visitor at the centre of the approach and is 
not simply a series of regeneration initiatives. 

Page 281

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

6. Commercial case

INTRODUCTION
The Commercial Case for Building Better Customer Experience considers the mechanisms for delivery 
in terms of procurement and contractual structure. Given that the delivery of the programme is based 
mainly on the work of partners in the programme, there are aspects of the standard business case pro-
forma which are less relevant to this business case.

PROCUREMENT STRATEGY
The approach taken in building the programme focused on working with those organisations for whom 
training and development of the wider workforce was a core purpose and who already had the base 
infrastructure and systems to support the initiative.

As a result of this approach, the delivery is based on the three partners, Sefton Council, Southport 
College and Sefton Adult Learning Service. Training provision is based on estimated cost with no 
additional profit element and as such there was no requirement for a procurement exercise. Each 
organization will deliver the required outputs against the programme.

It is possible that small items of expenditure may be required in order to deliver a blended learning 
approach (additional on-line provision or minor additional items of training equipment) and where this is 
the case the procurement rules of the 3 organisations will be applied – which in each case are fully 
compliant with public sector procurement regulatuons.

Procurement Planning

As the delivery programme is fully developed, partners will be required to identify those areas where 
additional small areas of expenditure are required. These are likely to be limited and are not currently 
anticipated to be beyond £10,000 for any single item – any external provision is likely to involve small 
additional IT requirements to enable the delivery of blended learning and record management and small 
incremental expenditure on training room equipment such as IT equipment and stationery. In these 
cases it may be possible to use existing suppliers to partners who will have been selected as the 
preferred supplier through a previous tender exercise or through the provision of 3 quotes to ensure that 
different providers have the opportunity to bid for the contract. 

Timescale

As the procurement involved will only involve small elements of incremental equipment or changes 
related to course content, procurement may be required throughout the duration of the programme but 
with expenditure skewed towards the initial 6 month period.

Process

No items of expenditure will exceed the threshold for a full procurement exercise. Procurement will follow 
the internal processes of partners but are likely to involve suppliers procured under previous competitive 
processes covering the aspects of expenditure required (software, small elements of IT equipment or 
stationery) or will involve a 3 quote process. 

Person responsible for gateway checks at each stage of the process

In each of the partners a Procurement Officer will ensure compliance with internal policy.

Person responsible for day to day delivery of the procurement

Page 282

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

The delivery of the procurement will be the programme manager in each of the 3 partner organisations in 
line with the instructions of the Procurement Officer.

Compliance

Compliance with the internal processes of the partner organisations will be ensured by the Procurement 
Officer.

Social Value

The levels of procurement involved in the delivery of the programme are unlikely to trigger any 
thresholds requiring a formal evaluation of social value. 

COMMERCIAL DELIVERABILITY

The commercial deliverability of the programme is based on leveraging the extensive experience and 
systems that each of the partners have in place.
The programme will support the incremental costs of the training activities but this could not be delivered 
without the training and development, training infrastructure and performance monitoring and 
governance procedures such as health and wellbeing, safeguarding compliance that each organization 
has in place.
The programme will not be delivered as a ‘commercial’ activity as no surplus or profit will be secured by 
any of the partners involved.

WIDER CONSIDERATIONS

In all Towns Fund Business Cases it is important to consider Subsidy Control. Subsidy Control considers 
the suitability of the provision of public funds to organisations and the likelihood that it may distort 
competition or confer an unfair advantage to recipients.
The Build Better Customer Experience programme has been assessed as being Subsidy Control 
compliant on the basis that the programme is an extension of the core functions of the organisations 
involved and that these functions are based on providing a public good. In addition, the programme 
involves no element of profit in delivery. 

Page 283

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

7. Management case

INTRODUCTION

The Management Case sets out the core aspects of programme delivery. The partners have worked 
through the various elements required to ensure that the programme can be delivered effectively and the 
governance, timetable, costs, risks and performance management are all set out below.

PROJECT ORGANISATION AND GOVERNANCE
Sefton Council is the applicant for the Towns Fund and is responsible for the operation of the contract. 
The contract will, however, be delivered by three partner organisations and each will be responsible for 
the outputs identified against their element of the programme. The overall management of the 
programme will be led by a management team made up of the programme leaders from each of the 
three partners. 

The project management team will meet initially on a monthly basis whilst the programme is being 
developed and established and after c6 months the meeting will move to a bi-monthly basis. The 
purpose of the management team will be to: 

 Ensure programme development is in line with the core objectives of the programme
 Ensure that the progress of the programme is meeting the key milestones in the project plan
 Ensure that delivery is meeting the standards required
 Ensure that the critical success factors associated with stakeholder engagement is being 

undertaken effectively
 Ensure that output delivery is meeting programme
 Ensure that the partnership continues to work effectively
 Ensure that monitoring mechanisms are in place and working effectively

Any significant issues identified at management team meetings will be cascaded to directors as set out 
in Assurance below. 

ASSURANCE

An assurance framework will be established that ensures that the project is delivering against the 
programme, is meeting the critical success factors considered essential to meet the outputs of the 
project and is making adequate progress against project outputs.

Where under-performance is identified by the programme management team, the issue will be red-
flagged for continuous monitoring at each meeting and if under-performance continues the issue will be 
cascaded to the Director of the partner involved and the Director of the overall programme. Each 
organisation will be responsible for delivering their element of the programme and as a result under-
performance will require additional resource to be allocated to address the issue.

SCOPE MANAGEMENT

The scope of the programme is well defined and is limited to the provision of training in customer care 
activities by the three partners. The Programme management team will monitor the nature of the courses 
developed and ensure that they remain in line with the key principles of the training which is to provide 
delegates with an understanding of excellence in customer experience and how excellence is delivered 
in different aspects of hospitality and customer facing industries and what is required of staff at different 
levels within an organization. 

PROGRAMME/SCHEDULE MANAGEMENT

Page 284

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Summary timescales
The project will commence in summer 2022 immediately following approval from government to release 
town deal funding.  Initial phases will focus on the production of the detailed delivery and methodology 
plan with partners and all required approvals and consents to proceed will be put in place across the three 
delivery partners. This phase will also include the production of a contractual agreement between the 
Council and Southport College to incorporate a financial schedule which will govern how payments are 
made to the College based on effective delivery of the agreed activity. The financial schedule will be based 
around a milestones payment plan where the Council will require quarterly returns to be made in 
accordance with Town Deal compliance requirements and any adjustments or corrective actions to be 
made. We also intend to embark upon a partners consultation, design and feedback stage to ensure the 
training products and materials to be used are attuned to the requirements of the participant audience and 
the employers who will be involved.  Employers involved with the project and benefitting from the staff 
training will be asked to sign up to an engagement plan to capture the roles and responsibilities between 
the project and each employer, including safeguarding and health and safety risk assessments for work 
placements where necessary.  The delivery partners will enter into the implementation phases of the 
project in January 2023, with activity continuing until December 2024 when we expect to have achieved 
all our outputs. A further three months at the end of the project has been allocated for financial completion 
and the production of an internal evaluation report which can flag any areas for ongoing work the partners 
feel is required to assist with the further process of transformation of Southport as the main capital 
elements of delivery move forward.

Performance management and assurance processes will operate across all stages of the project. Delivery 
partners will establish a project steering group which will include the three strands and seek to reflect the 
voices and views of beneficiaries including participants and employers. Robust performance management 
systems will be put in place to help with the early identification of any issues which could affect the 
successful delivery of the project and the Council will ensure that this is conducted in a way that is open 
and transparent. Reports will also be made in line with wider programme monitoring system for the Town 
Deal ( DELTA) and will include reports to the Town Deal Board as necessary.  Monitoring and evaluation 
of the project will be undertaken via Sefton Council’s Employment & Learning team which has an 
established track record of administering external funding from a variety of sources. All claims will be 
audited through this team and claims will be moderated and verified based on the production of evidence 
in line with the agreed Monitoring and Evaluation plan for the project. 

Details of dependent and interdependencies with rest of TIP and non-TIP projects
Although this project contributes well to the overall objectives and aims of the TIP, it is not dependent upon 
parallel activity within the Town Plan in order for it to proceed. The stakeholder agencies have the 
structures, processes, and expertise to undertake the project independently according to its own agreed 
timescale.

Page 285

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Summary of key milestones including key decision points, assurance, consents, approvals

Milestone Commenced 
by Date 

Completed 
by Date

DLUCH approval of business case in place March 22 June 22
Full Business Case completed, and release of funding is 
greenlit from government according to published timescale

June 2022 End 
July2022

Internal approvals to commence project delivery in place July 22 August 22
Establish Project governance arrangements with roles and 
responsibilities confirmed

July22 August 22

Operate meetings of Project Governance group throughout 
the lifetime of the project

September 
22

Ongoing

 Appoint Southport College as external delivery partner in 
line with Council procurement rules

August 22 September 
22

Finalise Detailed Project Delivery Plan September 
22

October22

Confirm outputs and funding with College and issue Service 
Level agreement to include financial schedule and claims 
process

October 22 November 
22

Identify personnel to undertake “ storyboarding” element of 
training module design for Workforce Development strand

December 
22

Jan 23

Undertake recruitment of key staff for both Sefton Adult 
Learning and Southport College

September 
22

January 23

Commence process of employer engagement November 
22

Ongoing

Finalise documentation for employer agreements December 
22

February23

Create a range of project specific education/training 
programme including progression routes

January 23 Ongoing

Purchase equipment, tools, and resources Jan 23 June 23

Produce and test online training module for workforce 
development strand

Jan 23 June 23

Ensure senior management support for workforce training 
strand and put promotional strategy in place to optimise 
take-up

Jan 23 Dec 24

Consider alternative delivery means for groups in the 
workforce not able to access digital training module

March 23 September 
23

Create and publish delivery timetable for training activity 
across the town

Jan 23 ongoing

Produce and deploy a multi-channel communications 
campaign

Jan 23 ongoing

Page 286

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Set-up MI system for data capturing, recording, reporting, 
monitoring, and evaluation in line with Town Deal 
requirements and share this across partners

October 22 December 
22

Design and test training modules in line with employer 
needs including on-site at employer premises

Jan 23 March 23

Undertake ongoing assessment and audit of claims 
information to ensure compliance

March 23 Ongoing 
quarterly

Receive feedback, implement programme changes based 
on feedback including bespoke business/community needs

June 23 September 
23

Review and evaluate each learning cohort supported by the 
project

Jan 23 December 
24

Identify and set-up delivery locations including relevant risk 
assessment and equalities impact assessments

 October 22 December 
22

 

Summary of constraints and basis for programme rates and duration of interventions
This project has been constrained by a number of factors related to the COVID-19 pandemic and the way 
this has impacted business in Southport, the rates of unemployment and economic inactivity and the 
capacity of employers to offer the number of participants in the project at the level we had originally 
anticipated.  Many employees have left the visitor economy sector since this time and have been reluctant 
to return, with a significant proportion of these being older females with experience and skills. We have 
already recognised this through our dialogue with employers and have shifted focus somewhat from our 
original plan contained within the Town Investment plan to ensure we have appropriate methodologies 
and partners in place who are capable of attracting younger people into the visitor economy sector, 
returners who have left for other types of employment during the pandemic and older workers who have 
not previously considered progression into this sector.
The delivery partners we have identified for this project each have established track records of successful 
project delivery and have relevant systems for quality assurance in place. Sefton Adult Learning and 
Southport College have both achieved “Good” status in their most recent Ofsted inspections and have 
worked in the town for many years, demonstrating genuine commitment to its future transformation.  The 
basis of our planning concerning programme rates and duration of interventions has been informed by this 
expertise and can be benchmarked with other similar provision in other fields of training and education. 
Overall, we feel this plan can stand up to robust challenge and will be effective in achieving the objectives 
of the project within the agreed timescale and budget. 

Summary cost plan including cost breakdown structure and basis of estimates

Strand Type of Cost Year 1 Cost 

£

Year 2 Cost 

£

Year 3 Cost 

£

Basis of Estimates

Strand 1

Sefton

workforce

Staffing & 
associated staff 
costs

0 17,000 0 Current known pay rates within partner 
organisations as baseline for Year 1 with uplift of 
2.5% per year thereafter

Page 287

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Other Costs 
(including 
Marketing & 
Comms, 
Equipment, etc.)

0 3,000 0 Current known rates for other costs for existing 
comparable projects being delivered as a baseline 
for Year 1 with an uplift of 2.5% per year thereafter

Strand 2-

Southport 
College

Staffing & 
associated staff 
costs

0 65,000 40,000 Current known pay rates within partner 
organisations as baseline for Year 1 with uplift of 
2.5% per year thereafter

Other Costs 
(including 
Marketing & 
Comms, 
Equipment, etc.)

0 25,000 10,000 Current known rates for other costs for existing 
comparable projects being delivered as a baseline 
for Year 1 with an uplift of 2.5% per year thereafter

Strand 3-

Adult 
Learning

Staffing & 
associated staff 
costs

0 16,333 8,167 Current known pay rates within partner 
organisations as baseline for Year 1 with uplift of 
2.5% per year thereafter

Other Costs 
(including 
Marketing & 
Comms, 
Equipment, etc.)

0 8,850 6,650 Current known rates for other costs for existing 
comparable projects being delivered as a baseline 
for Year 1 with an uplift of 2.5% per year thereafter

All 
Strands 

0 135,183 64,817

Total 
funding 
per 
strand

Strand 1 – 

Workforce 
Development 

=£20,000

Strand 2- 

Southport 
College

=£140,000

Strand 3 –

Sefton Adult 
Learning

=£40,000

Approach to forecasting and allowing for risk and uncertainty and contingency provision
Forecasting – existing known costs. Up to end of financial year. With 2.5% increase moving forward to 
anticipate local pay rises and changes on staff levels 
Existing risk management processes in place within the Council to assess and mitigate risks within 
projects during their implementation            

Summary of assumptions and exclusions
We have assumed that during the period when the project will be delivered, the economic backdrop in 
Southport will be one of increasing recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic and that businesses within 
the key target sector of visitor economy will not be faced with further closures.
We have also assumed that during this period that the transformation of Southport will be commencing 
and building momentum, with increasing footfall to the town with the recommencement of a series of 
events and activities.
Our approach to indexation 
Our project plan spans a number of phases as outlined and will cover a period from an assumed start 
date in summer 2022 ( informed by the expected date of approval received by government for the overall 
Town Deal grant agreement ) and a period of two full years of  training delivery activity between January 
2023 and December 2024. The project will fully complete by end of March 2024, with all funds defrayed 
and with the production of an evaluation report produced by partners before this date.
To allow for indexation, we have assumed that staff costs will be increase by 2.5% during the delivery 
period when staff will be attached to this project.   Rate of pay will be applicable to the existing structures 
and pay agreements in place within Southport College and Sefton Council.
Our approach to reporting and managing costs

Page 288

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

The project will follow all the required cost control and monitoring requirements pertaining to the Town 
Deal agreement with government. This includes the use of the DELTA reporting system which we will 
use to collect and analyse performance information. 
The project will also be operated within the financial regulations of Sefton Council and in line with its 
published constitution. 

RISK AND OPPORTUNITIES MANAGEMENT 

The risks of the programme were outlined in the Strategic Case and the programme has developed a 
risk register to address each of these risks in turn. The opportunities of the programme have been set 
out in terms of learners and the long term improvement in the perception of Southport but without careful 
management of risks these opportunities will be lost.

Risks are set out below and measured in terms of likelihood and impact as well as the measures which 
are in place to provide mitigation:

Risk Likelihood
RAG

Impact 
RAG

Mitigation

The programme does not 
address the needs of the 
sector

G R The programme has been developed in 
consultation with Southport business 
owners and representatives of the 
Southport BID. These organisations will 
remain as key stakeholders in the 
programme, providing work experience 
opportunities for trainees and sharing 
experiences to continue to refine the offer. 
As such the programme will be entirely 
aligned with the changing nature of the 
hospitality sector as Southport emerges 
from Covid restrictions and impacts.

There are insufficient 
employment opportunities 
to enable trainees to bring 
their skills to the workplace

G A The workforce has been diminished in the 
last two years. The impact of Covid and the 
closing down of the hospitality sector forced 
many people to consider alternative areas 
of employment; other members of the 
workforce simply decided to withdraw 
themselves from economic activity; and the 
sector was further hit by EU migrants 
returning home during the pandemic and 
with their return now restricted post-Brexit. 
As a result this risk has been minimized. 

Hospitality employers within Southport have 
reported increasing levels of vacancies and 
the programme will undertake a concerted 
business engagement activity both directly 
and through partner organisations such as 
the Southport BID and the visitor economy 
board of the LEP. 

Page 289

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Those receiving training will 
find employment 
opportunities outside of the 
intended Southport area of 
focus

A R There is a risk that the individuals receiving 
training will be recruited from outside of 
Southport and / or will find employment 
opportunities outside of the town. If this 
takes place, the programme would still have 
a positive impact at a City Region level but 
the intention is that the training benefits 
Southport.

The risk of this taking place will be 
minimized through the continued 
engagement with Southport businesses. 
The provision of training will be linked to 
opportunities to work within the Southport 
hospitality industry and as the programme 
develops more and more local businesses 
will be invited to get involved and play a role 
in providing employment or placement 
opportunities. The risk of ‘leakage’ will 
therefore be minimized by ensuring that 
course participants start their employment 
activity in the sector within Southport.

There is insufficient interest 
from potential trainees to 
meet the programme 
outputs

R A There is a risk that the hospitality sector is 
not recognized as providing longer term 
opportunities for trainees – and there is a 
need to demonstrate the importance of the 
sector, the planned increases in investment 
in the town and the opportunities for career 
progression within the sector more 
generally.

Further work will be undertaken across the 
education sector, with Job Centre Plus and 
within Sefton Council to highlight the 
benefits provided by the training 
interventions and the wider opportunities 
which are emerging in the Southport 
hospitality sector as more capital projects 
are announced and the location bounces 
back post-pandemic.

Delays to the programme 
mean that outputs will not 
be achieved by the end 
point of the programme

A A The programme has been carefully planned 
to be delivered over the next 3 years. The 
partners have identified the resources 
required to complete the programme within 
the period.

Delays to the programme are possible due 
to future Covid outbreaks across staff and / 
or students but the programme has been 
conceived from the outset as providing a 
blended approach to learning and as such 
can pivot between online and face-to-face 
learning as required.
 

Page 290

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

Costs escalate and there 
will be insufficient resources 
to allow delivery.

G A The current post-Covid environment has 
resulted in a number of cost pressures 
across the economy.

Many of the core costs identified in terms of 
delivery are extensions of existing provision 
within providers and the costs / or payscale 
of such provision is already understood. IN 
addition, the providers are committed to 
delivery and as such, they are carrying any 
risk of cost inflation rather than the 
programme itself.

PROJECT MANAGEMENT 

Day-to-day project management will be undertaken internally by each of the three partner organisations 
and incorporated into the normal operations of the College providing module options for course 
delegates; Sefton Adult  Learning Service providing support to those not engaged in the workplace; and 
Sefton Council adding the training into their continuous professional development activities to staff.
The management team (see above) is made up of the managers responsible for this provision in each of 
the three organisations involved. It is the management team where oversight of the activity at a 
programme level will be captured and recorded.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

The stakeholder engagement aspect of the programme is an essential aspect of delivery. This will cover 
both the demand and supply aspects of delivery.
From a supply side perspective the formal engagement process will involve local businesses both 
through direct engagement to ensure participation in the programme (training design and trainee 
placements / employment) and through engagement with Southport BID. Wider stakeholders will include 
the LEP Visitor Economy board and the other business engagement groups in Southport.
From a demand side, the programme will engage with Job CentrePlus and the wider education sector to 
elevate interest with young people. The  programme will also be promoted to the existing staff within the 
Council and students enrolled across a range of courses within the College.
This stakeholder engagement is a critical success factor of the programme and will be monitored through 
the governance and management processes of the programme. 

BENEFITS, MONITORING AND EVALUATION

It is recognised that the award of Towns Fund will result in a future need for evaluation of the programme 
and as such the programme has identified the benefits which will be delivered and the monitoring 
process which will be put in place.
The key beneficiaries within the programme will be the individuals receiving training and as part of the 
programme each partner will be required to keep a record of the training provided. The programme is 
intended to create an economic uplift through the improved employment prospects of the individuals 
involved in the programme and as such, the employment status of the participants on completion of the 
programme will also be recorded.

Page 291

Agenda Item 8



TFDP Stage 2 – Business Case Template

A further cohort of beneficiaries will be the businesses involved in the programme through their ability to 
recruit more easily and improve their performance through the employment of staff with higher level skills 
and greater levels of customer engagement. The programme will maintain a record of businesses 
engaged.
The wider benefits to the Southport economy as a whole are also a very important qualitative output from 
the work although it is not proposed to create a formal monitoring process for this output given the 
modest scale of the programme. The improvement in skills performance will instead be judged from the 
businesses willing to engage in the programme.

Once Heads of Terms have been agreed, towns are required to develop business cases for 
each project and submit a Summary Document to Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG). MHCLG will need to review and be satisfied with the 
Summary Document before funding can be released.

The Summary Document is mandatory, even if you do not use the TFDP business case 
template.

Page 292

Agenda Item 8



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 10 March 2022

Subject: Transformations de Southport - Business Case

Report of: Executive Director
(Place)

Wards Affected: Dukes

Portfolio: Cabinet Member – Locality Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The report provides an update for Cabinet on the Southport Town Deal project, Les 
Transformations de Southport, and presents the preferred option for progressing the 
commitment of Town Deal funding for the project. The report also includes the business 
case for the project for submission by the Council, as accountable body, to Government 
on behalf of the Town Deal Board.

Recommendation(s):

That the report be noted and:

(1) the proposals for committing the Town Deal funding for delivery of the first phase 
of the project are approved;

(2) the business case for the project is agreed and should be submitted to 
Government on behalf of the Town Deal Board;

(3) the agreement and return of the Project Documentation to the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing & Communities (DLUHC) is delegated to the Chief 
Executive and the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services, in consultation with the Executive Director (Place) and the Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Skills and Cabinet Member for Locality Services, on 
behalf of the Town Deal Board and in line with Town Deal funding deadlines; and

(4) recommend to Council the approval of a supplementary capital estimate of 
£2.75m funded from the annual transportation capital programme (£0.25m) - for 
the development of the scheme – and the Town Deal (£2.5m) for the delivery of 
the first phase of the project.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Under the Town Deal Heads of Terms, Sefton Council is required to submit businesses 
cases within 12 months of the offer (by March 2022). The business case for the Les 
Transformations de Southport project has been developed in accordance with the 
guidance provided for Town Deal projects and takes account of consultation feedback 

Page 293

Agenda Item 9



and the results of previous studies in recommending the first phase of delivery for the 
project. The business case needs to be approved for the submission to be made to 
Government to facilitate the provision of the grant funding.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Failing to complete and agree the business case would risk losing the funding so that is 
not an acceptable option.

A range of different transport interventions were considered for inclusion in the project as 
part of the Town Deal process and a project focussed on improving movement, access 
and connectivity across the town was agreed by the Town Deal Board for inclusion in the 
Town Investment Plan.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

The full cost of the whole project is estimated to be £12.75m, with potential additional 
elements that could increase costs to £15m. However, funding has not been secured yet 
for the whole project and the first phase of the project is expected to cost £2.75m.

The Council is committed to securing additional support to enable it to deliver the full 
project and initial conversations have taken place with the Combined Authority about the 
potential for further funding through the CA’s transport pipeline. There are several 
potential private development projects expected to be proposed in Southport in the next 
few years and it is also reasonable to expect that some of these proposals will be able to 
provide contributions to the project as part of the requirements to address the highways 
and access impacts of the proposals. The Council elements of the funding will remain in 
the Transportation Capital Programme and adjustments will be made on a regular basis 
in accordance with the scheme’s delivery.

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no revenue costs associated with the delivery stages of the project. Future 
revenue requirements for maintenance of the infrastructure, including highways 
maintenance, cleansing, trees and planting will be delivered through existing budgets for 
those elements. All the proposals are being delivered within existing highway 
infrastructure that is already being maintained by the Council. There are no new 
significant maintenance requirements.

(B) Capital Costs

The funding for the first phase of the project will be largely met through £2.5m of Town 
Deal funding, with the balance of £0.25m from the annual transportation capital 
programme. 

The project will be funded through capital resources as described above. The Council’s 
capital commitment will be allocated from existing committed budgets for the Council 
growth programme (transport scheme allocation) and the transportation capital 
programme. The funding for the transportation capital programme commitment will be 
provided through the City Region Sustainable Transport Settlement, which is 
administered by the Combined Authority.

Page 294

Agenda Item 9



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
There are no specific implications. The project is being progressed by Council staff, 
funded from existing Council budgets.

Legal Implications:
Any legal implications are incorporated in the report.

Equality Implications:
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out for the project. The improvement 
to the street environment, including seating and provision of public spaces and wider 
footways are expected to have some benefits for those in the protected characteristic 
groups related to age, disability and maternity/pregnancy. No significant negative 
implications have been identified.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Yes
Have a neutral impact No
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

The proposals are intended to make the town centre safer, easier and more attractive to 
walk around, reducing the need for vehicular travel. They also include measures to 
improve connections to the railway station which will have a positive impact on 
encouraging people to come to the town by rail. Overall, the proposals are designed to 
encourage more sustainable travel in support of clean growth in the town and there 
should be an overall positive impact.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
The project is intended to improving safety and accessibility for all highway users, 
including specific provision for people with impaired mobility.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
The proposals are intended to make the town centre safer, easier and more attractive to 
walk around, as well as providing a better business environment that will create 
opportunities for local communities.

Commission, broker and provide core services:
Improving and maintaining highway infrastructure is a core service delivered by the 
Council. This project delivered on behalf of the Town Deal Board will enhance the core 
infrastructure service provided by the Council.

Place – leadership and influencer:
The proposed project is intended to be an enabler for transformational change in the 
town centre environment and lead to further private sector investment in Southport.

Page 295

Agenda Item 9



Drivers of change and reform:
Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
The underlying aim of the project is to improve the environment of the town centre by 
providing better quality public spaces and safer and more accessible highway 
infrastructure which will lead to higher numbers of people coming to the town centre, 
staying longer and thereby supporting local businesses and the prosperity of the town 
centre.

Greater income for social investment:
The procurement of the works contract will include a requirement for the contractor to 
provide added social value as part of the contract.

Cleaner Greener:
The project is intended to make the town centre safer, easier and more attractive to 
walk around, reducing the need for vehicular travel. It also includes measures to 
improve connections to the railway station which will have a positive impact on 
encouraging people to come to the town by rail. Overall, the proposals are designed to 
encourage more sustainable travel in support of clean growth.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6725/22.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4725/22.) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Les Transformations de Southport project is part of the Southport Town Deal’s Town 
Investment Plan which was submitted following an extensive public consultation with 
residents, visitors, business owners and young people (on which more than 7,000 
responses were received). The project was identified as a priority by the Town Deal 
board, in both the submission of the bid in October 2020, and in the allocation of the 
awarded funding in March 2021.

Further consultation on the project started in February 2022. This consultation presented 
an overview of the whole project, with specific questions relating to the proposals for the 
first phase of delivery to be funded through the Town Deal allocation. The consultation is 
open to anyone to respond to, but it is particularly targeted at the business community 
and those individuals and organisations likely to be affected by the first phase of the 
proposals. The consultation will be continuing until the 18th March. The Town Deal Board 
have also considered the project and in February 2022 approved the business case for 
submission to government, subject to Cabinet consideration in March.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Page 296

Agenda Item 9



Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Stephen Birch
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4225
Email Address: stephen.birch@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report:

Appendix A – Summary of Les Transformations de Southport business case

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available elsewhere on the Internet can 
be accessed on the Council website:

Cabinet meeting 1st April 2021, Southport Town Deal – Heads of Terms: 
http://smbc-modgov-
03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$L
O$=1

Town Deal Board: http://smbc-modgov-03/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=881 

Page 297

Agenda Item 9

http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/documents/s102024/Southport%20Town%20Deal%20Heads%20of%20Terms.pdf?$LO$=1
http://smbc-modgov-03/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=881


1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Following the successful submission of Southport’s Town Investment Plan (TIP), 
under the government’s Town Deal funding programme, Southport was allocated 
£37.5m for a range of projects.  All project funding allocations through the Town 
Deal have been developed with the agreement and support of the Town Deal 
Board and in line with the Town Deal Programme Heads of Terms. 

1.2 One of the projects included in the TIP was Les Transformations de Southport. 
The provision of infrastructure to underpin economic growth was one of the three 
themes of the Town Investment Plan for Southport and this project provides the 
transport and public realm infrastructure needed to support the ambition of the 
Town Fund and the changing patterns of travel demand and movement around 
the town. The overall project is expected to cost approximately £12.75m and 
£2.5m of funding has been allocated from the Town Deal to enable the delivery of 
the first phase of the project. Additional funding will be sought for the further 
stages of the project.

1.3 The project aims to improve the atmosphere, prosperity and health of the town by 
providing better access and connections across the town centre, linking all the 
Town Deal projects and making it easier, safer and more enjoyable for people to 
get about the town. This means that all the parts of the town are better connected 
with each other, that people enjoy the town more and stay longer and that the 
town’s businesses are able to grow and develop and attract new investment into 
the town.

1.4 In practice, the project will consist of access, connectivity and public realm 
improvements on key routes connecting the major development proposals (Marine 
Lake Events Centre, Enterprise Arcade and Southport Market) with the railway 
station, together with a new comprehensive signing and wayfinding system. 

1.5 The business case for the Council’s delivery of the project sets out the rationale 
for the whole project and provides more detail about the planned delivery of the 
first phase of the project that will be funded through Town Deal. The project is 
expected to achieve the outcomes and outputs required under the Town Deal 
Heads of Terms. 

2. Project Outcomes 

2.1 The vision for the project is to create accessible and well-connected high quality 
public spaces, providing priority for people walking and cycling and those with 
limited mobility in support of clean growth. This will support businesses in 
attracting and retaining customers, improve the health and wellbeing of 
communities, encourage people to stay longer or return more frequently and 
thereby reinforce the vision for the town.

2.2 Key objectives of the project are: 

 Define a consistent and high quality look and feel for street design in Southport
 Develop a framework street design that will deliver natural wayfinding between 

key destinations within the town centre

Page 298

Agenda Item 9



 Support the natural wayfinding with a high quality, effective and modern physical 
and digital wayfinding system

 Redress the balance between place and movement on key streets to reduce 
traffic domination and create the conditions across the town centre where walking 
and cycling is safe, simple and attractive

 Improve the accessibility of the town for everyone by reducing or removing 
barriers and severance, especially for people with limited mobility

 Improve pedestrian and cycling routes both in the town centre and waterfront and 
between the town centre and the waterfront

 Create a town centre environment that promotes enhanced public health and 
wellbeing

 Increase footfall, dwell time and expenditure within the town centre

2.3 The proposed project outputs for the whole project are summarised as follows:

 Upgrade of railway station entrance
 A total of 1,216m of improved public space, pedestrian and cycle connections 

throughout the town
 A total of 17,180m2 of improved public space throughout the town
 A comprehensive physical and digital wayfinding system across the town

2.4 The proposed project outputs for the first phase, funded through the Town Deal, 
are summarised as follows:

 A total of 556m of improved public space, pedestrian and cycle connections on 
Chapel Street, Eastbank Street and King Street

 A total of 1,413m2 of improved public space on Market Street
 First phase of delivery of a comprehensive physical and digital wayfinding system 

across the town

2.5 These interventions are expected to deliver the following outcomes:

 Increased usage of rail services
 Increase in walking and cycling with associated health and well-being outcomes
 Reduction in traffic congestion due to improved traffic management and signing 
 Significantly improved visitor experience on arrival and in the town centre
 Longer dwell time by residents and visitors due to more enjoyable public spaces
 Increased town centre/high street footfall

2.6 These outcomes are expected to have a significantly positive impact on the 
economic vitality of the town and the health and well being of residents and 
visitors.

3. Delivery Approach

3.1 As part of the Town Deal bid process, a wide range of ideas for improving 
movement, access and connectivity in the town centre were reviewed together 
with the other project ideas for diversifying and strengthening the economy as part 
of the Town Deal bid process. The Les Transformations de Southport project was 

Page 299

Agenda Item 9



identified as the measure to deliver the infrastructure improvements needed to 
underpin growth in the town and the proposals included in the TIP were then 
agreed by the Town Deal Board.

3.2 The bid for Town Deal funding was clear that Town Deal would provide a 
contribution to the overall scheme and that further funding would be required. This 
remains the case. The Town Deal Board remain committed to the delivery of the 
whole project and have agreed to commit £2.5m of the Town Deal funding to the 
delivery of the first phase of the project.

3.3 Consideration of the different elements of the project and how they should be 
delivered and in what order was therefore essential. Several factors were taken 
into consideration in identifying the elements to be delivered in Phase 1 and the 
later phases of the project as follows.

 Evidence of need: Available evidence from previous studies, public consultation 
and other comments about areas where improvement was needed most.

 Recommendation from previous studies: The Southport Investment Framework 
and the Town Centre Access and Connectivity study both included 
recommendations for improvements that would stimulate growth in the town.

 Building on success: Where recent investments have proved successful, ongoing 
investment in those areas will reinforce and develop that success.

 Support for Town Deal priorities and investments: The project was always 
intended to improve connections to and between the other Town Deal investments 
and the phasing of those investments was used to inform the phasing of this 
project.

3.4 The first phase of the project will focus on Chapel Street, Eastbank Street, King 
Street and Market Street. It will also include the development and initial 
implementation of the wayfinding strategy. The reasoning for the choice of these 
areas as the first phase is provided below.

 Evidence of need: The condition and appearance of Chapel Street and the railway 
station entrance is regularly raised by the public and their representatives as 
needing attention and improvement. More than 4 million entries and exits take 
place at the station every year so the station serves as a key gateway to the town 
and the existing look and feel of the station entrance create a disappointing 
impression of the town. A volunteer led Station Improvement Group has been 
formed specifically to seek improvements to the station. The existing direction 
signs across the town are variable in form and quality and the totem signs with 
direction maps on are in poor condition and require updating.

 Recommendation from previous studies: The Southport Investment Framework 
(2016) recommended improvements to the Market area and included a specific 
recommendation, “Public realm improvements to King Street and Market Street 
will enable activities associated with the Market Hall to utilise this outdoor space 
for large scale outdoor markets, events and other uses associated with a 
revitalised market hall.” This idea was also identified in the Town Centre Access 
and Connectivity study (2018) which proposed that “King Street and Market Street 
are upgraded from Local Streets to Destination Streets. To achieve this 
transformation some interventions will be required to help improve the ‘place’ 
function whilst maintaining the existing ‘movement’ function on these streets.”

Page 300

Agenda Item 9



 Building on success: The refurbishment of Southport Market in 2020, using 
advance funding from the Town Deal has proved very successful, with tens of 
thousands of customers and turnover of more than £1.4m in its first six months. 
There have also been very successful Sunday markets, with more than 50 stalls, 
held inside and alongside the Market. Three new businesses on Market Street 
and two on King Street have opened since the Market re-opened. 

 Support for Town Deal priorities and investments: One of the other Town Deal 
projects that is being planned for early delivery in the Town Deal process is the 
Enterprise Arcade, located on Eastbank Street. This will provide a new business 
incubator premises, focussing on the arts, creative and digital businesses 
emerging in the town. Its location on Eastbank Street means that it is ideally 
located for access to the railway station and is linked with the growing Market 
quarter.

3.5 It is proposed to deliver the first phase of the project with the £2.5m allocation 
from the Town Deal, together with the contribution of £0.25m from the Council’s 
capital programme. Whilst that element of the project is being delivered, the 
business case will be used to make the case for further funding to deliver the later 
phases of the project.

4. Business Case

4.1 The Business Case developed for the project meets the requirement set out by 
Government and funding approval through the Town Deal Programme. The 
Business Case adopts the standard Treasury Green Book 5 Case Model as 
follows: 

 Strategic Case
 Economic Case 
 Financial Case 
 Commercial Case 
 Management Case 

4.2 A summary of the Business Case is provided in Appendix A and the key elements 
of the business case are provided below. 

STRATEGIC CASE

4.3 The strategic case sets out the evidence for the importance of access and 
connectivity for the visitor and retail economy. This draws on the information 
presented in the Southport Development Framework from 2016, the Southport 
Town Centre Access and Connectivity Study of 2018 and the Town Deal 
consultation carried out in 2020. All these previous studies identified the 
importance of safe, accessible and attractive infrastructure for the movement of 
people between attractions as well as in and around the town centre. The 
strategic case presents the extensive list of interventions that were considered as 
part of the Town Deal process and the way in which they were appraised and 
selected for inclusion in the TIP. The proposals for the different phases are 
identified and the ongoing consultation and engagement with key stakeholders is 
also summarized.

Page 301

Agenda Item 9



ECONOMIC CASE

4.4 The benefit calculations take account of active travel benefits, accident savings, 
ambience improvements and wider economic benefits. Different options for the 
project have been appraised, based on availability of funding and phasing. 
Sensitivity testing to identify the effect of different assumptions on the value for 
money have also been carried out. The full scheme option of £12.75m has been 
assessed, but a further option with possible additional funding up to £15m, subject 
to funding bids has also been included in the appraisal. The project offers strong 
value for money and the benefit cost ratios for the options and sensitivity tests are 
all high or very high. Due to the early stage of development of the project and that 
more specific proposals have only been developed for the first phase of the 
project, a prudent approach has been taken in the development of the Benefit 
Cost Ratio (BCR) value for money calculations. 

FINANCIAL CASE

4.5 The financial case considers the capital costs associated with the project. There 
are no revenue elements included in the project. Cost estimates are indicative at 
this stage and more detailed estimates will be developed as the details of the 
project are refined. These indicative scheme costs are considered to be 
proportionate and affordable in relation to the scale of issues and benefits 
identified. The potential funding sources for the project are also identified. For 
the development of the scheme, it is proposed that £0.25m of existing Council 
capital resources is used, from the growth programme and the transportation 
capital programme. The delivery of the first phase of the project will be funded 
through the £2.5m of Town Deal.

4.6 Funding for the later stages of the project is not confirmed, but it is assumed that 
it would be comprised of Council capital programme £0.25m, Combined 
Authority (subject to funding bid) £9.0m, developer contribution (subject to 
planning obligations) £0.75m. The delivery of the whole project is currently 
expected to take place over 5 years, from 2022/23 – 2026/27.

COMMERCIAL CASE

4.7 The capability and experience to deliver such projects already resides within the 
Council and the existing processes for procurement, financial management and 
monitoring and project management will be suitable and sufficient for the delivery 
of the project. The delivery of the first phase of the project will be undertaken by 
a contractor appointed through a procurement strategy that will be developed 
and manages in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. The 
project will be included in the Council’s transportation capital programme and 
managed and monitored in accordance with existing processes and reported to 
Cabinet Member for approval.

MANAGEMENT CASE

4.8 The project will be managed in accordance with the Council’s existing assurance 
and management framework and will also be reported to the Town Deal Board. 
Delivery programmes will be developed for each phase as they are finalised. 
Seasonal issues (summer and Christmas) will need to be accounted for in all the 

Page 302

Agenda Item 9



project delivery phases. Subject to approval of the funding, the first phase is 
planned to start in early 2023. The risk developed for the scheme identifies that 
key risks relate to the availability of future funding, levels of public support and 
risk of delays and cost increases, e.g. related to inflation, stats diversions, 
contractor availability. Measures to mitigate and manage these risks are also 
identified in the risk register. Key stakeholders have been identified and are 
being consulted as part of current consultation process. Monitoring and 
evaluation of the project will be carried out in accordance with the requirements 
of the Town Deal.

CONCLUSIONS

4.9 The case for change is strong because of importance of access and connectivity 
for visitor and retail economy and there is a good evidence base for the scope 
and phasing of the project. The project offers value for money and the benefit 
cost ratios for the options are all high or very high. Indicative scheme costs are 
considered to be proportionate and affordable, but additional funding sources are 
required for the later phases of the project. Existing procedures and approval 
mechanisms are suitable for procuring and managing the delivery of the project. 
Key risks and measures to mitigate and manage those risks have been 
identified. Key stakeholders are identified and consultation is under way.

Page 303

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 1

SOUTHPORT TOWN DEAL

Les Transformations de Southport
Movement, Access and Connectivity

BUSINESS CASE
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 305

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Les Transformations de Southport project is a core component of the Southport Town Deal and 
has been developed to provide the infrastructure essential to underpin economic growth in the town. 
This was one of the three key themes of the Town Investment Plan (TIP). The project provides the 
transport and public realm infrastructure needed to support the ambition of the Town Fund and the 
changing patterns of travel demand and movement around the town.

The project aims to improve the atmosphere, prosperity and health of the town by providing better 
access and connections across the town centre, linking all the Town Deal projects and making it 
easier, safer and more enjoyable for people to get about the town. This means that all the parts of the 
town are better connected with each other, that people enjoy the town more and stay longer and that 
the town’s businesses are able to grow and develop and attract new investment into the town.

In practice, the project will consist of access, connectivity and public realm improvements on key 
routes connecting the major development proposals (Marine Lake Events Centre, Enterprise Arcade 
and Southport Market) with the railway station, together with a new comprehensive signing and 
wayfinding system. 

The business case for the Council’s delivery of the project sets out the rationale for the whole project 
and provides more detail about the planned delivery of the first phase of the project that will be 
funded through Town Deal.

STRATEGIC CASE

The strategic case sets out the evidence for the importance of access and connectivity for the visitor 
and retail economy. It demonstrates the case for change as a basis for improving the town centre 
environment and supporting both the visitor and retail economy.

Southport attracts approximately 8 million visitors per year from around the country for days out, 
short breaks and seaside holidays. The annual events programme generates large numbers of 
visitors to the town and provides an important boost to the economy in the area, but their impact is 
time limited and cannot sustain businesses in the tourism and hospitality sectors year round. 
Alongside tourism the town also performs as a ‘day to day’ town centre retail destination for residents 
as well as a wider Sefton and West Lancashire catchment area. Lord Street is the centrepiece of the 
town centre. 

The strategic case draws on the information presented in the Southport Development Framework 
from 2016, the Southport Town Centre Access and Connectivity Study of 2018 and the Town Deal 
consultation carried out in 2020. Both the previous studies identified the importance of safe, 
accessible and attractive infrastructure for the movement of people between attractions as well as in 
and around the town centre. The need to invest in the public realm in the town centre and the 
connection between Lord Street and the Promenade emerged strongly in the Town Deal consultation 
responses in 2020.

The case for change presented in the Town Investment Plan was that the quality of Southport’s 
infrastructure and its links to the wider regional economy of the North West and the rest of the UK are 
key in terms of access to labour, jobs and other life opportunities. In-town infrastructure is vitally 
important to the movement of people, between attractions as well as in and around the town centre. 

The vision for the project is as follows :
Create accessible and well-connected high quality public spaces, providing priority for 

people walking and cycling and those with limited mobility in support of clean growth. Aim to 
support businesses, improve the health and wellbeing of communities, encourage people to 

stay longer or return more frequently and thereby reinforce the vision for the town.

Page 306

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 3

The Project objectives are :

 Define a consistent and high quality look and feel for street design in Southport
 Develop a framework street design that will deliver natural wayfinding between key 

destinations within the town centre
 Support the natural wayfinding with a high quality, effective and modern physical and digital 

wayfinding system
 Redress the balance between place and movement on key streets to reduce traffic 

domination and create the conditions across the town centre where walking and cycling is 
safe, simple and attractive

 Improve the accessibility of the town for everyone by reducing or removing barriers and 
severance, especially for people with limited mobility

 Improve pedestrian and cycling routes both in the town centre and waterfront and between 
the town centre and the waterfront

 Create a town centre environment that promotes enhanced public health and wellbeing
 Increase footfall, dwell time and expenditure within the town centre

The proposed changes to the physical environment of the town centre, in terms of public space, 
improved pedestrian and cycle connections and a new physical and digital wayfinding system are 
expected to deliver a wide range of beneficial outcomes as follows :

 Increased usage of rail services
 Increase in walking and cycling with associated health and well-being outcomes
 Reduction in traffic congestion due to improved traffic management and signing 
 Significantly improved visitor experience on arrival and in the town centre
 Longer dwell time by residents and visitors due to more enjoyable public spaces
 Increased town centre/high street footfall

The project ideas for improving movement, access and connectivity in the town centre were reviewed 
together with the other project ideas for diversifying and strengthening the economy as part of the 
Town Deal bid process. The contribution that each intervention was expected to make to growth and 
prosperity, access and connectivity and low carbon was reviewed and the deliverability of each idea 
and project was also assessed. The Les Transformations de Southport project was identified as the 
measure to deliver the infrastructure improvements needed to underpin growth in the town and the 
proposals were included in the TIP.

Following the announcement of £37.5m funding for the Southport Town Deal, further details were 
developed for the project, to take account of the reduced level of funding and to review the options 
for phasing of delivery. The Town Deal Board remain committed to the delivery of the whole project 
and have agreed to commit £2.5m of the Town Deal funding to the delivery of the first phase of the 
project.

The first phase of the project will focus on Chapel Street, Eastbank Street, King Street and Market 
Street. It will also include the development and initial implementation of the wayfinding strategy. The 
reasoning for the choice of these areas as the first phase is provided below.

 Evidence of need: The condition and appearance of Chapel Street and the railway station 
entrance is regularly raised by the public and their representatives as needing attention and 
improvement. More than 4 million entries and exits take place at the station every year so the 
station serves as a key gateway to the town and the existing look and feel of the station 
entrance create a disappointing impression of the town. A volunteer led Station Improvement 
Group has been formed specifically to seek improvements to the station. The existing 
direction signs across the town are variable in form and quality and the totem signs with 
direction maps on are in poor condition and require updating.

 Recommendation from previous studies: The Southport Investment Framework (2016) 
recommended improvements to the Market area and included a specific recommendation, 
“Public realm improvements to King Street and Market Street will enable activities associated 
with the Market Hall to utilise this outdoor space for large scale outdoor markets, events and 

Page 307

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 4

other uses associated with a revitalised market hall.” This idea was also identified in the Town 
Centre Access and Connectivity study (2018) which proposed that “King Street and Market 
Street are upgraded from Local Streets to Destination Streets. To achieve this transformation 
some interventions will be required to help improve the ‘place’ function whilst maintaining the 
existing ‘movement’ function on these streets.”

 Building on success: The refurbishment of Southport Market in 2020, using advance 
funding from the Town Deal has proved very successful, with tens of thousands of customers 
and turnover of more than £1.4m in its first six months. There have also been very successful 
Sunday markets, with more than 50 stalls, held inside and alongside the Market. Three new 
businesses on Market Street and two on King Street have opened since the Market re-
opened. 

 Support for Town Deal priorities and investments: One of the other Town Deal projects 
that is being planned for early delivery in the Town Deal process is the Enterprise Arcade, 
located on Eastbank Street. This will provide a new business incubator premises, focussing 
on the arts, creative and digital businesses emerging in the town. Its location on Eastbank 
Street means that it is ideally located for access to the railway station and is linked with the 
growing Market quarter.

The theory of change for the project shows how the project is expected to lead to more successful 
businesses in the town, growth in the visitor economy and increased inward investment. It is also 
expected to improve community health and well-being and the quality of life in the town.

An equalities impact assessment of the proposals has been carried out in accordance with the 
Council’s Public Sector Equality Duty and the need to consider potential impacts on groups with 
differing income levels or protected characteristics. The improvement to the street environment, 
including seating and provision of public spaces and wider footways are expected to have some 
benefits for those in the protected characteristic groups related to age, disability and maternity/ 
pregnancy. No significant negative implications have been identified.

The scope of the project means that there are many key stakeholders. Key stakeholders have been 
identified and are being informed about the project and will have the opportunity to influence its 
development. The successful delivery of the scheme will be particularly dependent on the Council (as 
the statutory highway authority), the Town Deal Board and local decision makers and 
representatives. The scheme also aligns strongly with the work of the the Southport Business 
Improvement District (BID) and Marketing Southport and their interest in the visitor economy and the 
health and vitality of Southport Town Centre.

This business case sets out the justification and benefits for delivery of the whole project, but the 
Town Deal funding will only deliver the first phase of the works and further funding will be required to 
deliver the rest of the project. These issues are addressed in the risk register. Other constraints also 
identified in the risk register relate to the level of support for the proposals from businesses and the 
general public, the significance of the seasonal visitor economy in Southport and the need to 
minimise disruption to businesses at key times of the year.

Page 308

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 5

ECONOMIC CASE

The anticipated benefits from the investment closely match the local transport and urban 
regeneration and the planning and land use investment themes of the Towns Fund. A proportionate 
approach to assessing the benefits of the proposed interventions has been adopted, based around 
three key types of appraisal: active modes appraisal; ambience benefits appraisal and wider 
economic impact appraisal.

The Department for Transport’s (DfT’s) Active Mode Appraisal Toolkit (AMAT) has been used to 
quantify the active mode benefits of the proposed interventions. The AMAT calculates the benefits 
associated with a forecast uplift in levels of walking and cycling across three key areas: mode shift; 
health; and journey quality. Within the AMAT, the key factors that the appraisal considers are 
changes in infrastructure provision and how these are likely to impact on demand for walking and 
cycling trips in the scheme location.

Ambience benefits relate to improvements in the overall travel ‘environment’ when undertaking 
journeys and are based on market research into how much per trip a passenger is willing to pay for 
improvements. The Willingness To Pay (WTP) valuation data from Transport for London’s (TfL’s) 
ABC (Ambience Benefits Calculation) tool has been used. An adjustment has been made to the WTP 
values from the TfL toolkit to make them more appropriate to Sefton. The tool monetises the benefit 
of providing enhanced individual journey ambience by using WTP values in pence per trip per minute 
(or unit). The WTP values refer to the maximum price an individual is willing to pay for transport 
interventions in order to gain the benefits following the implementation of such interventions.

A series of options were developed and considered as part of the AMAT and ABC appraisal, in order 
to identify which option might generate the highest VfM (Value for Money). The options tested using 
the AMAT and ABC range from Do Nothing (which assumes business as usual with no Town Deal 
investment), to Do Minimum and 3 Do Something scenarios as described below. 

 Do Nothing : Under the Do-Nothing scenario, Sefton Borough Council would not receive any 
Town Deal funding to implement the project and no improvements would be made, with a 
continuation of the business-as-usual situation. 

 Do Minimum : The Do Minimum scenario assumes the use of £2.5m of Town Deal funding to 
deliver the interventions focused around Chapel Street, Eastbank Street, King Street and 
Market Street as well as potential improvements at the rail station entrance. 

 Do Something A : The Do Something A scenario assumes the delivery of Do Minimum 
interventions, plus additional improvements at the Lord Street/Nevill Street/London/Street 
junction, on Nevill Street itself and at the Nevill Street/Promenade junction. 

 Do Something B : The Do Something B scenario assumes delivery of the Do Minimum and 
Do Something A interventions, plus additional improvements at the Eastbank Street/Lord 
Street, Promenade/Bold Street and Bold Street/Lord Street junctions. 

 Do Something C :The Do Something C scenario assumes delivery of the Do Minimum and 
Do Something A and B scenarios, plus additional improvements on London Street and along 
Lord Street.

Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA) has been used to appraise the costs and benefits of each of the options 
being tested against the reference case i.e. the Do-Nothing scenario, where no investment is made in 
Southport’s town centre infrastructure through the Town Deal. Where possible, the benefits have 
been quantified and monetised and then discounted to provide net present values, reported in 2021 
values in line with the Towns Fund appraisal guidance.

At this stage of the project, the business case has been developed on the basis of an overall scheme 
cost of £12.75m. Funding for the first phase of the scheme only will be provided by £2.5m from the 
Town Deal allocation for Southport. Funding for the whole of the scheme has not yet been secured. 
The project is a capital project, and the business case has been developed on the basis of the capital 
investment, so there is no revenue element included in the project and in the business case. The 
overall estimated cost for the preferred option for the project is £12.75m, but with an option for a 
larger project of up to £15m.

Page 309

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 6

The indicative scheme costs were converted to PVC (Present Value of all Costs) values for each of 
the scenarios, as shown below.

Option PVC Values

Do Minimum Do Something A Do Something B Do Something C

PVC Costs
(£, 2021 PV) 2,648,192 7,463,088 12,277,983 14,444,686

As well as the quantified benefits calculated using the AMAT and ABC, there will also be a range of 
‘wider economic impacts’ associated with the scheme. These include the following:

 Additional visitor numbers at key events (and the additional visitor expenditure and additional 
employment in the visitor sector that this generates); and

 Additional employment and employment-related Gross Value Added (GVA) generated by new 
developments that will be unlocked, at least in part, by the new scheme. 

All wider economic impacts are based on standard ‘additionality’ guidance (as published by the HCA, 
now Homes England and DCLG, now the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities).

The results of the value for money assessment are summarised below.

Summary of Value for Money calculations

Benefits Do Minimum Do Something A Do Something B Do Something C
Total Estimated Benefits 
(AMAT & ABC) £20,215,893 £30,924,413 £40,547,820 £43,317,422

Total Estimated Costs £2,646,666 £7,460,988 £12,275,525 £14,441,749
BCR (Benefit Cost Ratio) 7.64 4.14 3.30 3.00
NPV (Net Present Value) £17,569,227 £23,463,424 £28,272,294 £28,875,674
VfM (Value for Money)  Very High  Very High  High  High 
Estimated Wider Economic 
Benefits £31,168,763 £48,058,241 £63,258,772 £67,557,911

Adjusted NPB £51,384,656 £78,982,654 £103,806,591 £110,875,333
Adjusted BCR 19.41 10.59 8.46 7.68
Adjusted NPV £48,737,990 £71,521,666 £91,531,065 £96,433,585
Adjusted VfM  Very High  Very High  Very High  Very High 

It can be seen from the initial BCRs that the proposals for all scenarios result in High or Very High 
VfM, with all BCRs above 3. In each scenario, the largest proportions of benefits come from 
enhanced journey quality and increased physical activity. The inclusion of the wider economic 
impacts in the adjusted BCRs means that these increase to above 7 in each scenario.

Based on both quantitative and qualitative assessment, the Do Something B scenario has been 
identified as the preferred option. It delivers an initial BCR of 3.30 and an adjusted BCR of 8.46, 
representing High and Very High VfM respectively. Although some of the other options are forecast 
to generate larger BCRs, Do Something B offers the best fit with the scheme objectives and in being 
the most deliverable option in terms of affordability and delivery timescales.

Other potential impacts, such as accident casualties, reductions in severance and journey time 
impacts have not been considered in the appraisal. The project is expected to deliver potential 
benefits in terms of road safety improvements and reducing severance. Effects on journey times are 
expected to be largely neutral.

Page 310

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 7

Sensitivity testing was carried out to determine the impact of lower and higher benefit scenarios and 
different appraisal periods on the BCR for the preferred option (Do Something B). The sensitivity 
testing is important because the outcomes of schemes of this nature are uncertain, in particular in 
terms of future levels of use as a result of new public realm and associated infrastructure.
In order to illustrate the sensitivity of the forecast uplifts, four different scenarios have been explored:

 Core – which was used within the AMAT and ABC calculations for the BCR;
 Low – which presents a ‘worst case’ scenario of low forecast (-50%); 
 High – which presents an optimistic scenario of high demand increase (+50%); and
 DfT Uplift Tool – which presents the uplift based on the DfT Uplift Tool, as provided as part of 

the Tranche 3 Active Travel Fund.

Additionally, sensitivity tests for 15-year and 30-year appraisal periods were undertaken for 
comparison with the assumed 20-year appraisal period. In all tests, the VfM for the preferred scheme 
option remained high or very high, with the adjusted BCRs showing very high VfM across all 
scenarios.

FINANCIAL CASE

The business case has been developed on the basis of an overall scheme cost of £12.75m, but 
recognising that there is potential to extend this and deliver more subject to the availability of 
additional funding. At this stage, funding for the whole of scheme has not been secured and further 
funding bids for the scheme will be submitted based on the evidence presented in this business case. 
The Town Deal will provide £2.5m for the delivery of the first phase of the project. The project is a 
capital project and the business case has been developed on the basis of the capital investment, so 
there is no revenue element included in the project and in the business case.

Cost estimates at this phase are indicative allocations only. Allowances for inflation and for optimism 
bias have not been identified separately and are incorporated in the overall indicative estimates. As 
specific phases of the project are developed further and the details of the designs are confirmed, 
more detailed cost estimates will be prepared. The indicative scheme costs are considered to be 
proportionate and affordable in relation to the scale of issues and benefits identified. 

An indication of the components of the phases of the project and the indicative budgets for different 
elements has been developed. Given the uncertainty relating to the availability of the full funding for 
future phases of the project, it is difficult to provide a definitive funding profile. However, an indicative 
profile of potential outturn scheme costs has been developed which shows potential delivery of the 
scheme over a 5 year period from 2022/23 – 2026/27.

The potential funding sources for the project are also identified. For the development of the scheme, 
£0.25m of existing Council capital resources is being used, from the growth programme and the 
transportation capital programme. The delivery of the first phase of the project will be funded through 
the £2.5m of Town Deal. Funding for the later stages of the project is not confirmed, but it is assumed 
that it would be comprised of Council capital programme £0.25m, Combined Authority (subject to 
funding bid) £9.0m, developer contribution (subject to planning obligations) £0.75m.

There is no revenue funding identified for the delivery of the project and all the project delivery will be 
capital funded. Future revenue requirements for maintenance of the infrastructure, including 
highways maintenance, cleansing, trees and planting will be delivered through existing budgets for 
those elements.

The Council has existing structures and procedures in place for financial management that provide 
capacity and capability to meet the financial requirements and liabilities associated with the funding 
agreement.

Page 311

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 8

COMMERCIAL CASE

The project involves capital investment in physical infrastructure within the highway network, typical 
of projects carried out by the Council in its statutory function as local highway authority. The Council 
delivers an annual programme of transport capital investment, together with larger and longer term 
capital funded transport infrastructure projects. The capability and experience to deliver such projects 
already resides within the Council and the existing processes for procurement, financial management 
and monitoring and project management will be both suitable and sufficient for the delivery of the 
project. This project will be included in the Council’s transportation capital programme and managed 
and monitored in accordance with existing processes and reported to Cabinet Member for the 
relevant budgetary approvals. Once completed, the project will form part of the Council’s highway 
infrastructure asset and managed through the highways asset management plan.

The delivery of the first phase of the project will be undertaken by a contractor appointed through a 
procurement strategy that will be developed and managed in accordance with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules. It is envisaged that the works for each phase of the project will be procured on a 
build only basis using the NEC3 Engineering and Construction Form of Contract (or an updated 
version of the same), this will provide flexible contractual options. The appointment of the Contractor 
will be subject to approval by Sefton’s Cabinet delegated to the relevant Cabinet Member.

Key project risks have been identified and management of these risks will be an ongoing task 
through to practical completion. The use of an NEC3 contract provides for a robust Risk Management 
process which ensures that construction risks are raised at the earliest opportunity and dealt with 
expeditiously thus optimising key project targets such as expenditure of project funds and impact of 
the project on the public. During the contract formulation stage, a contract Risk Register will be 
prepared, which transfers the ownership of each risk to either the Employer or Contractor on the 
basis of which party is best placed to deal with the risk should it arise.

MANAGEMENT CASE
 
The project is being delivered by Sefton Council on behalf of the Town Deal Board as one of projects 
set out in the Town Investment Plan. It will be managed in accordance with the Council’s existing 
procedures for delivering highway infrastructure improvements and projects within the Council’s 
Growth and Investment Programme and will also be reported to the Town Deal Board. Key decisions 
regarding the Town Deal projects are made at Sefton Council Cabinet, supported by 
recommendations from the Growth and Investment Board, the Strategic Capital Investment Goup 
and the Town Deal Board.

Delivery programmes will be developed for each phase as they are finalised. Seasonal issues 
(summer and Christmas) will need to be accounted for in all the project delivery phases. Subject to 
approval of the funding, the first phase is planned to start in early 2023. Delivery of the later phases 
will depend on the outcome of funding bids, but it is expected to take place over a period of 5 years, 
up to 2026/27.

A Risk Register has been developed for the project and this will be modified and amended as the 
project progresses. The risk register identifies that key risks relate to the availability of future funding, 
levels of public support, scope creep, seasonal constraints and risk of delays and cost increases, e.g. 
related to inflation, stats diversions, contractor availability. Measures to mitigate and manage these 
risks are also identified in the risk register. 

Southport’s Town Investment Plan was submitted following an extensive public consultation with 
residents, visitors, business owners and young people. Further consultation on the project started in 
February 2022. This consultation presented an overview of the whole project, with specific questions 
relating to the proposals for the first phase of delivery to be funded through the Town Deal allocation. 
Key stakeholders have been identified and are being consulted as part of current consultation 
process.

Page 312

Agenda Item 9



Southport Town Deal – Les Transformations de Southport – Business Case Executive Summary 9

Monitoring and evaluation of the project will be carried out in accordance with the requirements of the 
Town Deal. In particular this will focus on the delivery of the lengths and areas of improved public 
space and provision for walking and cycling as defined outputs of the project. The outputs for this 
project will also be included in the overall monitoring and evaluation plan for the Town Deal, which 
will be reported to the Town Deal Board and to Government.

CONCLUSIONS

The case for change is strong because of importance of access and connectivity for visitor and retail 
economy and there is a good evidence base for the scope and phasing of the project. The project 
offers value for money and the benefit cost ratios for the options are all high or very high. Indicative 
scheme costs are considered to be proportionate and affordable, but additional funding sources are 
required for the later phases of the project. Existing procedures and approval mechanisms are 
suitable for procuring and managing the delivery of the project. Key risks and measures to mitigate 
and manage those risks have been identified. Key stakeholders are identified and consultation is 
under way.

Page 313

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 10 March 2022

Subject: Local Government Association Peer Review Revisit

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report seeks endorsement from Cabinet for a Peer revisit to take place in relation to 
the 2018 LGA Peer Assessment.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is asked to

(1) welcome the LGA’s intention to undertake a Peer Review Revisit in April 2022.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Peer Reviews are a proven tool for sector-led improvement and the Council has always 
been open to learning from others and sharing good practice. The peer challenge that 
took place in 2018 provided external recognition of the things it believes the Council was 
doing well, highlighted where the Council can learn from other councils considering best 
practice elsewhere and recommended several key actions. 

In January 2019 Cabinet considered and agreed an action plan responding to the Peer 
Review Team’s recommendations and in March 2020 Cabinet received a progress 
update. 

This report seeks to keep Members informed of the LGA peers revisit intentions to 
assess progress against their recommendations.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

NA

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Page 315

Agenda Item 10



The report does not have direct implications for finances or resources, actions within the 
proposed action plan may have implications. In such cases and where they cannot be 
contained within existing budgets there will be a separate report to Cabinet or Cabinet 
Member seeking approval in accordance with the Council’s constitution

(B) Capital Costs

The report does not have direct implications for finances or resources, actions within the 
proposed action plan may have implications. In such cases and where they cannot be 
contained within existing budgets there will be a separate report to Cabinet or Cabinet 
Member seeking approval.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):  The report does not 
have direct implications for finances or resources. 

Legal Implications:  There are no implications arising directly out of this report.

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: NA

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: NA

Commission, broker and provide core services: NA

Place – leadership and influencer: NA

Drivers of change and reform:  The Council is a self-aware learning organisation and 
commissioned a peer review from the LGA in 2018 to assure it plans and learn from 
best practice. 

This report ensures transparency of the intention of the LGA peers to undertake a revisit 
in April 2022.

Page 316

Agenda Item 10



Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: NA

Greater income for social investment: NA

Cleaner Greener NA

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6708/22) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4908/22) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

NA

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Cabinet meeting.

Contact Officer: Jan McMahon
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4431
Email Address: jan.mcmahon@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

Associated papers are published on the Council website.

1. Background

1.1 The Council commissioned the Local Government Association (LGA) to conduct a 
peer review as an independent check on how the Council is performing in terms of 
planning for and delivering against our ambitious plans for the future. 

1.2 The peer review took place in September 2018 and the peer review team was 
made up of experienced elected member and officer peers. The peer team 
considered the following five core themes:

 Understanding local context and priority setting 
 Leadership of place
 Financial planning and viability 
 Organisational leadership and governance and 
 Capacity to deliver. 

Page 317

Agenda Item 10



1.3 In addition to the five core themes, the peer review focused on the progress that 
the Council has made in implementing its ‘vision for change’ and the Council’s 
approach to commercialisation. 

1.4 The overarching message in the initial feedback from the LGA peer team 
immediately following the review was -  

 
Sefton has listened to and served its communities well through a challenging period 
of austerity. To meet your Sefton 2030 ambitions, the Council will need to further 
recognise and move towards a model of co-production especially with your 
communities.  

The peer review team summarised the Council’s strengths as 
• Knowledge of Sefton ‘the place’ is strong. 
• Strong political and managerial leadership. 
• Vision is in place, priorities have been set and transformation plan in 

place, which is significant. 
• Local Plan is in place which has required difficult decisions
• MTFP is linked to strategy and priorities. 
• The Council has a committed and passionate workforce. 
• Strong partner relationships exist across the Borough. 
• The council exhibits self-awareness and willingness to reflect. 
• The Council has successfully managed a 51% reduction in grant 

funding and put in place a 3-year budget: and
• The Localities model has proven to be effective and the service is 

moving in the right direction 

1.5 Cabinet considered the feedback report in December 2018, the recommendations 
were accepted, and Cabinet requested officers to develop an action plan for their 
consideration. Action Plan was approved in January 2019.  Progress on the Action 
Plan was considered by Cabinet in March 2020.

1.6 The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge process includes a follow up visit. The 
purpose of the visit is to help the Council assess the impact of the peer challenge 
and demonstrate the progress it has made against the areas of improvement and 
development identified by the peer review team. It is a lighter-touch version of the 
original visit and does not necessarily involve all members of the original peer 
review team. The follow up visit was delayed due to the COVID 19 pandemic and 
will take place 21st and 22nd April 2022.

2 Revisit
  
2.1 Members of the LGA team have held a scoping call with the Chief Executive.  

Following this the LGA are working with the Head of Strategic Support to draft a 
timetable for the visit.  At the end of March 2022, a risk assessment will be carried 
out to ensure that the timetable for the visit is COVID safe and any required 
adjustments to the timetable will be made at that point.

2.2 The Peer Review revisit team will include

Page 318

Agenda Item 10

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1709/lga_peer_review_action_plan_jan2019.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s95743/Local%20Government%20Association%20Peer%20Review%20Action%20Plan%20Update.pdf


 Cllr Steve Houghton, Leader of Barnsley Council (member of original Peer 
Review Team)

 Ali Griffin, Chief Executive at London Councils (member of original Peer 
Review Team) 

 Jayne Traverse Executive Director Place Cheshire East Council 
 Dan Archer Programme Manager, Local Government Association (member 

of original Peer Review Team) 

2.3 A progress self-assessment (Position Statement) will be produced and will account 
of the impact of the pandemic, changes to national and local policy and priorities 
and be an honest reflection of our current position and future plans. This will be 
submitted to the LGA along with any required supporting evidence by 31st March 
2022.  

2.4 Cabinet is asked to welcome the LGA’s intention to undertake a Peer Review 
Revisit in April 2022.

Page 319

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Pre 
Agenda

Date of Meeting: Thursday 24 
February 2022

Subject: Annual Health and Safety Report

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

 Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The report provides Cabinet with assurance on the progress made to implement the 
Council’s Health and Safety policy during the 2020/21 financial year.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet to note the progress on implementing the Council’s Corporate Health and Safety 
Policy for the 2020/21 financial year.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The annual report provides assurance to the Cabinet, which has strategic responsibility 
for employee health and safety, that there is continued progress to implement and 
enhance an effective health and safety system across the Council

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There are no revenue costs arising from this report outside the existing approved budget.

(B) Capital Costs

There are no capital costs arising from the report.

Page 321

Agenda Item 11



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no resource implications associated with the report.
Legal Implications:

There are no legal implications associated with the report.
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. 
Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The report has a neutral impact as it provides a summary of health and safety activity 
across the Council that has already taken place. There have been no incidents that 
have been reported that could have detrimentally affected the climate.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Positive

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Positive

Commission, broker and provide core services: Positive

Place – leadership and influencer: Positive

Drivers of change and reform: Positive

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Neutral

Greater income for social investment: Neutral

Cleaner Greener: Neutral

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6702/22) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4902/22.) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

Page 322

Agenda Item 11



(B) External Consultations 

None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: David Eden
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4053
Email Address: david.eden@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report:

  Annual Health and Safety report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Council in accordance with its responsibilities to manage health and safety, 
approved a Council-wide Corporate Health and Safety Policy in April 2019. The 
policy sets out the Council’s approach to health and safety, the responsibilities for 
key staff for managing the system and the arrangements within the Council for 
monitoring health and safety. 

1.2 A key objective from the Policy is to clarify and strengthen governance 
arrangements for health and safety across the Council. 

1.3 The Policy outlines that the Cabinet has strategic responsibility for employee 
related health and safety in the Council and that the Audit and Governance 
committee's responsibilities are to consider the Council's arrangements for health 
and safety, receive regular assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of 
these arrangements. 

1.4 The Policy also states that the Corporate Health and Safety Team is responsible 
for providing an annual report on Health and Safety to Cabinet on behalf of the 
Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services. This report is 
designed to meet this requirement.

1.5 Currently the Audit and Governance Committee receives an update on health and 
safety performance on a quarterly basis which includes the following information:

     Progress on health and safety actions due to be undertaken during the 
quarter.

    Updates on health and safety performance including accidents and incidents. 
    Any emerging legal or health safety related issues. 

Page 323

Agenda Item 11



    Proposed activity in the next quarter. 

2. Annual Report

2.1 The Annual Report for Health and Safety is designed to provide assurance to 
Cabinet of the continued progress to implement health and safety effectively 
across the Council. The progress update will assist Cabinet meet its strategic 
responsibility for employee health and safety. 

2.2 Providing an annual report to Cabinet on health and safety will assist in the 
achievement of the health and safety objective, including in the Corporate Health 
and Safety Policy, of improving governance.

2.3 The Annual Health and Safety Report is attached at Appendix 1 and includes 
updates on: 

 The organisational arrangements for Health and Safety
 Consultation and communication
 Covid-19
 Liaison during the year with regulatory authorities
 Details of the reported accidents and incidents during the financial year
 Training
 Risk Assessments
 Sefton Schools
 Objectives, KPIs and Priorities for 2021/2022

2.4 The key highlights from the report include: 

2.5 The Council continues to focus on improving the provision of health and safety by 
reviewing existing arrangements and improving governance. An example of this is 
the consultation arrangements within the Council are working well, with the 
Corporate Health and Safety Committee playing a key role in conjunction with the 
Departmental Health and Safety Committees.

2.6 The Health and Safety Team are fully qualified safety professionals who deliver a 
full range of services to all Council departments and schools for the prevention of 
injury and ill health.  These services can be divided into three main areas: -

 Proactive monitoring
 Policy and communication
 Operational e.g. reactive response

Significant work continues to be done to provide managers with the information, 
guidance and support they need to manage risks especially Covid-19.

2.7 Consultation arrangements are working well, with the Corporate Health and Safety 
Committee playing a key role together with health and safety groups in 
directorates/services. 

2.8 The health and safety position within Sefton Council has demonstrated 
encouraging progress during the financial year.  The Council’s accident reporting 
culture is improving and showing signs of increased proportionate investigation 

Page 324

Agenda Item 11



and implementation of suitable controls. The on-line incident reporting system 
continues to be well utilised

3. Recommendation 

3.1 Members are asked to note the contents of the attached health and safety report

Page 325

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Health and Safety
Annual Report

1st April 2020 – 31st March 2021

Page 327

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

Contents

1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................3
2 Executive Summary..........................................................................................................3
3 Covid–19 Pandemic..........................................................................................................4
4 Organising for Health and Safety......................................................................................4
5 Consultation and Communication.....................................................................................5
6 Liaison with Regulatory Bodies.........................................................................................5
7 Accidents and Incidents....................................................................................................5
8 Training.............................................................................................................................8
9 Risk Assessment ..............................................................................................................8
10   Sefton Schools..................................................................................................................9
11   Objectives, KPIs and Priorities 2021/2022........................................................................9

Page 328

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

1 Introduction

1.1 For legal and moral purposes, Sefton Council is required to actively manage and 
monitor health and safety. The primary legal constraints arise out of the Health and 
Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and the Management of Health and Safety at Work 
Regulations 1999. This report provides an overview of the Councils health and safety 
performance from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. Attention is drawn to key issues that 
have arisen during this period and highlights ongoing priorities to be addressed.

1.2 The priorities for the year 2020/2021 include:
 embedding risk assessment across Council departments
 clarifying and strengthening governance arrangements
 improving health and safety risk management by targeting effective training.

1.3 Throughout the report the term ‘Health and Safety’ is used and should be read within 
the context of occupational health and safety issues for which Sefton Council (the 
Council) has responsibility under both statute and common law.

1.4 The Council’s Health and Safety Policy was revised during the 2018/2019 financial 
year and will be presented again to the Corporate Health and Safety Committee and 
Strategic Leadership Board (SLB) for consultation before being approved by Cabinet 
in April 2022. 

2 Executive Summary

2.1 The Council continues to focus on improving the health and safety management 
system and support by reviewing existing arrangements and improving governance.

2.2 The Health and Safety team consisted of one health and safety adviser, with an 
additional adviser joining late May 2020. The team support nearly 8000 staff across 
schools and service areas, plus agency workers, contractors and volunteers. A 
temporary administrator was recruited in January 2021, to provide additional support 
during the pandemic. The position was filled by a CIPFA Trainee who moved to the 
finance team in August 2021. 

2.3 The team deliver a range of services across all Council departments including schools. 
These services can be divided into three main areas: policy and communication, 
operational reactive response and active monitoring.

2.4 Information, guidance and support regarding the risk of the transmission of COVID-19 
and impacts on staff has been significant, as services adjust to varying national 
restrictions. 

2.5 Consultation arrangements are working well, with the Corporate Health and Safety 
Committee playing a key role in conjunction with the Departmental Health and Safety 
Committees.

2.6 The health and safety position within Sefton Council has demonstrated encouraging 
progress during the financial year.  The Council’s accident reporting culture is 
improving and showing signs of increased proportionate investigation and 
implementation of suitable controls. The on-line incident reporting system continues to 
be well utilised.

Page 329

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

2.7 The Schools Service Level Agreement has been reviewed as well as the inspection 
and audit processes revitalised.  Several inspections were undertaken throughout the 
financial year; however, these were limited due to rising Covid-19 rates and restrictions 
put into place by the Government in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

2.8 Health and safety objectives and key performance indicators are continually reviewed. 
Progress against the objectives has been impacted by the requirement to respond to 
the on-going COVID-19 pandemic. The is will be managed by the continual review and 
reshaping of the service delivery to assist the Council to meet its obligations and to 
provide managers and staff with the relevant support.

2.9 Progress has been made on providing risk assessment training to all managers who 
have responsibility for completing risk assessments. 

2.10 The growth of the Health and Safety team will increase the advice, guidance, 
monitoring and support available for managers and staff across the Council, improving 
the appropriateness and effectiveness of the health and safety management system. 

3 Covid–19 Pandemic

3.1 The Health and Safety Team were actively involved during the pandemic from the 
outset playing a strategic and operational role providing support, guidance and 
assistance to Schools, Senior Management and Service Team colleagues. The 
Health and Safety team worked closely with Public Health colleagues to ensure that 
advice provided to operational team was given in line with Government guidance.

3.2 The Health and Safety team were also included in the cell structure of the Council’s 
response. Protecting staff has been key to our approach although guidance from the 
Government changed frequently as the pandemic progressed clear communication 
has been key in sharing the latest position as well as the . Support and guidance on 
the how to work safely for example on developing risk assessments has been 
provided at pace to the Service teams as well as joint working across the Council 
with Senior Managers including in particular Public Health. 

3.3 The pandemic has had two impacts firstly in reinforcing the importance of an effective 
health and safety structure in the Council is in preventing injury and harm to 
employees, contractors and the public. In addition the response to the pandemic has 
impacted on the delivery of planned improvements during the financial year. 

4 Organising for Health and Safety

4.1 The Council has a Health and Safety Team within Corporate Resources who provide 
health and safety advice to Members, Officers, school governors, headteachers, 
partner organisations and contractors. To provide additional support during the Covid-
19 pandemic further temporary resources have been recruited.

4.2 The Health and Safety Team liaise with other services and teams within the Council 
regarding Occupational Health, Insurance, Emergency Planning, Human Resources 
and Public Health.  The Team has potential additional assistance from Health and 
Safety Co-ordinators within each of the Service areas.  The additional assistance has 
enabled the Health and Safety Team to assess how risk assessments are embedded 
they are throughout the Council.  

Page 330

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

5 Consultation and Communication

5.1 Employers have a duty to consult with their employees and representatives on health 
and safety matters.  The process for consultation with Trade Unions and staff in Sefton 
is direct and through the Health and Safety Committee structure, as outlined in the 
Corporate Health and Safety Policy. 

5.2 The overarching Corporate Health and Safety Committee meets quarterly and is 
chaired by the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services. 
Sub-Committees meet at least bi-annually. The table below shows the Health and 
Safety Committee and its sub-committee meetings held during the 2020/2021 financial 
year. 

Corporate Health and Safety Committee 22 Sept 20, 09 Dec 20, 15 March 21

Sub-committees:
Adults / Children Social Care 23 Nov 20, 22 Feb 20
Communities Monthly – last Friday of each month.
Corporate Resources / Strategic 
Support / Public Health

15 Sept 20, 06 Nov 20, 24 Feb 20

Economic Growth and Housing 07 Sept 20, 26 Nov 20, 10 March 21
Locality Services / Highways and 
Public Protection

02 June 20, 24 Nov 20, 25 Feb 21

5.3 Regular meetings are held with Education Excellence and the STJCC (School 
Teachers Joint Consultation Council) and involve staff, Head Teachers and Trade 
Unions. 

5.4 A standard core agenda for the various health and safety sub-committees has been 
revised and issued to Heads of Service. This provides a consistent approach across 
the Council to manage health and safety matters. A focus for the Committee’s during 
2020/21 has been focussed on ensuring that all managers have received risk 
assessment training and then followed it up  with the completion of risk assessments 
as well as the response to the pandemic. 

6 Liaison with Regulatory Bodies

6.1 The Council has routinely liaised with the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) during 
the financial year on the reporting of RIDDOR related incidents and COVID-19 spot 
checks. The HSE continue to monitor the Council’s COVID-19 arrangements.

7 Accidents and Incidents

7.1 The Health and Safety Team continue to manage the Council’s on-line incident 
reporting system which is used by all service areas.

7.2 The aim of reporting is to ensure suitable proportionate investigation leading to the 
implementation of effective controls and monitoring to prevent re-occurrence. High 
levels of reporting could demonstrate a positive reporting culture or a high risk. 

7.3 Graph 1 below shows the accidents and incidents reported between 1st April 2020 – 
31st March 2021. It also shows the accidents and incidents from the previous financial 
year (1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020).

Page 331

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

Anim
al

Bump to
 Head

Chemica
l sp

las
h

COVID-19

Dizz
iness

Electr
icit

y

Entra
pment

Exe
rci

se

Fa
ll f

rom heigh
t

Harm
ful S

ubsta
nce

Lif
tin

g

No in
jury

Other

Physi
ca

l im
pac

t

Poiso
ning

Rac
ial

/H
ate

 Crim
e

Road
 Traf

fic
 Acci

dent

Se
lf H

arm

Sli
p, tr

ip or fa
ll a

t fl
oor L

eve
l

Sw
im

ming D
iffi

cu
lty

Verbal 
Abuse

Violence
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400

01.04.19-31.03.20

01.04.20-31.03.21

Adult S
ocia

l C
are

Child
ren's S

ocia
l C

are

Commerci
al 

Deve
lopment

Communitie
s

Corporat
e Reso

urce
s

Eco
nomic G

rowth an
d 

Housin
g

Educa
tio

n Exce
lle

nt

High
way

s &
 Public 

Protecti
on

Lo
ca

lity
 Se

rvi
ce

s 

Public 
Healt

h an
d W

ellb
eing

Str
ate

gic
 Su

pport
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400

01.04.19-31.03.20

01.04.20-31.03.21

Graph 1 - Accidents and Incidents Reported Across Service Areas
01/04/19 – 31/03/20 and 01/03/20 – 31/03/21

7.4 Analysis of the reports raised highlights areas services areas that have remained open 
albeit with restrictions during the pandemic, including Communities, Education 
Excellence and Locality Services. 

7.5 Information affecting Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care staff health and 
safety is often provided during meetings and therefore not captured formally. Support 
is being provided to managers to encourage accident and incident reporting, 
proportionate investigation and prevention of reoccurrence where possible.  

7.6 Graph 2 below provides an overview of the causes of accidents and incidents raised 
and highlights the increase in COVID-19 cases across the Council service and 
educational settings. A comparison of results with the previous 12 months is clearly 
identified. 

Graph 2 – Causes of Accidents and Incidents Reported
01/04/2019 – 31/03/2020 and 01/03/2020 – 31/03/2021

Page 332

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

01.04.19 - 3
0.06.19

01.07.19 - 3
0.09.19

01.10.19-31.12.19

01.01.20-31.03.20

01.04.20-30.06.20

01.07.20-30.09.20

01.10.20-31.12.20

01.01.21-31.03.21
0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Non-COVID

COVID

7.7 Managers are asked to report all COVID-19 cases, whether or not they are due to 
workplace transmission. This has assisted in the assessment and review of the health 
of staff and others and service delivery. 

7.8 Slips, trips, falls and physical impact accident reports are consistent with the reopening 
of service areas. Analysis suggests that figures were lower due to restrictions and 
limited operations throughout the pandemic.  

7.9 Education Excellence and Communities record the highest number of accident and 
incident reports. This could be due to the number of staff and interactions with children 
and the public. Data shows that the slips, trips, falls and physical impact accidents 
commonly arise from pupils during playtime sessions rather than Council employees.  

7.10 Adults and Children’s Social Care see the fewest number of reports submitted. This 
could suggest a poor reporting culture, as communications with the service staff have 
implied incidents of verbal abuse have not been reported on the system.

7.11 The Health and Safety Team continue to monitor the RIDDOR accidents reported by 
Managers to ensure they are correctly reported to the Health and Safety Executive 
(HSE) and investigated with appropriate interventions implemented to prevent re-
occurrence where possible. Graph 3 below details the number of accidents and 
incidents reported under Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences 
Regulations (RIDDOR) for the period from 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2021. This is to 
highlight the current upward trend in RIDDOR reports, mostly due to the pandemic. 

Graph 3 – RIDDOR Reports – Comparisons by Quarter
Highlighting COVID-19 and other reports

01/04/2019 – 31/03/2021

7.12 A new addition to the reporting requirement under RIDDOR, introduced during Quarter 
1 2020, is to report certain instances of COVID-19. The reporting requirements relating 
to cases of, or deaths from, COVID-19 under RIDDOR apply only to occupational 
exposure, that is, as a result of a person’s work.

 an accident or incident at work has, or could have, led to the release or escape of 
coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2). This must be reported as a dangerous occurrence

 a person at work (a worker) has been diagnosed as having COVID-19 attributed to 
an occupational exposure to coronavirus. This must be reported as a case of 
disease

 a worker dies as a result of occupational exposure to coronavirus. This must be 
reported as a work-related death due to exposure to a biological agent.

Page 333

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

The council are still required to maintain its normal records for instances where the 
case may not strictly fall into these categories.

7.13 Areas during 2020/21 that were significantly affected by workplace transmission of 
COVID-19 were Education Excellence, Communities and Locality Services, where 
front line staff continued to support Council services to vulnerable families and 
individuals.  Managers and Head Teachers continued to review Central Government, 
national and local Public Health and health and safety guidance, risk assessments, the 
suitability of control measures and monitoring arrangements.   

7.14 Other RIDDOR reports included fractures due to slips and trips, road traffic incidents 
and injuries from working on machinery. Some examples are mentioned below: 

 
 A third-party vehicle hit an object being handled by an employee and then hit the 

employee at very low speeds, knocking them off balance. They suffered relatively 
minor injuries to the body and hand. 

 An employee lost footing whilst using a piece of machinery, causing the machinery 
to cut their hand. They attended hospital for treatment and remained off work for 
over seven days. 

 An employee slipped whilst dismounting from plant / equipment. They fell 
backwards, landing on their shoulder and back, resulting in ligament damage. They 
were advised to rest then attend physiotherapy. 

 A member of the public slipped indoors, resulting in a fracture to their arm. They 
were escorted to hospital by ambulance and received treatment. 

 In February 2021, a member of the public received hospital treatment for a serious 
cut to their hand.

7.15 The health and safety advisers continue to raise awareness of the benefits of reporting 
via the Departmental Health and Safety Committees. 

8 Training

8.1 The Corporate Learning Centre continue to offer a health and safety programme of 
health and safety courses. E-learning has increased due to the pandemic and 
restrictions placed on attending classrooms for adult learning. 

8.2 The one-day Educational Visits Coordinator courses planned for 2020 and due to take 
place at the Corporate Learning Centre are to be rescheduled as online courses and 
will take place in 2021. The course covers aspects of the law related to educational 
visits, risk assessments of visits and the administrative requirements associated with 
off-site educational activities.  The course is aimed at new and existing EVCs in 
schools and will enable them to plan and manage their school’s educational visits and 
off-site activities in line with National Guidance, this in turn will help them fulfil their 
health and safety responsibilities.  

8.3 Online health and safety training was provided to School Governors in November 
2020. It was delivered by the Council’s insurance broker, Gallagher Bassett.  

9 Risk Assessment

9.1 Following the training completed during 2019/20 the focus of operational teams has 
been on the refresh of the existing building, operational and generating COVID-19 risk 
assessments.  This has taken place with support and guidance of the Health and 

Page 334

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

Safety Teams.  There was considerable support provided during the School re-opening 
in May/June 2020 with guidance and working with both Schools and Unions to ensure 
that there was confidence in the processes to be adopted.

9.2 The Health and Safety Advisers, with significant support from the Assurance Team 
have undertaken a review of submitted risk assessments, providing feedback to 
managers and Head Teachers. 

9.3 Considerable support is being provided to Council Service Teams departments and 
this remains challenging for all involved.

10 Sefton Schools 

10.1 During this financial year, the Schools Service Level Agreement for health and safety 
and the inspection regime, which forms part of the service, was reviewed. A revised 
methodology was introduced to provide a risk-based audit regime that aims to provide 
assurance to the School’s governing bodies as well as the Council that the Schools 
had an effective health and safety system in place. 

10.2 The inspection programme ceased due to Covid-19 in March 2020, however support 
has been ongoing for schools who are remaining open for children of key workers and 
at-risk children. Inspections and audits recommence gradually from April 2021.

10.3 Self-assessment, online meetings and the submission of email evidence has been 
written into the methodology to support the audit process if restrictions are re-
introduced.

11 Objectives, KPIs and Priorities 2021/2022 

11.1 There are three Health and Safety objectives included in the Corporate Health and 
Safety Policy which was approved by Cabinet in April 2019:
 Embedding risk assessments across the Council’s functions and service area
 Clarify and strengthen the governance arrangement for health and safety
 Improve competence of all staff to improve risk management by targeting effective 

health and safety training.

11.2 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been developed to reflect the key current risks 
within the health and safety framework, the current operating environment in the 
Council and the delivery of key objectives.

11.3 As a result, audits and assurance monitoring have identified a wider understanding 
and availability of risk assessments, the need for identification of hazards, appropriate 
controls, monitoring, consultation and training to reduce the risk of injury, ill health and 
other losses including risk to loss of service delivery. The Health and Safety Team are 
continuing to support managers.

11.4 Continued progress on the completion and review of risk assessments has continued 
throughout the year, for both general workplace hazards and the transmission of 
COVID-19.  SharePoint pages facilitate the sharing of risk assessments between the 
Health and Safety Team and Trade Unions. 

11.5 Corporate minimum standard documents are being created to support the health and 
safety management framework. These documents are a reference to improve 

Page 335

Agenda Item 11



C O R P O R A T E  H E A L T H  A N D  S A F E T Y  R E P O R T  

management and staff knowledge levels and provide guidance on health and safety 
compliance. 

11.6 The Health and Safety Team are working with the Workforce Learning and 
Development Team to review existing health and safety training provision. A training 
needs analysis exercise is ongoing and due for completion in the Autumn of 2021. 

11.7 A suite of online health and safety training is now in place. The Health and Safety 
Teams are providing small team and one to one training via MS Teams. On-line 
Educational Visits Co-ordinator and school governor training has continued throughout 
the year.

Page 336

Agenda Item 11



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: Thursday 10 March 
2022

Subject: Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Framework for 
Change 2020 - Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 
including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 
Budget - March Update

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Leader of the Council

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To inform Cabinet of: 
1. The current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget.
2. The current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget.
3. The current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates collection for 2021/22. 
4. The monitoring position of the Council’s capital programme to the end of January 

2022: 
 The forecast expenditure to year end.
 Variations against the approved budgets and an explanation of those 

variations for consideration by Members.
 Updates to spending profiles and proposed amendments to capital budgets 

necessary to ensure the efficient delivery of capital projects are also 
presented for approval.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to: 

Revenue Budget

1) Note the current financial implications of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget 
together with the key issues that will influence the final position.

2) Note the current position relating to the 2021/22 revenue budget.
3) Recognise the financial risks associated with the delivery of the 2021/22 revenue 

budget and acknowledge that the forecast outturn position will continue to be 
reviewed to ensure a balanced forecast outturn position and financial 
sustainability can be achieved.

4) Note that a grant offer from the Rural Payments Agency for Countryside 
Stewardship Higher Tier funding has now been formally accepted and a fully 

Page 337

Agenda Item 12



funded revenue estimate of £0.483m and a fully funded capital estimate of 
£0.012m have been approved in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules.

Capital Programme

5) Note the spending profiles across financial years for the approved capital 
programme (paragraph 7.1).

6) Note the latest capital expenditure position as at 31 January 2022 of £22.093m 
(paragraph 6.4); the latest full year forecast is £41.761m (paragraph 7.6).

7) Note explanations of variances to project budgets (paragraph 7.7).
8) Approve a supplementary capital estimate for £0.455m as detailed in paragraph 

7.11.
9) Note that capital resources will be managed by the Executive Director Corporate 

Resources and Customer Services to ensure the capital programme remains fully 
funded and that capital funding arrangements secure the maximum financial 
benefit to the Council (paragraph 7.14).

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To ensure Cabinet are informed of the current position in relation to the 2021/22 revenue 
budget, including COVID19 pressures and additional funding being made available to the 
Council.   

To provide an updated forecast of the outturn position with regard to the collection of 
Council Tax and Business Rates.  

To keep members informed of the progress of the Capital Programme against the 
profiled budget for 2021/22 and agreed allocations for future years. 

To progress any changes that are required in order to maintain a relevant and accurate 
budget profile necessary for effective monitoring of the Capital Programme.

To approve any updates to funding resources so that they can be applied to capital 
schemes in the delivery of the Council’s overall capital strategy.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
The report indicates that for 2021/22 an underspend position of £2.153m is currently 
forecast but that mitigating actions may be required if the position subsequently moves to 
a deficit position.

Page 338

Agenda Item 12



(B) Capital Costs
The Council’s capital budget in 2021/22 is £41.806m. As at the end of January 2022 
expenditure of £22.093m has been incurred and a full year outturn of £41.761m is 
currently forecast.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
It is currently expected that an underspend position of £2.153m will be achieved for 
2021/22. However, it should be noted that significant pressure and risk remains in four 
key business areas, namely Children’s Social Care, Children with Disabilities, Education 
Excellence and Operational In-House Services. If these budgets experience further 
demand pressure during the remainder of the year corresponding savings may need to 
be identified.  If this cannot take place there may be a call on the Council’s General 
Balances.

Legal Implications:
None

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

The allocations of capital funding outlined in section 6 may be spent on projects that will 
have a high climate change impact as they could relate to new build, rebuild, 
refurbishment, retrofit and demolition proposals. Environmental consideration will be 
taken into account when specific projects are designed and tendered – which will help 
to mitigate negative impacts.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
Effective Financial Management and the development and delivery of sustainable annual 
budgets support each theme of the Councils Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
See comment above

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
See comment above

Page 339

Agenda Item 12



Commission, broker and provide core services:
See comment above

Place – leadership and influencer:
See comment above

Drivers of change and reform:
See comment above

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
See comment above

Greater income for social investment: 
See comment above

Cleaner Greener:
See comment above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources & Customer Services is the author of the 
report (FD 6729/22)

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has been consulted and has no comments on 
the report (LD 4729/22).

(B) External Consultations 

N/A

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Paul Reilly
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4106
Email Address: paul.reilly@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendix is attached to this report: 

APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 340

Agenda Item 12



1. Introduction
 
1.1 In March 2021, Council approved the budget for 2021/22. This report provides an 

update on the forecast revenue outturn position for 2021/22, including the 
significant impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s 2021/22 budget.

1.2 The report also outlines the current position regarding key income streams for the 
Authority, namely Council Tax and Business Rates. Variations against expected 
receipts in these two areas will also affect the Council’s financial position in future 
years. 

1.3 The capital section of the report informs Members of the latest estimate of capital 
expenditure for 2021/22 and forecast expenditure for 2022/23 and 2023/24. The 
capital budget to date is presented in paragraph 7.1. Paragraphs 7.2 to 7.8 review 
progress of the capital programme. Finally, paragraphs 7.12 to 7.14 confirm that 
there are adequate levels of resources available to finance the capital programme.

2. Impact of COVID 19 on 2021/22 Budget
2.1 As part of the Council Budget Report presented to the Budget Council meeting in 

March, Members received details of the full range of financial issues that were 
being faced by the Council in 2021/22 arising from the pandemic, and how this cost 
would be funded.  A summary is shown below:

2021/22
£’m

Sales, Fees and Charges Income
Estimated Net Losses 1,500
Use of 2021/22 Emergency Funding -1.500

0.000

Collection Fund deficit in 2020/21 arising from COVID-19
Net losses after government compensation scheme 5.812
Collection Fund Surplus from 2019/20 -1.072

4.740

Collection Fund deficit re. 2021/22
Reduction in Council Tax Base 3.564
Council Tax Support Grant -3.471
Business Rates forecast losses 3.000

3.093

Temporary Mitigating Measures to Offset Council Tax / 
Business Rates Losses
Use of 2020/21 Emergency Funding * -5.500
Framework for Change 2020 – Council of 2023 Savings -0.890
School Closure Reserve -0.500
Use of 2021/22 Emergency Funding -0.943

-7.833

Net Impact on 2021/22 Budget 0.000
Page 341

Agenda Item 12



* Note that Cabinet on 4 November 2021 approved the use of additional Emergency Funding from 2020/21 
instead of utilising the Council’s General Balances (£1.000m from the 2020/21 underspend) and implementing 
a vacancy target across the Council that would require posts to be held vacant (£0.500m)

2.2 An update on the pressures is provided below:

Sales, Fees and Charges Income
2.3 There was a significant impact on income from sales, fees and charges for a range 

of services during 2020/21. Whilst some income streams temporarily recovered 
when lockdown was eased and would expect to do so again once we come out of 
national restrictions, others are expected to remain impacted.  

2.4 The government announced that the compensation scheme in place in 2020/21 to 
provide support for a proportion of losses would be extended until the end of June 
2021.  Therefore, an element of losses will be funded through the compensation 
scheme. The Council’s claim for April to June was £0.769m to partially compensate 
for losses in the period of £1.187m (excluding certain losses which couldn’t be 
included in the claim).

2.5 It is currently forecast that the loss of income in the year may be in the region of 
£3.400m.  After the claim for compensation in the first quarter of the year, the net 
loss is forecast to be £2.600m during 2021/22. This is an increase on the £1.5m 
assumed in the Budget Report.  This forecast will be reviewed during the remainder 
of the year as there is more experience of the impact on reopened facilities.  Any 
balance of losses not funded by the scheme will need to be covered from the 
emergency funding or the Contain Outbreak Management Fund received by the 
Council in 2021/22.  It is currently assumed that income levels may return to normal 
from 2022/23 with the exception of Leisure Income, however, this will continue to 
be assessed based on the experience once all restrictions are eased.  Any ongoing 
implications will need to be built into future budget planning and potentially funded 
on a temporary basis if the impact isn’t considered permanent.

Collection Fund deficit in 2020/21 arising from COVID-19
2.6 The Council, in line with all other local authorities, is experiencing significant 

reductions in income from both Council Tax and Business Rates.  This relates to 
increases in households eligible to claim under the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
and some increases in Business Rates appeals as well as reductions in collection 
rates. 

2.7 The government announced financial support would be provided to offset 75% of 
irrecoverable losses.  However, Council Tax losses relating to non-collection aren’t 
eligible for compensation under the scheme, neither are adjustments relating to 
previous years.  The Budget Report estimated that net losses not covered by the 
scheme would therefore be up to £5.812m and would need to be funded.  The final 
deficit position for both Council Tax and Business Rates, along with the amount of 
financial support that has been claimed from the government, have now been 
finalised and has resulted in a net loss of £8.567m.  However, it is anticipated that 
some of these losses will be reversed in 2021/22 so the net impact will be within the 
£5.812m previously estimated.

Page 342

Agenda Item 12



Council Tax Base
2.8 The Council Tax Base is set by Council in January each year.  It reflects changes in 

the number of properties and the value of exemptions and discounts.  In recent 
years the Council Tax Base has increased steadily due to housing growth.  
However, due to the impact of COVID-19 on the number of CTRS claimants, the 
reduced collection rate and the slowdown in housing growth, there has been a 
significant reduction in the Base for 2021/22.  This reduced the Council Tax 
Requirement by £3.564m.  

2.9 The government announced additional funding to support the loss of income due to 
increased numbers of CTRS claimants.  Sefton’s allocation is £3.471m and will be 
used to offset the majority of reduced funding due to the decrease in the Council 
Tax Base.

2.10 Currently, the number of CTRS claimants hasn’t increased as forecast (this is 
mainly due to the government’s “furlough” scheme being extended which may have 
delayed any increase) and collection rates are slightly ahead of expectations.  If 
these factors continue then a surplus may be generated, although due to 
regulations this would only be credited to the Council in 2022/23.  Section 4 
highlights that currently a surplus of £2.714m is forecast (excluding the surplus from 
2020/2021).

Business Rates
2.11 Business Rates collection rates reduced in 2020/21 due to COVID-19 and are 

expected to remain lower than normal in 2021/22.  In addition, at the time of the 
Budget Report there were significant numbers of appeals in 2020/21 due to 
restrictions being in place. It was estimated that based on the 2020/21 position that 
£3.000m of the Council’s income will be at risk as businesses no longer exist or 
cannot afford to pay business rates.  

2.12 However, central government have announced that appeals relating to the 
implications of COVID19 won’t be allowed under amended regulations.  Therefore, 
it is forecast that the income now at risk is only £1.600m.

Summary
2.13 It should be noted that the figures included above will be subject to change and will 

continue to be reviewed on a monthly basis.  

3. Revenue Budget 2021/22 – Forecast Outturn Position as at the end of January 
2022
 

3.1 Members are provided with updates of the Council’s forecast financial revenue 
position each month during the financial year from July. 

3.2 In 2020/21, as in previous years, significant pressures were identified in several 
service areas at an early stage of the year, particularly Children’s Social Care, 
Communities (Children with Disabilities) Education Excellence (Home to School 
Transport) and Operational In-House Services. These pressures, and the 
unprecedented financial challenges faced by the Council in relation to COVID-19, 
meant the Council had to implement a remedial action plan. This was adopted to 
ensure a balanced budget position would be achieved.  In addition, a number of 

Page 343

Agenda Item 12



financial principles that had been implemented in previous years were also 
adopted.

3.3 In response to these pressures, Budget Council approved that additional resources 
be added to the 2021/22 budget for these services, with the amounts shown below:

Service Budget 
Pressure

£m

Children's Social Care – Placements & Packages 7.280
Communities – Children with Disabilities / PSR2 1.050
Education Excellence – Home to School Transport 1.100
Operational In-House Services – Security Force 0.350

9.780

3.4 However, as these are demand led services this will need to be carefully monitored 
during the year, with the biggest risk being the cost of Children’s Social Care – 
Placements and Packages.  Any pressures arising will need to be managed as it is 
still vital that the Council is able to achieve a balanced forecast outturn position for 
its normal activities, ignoring the impact of COVID-19 pressures.  Therefore, the 
approval of mitigating actions, and the adoption of financial principles used in 
previous years, may need to be implemented at some point during the remainder of 
the year. 

3.5 As at the end of January 2022, the forecast outturn shows a net underspend of 
£2.153m. The table below highlights the variations:

Budget Forecast 
Outturn

Variance Variance 
to 

December 
Position

£m £m £m £m
Services
Strategic Management 4.000 4.028 0.028 0.000

Adult Social Care 97.851 95.523 -2.328 -0.674
Children's Social Care 47.232 49.764 2.532 1.089
Communities 16.982 15.610 -1.372 -0.330
Corporate Resources 4.462 4.143 -0.319 -0.215
Economic Growth & Housing 6.449 6.238 -0.211 -0.128
Education Excellence 10.925 11.046 0.121 0.184
Health & Wellbeing 18.710 18.017 -0.693 -0.075
Highways & Public Protection 11.134 10.996 -0.138 0.051
Locality Services 13.711 13.778 0.067 -0.109

Total Service Net 
Expenditure

231.456 229.143 -2.313 -0.207

Budget Pressure Fund 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.000
Page 344

Agenda Item 12



3.6 The key areas relating to the outturn position are as follows:

 Adult Social Care – The current forecast assumes that the Adult Social Care 
budget will achieve a surplus during 2021/22.  However, there are a number of 
significant assumptions and uncertainties as a result of COVID-19 that could 
impact on this position before the year-end.  

As part of the Demand Management Programme, savings of £3.300m were 
identified and delivered during 2020/21.  Work on the Programme is continuing, 
and further savings are being identified that will have a part-year impact in 2021/22 
and will therefore impact on the forecast outturn position.  The current forecast of 
these savings in 2021/22 is £1.416m.  Due to the significant assumptions and 
uncertainties within the forecast outturn position, only those savings achieved to 
date have been included in the forecast outturn position at this time. 

 Children’s Social Care – The current forecast shows a potential overspend of 
£4.346m.  However,  it is estimated that £1.814m of the overspend is attributable to 
the impact of COVID-19.  Therefore, as reported to Cabinet in July, these 
temporary costs will be met by the Contain Outbreak Management Fund.  The net 
overspend is therefore £2.532m.  This is as a result of some recent high-cost cases 
and highlights the pressures that the budget can experience, together with the 
higher than budgeted for costs of agency members of staff that are required as a 
result of increased demand and a lack of permanent staff who are available in the 
labour market.  

As has been regularly reported over the last three years, the cost of Placements 
and Packages is the largest risk to the Council’s budget position.  The Council is 
currently working on developing a range of options to address the inherent demand 
and costs of Looked After Children whilst supporting the most vulnerable residents, 
but this budget remains under pressure and purely from a financial point of view 
this is likely to continue during this year and into the next financial year. 

At the Cabinet meeting in September a report highlighted the need for additional 
temporary and permanent staffing resources within the service.  The report 
forecasted that additional costs of potentially £2.008m could be incurred in 
2021/22, with £1.500m of these costs being funded from the reserve approved at 
July’s Cabinet meeting.  Any additional costs, relating to some of the temporary 
posts, would be funded from residual cost of change and new burdens funding 
received in 2020/21.  As these posts are fully funded from one-off resources, they 
aren’t included in the forecast outturn position.

Council Wide Budgets -13.401 -13.241 0.160 0.000
Levies 34.568 34.568 0.000 0.000
General Government Grants (62.858) (62.858) 0.000 0.000

Total Net Expenditure 190.765 188.612

Forecast Year-End Deficit -2.153 -0.207

Page 345

Agenda Item 12



4. Council Tax Income – Update 
 
4.1 Council Tax income is shared between the billing authority (Sefton Council) and the 

three major precepting authorities (the Fire and Rescue Authority, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and the Combined Authority – Mayoral Precept) pro-rata to 
their demand on the Collection Fund. The Council’s Budget included a Council Tax 
Requirement of £143.037m for 2021/22 (including Parish Precepts), which 
represents 84.1% of the net Council Tax income of £170.167m. 

4.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of January 2022 is a surplus of -
£3.279m.  However, it should be noted that the Council Tax Base for 2021/22 was 
reduced to reflect lower collection rates and increased Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme claimants.  Therefore, this surplus is forecast in the context of a reduction 
in Council Tax income of £3.564m (see paragraph 2.7).  This variation is primarily 
due to: -

 The deficit on the fund at the end of 2020/21 being lower than estimated (-
£0.421m).

 
 Gross Council Tax Charges in 2021/22 being higher than estimated (-£1.275m). 

 Exemptions and Discounts (including a forecasting adjustment) being lower than 
estimated (-£1.583m).  

4.3 Due to Collection Fund regulations, the Council Tax surplus will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2021/22 but will be carried forward to be recovered in future 
years.

4.4 A forecast surplus of £2.022m was declared on the 15 January 2022 of which 
Sefton’s share is £1.699m (84.1%).  This is the amount that will be recovered from 
the Collection Fund in 2022/23.  Any additional surplus or deficit will be distributed 
in 2023/24 and future years.

5. Business Rates Income – Update 
 
5.1 Since 1 April 2017, Business Rates income has been shared between the Council 

(99%) and the Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). The Council’s Budget included 
retained Business Rates income of £67.919m for 2021/22, which represents 99% of 
the net Business Rates income of £68.606m. Business Rates income has 
historically been very volatile making it difficult to forecast accurately. 

5.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of January 2022 is a deficit of                        
£20.855m on Business Rates income. This is due to:

 The deficit on the fund at the end of 2021/22 being higher than estimated 
(+£3.467m).

 Decrease in the gross charge on rateable properties (+£0.705m).

Page 346

Agenda Item 12



 A number of additional reliefs were announced after January 2021 to support 
businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic. These include expanded retail 
discount, pub relief, newspaper relief, and private nursery relief. The loss of 
income as a result of these reliefs will be covered by Section 31 grant payments. 
Due to the timing of these announcements the impact of these reliefs could not 
be incorporated into the budget figures reported in the NNDR1 return 
(+£20.240m).

 A decrease in the Appeals Provision (-£3.557m)

5.3 When taking into account the additional Section 31 grants due on the additional 
reliefs, a net surplus of £0.080m is forecast.  

5.4 Due to Collection Fund regulations, a Business Rates deficit will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2021/22 but will be carried forward to be recovered in future 
years.  

5.5 A forecast deficit of £18.702m was declared in January 2022.  Sefton’s share of this 
is £18.515m.  This is the amount that will be distributed from the Collection Fund in 
2022/23. Any additional surplus or deficit will be distributed in 2023/24 and future 
years.

6. Grant Funding - Countryside Stewardship Higher Tier

6.1 Sefton Council owns and is responsible for large portions of the Sefton Coast Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). This area includes large areas of threatened 
habitats and many rare species. Some of the nature conservation designations that 
apply to the Sefton Coast provide the very highest levels of legal protection for 
nature conservation, nationally and internationally, and so place legislative 
obligations upon landowners.

6.2 Countryside Stewardship Higher Tier is a five-year programme, which will 
financially support the delivery of environmental land management in Sefton. Green 
Sefton manages the protected sites within the Sefton Coast SSSI, for which the 
Council is responsible. The previous programme of funding support through the 
Higher-Level Stewardship scheme (HLS) expired at the end of March 2021.

6.3 Following the end of the previous HLS agreement, and in partnership with Natural 
England, officers from Green Sefton prepared and submitted a bid for Countryside 
Stewardship Higher Tier to the Rural Payments Agency in August 2021. The 
Council were informed in late January 2022 that the bid had been successful, with 
grant funding of £0.495m being made available for a five-year period.  Over 97.5% 
of the funding is revenue related.

6.4 This grant offer has now been formally accepted and a fully funded revenue 
estimate of £0.483m and a fully funded capital estimate of £0.012m have been 
approved in accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules.

Page 347

Agenda Item 12



7. Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2023/24

Capital Budget
7.1 The Capital Budget and profile of expenditure for the three years 2021/22 to 

2023/24 is as follows:

7.2 A number of significant updates have been made to the capital programme budget 
since the previous report to Cabinet in February and these are listed below. 
Individual schemes are kept under review as the year progresses and it is not 
uncommon for spending to be reprofiled into future years as capacity to deliver and 
other external factors such as contractor performance and the availability of 
materials impacts the rate of delivery.

 Adult Social Care
- £0.098m has been phased to 2022/23 for fire alarm and emergency lighting 

schemes.
- £0.241m has been phased from 2022/23 to 2021/22 following the second 

round of Care Home Improvement Grant applications. Most grant payments 
are expected to be made before the end of March 2022.

- Purchase of new Technology Enabled Care equipment will now take place in 
early 2022/23. £0.130m has therefore been phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23.

 Corporate Resources – £0.097m has been phased from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for 
the delivery of the Green Homes Grant Scheme.

 Education Excellence – The following schemes have been rephased for 
delivery 2022/23: £0.050m of General Planned Maintenance, £0.081m for a 
rewire at Grange Primary and £0.067m for a roof refurbishment at Hatton Hill 
Primary.

 Highways and Public Protection - £0.192m has been phased from future years 
to 2021/22. The forecast delivery in the current financial year has increased to 
align with the contractor’s recently improved resources and materials availability.  

 Operational In-House Services - £1.600m has been removed from the capital 
programme in 2022/23 due to the withdrawal of the single stream glass collection 
project agreed in 2019. The project is no longer considered viable due to recent 
changes to The Environment Act 2021, the requirements of which will be further 
considered and any implications for the capital programme budget will be 
reported on future updates to Cabinet.

7.3 Authority has been delegated within the Financial Procedure Rules to Cabinet 
Member in conjunction with Head of Service to assign funding to individual 
schemes within the Capital Programme from the block allocations approved by 
Council. A broader review of the individual 2021/22 Highways and Adult Social 
Care budgets is also currently underway, and it is anticipated that a revised position 

2021/22 £41.806m
2022/23 £28.658m
2023/24 £8.793m

Page 348

Agenda Item 12



will be reported to Cabinet Members for approval and presented on future budget 
updates to Cabinet.

Budget Monitoring Position to January 2022
7.4 The current position of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of January 

2022is shown in the table below. It should be noted that budgets are profiled 
dependent upon the timing of when works are to be carried out and the anticipated 
spend over the financial year. For example, Education Excellence will typically carry 
out most of its capital works during key school’s holiday periods such as the 
summer recess, whilst Highways and Public Protection will complete most of its 
programmed works during quarters two and four of the financial year. The budget to 
date in the table below reflects the profiles of each individual scheme.

Service Area
Budget to 

Jan-22

Actual 
Expenditure 

to Jan-22
Variance to 

Jan-22
£m £m £m

Adult Social Care 2.775 2.896 0.121
Children’s Social Care 0.025 0.025 -
Communities 0.939 0.842 -0.097
Corporate Resources 0.775 0.791 0.016
Economic Growth & Housing 3.185 2.742 -0.443
Education Excellence 3.317 3.312 -0.005
Highways & Public Protection 4.896 4.899 0.003
Operational In-House Services 6.557 6.586 0.029

Total Programme 22.469 22.093 -0.376

7.5 An underspend of £0.443m has occurred in the Economic Growth & Housing 
budget compared to the profile to the end of January. This is largely due to a 
project delay from the Crosby Lakeside Redevelopment. As a result of the failure of 
the main contractor to progress the redevelopment works regularly and diligently 
their employment was terminated in November 2021. Retendering of the contract 
has been undertaken with a new main contractor due to start on site in February. A 
new spend profile is expected to include works slipping into Q1 2022/23 and a 
change control has been submitted to the Combined Authority extend the longstop 
date to July 2022. A revised completion and cost schedule will therefore be 
reported as soon as possible.

Capital Programme Forecast Outturn 2021/22
7.6 The current forecast of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of 2021/22 

and the profile of budgets for future years is shown in the table below:

Service Area

Full Year 
Budget 
2021/22

Forecast 
Out-turn

Variance 
to 

Budget

Full Year 
Budget 
2022/23

Full Year 
Budget 
2023/24

£m £m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care 4.133 4.123 -0.011 4.412 1.624

Children’s Social Care 0.100 0.100 - - -

Page 349

Agenda Item 12



Communities 1.368 1.367 -0.001 1.776 0.090

Corporate Resources 3.033 3.033 - 3.454 -

Economic Growth & Housing 8.125 8.135 0.010 4.449 0.135

Education Excellence 4.335 4.306 -0.029 5.168 2.147

Highways & Public Protection 13.157 13.157 - 3.742 3.606

Operational In-House Services 7.555 7.540 -0.015 5.656 1.191

Total Programme 41.806 41.761 -0.046 28.658 8.793
A full list of the capital programme by capital scheme is at appendix A.

7.7 The current 2021/22 budgeted spend is £41.806m with a budgeted spend to 
January of £22.496m. The full year budget includes exceptional items such as 
£5.543m for vehicle replacement, £0.943m for Green Homes Local Delivery, 
£1.050m Brownfield Fund for Housing Development, £7.053m for Growth and 
Strategic Investment projects, previously approved amounts for essential repairs 
and maintenance (£1.681m), a scheme to upgrade to LED Street Lighting 
(£1.740m), and a leisure scheme for improvements to an existing football pitch 
(£0.250m).

7.8 Typically, on an annual basis the capital programme spends in the region of £25m. 
As mentioned in paragraph 6.2 (above) it is likely that reprofiling of spend into 
2022/23 will therefore occur as the year progresses.

Digitising Social Care
7.9 It has been requested of the local authority to receive funding on behalf of Health 

sector partners in respect of the Digitising Social Care programme. Capital Grant 
Funding of £0.455m will be transferred from the Department of Health and Social 
Care to the Local Authority under Section 31 of the Local government Act 2003 and 
the Local Authority will transfer the funding to the CCG prior to 31st March 2022. A 
Memorandum of Understanding has been drawn up by Cheshire and Merseyside 
Integrated Care System and is in the process of being signed.

7.10 The Programme’s immediate ambition is to create an ICS investment fund to 
support and build the evidence base for care tech and digital social care records 
that will have an impact on care outcomes.  The funding secured by the 
Programme is to support achievement of credible progress towards reducing 
demand on the NHS by introducing caretech and improving productivity in social 
care by reducing the administration of care records and plans in care providers.

7.11 Cabinet is therefore requested to approve a supplementary capital estimate of 
£0.455m for inclusion in the 2021/22 capital programme.

Programme Funding
7.12 The table below shows how the capital programme will be funding in 2021/22:

Source £m
Grants 29.348
Contributions (incl. Section 106) 0.639
Capital Receipts 3.139

Page 350

Agenda Item 12



Prudential Borrowing 8.680
Total Programme Funding 41.806

7.13 The programme is reviewed on an ongoing basis to confirm the capital resources 
required to finance capital expenditure are in place, the future years programme is 
fully funded, and the level of prudential borrowing remains affordable.

7.14 The Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services will continue 
to manage the financing of the programme to ensure the final capital funding 
arrangements secure the maximum financial benefit to the Council.

Page 351

Agenda Item 12



APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24

Budget
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24Capital Project

£ £ £
Adult Social Care    

Care Homes - Fire Alarms & Emergency Lighting -  97,854  - 
Core DFG Programme 1,353,422 120,144  - 
Wider Social Care Programme 2,780,002 4,194,445 1,623,750

Children’s Social Care    

Support for Fostering Placements 100,000 - -

Communities    

Dunes Splashworld – Essential Repairs 1,014,700 292,704 81,470
Litherland Sports Park – 3G Pitch & Lighting 250,000 - -

Orrell Mount Sports Hub 14,557 1,203,886 -

Libraries - Centres of Excellence 20,000 279,301  - 
S106 - Netherton & Orrell – Abbeyfield Park 11,942  -  - 
S106 - Linacre - Strand Living Wall 10,665  -  - 
S106 - Sudell – Moorhey Shops Parking Scheme 16,625 - -
S106 - Ford – Stanton Avenue One Way System - - 9,000
S106 - Litherland – Play Equip Orrell Mount 30,000 - -

Corporate Resources    

Council Wide Essential Maintenance 559,330 1,749,000 -
STCC Essential Maintenance     37,680 50,000  - 
Victoria Baths Essential Works 58,974 80,000  - 
Bootle & Southport Town Hall Retrofit Energy 
Saving 788,087  -  - 

Green Homes Grant Local Delivery Scheme 943,000 957,000 -
Public Sector Reform 645,857 618,480  - 

Economic Growth & Housing    

Strategic Acquisitions - Bootle 434,473 - -
The Strand Business Plan 70,000 590,000 135,000
Cambridge Road Centre Development 722,952 72171 -
Crosby Lakeside Development 2,791,997 - -

Town Centre Commission Bootle Canal Side 290,000 - -

Southport Market Redevelopment 813,938 20,039  - 
Marine Lake Events Centre 1,624,106 2,470,894 -
Enterprise Arcade 6,000 244,000 -
Strategic Acquisitions - Ainsdale 299,500 891,859  - 
Housing Investment 15,188 36,180  - 
Brownfield Fund for Housing Development 1,050,000  -  - 
Southport Pier Project 6,769  124,117  - 

Page 352

Agenda Item 12



2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

Education Excellence    

Healthy Pupils Fund 1,486  -  - 
Schools Programme 2,992,250 4,491,747 2,146,957
Planned Maintenance 380,982 237,043 -
Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 960,662 439,230 -

Highways and Public Protection    

Accessibility 1,088,000 - -
Completing Schemes/Retentions 40,000 - -
Healthy Lifestyles 1,100,000 - -
Road Safety 120,000 - -
A565 Route Management and Parking 1,825,000 - -
A59 Route Management Strategy 190,000 - -
Strategic Planning 983,292 - -
Traffic Management and Parking 60,000 - -
Active Travel 1,093,314 - -
Highway Maintenance 3,909,928 - -
Bridges & Structures 300,000 - -
Drainage 150,000 - -
Street Lighting 2,040,000 3,742,035 3,605,580
UTC Maintenance 60,000 - -
Major Transport Schemes 197,000 - -

Operational In-House Services    

Burials & Cremation Insourcing - Vehicles & Equip 90,663  -  - 
Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Prog. - 43,851 -
Merseyside Groundwater Study 11,508 20,000  - 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Prog. 2016-2021 391,654 -        - 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Prog. 2022-2026 552,068 1,016,932 1,058,000
The Pool & Nile Watercourses 49,410 74,711  - 
Crosby Flood & Coastal Scheme 69,219 751,261      - 
Hall Road & Alt Training Bank - Rock Armour - 45,775  - 
Ainsdale & Birkdale Land Drainage Scheme 25,973  -  - 
Surface Water Management Plan 43,026 56,419  - 
Surface Water Modelling & Mapping 13,601  -  - 
Small Watercourse Works 5,000 2,638 -
Water Level Monitoring Pilot 18,000 - -
Parks Schemes 50,259 264,535  - 
Tree Planting Programme 83,543 146,552 19,769 
Golf Driving Range Developments 398,822 280,280  - 
Ainsdale Coastal Gateway 31,050 320,488 -
Crosby Marine Lake Improvements – Phase 1 155,000 - -

Page 353

Agenda Item 12



2021/22
£

2022/23
£

2023/24
£

Litter Bin Infrastructure 22,358 - -
Green Sefton – Plant & Machinery - 131,152 -
Vehicle Replacement Programme 5,543,468 1,736,762 113,000
Wheeled Bins - 765,000 -

TOTAL PROGRAMME 41,806,300 28,658,485 8,792,526

Page 354

Agenda Item 12


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Green Sefton – Southport Golf Links Investment Opportunities
	5 Housing Tenancy Strategy 2021-26
	6 Social Housing Allocations Scheme
	7 Town Deal: The Enterprise Arcade
	Enc. 1 for Town Deal: The Enterprise Arcade

	8 Customer Experience Training - Business Case
	Enc. 1 for Customer Experience Training - Business Case

	9 Transformations de Southport - Business Case
	Enc. 1 for Transformations de Southport - Business Case.

	10 Local Government Association Peer Review Revisit
	11 Annual Health and Safety Report
	Enc. 1 for Annual Health and Safety Report

	12 Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Framework for Change 2020 - Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2021/22 including the Financial Impact of COVID-19 on the 2021/22 Budget - March Update

